# MODIFIABLE RISK FACTORS OF ACCELERATED BRAIN AGING AND DEMENTIA

EDITED BY: Frauke Beyer, Susanne Röhr, Omar Yaxmehen Bello-Chavolla, Petronilla Battista and Francesca R. Farina PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience





#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88976-449-5 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88976-449-5

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

# MODIFIABLE RISK FACTORS OF ACCELERATED BRAIN AGING AND DEMENTIA

Topic Editors: Frauke Beyer, Max Planck Institute for Human Cognitive and Brain Sciences, Germany Susanne Röhr, University Hospital Leipzig, Germany Omar Yaxmehen Bello-Chavolla, Instituto Nacional de Geriatría, Mexico Petronilla Battista, Global Brain Health Institute, United States Francesca R. Farina, Global Brain Health Institute, Trinity College Dublin, Ireland

**Citation:** Beyer, F., Röhr, S., Bello-Chavolla, O. Y., Battista, P., Farina, F. R., eds. (2022). Modifiable Risk Factors of Accelerated Brain Aging and Dementia. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88976-449-5

# Table of Contents

05 Association Between Visceral Fat and Brain Cortical Thickness in the Elderly: A Neuroimaging Study

Jaelim Cho, Seongho Seo, Woo-Ram Kim, Changsoo Kim and Young Noh

- 14 Network Modeling Sex Differences in Brain Integrity and Metabolic Health Janelle T. Foret, Maria Dekhtyar, James H. Cole, Drew D. Gourley, Marie Caillaud, Hirofumi Tanaka and Andreana P. Haley
- 27 Influence of Physical Activity Levels and Functional Capacity on Brain β-Amyloid Deposition in Older Women
  Raquel Pedrero-Chamizo, Cassandra Szoeke, Lorraine Dennerstein and Stephen Campbell
- **35 Optimal Blood Pressure Keeps Our Brains Younger** Nicolas Cherbuin, Erin I. Walsh, Marnie Shaw, Eileen Luders, Kaarin J. Anstey, Perminder S. Sachdev, Walter P. Abhayaratna and Christian Gaser
- 45 Physically Active Lifestyle Is Associated With Attenuation of Hippocampal Dysfunction in Cognitively Intact Older Adults

Tamir Eisenstein, Nir Giladi, Talma Hendler, Ofer Havakuk and Yulia Lerner

59 Arterial Stiffening Moderates the Relationship Between Type-2 Diabetes Mellitus and White Matter Hyperintensity Burden in Older Adults With Mild Cognitive Impairment

Madeleine L. Werhane, Kelsey R. Thomas, Katherine J. Bangen, Alexandra J. Weigand, Emily C. Edmonds, Daniel A. Nation, Erin E. Sundermann, Mark W. Bondi and Lisa Delano-Wood for the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative

71 Leisure Activities and Their Relationship With MRI Measures of Brain Structure, Functional Connectivity, and Cognition in the UK Biobank Cohort

Melis Anatürk, Sana Suri, Stephen M. Smith, Klaus P. Ebmeier and Claire E. Sexton

82 Psychographic Segmentation: Another Lever for Precision Population Brain Health

Erin Smith, Agustin Ibanez, Helen Lavretsky, Michael Berk and Harris A. Eyre

87 Liver Health and Dementia in an Italian Older Population: Findings From the Salus in Apulia Study

Luisa Lampignano, Rossella Donghia, Chiara Griseta, Gianvito Lagravinese, Sabrina Sciarra, Roberta Zupo, Fabio Castellana, Ilaria Bortone, Vito Guerra, Sarah Tirelli, Sara De Nucci, Rossella Tatoli, Madia Lozupone, Giancarlo Sborgia, Antonio Leo, Giovanni De Pergola, Gianluigi Giannelli, Francesco Panza and Rodolfo Sardone

96 Prevalence and Associated Risk Factors of Cognitive Frailty: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

Tao Zhang, Yan Ren, Ping Shen, Shixie Jiang, Yanrong Yang, Yan Wang, Zheng Li and Ying Yang

108 Association of Headache Disorders and the Risk of Dementia: Meta-Analysis of Cohort Studies

Huiling Qu, Shida Yang, Zhicheng Yao, Xiaoyu Sun and Huisheng Chen

- 118 Association Between Antibiotic Treatment of Leptospirosis Infections and Reduced Risk of Dementia: A Nationwide, Cohort Study in Taiwan Pei-Chun Chao, Wu-Chien Chien, Chi-Hsiang Chung, Chih-Kang Huang, Hao-Ming Li and Nian-Sheng Tzeng
- 130 The Relative Importance of Vascular Risk Factors on Early Cognitive Aging Varies Only Slightly Between Men and Women
  Nadine Bonberg, Niklas Wulms, Klaus Berger and Heike Minnerup
- 143 Sex-Specific Causes and Consequences of White Matter Damage in a Middle-Aged Cohort

Nadine Bonberg, Niklas Wulms, Mahboobeh Dehghan-Nayyeri, Klaus Berger and Heike Minnerup





## Association Between Visceral Fat and Brain Cortical Thickness in the Elderly: A Neuroimaging Study

Jaelim Cho<sup>1,2</sup>, Seongho Seo<sup>3,4</sup>, Woo-Ram Kim<sup>5</sup>, Changsoo Kim<sup>1,2,6\*</sup> and Young Noh<sup>7,8\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Institute for Environmental Research, Yonsei University College of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea, <sup>2</sup> Institute of Human Complexity and Systems Science, Yonsei University, Incheon, South Korea, <sup>3</sup> Department of Electronic Engineering, Pai Chai University, Daejeon, South Korea, <sup>4</sup> Department of Neuroscience, College of Medicine, Gachon University, Incheon, South Korea, <sup>5</sup> Neuroscience Research Institute, Gachon University, Incheon, South Korea, <sup>6</sup> Department of Preventive Medicine, Yonsei University College of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea, <sup>7</sup> Department of Neurology, Gil Medical Center, Gachon University College of Medicine, Incheon, South Korea, <sup>8</sup> Department of Health Science and Technology, GAIHST, Gachon University, Incheon, South Korea

**Background:** Despite emerging evidence suggesting that visceral fat may play a major role in obesity-induced neurodegeneration, little evidence exists on the association between visceral fat and brain cortical thickness in the elderly.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Susanne Röhr, University Hospital Leipzig, Germany

#### Reviewed by:

Filip Morys, McGill University, Canada Rachel G. Zsido, Max Planck Institute for Human Cognitive and Brain Sciences, Germany

#### \*Correspondence:

Changsoo Kim preman@yuhs.ac Young Noh ynoh@gilhospital.com

**Received:** 13 April 2021 **Accepted:** 02 June 2021 **Published:** 23 June 2021

#### Citation:

Cho J, Seo S, Kim W-R, Kim C and Noh Y (2021) Association Between Visceral Fat and Brain Cortical Thickness in the Elderly: A Neuroimaging Study. Front. Aging Neurosci. 13:694629. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.694629 **Purpose:** We aimed to examine the association between abdominal fat and brain cortical thickness in a Korean elderly population.

**Methods:** This cross-sectional study included elderly individuals without dementia (n = 316). Areas of visceral fat and subcutaneous fat  $(cm^2)$  were estimated from computed tomography scans. Regional cortical thicknesses (mm) were obtained by analyzing brain magnetic resonance images. Given the inverted U-shaped relationship between visceral fat area and global cortical thickness (examined using a generalized additive model), visceral fat area was categorized into quintiles, with the middle quintile being the reference group. A generalized linear model was built to explore brain regions associated with visceral fat. The same approach was used for subcutaneous fat.

**Results:** The mean (standard deviation) age was 67.6 (5.0) years. The highest quintile (vs. the middle quintile) group of visceral fat area had reduced cortical thicknesses in the global [ $\beta$  = -0.04 mm, standard error (SE) = 0.02 mm, *p* = 0.004], parietal ( $\beta$  = -0.04 mm, *SE* = 0.02 mm, *p* = 0.01), temporal ( $\beta$  = -0.05 mm, *SE* = 0.02 mm, *p* = 0.002), cingulate ( $\beta$  = -0.06 mm, *SE* = 0.02 mm, *p* = 0.01), and insula lobes ( $\beta$  = -0.06 mm, *SE* = 0.03 mm, *p* = 0.02). None of the regional cortical thicknesses significantly differed between the highest and the middle quintile groups of subcutaneous fat area.

**Conclusion:** The findings suggest that a high level of visceral fat, but not subcutaneous fat, is associated with a reduced cortical thickness in the elderly.

Keywords: abdominal fat, visceral fat, neuroimaging, cortical thickness, MRI

## INTRODUCTION

Obesity is a well-known risk factor for cardiovascular diseases, type 2 diabetes, and cancer (Bogers et al., 2007; Renehan et al., 2008; Bell et al., 2014). It has also been suggested that obesity is an independent risk factor for Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia (Beydoun et al., 2008). To elucidate the effect of obesity on the brain in cognitively healthy individuals, a number of neuroimaging studies have investigated the association between obesity (including central obesity) and brain structure on magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (Gunstad et al., 2008; Taki et al., 2008; Raji et al., 2010; Yokum et al., 2012; Kurth et al., 2013; Kim et al., 2015; Medic et al., 2016; Dekkers et al., 2019; Hamer and Batty, 2019; Morys et al., 2021). A largescale study of the United Kingdom Biobank (n = 9,652) showed that three obesity indices [body mass index (BMI), waist-tohip ratio (WHR), and total fat mass from body impedance] were significantly associated with a reduction in global gray matter volume (Hamer and Batty, 2019). Another study of the United Kingdom Biobank (n = 12,087) reported that the association between total fat mass from body impedance and global gray matter volume was significant only in men (Dekkers et al., 2019). Some of the neuroimaging studies have measured cortical thickness (Kim et al., 2015; Medic et al., 2016; Morys et al., 2021), a more sensitive indicator of gray matter changes than cortical volume (Burggren et al., 2008; Thambisetty et al., 2010). Kim et al. (2015) demonstrated inverse associations between total fat percentage from body impedance and WHR with region-ofinterest (ROI)-based global and frontal thicknesses only in men. Medic et al. (2016) found several focal regions in the frontal and occipital lobes inversely associated with BMI6). Morys et al. (2021) reported that BMI, WHR, and body fat percentage were associated with thinner temporal, entorhinal, orbitofrontal, and cingulate cortices, as well as thicker frontal, parietal, and occipital cortices.

Emerging neuroimaging studies have suggested the role of visceral fat in the association between obesity and brain structures in adults (Debette et al., 2010; Isaac et al., 2011; Widya et al., 2015; Zsido et al., 2019). Debette et al. (2010) demonstrated that visceral fat on computed tomography (CT) had the strongest association with reduced total brain volumes when compared with other obesity indices (BMI, waist circumference, wait-to-hip ratio, and subcutaneous fat), and the association was independent of BMI and insulin resistance. Widya et al. (2015) reported that increased visceral fat (but not subcutaneous fat) was associated with microstructural brain tissue damage in the elderly. Zsido et al. (2019) demonstrated that increased visceral fat was associated with accelerated brain aging (based on structural brain networks derived from gray matter volume, cortical thickness, and surface area) in adults including elderly participants. Isaac et al. (2011) analyzed the data of 184 healthy elderly individuals using voxelbased morphometry, and found that visceral fat was inversely associated with cortical thicknesses in several focal regions (e.g., pre-central, post-central, superior temporal, and inferior parietal cortices). Although the ROI-based approach (compared with voxel-based morphometry) can facilitate clinical interpretation by predefining brain regions, no study has investigated the

associations between visceral fat (as well as subcutaneous fat) and ROI-based cortical thicknesses.

Hence, the present study aimed to explore brain regions associated with abdominal fat in the elderly, using the ROI-based analysis of brain magnetic resonance images.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Study Participants**

This study recruited  $\geq$  60 year-old individuals (without selfreported history of dementia, movement disorders, or stroke) through local advertisements between December 2015 and September 2017 in Incheon, Republic of Korea, as part of the EPINEF study. The survey was conducted at Gachon University Gil Medical Center (Incheon, South Korea). Using a standardized survey protocol, a total of 322 participants completed questionnaires (regarding demographic characteristics, medical history, and lifestyle behaviors), anthropometric measurement (weight and height), blood sampling, abdominal fat CT scans, mini-mental state examination (MMSE), and brain 3T MRI scans. Two participants who were found to have brain tumors on brain MRI were excluded. After excluding individuals with missing values, 316 participants (129 men and 187 women) were included in the study. All individuals provided written informed consent. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Gachon University Gil Medical Center (approval No. GDIRB2015-225).

## Acquisition of Abdominal Fat Areas

All subjects underwent 10-mm-slice CT scans (SOMATOM Sensation 64; Siemens Healthcare, Forchheim, Germany) at the umbilical level. The average value of pixels within the range of -200 to -20 Hounsfield units was used for the measurement of abdominal fat areas (Jackson and Thomas, 2004). The total visceral fat area and the subcutaneous fat area (unit: cm<sup>2</sup>) were measured with a commercial software program (syngo Volume; Siemens Healthcare, Forchheim, Germany).

## Acquisition of Brain Imaging Markers

Brain 3D-T1-magnetization-prepared rapid gradient-echo (MP-RAGE) images were obtained with a Siemens 3T Verio MRI, using a standardized MRI protocol. The image parameters used for 3D T1-MP-RAGE were as follows: repetition time, 1,900 ms; echo time, 2.93 ms; flip angle, 8°; pixel bandwidth, 170 Hz/pixel; matrix size,  $256 \times 208$ ; field of view, 256 mm; number of excitations, 1; total acquisition time, 4 min 10 s; voxel size,  $1.0 \times 1.0 \times 1.0 \text{ mm}^3$ .

ROI-based analyses of the brain images were performed using the standard FreeSurfer 6.0.0 pipeline<sup>1</sup>, which consists of subcortical segmentation (Fischl et al., 2002, 2004a); cortical surface reconstruction (Dale et al., 1999; Fischl et al., 1999); cortical thickness mapping (Fischl and Dale, 2000); surfacebased inter-subject alignment (Fischl et al., 1999); and cortical parcellation (Fischl et al., 2004b; Desikan et al., 2006). Using

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>http://surfer.nmr.mgh.harvard.edu/

these serial procedures, we obtained estimates of regional cortical thickness (frontal, temporal, parietal, occipital, cingulate, and insula) and subcortical gray matter volume (thalamus, caudate, putamen, pallidum, hippocampus, amygdala, and nucleus accumbens). Global cortical thickness was calculated by averaging the six cortical thicknesses.

## **Covariates**

The questionnaire included educational years, history of disease (hypertension, diabetes mellitus, dyslipidemia, and angina or myocardial infarction), smoking status (never, former, or current smoker), and alcohol consumption (currently drinking or not). Measured weight and height were used to calculate BMI (unit: kg/m<sup>2</sup>). At least 12-h fasting blood samples were tested for blood glucose and total cholesterol levels, and apolipoprotein E (APOE) genotyping.

## **Statistical Analysis**

To explore the non-linear relationship between abdominal fat area and cortical thickness, we used a generalized additive model (GAM), including visceral fat area as a spline variable and global cortical thickness as a dependent variable. In this analysis, we adjusted for age, sex, educational years, hypertension, diabetes, dyslipidemia, angina or myocardial infarction, smoking status, alcohol consumption, APOE status (presence/absence of ε4 allele), BMI, fasting blood glucose level, total cholesterol level, and intracranial volume (ICV). The degrees of freedom for the spline variable were automatically selected using the generalized cross validation method. A two-sided p < 0.05from analysis of deviance for GAM was considered as having a significant non-linear relationship. There were significant nonlinear relationships of visceral fat area with global (p = 0.02), frontal (p = 0.02), temporal (p = 0.02), and parietal thicknesses (p < 0.001), with an inverted U shape (Figure 1). Hence, we classified visceral fat area into quintiles (quintile 5 as the highest; quintile 3 as the reference group) and entered the quintiles into a generalized linear model (GLM). This approach was used for all the regional cortical thicknesses (though occipital and insular thicknesses did not exhibit significant non-linear relationships) with a view to presenting results in a consistent



FIGURE 1 | Non-linear relationships of visceral fat area with (A) global, (B) frontal, (C) temporal, and (D) parietal cortical thicknesses. Df, degrees of freedom. Beta coefficients were from generalized additive models, adjusting for age, sex, educational years, hypertension, diabetes, dyslipidemia, angina or myocardial infarction, smoking status, alcohol consumption, apolipoprotein status, body mass index, fasting blood glucose level, total cholesterol level, and intracranial volume. Degrees of freedom were determined by the cross-validation method.

manner. The same method was applied to subcutaneous fat area (albeit none of the non-linear relationships were significant) in order to enable a straightforward comparison with visceral fat. Given the absence of a significant non-linear relationship in the GAM analysis of subcortical volumes, the abdominal fat variables were entered as a continuous variable into the GLM for subcortical volumes. All GLM analyses were conducted after adjusting for the same covariates as the above GAM. Given possible sex differences in abdominal fat distribution as well as brain MRI markers (e.g., cortical thickness and volume) (Ritchie et al., 2018), sex-stratified analyses were additionally conducted. Significance of sex differences was tested using the method described by Altman and Bland and expressed as p for interaction (Altman and Bland, 2003). All analyses were corrected for multiple comparisons using the false discovery rate (FDR) method (Benjamini and Hochberg, 1995).

A *post hoc* analysis was conducted to examine the associations of other obesity indices (BMI and waist circumference) with brain cortical thickness. Quintiles of either BMI or waist circumference were entered into GLMs, with adjustment for the same covariates as the main analysis.

All statistical analyses were conducted using SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, United States). Two-sided p < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

## RESULTS

## **Characteristics of Study Participants**

The mean [standard deviation (SD)] age of the study participants was 67.6 (5.0) (**Table 1**). The numbers of those with hypertension and dyslipidemia were 134 (42.4%) and 104 (32.9%), respectively. The mean (SD) areas of visceral fat and subcutaneous fat were 125.3 (55.4) cm<sup>2</sup> and 167.5 (65.7) cm<sup>2</sup>, respectively. The mean (SD) MMSE score was 28.3 (1.9). The mean (SD) global thickness was 2.5 (0.1) mm.

## Association Between Abdominal Fat Area and Cortical Thickness

The quintile 3 group of visceral fat area had the greatest global cortical thickness (mean, 2.52 mm; SD, 0.07 mm), whereas the quintile 5 group had the smallest (mean, 2.48 mm; SD, 0.08 mm) (Table 2). In the GLM analysis of visceral fat (Table 3), the quintile 5 group (vs. the quintile 3 group) had significantly reduced cortical thicknesses in the global  $[\beta = -0.04 \text{ mm}, \text{ standard error (SE)} = 0.02 \text{ mm}, p = 0.004],$ parietal ( $\beta$  = -0.04 mm, SE = 0.02 mm, p = 0.01), temporal ( $\beta = -0.05 \text{ mm}$ , SE = 0.02 mm, p = 0.002), cingulate  $(\beta = -0.06 \text{ mm}, SE = 0.02 \text{ mm}, p = 0.01)$ , and insula lobes  $(\beta = -0.06 \text{ mm}, SE = 0.03 \text{ mm}, p = 0.02)$ . These associations remained significant after FDR correction. In men, the quintile 5 group (vs. the quintile 3 group) had significantly reduced global, temporal, and insular thicknesses, though these associations did not remain significant after FDR correction. In women, the quintiles 2, 4, and 5 groups had significantly reduced global cortical thicknesses, as compared with the quintile 3 group. The quintile 5 group (vs. the quintile 3 group) among women also

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of the study participants.

	Total (N = 316)	Men (N = 129)	Women (N = 187)
Age, mean (SD)	67.6 (5.0)	68.9 (4.9)	66.7 (5.0)
Educational years,	9.6 (4.3)	11.1 (4.1)	8.6 (4.0)
mean (SD)			
Hypertension, N (%)	134 (42.4)	60 (46.5)	74 (39.6)
Diabetes mellitus, N (%)	62 (19.6)	32 (24.8)	30 (16.0)
Dyslipidemia, N (%)	104 (32.9)	35 (27.1)	69 (36.9)
Angina or	37 (11.7)	19 (14.7)	18 (9.6)
myocardial infarction, N (%)			
Smoking status, N	(%)		
Never smoker	214 (67.7)	29 (22.5)	185 (98.9)
Former smoker	79 (25.0)	77 (59.7)	2 (1.1)
Current smoker	23 (7.3)	23 (17.8)	0 (0.0)
Alcohol drinking, N (%)	113 (35.8)	75 (58.1)	38 (20.3)
Body mass index, mean (SD)	24.7 (3.1)	24.8 (2.6)	24.7 (3.4)
Apolipoprotein stat	us, N (%)		
At least one ε4 allele	56 (17.7)	26 (20.2)	30 (16.0)
No ε4 allele	260 (82.3)	103 (79.8)	157 (84.0)
Fasting blood	99.0 (21.7)	100.0 (22.3)	98.4 (21.4)
glucose, mean (SD)			
Total cholesterol, mean (SD)	183.7 (37.7)	176.1 (38.0)	189.0 (36.7)
Abdominal fat (cm <sup>2</sup>	<sup>2</sup> ), mean (SD)		
Visceral fat	125.3 (55.4)	135.9 (59.9)	118.0 (51.0)
Subcutaneous fat	167.5 (65.7)	130.1 (46.8)	193.3 (64.5)
ICV (mm <sup>3</sup> ), mean (SD)	1,251,894 (126,138)	1,346,200 (101,857	7) 1,186,839 (96,866)
Cortical thickness	(mm), mean (SD)		
Global	2.5 (0.1)	2.5 (0.1)	2.5 (0.1)
Frontal lobe	2.5 (0.1)	2.5 (0.1)	2.6 (0.1)
Parietal lobe	2.8 (0.1)	2.7 (0.1)	2.8 (0.1)
Temporal lobe	2.3 (0.1)	2.2 (0.1)	2.3 (0.1)
Occipital lobe	2.0 (0.1)	2.0 (0.1)	2.0 (0.1)
Cingulate	2.6 (0.1)	2.5 (0.1)	2.6 (0.1)
Insula	2.9 (0.1)	2.9 (0.1)	2.9 (0.1)
Subcortical volume	(mm <sup>3</sup> ), mean (SD	)	
Thalamus	6474.9 (649.2)	6691.9 (666.2)	6325.2 (594.2)
Caudate	3256.3 (477.7)	3444.6 (476.3)	3126.4 (434.5)
Putamen	4461.1 (520.1)	4651.5 (534.4)	4329.7 (468.0)
Pallidum	1894.8 (205.4)	1960.8 (195.8)	1849.3 (199.8)
Amygdala	1637.6 (193.7)	1707.5 (187.4)	1589.4 (183.5)
Hippocampus	3903.3 (379.9)	3993.8 (363.4)	3840.9 (379.3)
Nucleus accumbens	427.4 (75.0)	447.1 (78.8)	413.8 (69.3)

SD, standard deviation, ICV, intracranial volume.

had a significantly reduced parietal thickness ( $\beta = -0.04$  mm, *SE* = 0.02 mm, *p* = 0.04). After FDR correction, reduced global thicknesses in the quintiles 2 and 3 groups, a reduced frontal thickness in the quintile 4 group, a reduced parietal

			Abdo	minal fat area		Global co	ortical thickness
	Ν	Mean	SD	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SD
Visceral fat							
Total (N = 316)							
Quintile 1	63	54.68	15.51	13.66	74.13	2.50	0.08
Quintile 2	63	91.12	9.48	74.58	107.92	2.50	0.08
Quintile 3	64	120.08	7.96	108.22	135.14	2.52	0.07
Quintile 4	63	153.20	10.40	135.50	171.18	2.51	0.08
Quintile 5	63	207.75	33.47	171.24	326.45	2.48	0.08
Men (N = 129)							
Quintile 1	25	53.24	18.36	13.66	75.27	2.47	0.08
Quintile 2	26	98.14	13.70	75.81	117.24	2.50	0.08
Quintile 3	26	134.38	10.32	118.03	150.33	2.50	0.08
Quintile 4	26	170.17	9.72	152.63	187.48	2.47	0.07
Quintile 5	26	220.63	25.49	191.04	280.17	2.46	0.07
Women (N = 187	7)						
Quintile 1	37	55.19	13.42	16.87	73.47	2.52	0.07
Quintile 2	38	87.99	8.26	73.71	99.87	2.50	0.09
Quintile 3	37	112.48	6.75	100.05	125.28	2.55	0.06
Quintile 4	38	140.85	10.77	125.62	158.11	2.51	0.07
Quintile 5	37	193.86	39.00	159.1	326.45	2.52	0.08
Subcutaneous f	at						
Total (N = 316)							
Quintile 1	63	90.06	23.79	15.75	115.14	2.48	0.07
Quintile 2	63	127.14	7.41	115.51	140.91	2.49	0.09
Quintile 3	64	157.95	9.71	142.03	173.87	2.51	0.07
Quintile 4	63	194.44	13.05	174.85	220.18	2.50	0.07
Quintile 5	63	268.05	47.02	221.54	417.81	2.52	0.08
Men ( <i>N</i> = 129)							
Quintile 1	25	69.99	21.65	15.75	92.57	2.46	0.07
Quintile 2	26	106.58	7.88	93.16	116.16	2.48	0.08
Quintile 3	26	125.29	4.80	116.23	133.09	2.47	0.10
Quintile 4	26	146.75	7.65	133.71	160.05	2.49	0.07
Quintile 5	26	199.35	33.93	163.84	306.01	2.48	0.06
Women ( <i>N</i> = 187	7)						
Quintile 1	37	114.85	18.21	40.03	138.36	2.51	0.07
Quintile 2	38	155.22	9.93	139.16	170.92	2.52	0.07
Quintile 3	37	184.30	8.88	171.04	198.74	2.53	0.07
Quintile 4	38	222.01	12.63	199.73	242.21	2.51	0.08
Quintile 5	37	290.52	48.13	243.25	417.81	2.54	0.08

SD, standard deviation.

thickness in the quintile 1 group, a reduced occipital thickness in the quintile 1 group, and a reduced cingulate thickness in the quintile 2 group remained significant. Regarding sex differences, the quintile 2 (vs. quintile 3) group had reduced cortical thicknesses among women but increased thicknesses among men in the global (p for interaction = 0.024), frontal (p for interaction = 0.036), parietal (p for interaction = 0.007), and cingulate lobes (p for interaction = 0.021). Otherwise sex differences were not significant.

In the GLM analysis of subcutaneous fat (**Supplementary Table 1**), there were no significant differences in global cortical thickness across the quintile groups. The quintile 4 group had significantly reduced frontal ( $\beta = -0.03 \text{ mm}$ , SE = 0.02 mm, p = 0.03), temporal ( $\beta = -0.03 \text{ mm}$ , SE = 0.02 mm, p = 0.04), and occipital thicknesses ( $\beta = -0.03 \text{ mm}$ , SE = 0.02 mm, p = 0.03), as compared with the quintile 3 group. These associations did

not remain significant after FDR correction. After stratification by sex, none of the associations remained significant.

## Association Between Abdominal Fat Area and Subcortical Volume

In the GLM analysis of visceral fat area (**Table 4**), an increase in visceral fat area was significantly associated with reduced volumes of the pallium ( $\beta = -0.66 \text{ mm}^3$ ,  $SE = 0.25 \text{ mm}^3$ , p = 0.01) and putamen ( $\beta = -1.36 \text{ mm}^3$ ,  $SE = 0.63 \text{ mm}^3$ , p = 0.03). In men, the association between visceral fat area and the reduced volume of the pallidum was significant ( $\beta = -0.55 \text{ mm}^3$ ,  $SE = 0.25 \text{ mm}^3$ , p = 0.03). In women, the association between visceral fat area and the reduced volume of the putamen was significant ( $\beta = -1.78 \text{ mm}^3$ ,  $SE = 0.90 \text{ mm}^3$ , p = 0.05). None of the associations between subcutaneous fat area and subcortical

#### TABLE 3 | Association between visceral fat area and cortical thickness.

		Т	Total (N = 316)		Ν	/len ( <i>N</i> = 129	)	w	omen (N = 1	87)	p for interaction <sup>†</sup>
		Beta	SE	p	Beta	SE	p	Beta	SE	p	
Global	Quintile 1 vs. 3	-0.008	0.015	0.61	-0.022	0.024	0.35	-0.022	0.02	0.27	1.00
	Quintile 2 vs. 3	-0.01	0.014	0.45	0.017	0.023	0.45	-0.049	0.018	0.009*	0.024
	Quintile 4 vs. 3	-0.011	0.014	0.42	-0.035	0.023	0.13	-0.05	0.018	0.007*	0.61
	Quintile 5 vs. 3	-0.043	0.015	0.004*	-0.05	0.024	0.042	-0.04	0.019	0.038	0.74
Frontal	Quintile 1 vs. 3	-0.019	0.017	0.27	-0.014	0.025	0.58	-0.035	0.022	0.12	0.53
	Quintile 2 vs. 3	-0.007	0.015	0.63	0.027	0.024	0.28	-0.04	0.021	0.055	0.036
	Quintile 4 vs. 3	-0.013	0.015	0.40	-0.019	0.024	0.44	-0.059	0.021	0.004*	0.21
	Quintile 5 vs. 3	-0.028	0.016	0.082	-0.014	0.026	0.58	-0.035	0.021	0.11	0.53
Parietal	Quintile 1 vs. 3	-0.031	0.017	0.069	-0.03	0.029	0.29	-0.053	0.021	0.011*	0.52
	Quintile 2 vs. 3	-0.009	0.016	0.58	0.045	0.028	0.11	-0.047	0.019	0.017	0.007
	Quintile 4 vs. 3	-0.012	0.015	0.43	0.006	0.028	0.82	-0.045	0.019	0.021	0.13
	Quintile 5 vs. 3	-0.041	0.016	0.013*	-0.038	0.03	0.20	-0.042	0.02	0.039	0.91
Temporal	Quintile 1 vs. 3	-0.019	0.018	0.28	-0.041	0.026	0.13	-0.014	0.023	0.55	0.44
	Quintile 2 vs. 3	-0.024	0.016	0.14	-0.008	0.025	0.74	-0.049	0.022	0.026	0.22
	Quintile 4 vs. 3	-0.02	0.016	0.22	-0.06	0.025	0.019	-0.043	0.022	0.046	0.61
	Quintile 5 vs. 3	-0.054	0.017	0.002*	-0.062	0.027	0.026	-0.043	0.022	0.056	0.59
Occipital	Quintile 1 vs. 3	-0.037	0.017	0.03*	-0.02	0.028	0.47	-0.065	0.021	0.003*	0.20
	Quintile 2 vs. 3	-0.016	0.016	0.31	0.021	0.027	0.43	-0.034	0.02	0.094	0.10
	Quintile 4 vs. 3	-0.014	0.015	0.35	-0.004	0.027	0.87	-0.027	0.02	0.17	0.49
	Quintile 5 vs. 3	-0.016	0.016	0.32	-0.018	0.028	0.54	-0.016	0.02	0.44	0.95
Cingulate	Quintile 1 vs. 3	0.02	0.023	0.37	-0.007	0.035	0.83	0.013	0.028	0.65	0.66
	Quintile 2 vs. 3	-0.02	0.02	0.32	0.022	0.034	0.52	-0.078	0.027	0.004*	0.021
	Quintile 4 vs. 3	-0.004	0.02	0.85	-0.034	0.034	0.31	-0.056	0.026	0.034	0.61
	Quintile 5 vs. 3	-0.06	0.022	0.006*	-0.056	0.036	0.12	-0.05	0.027	0.068	0.89
Insula	Quintile 1 vs. 3	0.039	0.026	0.14	-0.021	0.039	0.60	0.024	0.034	0.48	0.38
	Quintile 2 vs. 3	0.013	0.024	0.59	-0.003	0.037	0.94	-0.044	0.032	0.17	0.40
	Quintile 4 vs. 3	-0.004	0.024	0.85	-0.095	0.037	0.012	-0.069	0.032	0.031	0.60
	Quintile 5 vs. 3	-0.059	0.025	0.019*	-0.112	0.04	0.006	-0.052	0.033	0.11	0.25

SE, standard error.

Beta coefficients were from generalized linear models, adjusting for age, sex, educational years, hypertension, diabetes, dyslipidemia, angina or myocardial infarction, smoking status, alcohol consumption, apolipoprotein status, body mass index, fasting blood glucose level, total cholesterol level, and intracranial volume. The quintile 3 group was set as the reference group. Significant findings are highlighted in bold. \*Significant (p < 0.05) after correction for multiple comparisons, using the false discovery rate method.

<sup>†</sup>Significance of sex differences.

volumes were significant. After FDR correction, none of the associations remained significant.

#### Post hoc Analyses

The quintile 1 group of BMI had significantly reduced global ( $\beta = -0.03$  mm, SE = 0.01 mm, p = 0.027), parietal ( $\beta = -0.06$  mm, SE = 0.02 mm, p < 0.001), temporal ( $\beta = -0.05$  mm, SE = 0.02 mm, p = 0.004), and occipital thicknesses ( $\beta = -0.04$  mm, SE = 0.02 mm, p = 0.007), as compared with the quintile 3 group. Other findings are presented in **Supplementary Table 2**. In the analyses of waist circumference, none of the associations were significant except a reduced parietal thickness in the quintile 1 group ( $\beta = -0.04$  mm, SE = 0.02 mm, p = 0.015). Other findings are presented in **Supplementary Table 3**.

## DISCUSSION

The present study is the first to investigate the associations of visceral and subcutaneous fat area with ROI-based cortical thicknesses and subcortical volumes in elderly individuals without dementia. This neuroimaging study involved a relatively large sample size (n = 316) and adjusted for a range of covariates including well-known metabolic risk factors, as well as the apolipoprotein  $\varepsilon 4$  allele—the major genetic risk factor for Alzheimer's disease. The main finding was that individuals with the highest level of visceral fat area had significantly reduced cortical thicknesses in the global, parietal, temporal, cingulate, and insular lobes, as compared with those with the middle level of visceral fat area. These associations did not significantly differ by sex. By contrast, none of the regional cortical thicknesses significantly differed between individuals with the highest level and those with the middle level of subcutaneous fat area.

In recent decades, there has been debate surrounding the effect of high BMI on dementia risk. The largest cohort study on this topic (of two million individuals) demonstrated a protective effect of higher BMI (Qizilbash et al., 2015), while a meta-analysis of four studies showed a harmful effect of obesity (Pedditzi et al., 2016). Another cohort study of 1.3 million individuals suggested a harmful effect of higher BMI on dementia risk over > 20 years of follow-up, as well as a protective effect of higher BMI over  $\leq$  20 years of follow-up,

	Total (N = 316)		r	Men ( <i>N</i> = 129)			Women ( <i>N</i> = 187)			
	Beta	SE	р	Beta	SE	p	Beta	SE	р	
Visceral fat										
Thalamus	-0.383	0.643	0.55	0.2	0.988	0.84	-0.935	0.913	0.31	0.40
Caudate	-0.928	0.609	0.13	-0.742	0.951	0.44	-1.144	0.877	0.19	0.76
Pallidum	-0.664	0.25	0.008	-0.79	0.348	0.025	-0.584	0.385	0.13	0.69
Putamen	-1.355	0.627	0.031	-1.247	0.983	0.21	-1.781	0.895	0.048	0.69
Amygdala	0.203	0.224	0.37	0.226	0.346	0.52	0.164	0.33	0.62	0.90
Hippocampus	-0.286	0.428	0.50	-0.129	0.626	0.84	-0.597	0.641	0.35	0.60
Nucleus accumbens	-0.132	0.093	0.16	-0.1	0.135	0.46	-0.186	0.136	0.17	0.65
Subcutaneous fat										
Thalamus	-0.217	0.624	0.73	-1.258	1.258	0.32	0.351	0.72	0.63	0.27
Caudate	-0.602	0.592	0.31	-1.645	1.209	0.18	-0.445	0.692	0.52	0.39
Pallidum	-0.008	0.246	0.97	-0.026	0.455	0.95	0.051	0.305	0.87	0.89
Putamen	0.307	0.612	0.62	0.877	1.263	0.49	0.134	0.712	0.85	0.61
Amygdala	0.047	0.218	0.83	0.278	0.442	0.53	-0.077	0.26	0.77	0.49
Hippocampus	-0.148	0.416	0.72	0.722	0.797	0.37	-0.395	0.504	0.44	0.24
Nucleus accumbens	-0.157	0.09	0.082	-0.091	0.173	0.60	-0.165	0.107	0.13	0.72

SE, standard error.

Beta coefficients were from generalized linear models, adjusting for age, sex, educational years, hypertension, diabetes, dyslipidemia, angina or myocardial infarction, smoking status, alcohol consumption, apolipoprotein status, body mass index, fasting blood glucose level, total cholesterol level, and intracranial volume. Significant findings are highlighted in bold. None of the associations remained significant after correction for multiple comparisons using the false discovery rate method. <sup>†</sup>Significance of sex differences.

possibly due to reverse causation (Kivimaki et al., 2018). Another meta-analysis of 10 prospective cohort studies demonstrated a significant U-shaped association between BMI and dementia risk, indicating that both underweight individuals and overweight individuals are at risk of dementia (Beydoun et al., 2008). This controversial relationship between BMI and dementia and its underlying mechanisms can be, at least in part, scrutinized by using more intricate biomarkers in imaging studies. An MRI analysis of 1,777 cognitively healthy individuals found a significant inverted U-shaped relationship between central obesity (WHR as a proxy) and global cortical thickness (Kim et al., 2015). In line with this, we found a significant inverted U-shaped relationship between visceral fat area on CT and global cortical thickness. It is noteworthy that, when compared with the middle quintile group of visceral fat area, global cortical thinning was significant in the highest quintile group, but not in the lowest quintile group. This highlights a harmful effect of high visceral fat on brain gray matter, as the previous neuroimaging studies have suggested (Debette et al., 2010; Isaac et al., 2011; Widya et al., 2015; Zsido et al., 2019). Taken together, it is possible that high visceral fat leads to cortical thinning and, hence, contribute to the increased risk of dementia in overweight or obese individuals. Further, in concordance with the previous study using voxel-based morphometry (Isaac et al., 2011), the present study demonstrated that the highest level of visceral fat was significantly associated with reduced thicknesses in association cortices (critical for integrating sensory inputs) such as the temporal and parietal lobes. A similar pattern was observed in the cingulate cortex in the present study. These affected brain cortices correspond to the sites that show atrophy in the early stage of mild cognitive impairment (McDonald et al., 2009). Hence, it is reasonable to suggest that individuals with high visceral fat may initially develop preclinical

cortical thinning in the temporal, parietal, and cingulate lobes, followed by clinical outcomes such as mild cognitive impairment.

Given possible correlations between visceral fat area and other obesity indices (e.g., BMI and waist circumference), it is possible that the association between visceral fat and cortical thickness was driven by the impact of other obesity indices. In the present study, there was a significant correlation between BMI and visceral fat area (Supplementary Figure 1), and cortical thinning associated with the highest visceral fat group was found significant in the temporal, parietal, cingulate, and insular lobes, after adjusting for a range of covariates including BMI. Notably, a significant decline in cortical thickness was mainly observed in the highest quintile groups of visceral fat area, whereas cortical thinning was significant only in the lowest quintile groups of BMI or waist circumference (Supplementary Tables 2, 3). This suggests that visceral fat area, compared with BMI and waist circumference, might be a better indicator of obesity-induced cortical thinning. In line with this, an analysis of the Framingham Offspring cohort demonstrated that visceral fat was more strongly associated with decreased cerebral volumes compared with BMI, waist circumference, or subcutaneous fat (Debette et al., 2010). Furthermore, the relationship between visceral fat and cortical thinning is supported by animal studies, demonstrating plausible biological mechanisms such as microglial activation, upregulated pro-inflammatory cytokines in the brain, and increased blood-brain barrier permeability via visceral fat inflammation (Shin et al., 2015; Guo et al., 2020). Epidemiological evidence also suggests that visceral fat deposition may induce systemic inflammation and, in turn, cerebral small-vessel disease (e.g., white matter hyperintensities), which is related to reduced cortical thickness (Lampe et al., 2019; Morys et al., 2021).

There are several limitations to be noted. First, we cannot establish temporality between a high level of visceral fat and cortical thinning due to the cross-sectional nature of the study. Longitudinal investigations are warranted to clarify the temporal relationship between high visceral fat area and cortical thinning. Second, our findings might not be generalizable to other ethnic populations. In particular, the inverted U-shaped relationship between visceral fat area and cortical thickness in our samples might not be present in Western populations, though a meta-analysis including 10 prospective studies demonstrated a U-shaped relationship between BMI and risk of dementia (Beydoun et al., 2008). Last, we included dementia-free individuals based on self-reported information, and this approach might not have captured variation in cognitive health (including subthreshold cognitive impairment). Besides, the MMSE may not be sensitive to mild cognitive impairment (Mitchell, 2009; Yim et al., 2021). Future studies are warranted to assess cognitive health with sufficient granularity to elucidate fat-related cortical thinning.

In conclusion, a high level of visceral fat was significantly associated with a reduced global cortical thickness in the brains of elderly individuals without dementia, movement disorders, or stroke. Cortical thinning associated with the highest level of visceral fat area was significant in the parietal, temporal, cingulate, and insular lobes, whereas cortical thinning associated with the highest level of subcutaneous fat area was not significant in any of the studied lobes. These findings support the role of visceral fat in obesity-induced neurodegeneration.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

#### REFERENCES

- Altman, D. G., and Bland, J. M. (2003). Interaction revisited: the difference between two estimates. *BMJ* 326:219. doi: 10.1136/bmj.326.7382.219
- Bell, J. A., Kivimaki, M., and Hamer, M. (2014). Metabolically healthy obesity and risk of incident type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Obes. Rev.* 15, 504–515. doi: 10.1111/obr.12157
- Benjamini, Y., and Hochberg, Y. (1995). Controlling the false discovery rate: a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. J. Royal Stat. Soc. Ser. B Methodol. 57, 289–300.
- Beydoun, M. A., Beydoun, H. A., and Wang, Y. (2008). Obesity and central obesity as risk factors for incident dementia and its subtypes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obes. Rev.* 9, 204–218. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-789X.2008.00 473.x
- Bogers, R. P., Bemelmans, W. J., Hoogenveen, R. T., Boshuizen, H. C., Woodward, M., Knekt, P., et al. (2007). Association of overweight with increased risk of coronary heart disease partly independent of blood pressure and cholesterol levels: a meta-analysis of 21 cohort studies including more than 300 000 persons. Arch. Intern. Med. 167, 1720–1728. doi: 10.1001/archinte.167. 16.1720
- Burggren, A. C., Zeineh, M. M., Ekstrom, A. D., Braskie, M. N., Thompson, P. M., Small, G. W., et al. (2008). Reduced cortical thickness in hippocampal subregions among cognitively normal apolipoprotein E e4 carriers. *Neuroimage* 41, 1177–1183. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.03.039

### **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Gachon University Gil Medical Center (approval No. GDIRB2015-225). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JC, CK, and YN designed the study. JC and YN contributed to the data collection and drafted the manuscript. JC analyzed the data. SS, W-RK, and CK provided significant intellectual input and a critical review of the manuscript. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

## FUNDING

This research was supported by grants from the Korea Health Technology R&D Project through the Korea Health Industry Development Institute (KHIDI), funded by the Ministry of Health and Welfare, South Korea (Grant Nos. HI18C1629 and HI14C1135); Brain Research Program of the National Research Foundation (NRF) funded by the Korean Government (MSIT) (Grant No. 2018M3C7A1056889); and Research Program funded by the Korea Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2020-ER6706-00).

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnagi. 2021.694629/full#supplementary-material

- Dale, A. M., Fischl, B., and Sereno, M. I. (1999). Cortical surface-based analysis. I. Segmentation and surface reconstruction. *Neuroimage* 9, 179–194. doi: 10.1006/ nimg.1998.0395
- Debette, S., Beiser, A., Hoffmann, U., Decarli, C., O'donnell, C. J., Massaro, J. M., et al. (2010). Visceral fat is associated with lower brain volume in healthy middle-aged adults. *Ann. Neurol.* 68, 136–144. doi: 10.1002/ana. 22062
- Dekkers, I. A., Jansen, P. R., and Lamb, H. J. (2019). Obesity, brain volume, and white matter microstructure at MRI: a cross-sectional UK biobank study. *Radiology* 291, 763–771. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2019181012
- Desikan, R. S., Segonne, F., Fischl, B., Quinn, B. T., Dickerson, B. C., Blacker, D., et al. (2006). An automated labeling system for subdividing the human cerebral cortex on MRI scans into gyral based regions of interest. *Neuroimage* 31, 968–980. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.01.021
- Fischl, B., and Dale, A. M. (2000). Measuring the thickness of the human cerebral cortex from magnetic resonance images. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 11050–11055. doi: 10.1073/pnas.200033797
- Fischl, B., Salat, D. H., Busa, E., Albert, M., Dieterich, M., Haselgrove, C., et al. (2002). Whole brain segmentation: automated labeling of neuroanatomical structures in the human brain. *Neuron* 33, 341–355.
- Fischl, B., Salat, D. H., Van Der Kouwe, A. J., Makris, N., Segonne, F., Quinn, B. T., et al. (2004a). Sequence-independent segmentation of magnetic resonance images. *Neuroimage* 23(Suppl. 1), S69–S84. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2004.07. 016

- Fischl, B., Van Der Kouwe, A., Destrieux, C., Halgren, E., Segonne, F., Salat, D. H., et al. (2004b). Automatically parcellating the human cerebral cortex. *Cereb Cortex* 14, 11–22. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhg087
- Fischl, B., Sereno, M. I., and Dale, A. M. (1999). Cortical surface-based analysis. II: inflation, flattening, and a surface-based coordinate system. *Neuroimage* 9, 195–207. doi: 10.1006/nimg.1998.0396
- Gunstad, J., Paul, R. H., Cohen, R. A., Tate, D. F., Spitznagel, M. B., Grieve, S., et al. (2008). Relationship between body mass index and brain volume in healthy adults. *Int. J. Neurosci.* 118, 1582–1593. doi: 10.1080/00207450701392282
- Guo, D.-H., Yamamoto, M., Hernandez, C. M., Khodadadi, H., Baban, B., and Stranahan, A. M. (2020). Visceral adipose NLRP3 impairs cognition in obesity via IL-1R1 on CX3CR1+ cells. *J. Clin. Investigation* 130, 1961–1976. doi: 10. 1172/JCI126078
- Hamer, M., and Batty, G. D. (2019). Association of body mass index and waistto-hip ratio with brain structure: UK biobank study. *Neurology* 92, e594–e600. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000006879
- Isaac, V., Sim, S., Zheng, H., Zagorodnov, V., Tai, E. S., and Chee, M. (2011). Adverse associations between visceral adiposity, brain structure, and cognitive performance in healthy elderly. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 3:12. doi: 10.3389/fnagi. 2011.00012
- Jackson, S., and Thomas, R. (eds). (2004). "Computed tomography (CT): clinical applications of CT," in *Cross-Sectional Imaging Made Easy*, (Oxford: Churchill Livingstone).
- Kim, H. J., Kim, C., Jeon, S., Kang, M., Kim, Y. J., Lee, J. M., et al. (2015). Association of body fat percentage and waist-hip ratio with brain cortical thickness: a study among 1777 cognitively normal subjects. *Alzheimer Dis. Assoc. Disord.* 29, 279–286. doi: 10.1097/WAD.0000000000 00079
- Kivimaki, M., Luukkonen, R., Batty, G. D., Ferrie, J. E., Pentti, J., Nyberg, S. T., et al. (2018). Body mass index and risk of dementia: analysis of individuallevel data from 1.3 million individuals. *Alzheimers Dement* 14, 601–609. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2017.09.016
- Kurth, F., Levitt, J. G., Phillips, O. R., Luders, E., Woods, R. P., Mazziotta, J. C., et al. (2013). Relationships between gray matter, body mass index, and waist circumference in healthy adults. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 34, 1737–1746. doi: 10. 1002/hbm.22021
- Lampe, L., Zhang, R., Beyer, F., Huhn, S., Kharabian Masouleh, S., Preusser, S., et al. (2019). Visceral obesity relates to deep white matter hyperintensities via inflammation. *Ann. Neurol.* 85, 194–203. doi: 10.1002/ana.2 5396
- McDonald, C. R., Mcevoy, L. K., Gharapetian, L., Fennema-Notestine, C., Hagler, D. J. Jr., Holland, D., et al. (2009). Regional rates of neocortical atrophy from normal aging to early Alzheimer disease. *Neurology* 73, 457–465. doi: 10.1212/ WNL.0b013e3181b16431
- Medic, N., Ziauddeen, H., Ersche, K. D., Farooqi, I. S., Bullmore, E. T., Nathan, P. J., et al. (2016). Increased body mass index is associated with specific regional alterations in brain structure. *Int. J. Obes (Lond)* 40, 1177–1182. doi: 10.1038/ ijo.2016.42
- Mitchell, A. J. (2009). A meta-analysis of the accuracy of the mini-mental state examination in the detection of dementia and mild cognitive impairment. *J. Psychiatr. Res.* 43, 411–431. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2008.04.014
- Morys, F., Dadar, M., and Dagher, A. (2021). Association between mid-life obesity, its metabolic consequences, cerebrovascular disease and cognitive decline. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 2:dgab135. doi: 10.1210/clinem/dgab135

- Pedditzi, E., Peters, R., and Beckett, N. (2016). The risk of overweight/obesity in mid-life and late life for the development of dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Age Ageing* 45, 14–21. doi: 10.1093/ ageing/afv151
- Qizilbash, N., Gregson, J., Johnson, M. E., Pearce, N., Douglas, I., Wing, K., et al. (2015). BMI and risk of dementia in two million people over two decades: a retrospective cohort study. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* 3, 431–436. doi: 10. 1016/S2213-8587(15)00033-9
- Raji, C. A., Ho, A. J., Parikshak, N. N., Becker, J. T., Lopez, O. L., Kuller, L. H., et al. (2010). Brain structure and obesity. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 31, 353–364. doi: 10.1002/hbm.20870
- Renehan, A. G., Tyson, M., Egger, M., Heller, R. F., and Zwahlen, M. (2008). Bodymass index and incidence of cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. *Lancet* 371, 569–578. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60269-X
- Ritchie, S. J., Cox, S. R., Shen, X., Lombardo, M. V., Reus, L. M., Alloza, C., et al. (2018). Sex differences in the adult human brain: evidence from 5216 UK biobank participants. *Cereb Cortex* 28, 2959–2975. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhy109
- Shin, J. A., Jeong, S. I., Kim, M., Yoon, J. C., Kim, H. S., and Park, E. M. (2015). Visceral adipose tissue inflammation is associated with age-related brain changes and ischemic brain damage in aged mice. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 50, 221–231. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.07.008
- Taki, Y., Kinomura, S., Sato, K., Inoue, K., Goto, R., Okada, K., et al. (2008). Relationship between body mass index and gray matter volume in 1,428 healthy individuals. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* 16, 119–124. doi: 10.1038/oby.2007.4
- Thambisetty, M., Wan, J., Carass, A., An, Y., Prince, J. L., and Resnick, S. M. (2010). Longitudinal changes in cortical thickness associated with normal aging. *Neuroimage* 52, 1215–1223. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.04.258
- Widya, R. L., Kroft, L. J. M., Altmann-Schneider, I., Van Den Berg-Huysmans, A. A., Van Der Bijl, N., De Roos, A., et al. (2015). Visceral adipose tissue is associated with microstructural brain tissue damage. *Obesity* 23, 1092–1096. doi: 10.1002/oby.21048
- Yim, Y., Lee, J. Y., Oh, S. W., Chung, M. S., Park, J. E., Moon, Y., et al. (2021). Comparison of automated brain volume measures by neuroquant vs. Freesurfer in patients with mild cognitive impairment: effect of slice thickness. *Yonsei Med. J.* 62, 255–261. doi: 10.3349/ymj.2021.62.3.255
- Yokum, S., Ng, J., and Stice, E. (2012). Relation of regional gray and white matter volumes to current BMI and future increases in BMI: a prospective MRI study. *Int. J. Obes (Lond)* 36, 656–664. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2011.175
- Zsido, R. G., Heinrich, M., Slavich, G. M., Beyer, F., Kharabian Masouleh, S., Kratzsch, J., et al. (2019). Association of estradiol and visceral fat with structural brain networks and memory performance in adults. *JAMA Netw. Open* 2:e196126. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.6126

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Cho, Seo, Kim, Kim and Noh. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Network Modeling Sex Differences in Brain Integrity and Metabolic Health

Janelle T. Foret<sup>1</sup>, Maria Dekhtyar<sup>1</sup>, James H. Cole<sup>2,3</sup>, Drew D. Gourley<sup>4</sup>, Marie Caillaud<sup>1</sup>, Hirofumi Tanaka<sup>4</sup> and Andreana P. Haley<sup>1,5\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Psychology, The University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX, United States, <sup>2</sup> Department of Computer Science, Centre for Medical Image Computing, University College London, London, United Kingdom, <sup>3</sup> Dementia Research Centre, Institute of Neurology, University College London, London, United Kingdom, <sup>4</sup> Department of Kinesiology and Health Education, The University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX, United States, <sup>5</sup> Biomedical Imaging Center, The University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX, United States

Hypothesis-driven studies have demonstrated that sex moderates many of the relationships between brain health and cardiometabolic disease, which impacts risk for later-life cognitive decline. In the present study, we sought to further our understanding of the associations between multiple markers of brain integrity and cardiovascular risk in a midlife sample of 266 individuals by using network analysis, a technique specifically designed to examine complex associations among multiple systems at once. Separate network models were constructed for male and female participants to investigate sex differences in the biomarkers of interest, selected based on evidence linking them with risk for late-life cognitive decline: all components of metabolic syndrome (obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, and hyperglycemia); neuroimaging-derived brain-predicted age minus chronological age; ratio of white matter hyperintensities to whole brain volume; seed-based resting state functional connectivity in the Default Mode Network, and ratios of N-acetyl aspartate, glutamate and myo-inositol to creatine, measured through proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Males had a sparse network (87.2% edges = 0) relative to females (69.2% edges = 0), indicating fewer relationships between measures of cardiometabolic risk and brain integrity. The edges in the female network provide meaningful information about potential mechanisms between brain integrity and cardiometabolic health. Additionally, Apolipoprotein  $\epsilon 4$  (ApoE  $\epsilon 4$ ) status and waist circumference emerged as central nodes in the female model. Our study demonstrates that network analysis is a promising technique for examining relationships between risk factors for cognitive decline in a midlife population and that investigating sex differences may help optimize risk prediction and tailor individualized treatments in the future.

Keywords: sex differences, metabolic syndrome, network model, white matter hyper intensities, brain-predicted age, functional connectivity, APOE, magnetic resonance spectroscopy

## INTRODUCTION

Sex has emerged as a moderator in many associations between brain health and cardiometabolic dysfunction. More specifically, sex appears to moderate associations between cognition and aortic stiffness (Sabra et al., 2020), between risk of dementia and plasma lipid and lipropoteins (Ancelin et al., 2013; Gilsanz et al., 2017), and between white matter hyperintensities and adiposity

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Frauke Beyer, Max Planck Institute for Human Cognitive and Brain Sciences, Germany

#### Reviewed by:

Carme Uribe, Centre for Addiction and Mental Health (CAMH), Canada Laura A. Pritschet, University of California, Santa Barbara, United States

> \*Correspondence: Andreana P. Haley haley@austin.utexas.edu

Received: 06 April 2021 Accepted: 27 May 2021 Published: 29 June 2021

#### Citation:

Foret JT, Dekhtyar M, Cole JH, Gourley DD, Caillaud M, Tanaka H and Haley AP (2021) Network Modeling Sex Differences in Brain Integrity and Metabolic Health. Front. Aging Neurosci. 13:691691. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.691691 (Algarni et al., 2021). Additionally, there are pronounced sex differences in cardiovascular aging, particularly in the structures and function of the vasculature (Merz and Cheng, 2016). For example, type 2 diabetes and elevated systolic blood pressure may result in slightly higher risk for cardiovascular disease for women (Wei et al., 2017) and greater cardiovascular burden for aging women than men (Huebschmann et al., 2019). There are also sex differences in important brain biomarkers, such as connectivity (Gong et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2018) and age-related atrophy (Xu et al., 2000). In later life, women demonstrate higher rates of Alzheimer's Disease (AD), even when controlling for survivorship effects (Zhao et al., 2016; Andrew and Tierney, 2018; Beam et al., 2018; Buckley et al., 2019). Since cardioprotective effects of estrogen that provide advantage to women (Stanhewicz et al., 2018; Peters et al., 2019; Rodgers et al., 2019) end at menopause and later life cognitive declines may originate at midlife or earlier (Rodrigue et al., 2013; Irwin et al., 2018), age 40-60 is an opportune period for investigating relationships between brain and metabolic variables for males and females separately.

Growing evidence for the causal influence of multiple variables on biological systems has increased the need for new statistical techniques that can provide greater insight into complex relationships at once. Network analysis has been primarily applied to psychiatric comorbidity (Borsboom and Cramer, 2013), and the use in biological models is relatively novel. This technique provides a visual depiction of the complex associations among symptoms, which can be understood as partial correlations. Network analysis also allows identification of "central" symptoms, defined by strong correlations with a large number of other symptoms. The theory is that, similar to a domino effect, the presence of a central symptom is likely to have greater influence over the entire network of symptoms due to its high degree of interconnectedness (van Borkulo et al., 2015; Beard et al., 2016). In respect to networks with biological variables, centrality of a node in a network may convey that a variable has an impact on other variables or may drive relationships between variables. For the purposes of research in risk for cognitive decline, centrality can help untangle which metabolic risk factors have the greatest influence on brain integrity for males vs. females.

Through two separate exploratory network analyses for males and females, we sought to understand sex differences in the relationships between brain integrity and metabolic risk. Our variables of interest, markers of brain integrity, age, genetic status and the components of metabolic syndrome, were selected based on evidence linking them to late-life cognitive decline. We hypothesized that there would be sex differences in these networks, but we did not form specific hypotheses about relationships between variables, other than anticipating that higher levels of metabolic risk factors would be more likely to relate to poorer brain integrity for both males and females.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## Variables of Interest

#### Metabolic Syndrome Components

Metabolic Syndrome (MetS) and its five key components have been established as a cluster of risk factors for cardiovascular

disease, which include: abdominal obesity, high triglyceride concentrations, low high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol, above normal blood pressure (prehypertension), and above normal blood sugar (prediabetes) (Eckel et al., 2005). MetS diagnosis is indicated by meeting criteria for 3 or more components based on the Alberti et al. (2009) consensus criteria to determine cut offs for each MetS category: fasting glucose  $\geq$ 100 mg/dL or treatment for hyperglycemia, triglycerides  $\geq$ 150 mg/dL, HDL-cholesterol ≤40 mg/dL in males and ≤50 mg/dL in females or treatment for dyslipidemia, systolic blood pressure ≥130 mmHg or diastolic ≥85 mmHg or antihypertensive medication, and waist circumference ≥102 cm for men and ≥88 cm for women. MetS category variables were coded as yes or no to indicate whether or not an individual met criteria for each variable of interest. MetS diagnosis and key components have been associated with negative cognitive consequences (Skoog et al., 1996; Waldstein et al., 2004; Yaffe et al., 2004; Kivipelto et al., 2005; Whitmer et al., 2005; Segura et al., 2009; Arvanitakis et al., 2010; Falkowski et al., 2014; Foret et al., 2020b). Sex differences have been observed in MetS, such as differences in prevalence and age at incidence (Regitz-Zagrosek et al., 2007; Yang and Kozloski, 2011) and clustering of risk factors (Kuk and Ardern, 2010).

### Brain-Predicted Age Difference (Brain-PAD)

Machine-learning methods that measure biological aging can aid in early detection of brain vulnerability (Cole et al., 2019) and serve as important predictors of mortality (Horvath, 2013; Putin et al., 2016; Cole et al., 2018). One such method, neuroimagingderived 'brain age', estimates an individual's biological age based on gray and white matter volumes (Cole, 2017; Cole and Franke, 2017). By subtracting chronological age from brain age (brain-PAD), it is possible to estimate which individuals might have poorer brain health in terms of volumetric loss, which may relate to risk for neurocognitive decline. For example, in a sample of individuals with Down's Syndrome, elevated brain-PAD has been linked to amyloid deposition and cognitive decline (Cole et al., 2019). We calculated the brain-PAD of individuals in our dataset to determine which individuals might have "older" brains than their chronological age, such that a higher, positive brain-PAD would reflect higher levels of atrophy.

## White Matter Hyperintensities (WMH)

WMH are areas of hyperintense signal on MRI indicative of lesions in the deep white matter, produced through chronic hypoperfusion and disruption of the blood-brain barrier (van Swieten et al., 1991; Pantoni and Garcia, 1997; Debette and Markus, 2010; Topakian et al., 2010). WMH are commonly observed in aging populations but have been associated with vascular and metabolic risk even after correcting for age (Launer, 2003; Yoshita et al., 2006; Birdsill et al., 2014). Specific components of MetS have been associated with WMH and research has suggested white matter lesions as the mechanism behind cognitive decline in populations with MetS (Alfaro et al., 2016). Relationships between WMH and cardiometabolic risk at midlife have been observed in both cross-sectional (Pasha et al., 2017) and longitudinal follow-up studies (Aljondi et al., 2020). Additionally, relationships between WMH, cardiovascular risk factors, and later life cognitive decline are marked by sex differences (Pasha et al., 2018b; Burke et al., 2019; Alqarni et al., 2021).

#### Rs-fcMRI

Resting state functional connectivity MRI (rs-fcMRI) identifies temporal correlation of brain regions through low frequency background fluctuations in neuronal activity measured by the blood oxygen level dependent (BOLD) signal during a period of rest (Biswal et al., 1995; Fox and Greicius, 2010). rs-fcMRI is one way to examine early brain vulnerability, particularly through examining one of the most widely-studied networks in this context, the Default Mode Network (DMN). The primary nodes of the DMN are the dorsal and ventral medial prefrontal cortices (dMPFC and vMPFC) and the posterior cingulate cortex (PCC) (Greicius et al., 2003). Both the MPFC and PCC have relationships to age-related brain pathologies (Zhou et al., 2008, 2016; Zhang et al., 2010). Dyssynchrony in the DMN is thought to occur before clinical manifestation of the disease and changes in structure (Habib et al., 2017) and may be one of the earliest markers for late-life cognitive decline. Additionally, differential relationships between DMN connectivity and executive function have been examined in middle-aged adults with varying numbers of MetS components (Foret et al., 2020a). While sex differences have been observed in task-based functional connectivity at midlife (Jacobs et al., 2017), relationships between sex and DMN dyssychrony requires further investigation.

#### Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy (<sup>1</sup>H MRS)

Proton Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy allows for detection of cerebral metabolites. <sup>1</sup>H MRS may have greater sensitivity to tissue vulnerability than MRI and thus is appropriate for early, pre-clinical changes in midlife brain metabolism (Barker et al., 1994). Three metabolites were selected for their significance in neurobiological models of aging: N-acetyl aspartate (NAA), a metabolite that is highly concentrated in neurons and considered a marker of neuronal health (Danielsen and Ross, 1999; Haley et al., 2010b; Gonzales et al., 2013); glutamate, an excitatory neurotransmitter implicated in synaptic plasticity (Danielsen and Ross, 1999) and metabolic health (Haley et al., 2010a, 2012; Magi et al., 2019); and myo-inositol (mI), an organic osmolyte and substrate for the synthesis of the secondary messenger, inositol triphosphate, which has been elevated in beta amyloid positive individuals and associated with decreased DMN connectivity independent of amyloid accumulation (Voevodskaya et al., 2016, 2019). Significant sex differences have been observed in cerebral metabolites, particularly in concentrations of NAA and mI, as early as childhood and adolescence (Cichocka et al., 2018).

#### Apolipoprotein E (ApoE)

The allele frequency of ApoE  $\epsilon 4$  ( $\epsilon 4$ ) in the ApoE genotype has been consistently associated with increased risk for AD (Roses and Saunders, 1994; Green et al., 2009) and other forms of neurocognitive decline (Rohn, 2014; Mukerji et al., 2016). Disruptions in neuronal metabolism due to ApoE's role in cholesterol transport are cited as the mechanism behind this association (Lahoz et al., 2001; Eichner et al., 2002). Young healthy  $\epsilon 4$  carriers have distinct patterns of activity in the DMN (Filippini et al., 2009). Additionally, research has shown that the effect of  $\epsilon 4$  status on Alzheimer's risk may be stronger for female than male carriers (Sampedro et al., 2015; Riedel et al., 2016).

### Age

Many of the above risk factors and markers of neuropathology have the strongest relationships with cognitive decline as individuals age (Hädel et al., 2013; Vidal-Piñeiro et al., 2014; Makkar et al., 2020). However, the impact of age at midlife on the relationships between metabolic health and brain integrity is not fully understood. Including this variable in the model could provide further information about the importance of age in these relationships.

## **Participants**

Four hundred nine adults between the ages of 40 and 61 were recruited for the study through local newspaper advertisements and flyers. Among them, 274 individuals were enrolled, and metabolic, demographic and imaging data were available on 266 participants. Exclusion criteria were history of neurological disease, major psychiatric illness, history of substance abuse, or MRI contraindication.

When grouping by sex, there were no significant differences between groups in age [ $t_{(264)} = -0.19$ , p = 0.850], education [ $t_{(258)} = 1.41$ , p = 0.160], or ApoE status ( $\chi^2(1, N = 244) < 0.001$ , p = 1). Males had significantly higher levels of mI [ $t_{(201)} = 2.85$ , p < 0.01], waist circumference [ $t_{(259)} = 3.38$ , p < 0.001], triglycerides [ $t_{(239)} = 2.25$ , p = 0.025] and glucose [ $t_{(260)} = 3.13$ , p < 0.01] while females had significantly higher functional connectivity [ $t_{(204)} = -2.38$ , p = 0.018] and HDL-cholesterol [ $t_{(254)} = -7.08$ , p < 0.001]. Only 12 female participants were actively taking hormone replacement therapies (HRT), which was not a sufficient sample size to include HRT as a covariate in our analyses. Participant characteristics are provided in **Table 1**.

## Procedures

The Institutional Review Board at the University of Texas at Austin approved all study procedures. Written informed consent before enrolling in the study was provided by participants. Medical history was collected through self-report questionnaires and participants underwent a neuropsychological evaluation, brain imaging and a general health assessment. Assessments and imaging were completed in separate visits and most participants completed the study in 1 month.

## **Neuropsychological Assessment**

Participants completed a neuropsychological battery consisting of tests of memory, verbal fluency and executive function. Raw scores from a neuropsychological battery were converted to sample-based z scores. Scores from the Mini-Mental Status Exam (MMSE; Kurlowicz and Wallace, 1999); the California Verbal Learning Test-2nd Edition, short delay free recall, long delay free recall and recognition discriminability conditions (CVLT-II; Delis et al., 2000); Digit Span forward and backward conditions total score from the Weschler Adult Intelligence Scale—Fourth Edition (WAIS-IV) (Lichtenberger and Kaufman,

#### **TABLE 1** | Selected participant characteristics (n = 266).

Participant characteristics		Male		Female		
	N	Mean ± SD	N	Mean ± SD	t	p
Age, y	121	49 ± 6	145	49 ± 6	-0.19	0.850
Education, y	118	$16 \pm 3$	142	$16 \pm 2$	1.41	0.160
MMSE	116	$29 \pm 2$	133	$29 \pm 2$	-0.16	0.874
ApoE $\epsilon$ 4, (yes/no)	118	103/15	126	109/17	$\chi^{2} < 0.001$	1
Neuroimaging Measures						
WMH/TIV	78	$0.002 \pm 0.002$	82	$0.002 \pm 0.003$	0.71	0.476
brain–PAD, years	92	$-4.8 \pm 6.7$	110	$-6.3\pm6.8$	1.49	0.137
NAA/Cre	90	$1.34 \pm 0.24$	117	$1.35 \pm 0.22$	-0.08	0.936
Glutamate/Cre	88	$1.25 \pm 0.15$	115	$1.23\pm0.11$	1.45	0.149
ml/Cre	88	$0.77 \pm 0.09$	115	$0.73\pm0.08$	2.85	0.005
DMPFCxPCC	88	$0.18 \pm 0.30$	118	$0.28\pm0.28$	-2.38	0.018
Metabolic Measures						
Systolic blood pressure, mmHg	118	$138 \pm 22$	144	$136 \pm 22$	0.66	0.508
Waist circumference, cm	118	$101 \pm 15$	143	$94\pm16$	-3.51	<0.00
HDL–cholesterol, mg/dL	117	$42 \pm 15$	139	$56 \pm 16$	2.97	0.003
Triglyceride, mg/dL	109	$128 \pm 68$	133	$109\pm63$	2.25	0.025
Blood glucose, mg/dL	118	$104 \pm 32$	142	$94 \pm 22$	3.50	<0.00
Physical activity, hours/week	117	$1.66 \pm 2.15$	140	$1.42 \pm 1.60$	1.02	0.311
Mets Criteria						
Systolic blood pressure, (yes/no)	118	16%/84%	144	13%/87%		
Waist circumference, (yes/no)	118	47%/53%	143	69%/31%		
HDL-cholesterol, (yes/no)	117	50%/50%	139	32%/68%		
Triglyceride, (yes/no)	109	47%/53%	133	27%/73%		
Blood glucose, (yes/no)	118	43%/57%	142	23%/77%		

Brain-PAD, Brain predicted age difference; DMNPFCxPCC, Resting State Functional Connectivity in the Default Mode Network; NAA, N-Acetylaspartate; ml, Myo-inositol; Cre, Creatine; WMH/TIV, White Matter Hyperintensities adjusted for total intracranial volume; Physical Activity sum of hours moderate.

2012); Controlled Oral Word Fluency total score (Ruff et al., 1996); Stroop Color and Word Test, third condition (Jensen and Rohwer, 1966); and inverted scores from the Trail Making Test (Bowie and Harvey, 2006), conditions A and B were combined into an average overall current cognitive test performance score, to limit the number of comparisons.

## **Health Assessment**

Blood samples were collected after 8 h of fasting using venipuncture of the antecubital vein and resting blood pressure was measured with a semiautomated device following 15 min of rest (VP-1000, Omron Healthcare, Bannockburn, IL). A nonelastic tape measure was used for waist and hip circumference. Blood concentrations of glucose, triglycerides, total cholesterol and HDL-cholesterol were measured using a standard enzymatic technique. Participants were asked to report hours per week of low, moderate (e.g., fast walking, tennis, easy bicycling, easy swimming) or vigorous (e.g., running, jogging, hockey, vigorous swimming) physical activity which exceeded 15 min intervals, based on the classifications used by the Godin leisure-time physical activity questionnaire (Godin and Shephard, 1985). Hours of moderate and vigorous physical activity were summed to derive a total measure of weekly physical activity (Pasha et al., 2018a).

Saliva samples were collected using the Oragene Discover (OGR-500) kit and stored at room temperature prior to analysis. The prepIT·L2P kit from DNAgenotek was used for DNA extraction using 500  $\mu$ L of saliva. Samples were stored at  $-40^{\circ}$ C prior to genotyping. ApoE-Fwd4 and ApoE-snapR primers were used for polymerase chain reaction amplification, which was performed with 10 ng of DNA and 10 pMol primer. Amplification protocol was as follows: 95°C for 15 min, 35 cycles of (95°C 30 s, 65°C 30 s, 72°C 30 s) and hold at 4°C.

ApoE genotyping was conducted using PCR amplification and Sanger sequencing (Sanger et al., 1977) with Variant Reporter Software from Life Technologies (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Sequence data was obtained with KB basecaller and chromatograms were analyzed via visual inspection for the rs429358C>T and rs7412C>T SNPs. Participants were categorized according to allele type. Due to sample size, ApoE  $\epsilon$ 4 hetero- and homozygous individuals were combined together ( $n_{male} = 15$ ;  $n_{female} = 17$ ), and compared with all ApoE  $\epsilon$ 4 non-carriers ( $n_{male} = 103$ ;  $n_{female} = 109$ ).

### MRI Data Structural MRI

Structural images were collected, registered, and normalized to MNI space. The entire brain was included in structural images and were collected in the sagittal plane using a high-resolution magnetization prepared rapid gradient echo (MPRAGE) sequence ( $256 \times 256$  matrix, flip angle = 7°, FOV =  $24 \times 24$  cm<sup>2</sup>, 1 mm slice thickness, 0 gap).

Brain-predicted age was estimated using the machine-learning framework (Gaussian Process) devised by Cole (2017) and Cole et al. (2017) and trained on data available via public repositories from 2001 healthy individuals ages 18–90. brain-PAD was calculated by subtracting chronological age from brainpredicted age.

WMH volume was quantified by Lesion Segmentation Tool version 1.2.3 (http://www.applied-statistics.de/lst.html), which is an automated algorithm implemented in SPM8 (http://www.fil. ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm/software/spm8/). As previously described by Pasha et al. (2017), voxels were assigned to tissue probability maps and given a probability of being a white matter lesion based on spatial and intensity probabilities from T1 images and hyperintensity outliers on T2 FLAIR images. An initial threshold of 0.30 was applied to a conservative lesion belief map to create lesion seeds. A growth algorithm then grew these seeds toward a liberal lesion belief map and a final threshold of 0.99 was applied to the resulting lesion belief map to remove any voxels with a lower probability of being a lesion. Total volume of WMH was divided by intracranial volume, obtained through Freesurfer (https://surfer.nmr.mgh. harvard.edu/) which was then multiplied by 100 to provide a percent.

#### **Resting State fMRI**

Participants were instructed to fixate on a crosshair for 6 min of continuous rs-fMRI collection while keeping their eyes open. A whole brain echo-planar imaging (EPI) sequence with the following parameters was used: TR = 3,000 ms, TE = 30 ms,  $FOV = 24 \times 24 \text{ cm}^2$ ,  $64 \times 64 \text{ matrix}$ , 42 axial slices, 3 mmslice thickness, 0.3 mm gap. MRI data were processed using default preprocessing pipeline of the Conn toolbox for MatLab (Whitfield-Gabrieli and Nieto-Castanon, 2012) implemented with SPM12 for ROI-to-ROI analysis, using the methods described by Foret et al. (2020a). Artifact Detection Tools was used for outlier detection (ART; https://www.nitrc.org/ projects/artifact\_detect) with default thresholds (z = 9 for global signal; 2 mm motion) and first level within-subject analysis utilized the general linear model consisting of realignment and scrubbing with a band-pass filter was set to [0.008 0.09] Hz. Denoising was performed and linear and quadratic effects of white matter and CSF BOLD time series, all first-level covariates, and rest were included as covariates. Connectivity matrices constructed between the source Posterior Cingulate Cortex (PCC) and region of interest, in this case Medial Prefrontal Cortex (MPFC), for each subject. Multivariate analysis was performed to determine the difference between PCC and DMN connectivity across subjects.

#### Magnetic-Resonance Spectroscopy

Point-RESolved Spectroscopy (PRESS) sequence (svs\_se\_30) to obtain cerebral metabolite ratios for <sup>1</sup>H-MRS data. The following parameters were used: TE/TR = 30/3,000 ms, 80 excitations, 2,000 Hx spectral width, volume  $\sim$ 6 cm<sup>3</sup> in the occipitoparietal gray matter including the posterior cingulate gyrus (Kaur et al., 2017). Metabolic changes in the posterior cingulate gyrus have been implicated in early stages of dementia (Herholz et al., 2002). A digital archive was saved and reviewed to maintain consistency of voxel placement. Concentrations of glutamate, mI and NAA were reported as ratios relative to creatine (Cre), a marker of energy metabolism, the most stable metabolite for use as an internal reference (Kantarci et al., 2000; Ross and Sachdev, 2004). The commercially available software, LCModel, was used to separate the metabolite resonance from the macromolecule background.

## Statistical Analyses

#### **Network Analyses**

Network analyses were estimated in JASP (JASP Team, 2020), which is based on the bootnet package in R (R Core Team; version 3.2.3) package qgraph (Version 1.3.3; Epskamp et al., 2012). In network analysis terminology, observed variables are referred to as nodes and relationships between observed variables as edges. Our analysis used a regularized estimation method, Extended Bayesian Information Criterion Graphical Least Absolute Shrinkage and Selection Operator (EBICglasso), which estimates partial correlations between variables and shrinks absolute weights to zero (Foygel and Drton, 2010). This method is appropriate for estimating networks when binary variables are included (van Borkulo et al., 2014). Tuning parameters were set to 0.5 and missing values were excluded pairwise from analyses to preserve as much of the sample as possible. A power analysis was performed using the netPower package in R (https://github.com/mihaiconstantin/netpaw) and revealed that, for the smallest number of individuals in a single correlation (n = 78 males with WMH volume), sensitivity is estimated at  $\sim$ 91.6% and specificity at 81.8% with <20% probability of a type I error and <10% probability of a type II error. This method estimates 100 different network models with varying degrees of sparsity. The starting value of the hyperparameter y was set to 0.5 (Foygel and Drton, 2010). We used normalized estimation of centrality measures to calculate which nodes are most central to the network (Opsahl et al., 2010). Measures of centrality for each node included betweenness (which nodes serve as bridges between other nodes in the network), closeness (relative closeness of a node to all other nodes in a network) and strength (how many direct connections a node has with other nodes).

Network graphs, also produced in JASP, are based on the R package (R Core Team; version 3.2.3) qgraph (Version 1.3.3; Epskamp et al., 2012). Positioning of the nodes was done using the Fruchterman-Reingold algorithm, which uses pseudo-random numbers to organize the network based on the strength of connections between nodes (Friedman et al., 2008, 2014; Epskamp et al., 2012, 2018).

#### Follow-Up Linear Regression Analyses

A central aim of this paper was to examine how network analysis might enhance our understanding of vulnerability to laterlife cognitive decline. Thus, we conducted follow-up analyses examining the ability of the strongest nodes in the network, selected based on the methods described above where "strong" nodes were those with strength centrality measures more than 1 SD above the mean, to account for variance in current cognitive performance. Four separate linear analyses were conducted in JASP (JASP Team, 2020).

## RESULTS

Descriptive statistical analyses (Table 1) revealed a cognitively normal middle-aged sample. As discussed in the previous section, males and females significantly differed in levels of mI as well as measures of waist circumference, HDL-cholesterol, triglycerides, blood glucose levels and functional connectivity. Sex differences in MetS variables are expected as the Alberti et al. (2009) criteria utilizes different cutoffs for HDL-cholesterol, blood pressure, and waist circumference. We have included frequencies of male and female participants meeting MetS criteria for each component in addition to the average blood pressure, blood glucose, waist circumference, triglyceride and HDL-cholesterol levels in the sample. Approximately 69% of females met criteria for elevated waist circumference vs. 47% of males, 27% met criteria for elevated triglycerides vs. 47% of males and frequencies of hypertension were similar between male and female participants. Figure 1 represents the network for males and Figure 2 represents the network for females.

## **MALE NETWORK**

For males,  $\sim$ 87.2% of edges were set to zero. Centrality measures are provided in Table 2 and Figure 3. Visual examination of the graph revealed that the strongest edges were between the MetS components, particularly between plasma triglyceride levels and HDL-cholesterol as well as triglycerides and waist circumference. There was also a strong edge between levels of NAA and glutamate. According to the graph, there is a negative association between age and ApoE status for males, indicating that male  $\epsilon 4$ carriers in our sample are younger overall. Nodes with measures of strength more than 1 SD above the mean for males were triglyceride levels and waist circumference, indicating that these variables might hold more information for connecting with the wider network. Measures of closeness revealed that nodes for males were not close to any other nodes in the network, which is typical of a sparsely connected network. For males, HDLcholesterol and waist circumference had the highest measures of betweenness.

## **Female Network**

For females,  $\sim 69.2\%$  of edges were set to zero. Centrality measures are provided in **Table 2** and **Figure 3**. Visual examination of the graph revealed several edges for females. The strongest edges were between MetS components, particularly HDL-cholesterol and triglyceride, glucose and blood pressure,



as well as NAA and glutamate. ApoE status had positive and negative associations with several other variables, but in particular was positively associated with white matter hyperintensities. This indicates that  $\epsilon 4+$  females in our sample may have greater white matter burden at midlife. Other edges of interest included: the positive association between  $\epsilon$ 4 status and waist circumference and systolic blood pressure, the negative association between NAA and waist circumference and NAA and brain-PAD, suggesting that individuals with older brains than their chronological age and higher waist circumferences have lower levels of NAA. Nodes with measures of strength more than 1 SD above the mean for females were functional connectivity in the DMN and mI, indicating that these variables might hold more information for connecting with the wider network. Measures of closeness revealed that several nodes for females were close to other nodes in the network, but functional connectivity in the DMN, hypertension, waist circumference and ApoE were all above the mean and mI was more than 1 SD above the mean closeness for the other variables. For females, variables or nodes with the highest degrees of betweenness included ApoE and hypertension.

## Follow-Up Linear Regression Analyses

The strongest male network nodes, triglycerides levels and waist circumference, analyzed as continuous variables for the purpose



of the regression analysis, significantly predicted cognitive performance for male  $[F_{(2, 73)} = 3.47, p = 0.036]$  but not female  $[F_{(1, 101)} = 0.34, p = 0.711]$ , participants. The strongest female network nodes, mI and DMN connectivity, predicted cognitive performance for female  $[F_{(2, 99)} = 4.65, p = 0.012]$  but not male  $[F_{(2, 73)} = 2.93, p = 0.060]$  participants. Thus, midlife cognitive performance appears sensitive to markers of metabolic dysfunction in men, while cognition appears more sensitive to brain integrity markers in women, particularly markers that are associated with risk for AD pathologies such as mI and DMN Connectivity (Voevodskaya et al., 2016, 2019).

## DISCUSSION

In this study, we investigated relationships between cardiometabolic risk factors and brain integrity through network analysis. Network metrics suggested meaningful differences between males and females at midlife. Although the networks revealed many metrics about the relationships between brain, demographic and metabolic variables for males and females, measures of density and betweenness centrality are of the greatest interest for understanding how many links exist between variables in a network, which can be an indicator of higher risk, and which variables might bridge the relationship between other variables of interest.

## **Potential Mechanisms**

Overall, the findings of the present study suggest that the network for males was sparse relative to the network for females. Consistent with prior research (Pasha et al., 2018b), the network for males revealed greater interconnectedness between metabolic risk factors and white matter hyperintensities. Additionally, though one study found women to have higher levels of WMH than men overall, higher BMI was associated with higher WMH only in men (Algarni et al., 2021), providing further support for sex differences in the relationship between metabolic risk factors and WMH. HDL cholesterol and waist circumference appear to be of particular importance for males as this node had the highest level of betweenness. Low HDL-cholesterol and elevated triglyceride levels, which also had a high degree of strength centrality in the network, have been associated with increased risk for dementia only in men in another study (Ancelin et al., 2013). Waist circumference has emerged as an important predictor of cardiovascular disease markers, such as elevated C-reactive protein, over the other MetS components for both sexes (Nakamura et al., 2008; Cheong et al., 2015), though our findings suggest that this effect may be more robust for males.

For females, the network had a higher measure of density and indicated many relationships between metabolic risk factors, brain integrity and genetic status at midlife. Though strong edges were visible between MetS components in females as in males, relationships between WMH and metabolic syndrome components were weak. This finding is consistent with the findings discussed previously on sex differences in white matter burden (Pasha et al., 2018b; Alqarni et al., 2021). Most notable was the centrality of ApoE and age in the graphical model of the female network. Most notable was the centrality of ApoE and age in the graphical model of the female network. The prevalence of  $\epsilon 4+$  individuals in our sample is ~15%, which is consistent with the general population (Heffernan et al., 2016). This, unfortunately, results in an unbalanced sample for the network analysis. It would be interesting to re-examine the female network in sample with a more balanced ratio of  $\epsilon 4+$ and  $\epsilon$ 4- individuals, to see if it remains stable. Though our findings are somewhat limited by the small sample of  $\epsilon 4+$ individuals, our results suggest that age and genetics may play an important role in driving brain-metabolic health relationships in midlife, which is consistent with prior literature (Plassman et al., 2010). ApoE  $\epsilon$ 4 status has been shown to have larger impact on memory performance and hippocampal atrophy in women than in men (Azad et al., 2007), and this network suggests that midlife cardiovascular mechanisms might be responsible for this relationship. This finding is unsurprising, as ApoE  $\epsilon 4$ status conveys greater risk of neurocognitive and cardiovascular disease for females (Mortensen and Høgh, 2001; Riedel et al., 2016), and sex has been found to moderate associations between amyloid burden,  $\epsilon$ 4 status and functional connectivity in the DMN (Damoiseaux et al., 2012; Caldwell et al., 2019). Biological changes occurring during the menopausal transition may lead to additional vulnerabilities in cardiovascular and metabolic

		Male			Female	
Variable	Betweenness	Closeness	Strength	Betweenness	Closeness	Strength
brain-PAD	-0.722	0.000	-1.079	-0.766	-0.664	-1.087
DMPFCxPCC	-0.722	0.000	-1.079	-0.766	-0.993	-1.333
Glutamate/Cre	-0.722	0.000	-0.154	0.975	0.370	0.388
Blood Glucose	0.760	0.000	0.312	0.684	0.654	1.430
HDL-Cholesterol	1.747	0.000	1.041	-0.766	-0.149	0.264
Hypertension	-0.722	0.000	-0.158	1.748	1.255	1.109
Triglyceride	0.760	0.000	1.937	-0.766	-0.143	0.766
WC	1.747	0.000	1.683	-0.089	0.788	0.605
NAA/Cre	-0.722	0.000	-0.154	-0.379	0.254	-0.118
WMH/TIV	-0.722	0.000	-0.181	-0.766	0.116	-0.687
Age	-0.722	0.000	-0.694	-0.283	-0.117	-0.699
ApoE	0.760	0.000	-0.394	1.942	1.150	0.989
ml/Cre	-0.722	0.000	-1.079	-0.766	-2.521	-1.625

TABLE 2 | Centrality measures for each node including betweenness (which nodes serve as bridges between other nodes in the network), closeness (relative closeness of a node to all other nodes in a network), and degree/strength (how many direct connections a node has with other nodes).

Brain-PAD, Brain predicted age difference; DMNPFCxPCC, Resting State Functional Connectivity in the Default Mode Network; WC, Waist Circumference; NAA, N-Acetylaspartate; ml, Myo-inositol; Cre, Creatine; WMH/TIV, White Matter Hyperintensities adjusted for total intracranial volume.



health (Gordon et al., 1978; El Khoudary et al., 2020). Since the average age at natural menopause in the United States is around 52.6 years (Reynolds and Obermeyer, 2005), the age range in our sample could be capturing women with variable hormonal profiles that encompass premenopausal, perimenopausal, and postmenopausal women. Recent literature has suggested that perimenopause, in particular, could drive changes in brain integrity and metabolic processes (Brinton et al., 2015; Palla et al., 2020). Reproducibility of self-reported menopausal status varies (Paganini-Hill and Ross, 1982; Horwitz and Yu, 1985; Colditz et al., 1987; den Tonkelaar, 1997; Rödström et al., 2005). However, it is important for these issues to continue to be explored further by measuring the endogenous levels of relevant sex hormones (Wildman et al., 2008) and documenting the use of HRT, as many sex differences in cardiovascular disease are attributed to protective effects of estrogen (Stanhewicz et al., 2018; Peters et al., 2019; Rodgers et al., 2019). Due to the small number of participants on HRT, we were unable to examine any potential effects of medication. Future studies with a larger number of participants on HRT could examine the role of either testosterone or estrogen therapies on relationships between brain integrity and metabolic function using a similar statistical technique to our analysis as research studies on HRT to protect against neurocognitive decline have shown mixed findings (LeBlanc et al., 2001; Wu et al., 2020).

Somewhat challenging to interpret is the high level of betweenness of systolic blood pressure for females. Hypertension in midlife has been associated with increased risk for dementia among women but not men (Gilsanz et al., 2017). Another study has shown that midlife hypercholesterolemia and hypertension convey risk for dementia in both men and women (Azad et al., 2007). Even though our networks demonstrate that there are sex differences in the degree of impact of these risk factors on brain health, it is unclear if hypertension acts as the driving force for other MetS risk factors. Unlike ApoE, the betweenness of hypertension appears to be driven more by its relationship with other MetS risk factors rather than a position between brain integrity and MetS. Females in our sample who meet MetS criteria for elevated systolic blood pressure appear to be older and more likely to be  $\epsilon$ 4 carriers (**Figure 2**), which re-emphasizes the significance of  $\epsilon 4$  status in the network.

In both males and females, glutamate and NAA were positively related to one another. Concentrations of these neural metabolites have been correlated in other research, with some hypothesizing that NAA can be converted to glutamate when supplies are low (Clark et al., 2006). Ultimately, these <sup>1</sup> H MRS findings are difficult to untangle and only suggest that our sample is relatively healthy without notable levels of pathology. However, an edge between NAA and waist circumference was visible only in females, such that females meeting MetS criteria for elevated waist circumference had lower levels of NAA. Relationships between female neuronal viability and waist circumference are not widely studied, but previous research has found that elevated BMI and subclinical atherosclerosis is associated with lower levels of NAA in the anterior (Gazdzinski et al., 2010) and posterior cingulate cortex (Haley et al., 2010b). Additionally, NAA was associated with brain-PAD in females, such that women with greater brain-age gaps might have poorer neuronal viability. Though application of brain-aging algorithms in a midlife population is still relatively novel, previous literature using a similar technique to analyze brain-PAD (brainageR, https:// github.com/james-cole/brainageR) has shown that accelerated brain aging may be observable in midlife women in relation to lifestyle factors which impact hormone levels, in this case number of childbirths. Further, their findings are consistent with observed patterns of parity and risk of AD, where increased number of childbirths conveys lower risk of neurocognitive decline (de Lange et al., 2019). This provides additional evidence that brain-PAD at midlife could relate to later life outcomes and that female populations experience hormonal changes throughout their life that convey unique risk factors for neurocognitive decline. Myoinositol provided the least information of any node in the network, which is surprising as myo-inositol and the other brain variables selected are considered preclinical markers of AD, and elevations have been found in asymptomatic individuals with cardiometabolic risk (Kantarci et al., 2000; Haley et al., 2010a; Voevodskaya et al., 2016, 2019).

The application of network modeling in this study is novel and significant in that graph-theory techniques can contribute unique information to cognitive risk assessment about the interconnectedness and organization of relationships among risk factors, over and above the measured levels of physiological variables of neurobiological significance. Research applying network modeling to psychopathology suggests that a more tightly connected network is riskier because "activation" of one symptom can spread to others (Borsboom and Cramer, 2013). This seems even more likely with biological systems as there are mechanistic relationships between nodes in our network. Relationships in the male body-brain network suggest that males have greater vulnerability than females to cerebrovascular lesions under conditions of metabolic syndrome. The female picture appears to be more complicated. Our network analyses suggest direct relationships between  $\epsilon$ 4 status and metabolic risk factors in women, such as waist circumference and systolic blood pressure, supporting previous research on the role of ApoE in females with cardiovascular disease (Sampedro et al., 2015; Riedel et al., 2016). As mentioned, women have higher incidence of AD (Zhao et al., 2016; Andrew and Tierney, 2018; Beam et al., 2018; Buckley et al., 2019) and cardiovascular risk factors have been suggested as a mechanism for this disparity (Volgman et al., 2019). Our follow-up linear regression analyses demonstrate the ability of the strongest nodes in the sex-specific body-brain network models to better account for variance in current cognitive performance of their respective sex, even in midlife when cognitive function is relatively preserved. These findings further support the utility of the network analysis method to identify variables which convey unique vulnerability for neurocognitive decline in male and female populations. In midlife, the constructed sex-specific networks also provide valuable information about mechanisms of brain vulnerability in at-risk populations, before cognitive function is significantly impaired, by simultaneously examining the effects of multiple physiological variables on each other as well as on brain and cognitive function.

Our study assessed sex, not gender identity, so our findings may or may not generalize to transgender men and women. As our work stands, it is unclear whether observed sex differences are a result of biological mechanisms based on genotype, hormone levels or sociocultural experiences of sex and gender. However, these observed differences between midlife males and females suggest a personalized medical approach which takes sex into consideration as key to early identification and management of modifiable risk factors for cognitive aging.

## CONCLUSIONS

Our findings support prior research on sex differences in relationships between cardiometabolic risk, genetics and brain integrity and provide further support for a personalized medicine approach which takes sex into consideration. Network analysis has the additional benefit of untangling complex mechanisms by allowing researchers and clinicians to consider multiple variables at once. The network for females suggests an important influence of genetic status on metabolic risk and brain integrity and may warrant additional attention when presenting clinically with any of these risk factors, which may be modifiable with appropriate pharmaceutical or behavioral intervention.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses/restrictions: Data and code available on request. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to haley@austin.utexas.edu.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional Review Board University of Texas at Austin. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## REFERENCES

- Alberti, K. G. M. M., Eckel, R. H., Grundy, S. M., Zimmet, P. Z., Cleeman, J. I., Donato, K. A., et al. (2009). Harmonizing the metabolic syndrome: a joint interim statement of the international diabetes federation task force on epidemiology and prevention; national heart, lung, and blood institute; american heart association; world heart federation; international atherosclerosis society; and international association for the study of obesity. *Circulation* 120, 1640–1645. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.192644
- Alfaro, F. J., Lioutas, V.-A., Pimentel, D. A., Chung, C.-C., Bedoya, F., Yoo, W.-K., et al. (2016). Cognitive decline in metabolic syndrome is linked to microstructural white matter abnormalities. *Journal of Neurology*. 263, 2505–2514. doi: 10.1007/s00415-016-8292-z
- Aljondi, R., Szoeke, C., Steward, C., Gorelik, A., and Desmond, P. (2020). The effect of midlife cardiovascular risk factors on white matter hyperintensity volume and cognition two decades later in normal ageing women. *Brain Imag. Behav.* 14, 51–61. doi: 10.1007/s11682-018-9970-5
- Alqarni, A., Jiang, J., Crawford, J. D., Koch, F., Brodaty, H., Sachdev, P., et al. (2021). Sex differences in risk factors for white matter hyperintensities in non-demented older individuals. *Neurobiol. Aging* 98, 197–204. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2020.11.001
- Ancelin, M.-L., Ripoche, E., Dupuy, A.-M., Barberger-Gateau, P., Auriacombe, S., Rouaud, O., et al. (2013). Sex differences in the associations between lipid levels and incident dementia. *J. Alzheimer's Dis.* 34, 519–528. doi: 10.3233/JAD-121228
- Andrew, M. K., and Tierney, M. C. (2018). The puzzle of sex, gender and Alzheimer's disease: why are women more often affected than men? *Women's Health* 14:1745506518817995. doi: 10.1177/1745506518817995
- Arvanitakis, Z., Bennett, D. A., Wilson, R. S., and Barnes, L. L. (2010). Diabetes and cognitive systems in older black and white persons. *Alzheimer Dis. Assoc. Disord.* 24, 37–42. doi: 10.1097/WAD.0b013e3181a6bed5
- Azad, N. A., Al Bugami, M., and Loy-English, I. (2007). Gender differences in dementia risk factors. *Gender Med.* 4, 120–129. doi: 10.1016/s1550-8579(07)80026-x
- Barker, P. B., Gillard, J. H., van Zijl, P. C., Soher, B. J., Hanley, D. F., Agildere, A. M., et al. (1994). Acute stroke: evaluation with serial proton MR spectroscopic imaging. *Radiology* 192, 723–732. doi: 10.1148/radiology.192.3.8058940
- Beam, C. R., Kaneshiro, C., Jang, J. Y., Reynolds, C. A., Pedersen, N. L., and Gatz, M. (2018). Differences between women and men in incidence rates of dementia and Alzheimer's disease. JAD 64, 1077–1083. doi: 10.3233/JAD-180141

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JF and AH: conception and study design. AH and HT: resources, project administration, and funding acquisition. JF, MD, and JC: statistical analysis. JF, MD, MC, and AH: interpretation of results. JF, MD, DG, MC, HT, and AH: drafting the manuscript work or revising it critically for important intellectual content. All authors: approval of final version to be published and agreement to be accountable for the integrity and accuracy of all aspects of the work.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health grants R21AG050898 and R01NS075565.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank our participants and research assistants without whom this work would not be possible.

- Beard, C., Millner, A. J., Forgeard, M. J. C., Fried, E. I., Hsu, K. J., Treadway, M. T., et al. (2016). Network analysis of depression and anxiety symptom relationships in a psychiatric sample. *Psychol. Med.* 46, 3359–3369. doi: 10.1017/S0033291716002300
- Birdsill, A. C., Koscik, R. L., Jonaitis, E. M., Johnson, S. C., Okonkwo, O. C., Hermann, B. P., et al. (2014). Regional white matter hyperintensities: aging, Alzheimer's disease risk, and cognitive function. *Neurob. Aging* 35, 769–776. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2013.10.072
- Biswal, B., Zerrin Yetkin, F., Haughton, V. M., and Hyde, J. S. (1995). Functional connectivity in the motor cortex of resting human brain using echo-planar MRI. Magn. Res. Med. 34, 537–541. doi: 10.1002/mrm.1910340409
- Borsboom, D., and Cramer, A. O. J. (2013). Network analysis: an integrative approach to the structure of psychopathology. *Ann. Rev. Clin. Psych.* 9, 91–121. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050212-185608
- Bowie, C. R., and Harvey, P. D. (2006). Administration and interpretation of the trail making test. *Nat. Protoc.* 1, 2277–2281. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2006.390
- Brinton, R. D., Yao, J., Yin, F., Mack, W. J., and Cadenas, E. (2015). Perimenopause as a neurological transition state. *Nat. Rev. Endocr.* 11, 393–405. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2015.82
- Buckley, R. F., Mormino, E. C., Rabin, J. S., Hohman, T. J., Landau, S., Hanseeuw, B. J., et al. (2019). Sex differences in the association of global amyloid and regional tau deposition measured by positron emission tomography in clinically normal older adults. *JAMA Neurol.* 76, 542–551. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2018.4693
- Burke, S. L., Hu, T., Fava, N. M., Li, T., Rodriguez, M. J., Schuldiner, K. L., et al. (2019). Sex differences in the development of mild cognitive impairment and probable Alzheimer's disease as predicted by hippocampal volume or white matter hyperintensities. J. Women Aging. 31, 140–164. doi: 10.1080/08952841.2018.1419476
- Caldwell, J. Z. K., Zhuang, X., Leavitt, M. J., Banks, S. J., Cummings, J., Cordes, D., et al. (2019). Sex moderates amyloid and apolipoprotein ɛ4 effects on default mode network connectivity at rest. *Front. Neurol.* 10:900. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00900
- Cheong, K. C., Ghazali, S. M., Hock, L. K., Subenthiran, S., Huey, T. C., Kuay, L. K., et al. (2015). The discriminative ability of waist circumference, body mass index and waist-to-hip ratio in identifying metabolic syndrome: variations by age, sex and race. *Diab. Metab. Syndr.* 9, 74–78. doi: 10.1016/j.dsx.2015.0 2.006
- Cichocka, M., Kozub, J., Karcz, P., and Urbanik, A. (2018). Sex differences in brain metabolite concentrations in healthy children - proton magnetic resonance

spectroscopy study (1HMRS). Polish J. Radiol. Polish Med. Soc. Radiol. 83, e24-e31. doi: 10.5114/pjr.2018.74536

- Clark, J. F., Doepke, A., Filosa, J. A., Wardle, R. L., Lu, A., Meeker, T. J., et al. (2006). N-acetylaspartate as a reservoir for glutamate. *Med. Hypotheses*. 67, 506–512. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2006.02.047
- Colditz, G. A., Stampfer, M. J., Willett, W. C., Stason, W. B., Rosner, B., Hennekens, C. H., et al. (1987). Reproducibility and validity of self-reported menopausal status in a prospective cohort study. Am. J. Epidem. 126, 319–325. doi: 10.1093/aje/126.2.319
- Cole, J. H. (2017). Neuroimaging-derived brain-age: an ageing biomarker? *Aging* 9, 1861–1862. doi: 10.18632/aging.101286
- Cole, J. H., and Franke, K. (2017). Predicting age using neuroimaging: innovative brain ageing biomarkers. *Trends Neurosci.* 40, 681–690. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2017.10.001
- Cole, J. H., Marioni, R. E., Harris, S. E., and Deary, I. J. (2019). Brain age and other bodily "ages": implications for neuropsychiatry. *Mol. Psychiatry* 24, 266–281. doi: 10.1038/s41380-018-0098-1
- Cole, J. H., Poudel, R. P. K., Tsagkrasoulis, D., Caan, M. W. A., Steves, C., Spector, T. D., et al. (2017). Predicting brain age with deep learning from raw imaging data results in a reliable and heritable biomarker. *NeuroImage* 163, 115–124. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.07.059
- Cole, J. H., Ritchie, S. J., Bastin, M. E., Valdés Hernández, M. C., Muñoz Maniega, S., Royle, N., et al. (2018). Brain age predicts mortality. *Mol. Psychiatry* 23, 1385–1392. doi: 10.1038/mp.2017.62
- Damoiseaux, J. S., Seeley, W. W., Zhou, J., Shirer, W. R., Coppola, G., Karydas, A., et al. (2012). Gender modulates the APOE 64 effect in healthy older adults: convergent evidence from functional brain connectivity and spinal fluid tau levels. *J. Neurosci.* 32, 8254–8262. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0305-12.2012
- Danielsen, E. R., and Ross, B. (1999). Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy Diagnosis of Neurological Diseases. CRC Press. Available online at: https://play.google.com/ store/books/details?id=GWK1DwAAQBAJ
- de Lange, A. M. G., Kaufmann, T., van der Meer, D., Maglanoc, L. A., Alnæs, D., Moberget, T., et al. (2019). Population-based neuroimaging reveals traces of childbirth in the maternal brain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 116, 22341–2246. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1910666116
- Debette, S., and Markus, H. S. (2010). The clinical importance of white matter hyperintensities on brain magnetic resonance imaging: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ* 341:c3666. doi: 10.1136/bmj.c3666
- Delis, D. C., Kramer, J. H., Kaplan, E., Ober, B. A. (2000). *California Verbal Learning Test, 2nd edition (CVLT-II)*. San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation.
- den Tonkelaar, I. (1997). Validity and reproducibility of self-reported age at menopause in women participating in the DOM-project. *Maturitas* 27, 117–123. doi: 10.1016/s0378-5122(97)01122-5
- Eckel, R. H., Grundy, S. M., and Zimmet, P. Z. (2005). The metabolic syndrome. *Lancet* 365, 1415–1428. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05) 66378-7
- Eichner, J. E., Dunn, S. T., Perveen, G., Thompson, D. M., Stewart, K. E., and Stroehla, B. C. (2002). Apolipoprotein E polymorphism and cardiovascular disease: a HuGE review. Ame. J. Epidemiol. 155, 487–495. doi: 10.1093/aje/155.6.487
- El Khoudary, S. R., Aggarwal, B., Beckie, T. M., Hodis, H. N., Johnson, A. E., Langer, R. D., et al. (2020). Menopause transition and cardiovascular disease risk: implications for timing of early prevention: a scientific statement from the american heart association. *Circulation* 142, e506–e532. doi: 10.1161/CIR.000000000000 0912
- Epskamp, S., Borsboom, D., and Fried, E. I. (2018). Estimating psychological networks and their accuracy: a tutorial paper. *Behav. Res. Methods* 50, 195–212. doi: 10.3758/s13428-017-0 862-1
- Epskamp, S., Cramer, A. O. J., Waldorp, L. J., and Schmittmann, V. D. (2012). *ggraph: Network Visualizations of Relationships in Psychometric Data. Pure.uva.nl.* Available online at: https://pure.uva.nl/ws/files/1675837/134697\_ 380173.pdf
- Falkowski, J., Atchison, T., Debutte-Smith, M., Weiner, M. F., and O'Bryant, S. (2014). Executive functioning and the metabolic syndrome: a project

FRONTIER study. Arch. Clin. Neuropsych. 29, 47-53. doi: 10.1093/arclin/a ct078

- Filippini, N., MacIntosh, B. J., Hough, M. G., Goodwin, G. M., Frisoni, G. B., Smith, S. M., et al. (2009). Distinct patterns of brain activity in young carriers of the APOE-epsilon4 allele. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 7209–7214. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0811879106
- Foret, J. T., Dekhtyar, M., Birdsill, A. C., Tanaka, H., and Haley, A. P. (2020a). Metabolic syndrome components moderate the association between executive function and functional connectivity in the default mode network. *Brain Imag. Behav.* 1–10. doi: 10.1007/s11682-020-00409-0. [Epub ahead of print].
- Foret, J. T., Oleson, S., Hickson, B., Valek, S., Tanaka, H., and Haley, A. P. (2020b). Metabolic syndrome and cognitive function in midlife. Arch. Clin. Neuropsychol. acaa112. doi: 10.1093/arclin/acaa112. [Epub ahead of print].
- Fox, M. D., and Greicius, M. (2010). Clinical applications of resting state functional connectivity. *Front. Syst. Neurosci.* 4:19. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2010.00019
- Foygel, R., and Drton, M. (2010). "Extended bayesian information criteria for gaussian graphical models," in Advances in Neural Information Processing Systems, Vol. 23, eds J. Lafferty, C. Williams, J. Shawe-Taylor, R. Zemel, & A. Culotta (Curran Associates, Inc), 604–612. Available online at: https:// proceedings.neurips.cc/paper/2010/file/072b030ba126b2f4b2374f342be9ed44-Paper.pdf
- Friedman, J., Hastie, T., and Tibshirani, R. (2008). Sparse inverse covariance estimation with the graphical lasso. *Biostatistics* 9, 432–441. doi: 10.1093/biostatistics/kxm045
- Friedman, J.H., Hastie, T., and Tibshirani, R. (2014). Glasso: Graphical Lasso-Estimation of Gaussian Graphical Models. R package version 1.8. Retrieved from: https://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=glasso
- Gazdzinski, S., Millin, R., Kaiser, L. G., Durazzo, T. C., Mueller, S. G., Weiner, M. W., et al. (2010). BMI and neuronal integrity in healthy, cognitively normal elderly: a proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy study. *Obesity* 18, 743–748. doi: 10.1038/oby.2009.325
- Gilsanz, P., Mayeda, E. R., Glymour, M. M., Quesenberry, C. P., Mungas, D. M., DeCarli, C., et al. (2017). Female sex, early-onset hypertension, and risk of dementia. *Neurology* 89, 1886–1893. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000004602
- Godin, G., and Shephard, R. J. (1985). A simple method to assess exercise behavior in the community. J. Can. Des Sci. Appl. Sport 10, 141–146.
- Gong, G., He, Y., and Evans, A. C. (2011). Brain connectivity: gender makes a difference. *Neuroscientist* 17, 575–591. doi: 10.1177/1073858410386492
- Gonzales, M. M., Tarumi, T., Kaur, S., Nualnim, N., Fallow, B. A., Pyron, M., et al. (2013). Aerobic fitness and the brain: increased N-acetyl-aspartate and choline concentrations in endurance-trained middle-aged adults. *Brain Topogr.* 26, 126–134. doi: 10.1007/s10548-012-0248-8
- Gordon, T., Kannel, W. B., Hjortland, M. C., and McNamara, P. M. (1978). Menopause and coronary heart disease. Framingham Study. Ann. Internal Med. 89, 157–161. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-89-2-157
- Green, R. C., Roberts, J. S., Cupples, L. A., Relkin, N. R., Whitehouse, P. J., Brown, T., et al. (2009). Disclosure of APOE genotype for risk of Alzheimer's disease. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 361, 245–254. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0809578
- Greicius, M. D., Krasnow, B., Reiss, A. L., and Menon, V. (2003). Functional connectivity in the resting brain: a network analysis of the default mode hypothesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 253–258. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0135058100
- Habib, M., Mak, E., Gabel, S., Su, L., Williams, G., Waldman, A., et al. (2017). Functional neuroimaging findings in healthy middle-aged adults at risk of Alzheimer's disease. *Ageing Res. Rev.* 36, 88–104. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2017.03.004
- Hädel, S., Wirth, C., Rapp, M., Gallinat, J., and Schubert, F. (2013). Effects of age and sex on the concentrations of glutamate and glutamine in the human brain. *JMRI* 38, 1480–1487. doi: 10.1002/jmri.24123
- Haley, A. P., Gonzales, M. M., Tarumi, T., Miles, S. C., Goudarzi, K., and Tanaka, H. (2010a). Elevated cerebral glutamate and myo-inositol levels in cognitively normal middle-aged adults with metabolic syndrome. *Metab. Brain Dis.* 25, 397–405. doi: 10.1007/s11011-010-9221-y
- Haley, A. P., Gonzales, M. M., Tarumi, T., and Tanaka, H. (2012). Subclinical vascular disease and cerebral glutamate elevation in metabolic syndrome. *Metab. Brain Dis.* 27, 513–520. doi: 10.1007/s11011-012-9306-x
- Haley, A. P., Tarumi, T., Gonzales, M. M., Sugawara, J., and Tanaka, H. (2010b). Subclinical atherosclerosis is related to lower neuronal

viability in middle-aged adults: a 1H MRS study. Brain Res. 1344, 54-61. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2010.05.006

- Heffernan, A. L., Chidgey, C., Peng, P., Masters, C. L., and Roberts, B. R. (2016). The neurobiology and age-related prevalence of the ɛ4 allele of apolipoprotein E in Alzheimer's disease cohorts. J. Mol. Neurosci. 60, 316–324. doi: 10.1007/s12031-016-0804-x
- Herholz, K., Salmon, E., Perani, D., Baron, J. C., Holthoff, V., Frölich, L., et al. (2002). Discrimination between Alzheimer dementia and controls by automated analysis of multicenter FDG PET. *NeuroImage* 17, 302–316. doi: 10.1006/nimg.2002.1208
- Horvath, S. (2013). DNA methylation age of human tissues and cell types. *Genome Biol.* 14:R115. doi: 10.1186/gb-2013-14-10-r115
- Horwitz, R. I., and Yu, E. C. (1985). Problems and proposals for interview data in epidemiological research. Int. J. Epidemiol. 14, 463–467. doi: 10.1093/ije/14.3.463
- Huebschmann, A. G., Huxley, R. R., Kohrt, W. M., Zeitler, P., Regensteiner, J. G., and Reusch, J. E. B. (2019). Sex differences in the burden of type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular risk across the life course. *Diabetologia* 62, 1761–1772. doi: 10.1007/s00125-019-4939-5
- Irwin, K., Sexton, C., Daniel, T., Lawlor, B., and Naci, L. (2018). Healthy aging and dementia: two roads diverging in midlife? *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 10:275. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2018.00275
- Jacobs, E. G., Weiss, B., Makris, N., Whitfield-Gabrieli, S., Buka, S. L., Klibanski, A., et al. (2017). Reorganization of functional networks in verbal working memory circuitry in early midlife: the impact of sex and menopausal status. *Cerebral Cortex* 27, 2857–2870. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhw127

JASP Team (2020). JASP (Version 0.14.1) [Computer software].

- Jensen, A. R., and Rohwer, W. D Jr. (1966). The Stroop color-word test: a review. *Acta Psychol.* 25, 36–93. doi: 10.1016/0001-6918(66)90004-7
- Kantarci, K., Jack, C. R Jr, Xu, Y. C., Campeau, N. G., O'Brien, P. C., Smith, G. E., Ivnik, R. J., et al. (2000). Regional metabolic patterns in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease: A 1H MRS study. *Neurology* 55, 210–217. doi: 10.1212/wnl.55.2.210
- Kaur, S., Birdsill, A. C., Steward, K., Pasha, E., Kruzliak, P., Tanaka, H., et al. (2017). Higher visceral fat is associated with lower cerebral N-acetylaspartate ratios in middle-aged adults. *Metab. Brain Dis.* 32, 727–733. doi: 10.1007/s11011-017-9961-z
- Kivipelto, M., Ngandu, T., Fratiglioni, L., Viitanen, M., Kåreholt, I., Winblad, B., et al. (2005). Obesity and vascular risk factors at midlife and the risk of dementia and Alzheimer disease. *Arch. Neurol.* 62, 1556–1560. doi: 10.1001/archneur.62.10.1556
- Kuk, J. L., and Ardern, C. I. (2010). Age and sex differences in the clustering of metabolic syndrome factors: association with mortality risk. *Diab. Care* 33, 2457–2461. doi: 10.2337/dc10-0942
- Kurlowicz, L., and Wallace, M. (1999). The Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE). J. Gerontol. Nurs. 25, 8–9. doi: 10.3928/0098-9134-19990501-08
- Lahoz, C., Schaefer, E. J., Cupples, L. A., Wilson, P. W., Levy, D., Osgood, D., et al. (2001). Apolipoprotein E genotype and cardiovascular disease in the Framingham Heart Study. *Atherosclerosis* 154, 529–537. doi: 10.1016/s0021-9150(00)00570-0
- Launer, L. J. (2003). Epidemiology of white-matter lesions. *Int. Psychog.* 15 (Suppl. 1), 99–103. doi: 10.1017/S1041610203009037
- LeBlanc, E. S., Janowsky, J., Chan, B. K., and Nelson, H. D. (2001). Hormone replacement therapy and cognition: systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA* 285, 1489–1499. doi: 10.1001/jama.285.11.1489
- Lichtenberger, E. O., and Kaufman, A. S. (2012). *Essentials of WAIS-IV Assessment*. John Wiley & Sons. Available online at: https://play.google.com/store/books/ details?id=SUqcospVEMcC
- Magi, S., Piccirillo, S., and Amoroso, S. (2019). The dual face of glutamate: from a neurotoxin to a potential survival factor—metabolic implications in health and disease. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 76, 1473–1488. doi: 10.1007/s00018-018-3002-x
- Makkar, S. R., Lipnicki, D. M., Crawford, J. D., Kochan, N. A., Castro-Costa, E., Lima-Costa, M. F., et al. (2020). APOE ɛ4 and the influence of sex, age, vascular risk factors, and ethnicity on cognitive decline. *J. Gerontol.* 75, 1863–1873. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glaa116
- Merz, A. A., and Cheng, S. (2016). Sex differences in cardiovascular ageing. *Heart* 102, 825–831. doi: 10.1136/heartjnl-2015-308769

- Mortensen, E. L., and Høgh, P. (2001). A gender difference in the association between APOE genotype and age-related cognitive decline. *Neurology*. 57, 89–95. doi: 10.1212/WNL.57.1.89
- Mukerji, S. S., Locascio, J. J., Misra, V., Lorenz, D. R., Holman, A., Dutta, A., et al. (2016). Lipid Profiles and APOE4 allele impact midlife cognitive decline in hiv-infected men on antiretroviral therapy. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 63, 1130–1139. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciw495
- Nakamura, H., Ito, H., Egami, Y., Kaji, Y., Maruyama, T., Koike, G., et al. (2008). Waist circumference is the main determinant of elevated C-reactive protein in metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes Res. Clin. Practice* 79, 330–336. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2007.09.004
- Opsahl, T., Agneessens, F., and Skvoretz, J. (2010). Node centrality in weighted networks: generalizing degree and shortest paths. Soc. Netw. 32, 245–251. doi: 10.1016/j.socnet.2010.03.006
- Paganini-Hill, A., and Ross, R. K. (1982). Reliability of recall of drug usage and other health-related information. Am. J. Epidem. 116, 114–122. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a113386
- Palla, G., Ramírez-Morán, C., Montt-Guevara, M. M., Salazar-Pousada, D., Shortrede, J., Simoncini, T., et al. (2020). Perimenopause, body fat, metabolism and menopausal symptoms in relation to serum markers of adiposity, inflammation and digestive metabolism. *J. Endocr. Invest.* 43, 809–820. doi: 10.1007/s40618-019-01168-6
- Pantoni, L., and Garcia, J. H. (1997). Pathogenesis of leukoaraiosis: a review. Stroke 28, 652–659. - Google Search. (n.d.). Retrieved March 11, 2021.
- Pasha, E. P., Birdsill, A., Parker, P., Elmenshawy, A., Tanaka, H., and Haley, A. P. (2017). Visceral adiposity predicts subclinical white matter hyperintensities in middle-aged adults. *Obesity Res. Clin. Pract* 11, 177–187. doi: 10.1016/j.orcp.2016.04.003
- Pasha, E. P., Birdsill, A. C., Oleson, S., Haley, A. P., and Tanaka, H. (2018a). Physical activity mitigates adverse effect of metabolic syndrome on vessels and brain. *Brain Imag. Behav.* 12, 1658–1668. doi: 10.1007/s11682-018-9830-3
- Pasha, E. P., Birdsill, A. C., Oleson, S., Tanaka, H., and Haley, A. P. (2018b). Associations of carotid arterial compliance and white matter diffusion metrics during midlife: modulation by sex. *Neurobiol. Aging* 66:12. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2018.02.012
- Peters, S. A. E., Muntner, P., and Woodward, M. (2019). Sex differences in the prevalence of, and trends in, cardiovascular risk factors, treatment, and control in the United States, 2001 to 2016. *Circulation* 139, 1025–1035. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.118.035550
- Plassman, B. L., Williams, J. W. Jr, Burke, J. R., Holsinger, T., and Benjamin, S. (2010). Systematic review: factors associated with risk for and possible prevention of cognitive decline in later life. *Ann. Internal Med.* 153, 182–193. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-153-3-201008030-00258
- Putin, E., Mamoshina, P., Aliper, A., Korzinkin, M., Moskalev, A., Kolosov, A., et al. (2016). Deep biomarkers of human aging: application of deep neural networks to biomarker development. *Aging* 8:1021. doi: 10.18632/aging.100968
- Regitz-Zagrosek, V., Lehmkuhl, E., and Mahmoodzadeh, S. (2007). Gender aspects of the role of the metabolic syndrome as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease. *Gender Med.* 4 (Suppl. B), S162–S177. doi: 10.1016/s1550-8579(07)80056-8
- Reynolds, R. F., and Obermeyer, C. M. (2005). Age at natural menopause in Spain and the United States: results from the DAMES project. Am. J. Hum. Biol. 17, 331–340. doi: 10.1002/ajhb.20121
- Riedel, B. C., Thompson, P. M., and Brinton, R. D. (2016). Age, APOE and sex: triad of risk of Alzheimer's disease. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 160, 134–147. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2016.03.012
- Rodgers, J. L., Jones, J., Bolleddu, S. I., Vanthenapalli, S., Rodgers, L. E., Shah, K., et al. (2019). Cardiovascular risks associated with gender and aging. J. Cardiovasc. Dev. Dis. 6:19. doi: 10.3390/jcdd6020019
- Rodrigue, K. M., Rieck, J. R., Kennedy, K. M., Devous, M. D. Sr, Diaz-Arrastia, R., and Park, D. C. (2013). Risk factors for β-amyloid deposition in healthy aging: vascular and genetic effects. *JAMA Neurol.* 70, 600–606. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2013.1342
- Rödström, K., Bengtsson, C., Lissner, L., and Björkelund, C. (2005). Reproducibility of self-reported menopause age at the 24-year follow-up of a population study of women in Göteborg, Sweden. *Menopause* 12, 275–280. doi: 10.1097/01.gme.0000135247.11972.b3
- Rohn, T. T. (2014). Is apolipoprotein E4 an important risk factor for vascular dementia? *Int. J. Clin. Exp. Pathol.* 7, 3504–3511.

- Roses, A. D., and Saunders, A. M. (1994). APOE is a major susceptibility gene for Alzheimer's disease. *Curr. Opin. Biotech.* 5, 663–667. doi: 10.1016/0958-1669(94)90091-4
- Ross, A. J., and Sachdev, P. S. (2004). Magnetic resonance spectroscopy in cognitive research. *Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev.* 44, 83–102. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresrev.2003.11.001
- Ruff, R. M., Light, R. H., Parker, S. B., and Levin, H. S. (1996). Benton controlled oral word association test: reliability and updated norms. *Arch. Clin. Neuropsychol.* 11, 329–338.
- Sabra, D., Intzandt, B., Desjardins-Crepeau, L., Langeard, A., Steele, C. J., Frouin, F., et al. (2020). Sex Moderates the Relationship Between Aortic Stiffness, Cognition and Cerebrovascular Reactivity in Healthy Older Adults. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory (p. 2020.02.18.955146). doi: 10.1101/2020.02.18.955146
- Sampedro, F., Vilaplana, E., de Leon, M. J., Alcolea, D., Pegueroles, J., Montal, V., et al. (2015). APOE-by-sex interactions on brain structure and metabolism in healthy elderly controls. *Oncotarget* 6, 26663–26674. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.5185
- Sanger, F., Nicklen, S., and Coulson, A. R. (1977). DNA sequencing with chain-terminating inhibitors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 74, 5463–5467. doi: 10.1073/pnas.74.12.5463
- Segura, B., Jurado, M. A., Freixenet, N., Albuin, C., Muniesa, J., and Junqué, C. (2009). Mental slowness and executive dysfunctions in patients with metabolic syndrome. *Neurosci. Lett.* 462, 49–53. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2009.06.071
- Skoog, I., Lernfelt, B., Landahl, S., Palmertz, B., Andreasson, L. A., Nilsson, L., et al. (1996). 15-year longitudinal study of blood pressure and dementia. *Lancet.* 347, 1141–1145. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(96)90608-x
- Stanhewicz, A. E., Wenner, M. M., and Stachenfeld, N. S. (2018). Sex differences in endothelial function important to vascular health and overall cardiovascular disease risk across the lifespan. Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circul. Phys. 315, H1569– H1588. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00396.2018
- Topakian, R., Barrick, T. R., Howe, F. A., and Markus, H. S. (2010). Bloodbrain barrier permeability is increased in normal-appearing white matter in patients with lacunar stroke and leucoaraiosis. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 81, 192–197. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2009.172072
- van Borkulo, C., Boschloo, L., Borsboom, D., Penninx, B. W. J. H., Waldorp, L. J., and Schoevers, R. A. (2015). Association of symptom network structure with the course of [corrected] depression. *JAMA Psychiatry* 72, 1219–1226. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.2079
- van Borkulo, C. D., Borsboom, D., Epskamp, S., Blanken, T. F., Boschloo, L., Schoevers, R. A., et al. (2014). A new method for constructing networks from binary data. *Sci. Rep.* 4:5918. doi: 10.1038/srep05918
- van Swieten, J. C., V. A. N. D. E. N., Hout, J., V. A. N., Ketel, B. A., Hijdra, A., et al. (1991). Periventricular lesions in the white matter on magnetic resonance imaging in the elderly: a morphometric correlation with arteriolosclerosis and dilated perivascular spaces. *Brain* 114, 761–774.
- Vidal-Piñeiro, D., Valls-Pedret, C., Fernández-Cabello, S., Arenaza-Urquijo, E. M., Sala-Llonch, R., Solana, E., et al. (2014). Decreased Default Mode Network connectivity correlates with age-associated structural and cognitive changes. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 6:256. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014.00256
- Voevodskaya, O., Poulakis, K., Sundgren, P., van Westen, D., Palmqvist, S., Wahlund, L.-O., et al. (2019). Brain myoinositol as a potential marker of amyloid-related pathology: a longitudinal study. *Neurology* 92, e395–e405. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000006852
- Voevodskaya, O., Sundgren, P. C., Strandberg, O., Zetterberg, H., Minthon, L., Blennow, K., et al. (2016). Myo-inositol changes precede amyloid pathology and relate to APOE genotype in Alzheimer disease. *Neurology* 86, 1754–1761. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000002672
- Volgman, A. S., Bairey Merz, C. N., Aggarwal, N. T., Bittner, V., Bunch, T. J., Gorelick, P. B., et al. (2019). Sex differences in cardiovascular disease and cognitive impairment: another health disparity for women? *J. Am. Heart Assoc.* 8:e013154. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.119.013154
- Waldstein, S. R., Siegel, E. L., Lefkowitz, D., Maier, K. J., Pelletier Brown, J. R., Obuchowski, A. M., and Katzel, L. I. (2004). Stress-induced blood pressure reactivity and silent cerebrovascular disease. *Stroke* 35, 1294–1298. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000127774.43890.5b

- Wei, Y.-C., George, N. I., Chang, C.-W., and Hicks, K. A. (2017). Assessing sex differences in the risk of cardiovascular disease and mortality per increment in systolic blood pressure: a systematic review and metaanalysis of follow-up studies in the United States. *PLoS ONE* 12:e0170218. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0170218
- Whitfield-Gabrieli, S., and Nieto-Castanon, A. (2012). Conn: a functional connectivity toolbox for correlated and anticorrelated brain networks. *Brain Connect.* 2, 125–141. doi: 10.1089/brain.2012. 0073
- Whitmer, R. A., Sidney, S., Selby, J., Johnston, S. C., and Yaffe, K. (2005). Midlife cardiovascular risk factors and risk of dementia in late life. *Neurology* 64, 277–281. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000149519.47454.F2
- Wildman, R. P., Colvin, A. B., Powell, L. H., Matthews, K. A., Everson-Rose, S. A., Hollenberg, S., et al. (2008). Associations of endogenous sex hormones with the vasculature in menopausal women: the Study of Women's Health Across the Nation (SWAN). *Menopause* 15, 414–421. doi: 10.1097/gme.0b013e318154b6f5
- Wu, M., Li, M., Yuan, J., Liang, S., Chen, Z., Ye, M., et al. (2020). Postmenopausal hormone therapy and Alzheimer's disease, dementia, and Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and time-response meta-analysis. *Pharmacol. Res.* 155:104693. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2020.104693
- Xu, J., Kobayashi, S., Yamaguchi, S., Iijima, K., Okada, K., and Yamashita, K. (2000). Gender effects on age-related changes in brain structure. *AJNR. Am. J. Neurorad.* 21, 112–118.
- Yaffe, K., Kanaya, A., Lindquist, K., Simonsick, E. M., Harris, T., Shorr, R. I., et al. (2004). The metabolic syndrome, inflammation, and risk of cognitive decline. *JAMA* 292, 2237–2242. doi: 10.1001/jama.292.18.2237
- Yang, Y., and Kozloski, M. (2011). Sex differences in age trajectories of physiological dysregulation: inflammation, metabolic syndrome, and allostatic load. J. Gerontol. 66, 493–500. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glr003
- Yoshita, M., Fletcher, E., Harvey, D., Ortega, M., Martinez, O., Mungas, D. M., et al. (2006). Extent and distribution of white matter hyperintensities in normal aging, MCI, and AD. *Neurology* 67, 2192–2198. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000249119.95747.1f
- Zhang, C., Dougherty, C. C., Baum, S. A., White, T., and Michael, A. M. (2018). Functional connectivity predicts gender: evidence for gender differences in resting brain connectivity. *Hum. Brain Mapping.* 39, 1765–1776. doi: 10.1002/hbm.23950
- Zhang, H.-Y., Wang, S.-J., Liu, B., Ma, Z.-L., Yang, M., Zhang, Z.-J., et al. (2010). Resting brain connectivity: changes during the progress of Alzheimer disease. *Radiology* 256, 598–606. doi: 10.1148/radiol.10091701
- Zhao, L., Mao, Z., Woody, S. K., and Brinton, R. D. (2016). Sex differences in metabolic aging of the brain: insights into female susceptibility to Alzheimer's disease. *Neurob. Aging* 42, 69–79. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2016. 02.011
- Zhou, X., Hu, X., Zhang, C., Wang, H., Zhu, X., Xu, L., et al. (2016). Aberrant functional connectivity and structural atrophy in subcortical vascular cognitive impairment: relationship with cognitive impairments. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 8:14. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2016.00014
- Zhou, Y., Dougherty, J. H. Jr, Hubner, K. F., Bai, B., Cannon, R. L., and Hutson, R. K. (2008). Abnormal connectivity in the posterior cingulate and hippocampus in early Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment. *Alzheimer's Dem. J. Alzheimer's Assoc.* 4, 265–270. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2008. 04.006

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Foret, Dekhtyar, Cole, Gourley, Caillaud, Tanaka and Haley. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Influence of Physical Activity Levels and Functional Capacity on Brain β-Amyloid Deposition in Older Women

## Raquel Pedrero-Chamizo<sup>1,2</sup>, Cassandra Szoeke<sup>3,4\*</sup>, Lorraine Dennerstein<sup>5</sup> and Stephen Campbell<sup>4,6</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Health and Human Performance, ImFINE Research Group, Universidad Politécnica de Madrid, Madrid, Spain, <sup>2</sup> Exercise and Health Spanish Research Net (EXERNET), Zaragoza, Spain, <sup>3</sup> Department of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine Dentistry and Health Sciences, Centre for Medical Research (Royal Melbourne Hospital), The University of Melbourne, Parkville, VIC, Australia, <sup>4</sup> Australian Healthy Ageing Organisation, Parkville, VIC, Australia, <sup>5</sup> Department of Psychiatry, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, <sup>6</sup> Melbourne Health, Royal Melbourne Hospital, Parkville, VIC, Australia

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Petronilla Battista, Global Brain Health Institute, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Silvia Paola Caminiti, Vita-Salute San Raffaele University, Italy Ilaria Bortone, Italian National Research Council, Italy

> \*Correspondence: Cassandra Szoeke cszoeke@unimelb.edu.au

> **Received:** 19 April 2021 **Accepted:** 26 May 2021 **Published:** 09 July 2021

#### Citation:

Pedrero-Chamizo R, Szoeke C, Dennerstein L and Campbell S (2021) Influence of Physical Activity Levels and Functional Capacity on Brain β-Amyloid Deposition in Older Women. Front. Aging Neurosci. 13:697528. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.697528

Physical activity (PA) and Alzheimer's disease are associated. However, how PA influences the cerebral  $\beta$ -amyloid (A $\beta$ ) burden remains unclear. The aim of this study was to determine if PA levels and/or functional capacity (FC) are associated with AB plaque deposition, and whether these associations differed according to APOE- $\epsilon$ 4 genotype. A total of 117 women (69.7  $\pm$  2.6 years; 33.3% APOE- $\epsilon$ 4-carriers) from the Women's Healthy Ageing Project cohort (WHAP) were analyzed. PA was measured using the International Physical Activity Questionnaire and, FC was evaluated using the Timed Up and Go test (TUGt). Positron emission tomography with F-18 Florbetaben was carried out to assess cerebral AB burden, and quantified using standardized uptake value rations. The sample was split into PA and TUGt tertiles (T1, T2 and T3), and compared according to APOE-E4 genotype (positive/negative). There were no significant differences in A<sub>β</sub> accumulation according to PA tertiles and APOE- $\epsilon$ 4 genotype. Regarding FC, APOE-ɛ4+ participants in the first TUGt tertile (high performance) obtained significant lower A<sub>β</sub> accumulations compared with the other two tertiles (p < 0.05). Comparing between genotypes, greater A $\beta$  depositions were found between T2 and T3 in APOE- $\epsilon$ 4+ compared with those who were APOE- $\epsilon$ 4– (p < 0.05). Values of TUGt > 6.5 s (APOE- $\epsilon$ 4+) and 8.5 s (APOE- $\varepsilon$ 4–) were associated with an increased risk of having higher A $\beta$ retention. In conclusion, low performance in TUGt is associated with a negative effect on brain pathology with increasing cerebral AB depositions in older women who are APOE- $\varepsilon$ 4+. In physically active older women (> 600 METs min/week), higher PA levels are not associated with reduction in AB depositions.

Keywords: function, cognition, Alzheimer's disease, physical activity, women, PET, APOE £4, healthy ageing

## INTRODUCTION

The accumulation of amyloid beta (A $\beta$ ) peptides in the brain is recognized as the earliest detectable pathophysiological abnormality in Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Gandy, 2005). Previous studies have observed how cognitively healthy people, with a predisposition to accumulate A $\beta$  brain, can begin to experience progressive increases in the retention of this peptide even 20 years before reaching the thresholds for amyloidosis (Rowe et al., 2010; Perani et al., 2014).

Among principal non-modifiable AD risk factors, age is the most well-known factor, showing an almost exponential increase with advancing age, especially in female sex, following by family history and genetics (e.g., APOE- $\epsilon$ 4 carriers) (Livingston et al., 2020). However, in the absence of disease-modifying therapies for AD, there is a necessity to identify modifiable risk factors that may delay and even prevent disease.

Increasing regular exercise is considered a protective component against cognitive decline and AD (Rabin et al., 2019; Livingston et al., 2020), and is now recommended in the WHO report (WHO, 2019) on preventing dementia, since it improves cerebral perfusion, reduces neuronal loss, improves brain plasticity and preserves brain volume (Valenzuela et al., 2020), besides being an independent factor of cardiovascular health (Rabin et al., 2019). Nevertheless, there are limitations in assessing physical activity (PA) using objective methods, which often do not reflect personal physical performance. In this sense, evaluation of functional capacity (FC) has been identified as an objective measure which is a reflection of individual fitness, positively associated with many indices of health, and as early predictive factor of brain deterioration (Erickson et al., 2014; Rabin et al., 2019). However, information on the associations between PA and FC with biomarkers of AD has not been consistently replicated, particularly regarding Aß brain deposition. The objective of this study was to determine if PA levels and/or FC are associated with A $\beta$  plaque deposition in older women, and whether these associations differed according to APOE-ε4 genotype.

## **METHODS**

## Sample

All data for the present study were collected from theWHAP cohort. The complete methodology of the WHAP has been described elsewhere (Szoeke et al., 2016). In brief, WHAP started in 1992, when 438 Australian women (aged between 45 and 55 years) were selected by random population sampling and enrolled into a prospective longitudinal follow up study. In the present study, participants who completed brain MRI scan plus Positron Emission Tomography (PET), completed a PA questionnaire and carried out a FC test in 2012 data collection were eligible for inclusion in the analysis (see **Supplementary Figure 1**). To make maximum use of the data, all valid data on PA and FC were included in this report. Consequently, sample sizes vary for the PA analysis (n = 117) and FC analysis (n = 98).

The study protocol for the WHAP project was approved by the University of Melbourne Human Research Ethics Committee and fully compliant with the guidelines of the National Health and Medical Research Council ethical standards (HREC 931149X, 1034765, 110525, 1339373, 010411, 1647448 & 1750632) and was carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. All subjects provided written informed consent before participation.

## **Cerebral Imaging**

Data from PET scan were conducted with participants receiving 250 MBq of F-18 Florbetaben intravenously, with a 20 min acquisition commencing 90 min post injection. Standardized Uptake Values (SUV) were calculated for all brain regions examined and SUV ratios (SUVRs) generated by normalizing regional SUV using the cerebellar cortex. Neocortical SUVRs, a global measure of A $\beta$  burden, is expressed as the average SUVRs of the area-weighted mean of frontal, superior parietal, lateral temporal, lateral occipital and anterior and posterior cingulate regions (Szoeke et al., 2016). A SUVRs threshold of 1.2 or greater was used to discriminate participants with an intermediate brain A $\beta$  load (+SUVRs). Similar threshold value was identified in previous studies (Ciarmiello et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2020).

## **Physical Activity and Functional Capacity**

Data on PA were collected using the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) (Craig et al., 2003). The reported minutes per week in four activity domains (work-related PA, transportation PA, domestic PA, and recreational PA) were multiplied by the metabolic equivalent (MET) score (METs-min/week), based on the intensity of the activity being undertaken.

Data on FC were evaluated using the Timed Up and Go test (TUGt) (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991). The TUGt measures the time (in seconds) taken to rise from a seated position, walk 3 meters from the chair, walk back to the chair and sit down again. A shorter time to complete this test reflects better physical performance.

In the current study, participants were separated into tertiles (T1, T2 and T3) dependent upon IPAQ and TUGt based on the calculated scores.

## Confounders

Potential confounders were selected from the literature and included age, body mass index (BMI; kg/m<sup>2</sup>), educational level (> 12 years), physical activity, cognitive status (assessed using Mini-Mental State Examination [MMSE]) (Folstein et al., 1975), cardiovascular disease risk (assessed using Framingham score for cardiovascular risk) (Kannel et al., 1976), and APOE- $\epsilon$ 4 genotype (positive [APOE- $\epsilon$ 4+] or negative [APOE- $\epsilon$ 4-]). All analyses presented are adjusted for these covariates.

## **Statistical Analysis**

All statistical analyses were conducted using statistical package for the social sciences (SPSS) version 24.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The normal distribution of the variables was examined with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Since SUVRs variable was not normally distributed, non-parametric statistic was

#### TABLE 1 | Participant characteristics.

	Overall ( <i>n</i> = 117)
Age at testing (years)	69.7 ± 2.6
APOE <i>ɛ</i> 4 carrier n (%)	39 (33.3%)
Body mass index (kg/m²)	$28.3\pm5.5$
Energy expenditure (METs·min/week) <sup>‡</sup>	4070 (2129 – 7332)
TUG test (seconds) <sup>†</sup>	$7.6 \pm 1.7$
MMSE (score)	$28.5 \pm 1.4$
Past smokers n (%)	45 (38.5)
Current smoker n (%)	10 (8.5%)
Alcohol intake (≤2 drinks/week)	46 (39.3%)
Education ( $\leq$ 12 years) n (%)	65 (55.6%)

APOE, apolipoprotein E; METs, metabolic equivalent score; MMSE, Mini Mental State Exam; TUG, Timed up and go.

Values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation unless otherwise indicated.

<sup>‡</sup>Value is expressed as median (interquartile range).

<sup>†</sup>TUG values on a sample of 98 subjects.

utilized. Spearman correlation coefficient was used to examine associations among IPAO, TUGt, APOE-E4 genotype, and SUVRs. Differences in the mean SUVRs across IPAQ tertiles and TUGt tertiles were analyzed using Kruskal-Wallis test and Mann-Whitney U-test. A receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve was generated and the Youden index was used to identify optimal cut-off points which were related with an increased risk of suffering +SUVR (SUVRs  $\geq$  1.2). Due to the fact that APOE- $\epsilon$ 4 genotype shows an interaction with A $\beta$  levels, this analysis was carried out separately obtaining two differences cut-off points according to APOE-ɛ4 genotype. Binary logistic regression analyses were performed to examine associations between TUGt cut-off and different thresholds for amyloid positivity, according to previous studies (Villemagne et al., 2011; Duara et al., 2019). Odds ratios with 95% confidence intervals (CI) are reported for the studying models. Model I included the independent variable. Model II incorporated all confounders. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05.

## RESULTS

#### **Sample Characteristics**

The study participants had a mean age of  $69.7 \pm 2.6$  years and the 33.3% of the sample was APOE- $\varepsilon$ 4+. Participant characteristics are displayed in **Table 1**. SUVRs correlated significantly with APOE- $\varepsilon$ 4 genotype (*Spearman's rho* = 0.234, *p* < 0.05) and TUGt values (*Spearman's rho* = 0.255, *p* < 0.05).

## Association Between PA and $A\beta$ Brain Concentrations

The sample was split into tertiles according to IPAQ scores. The first tertile (T1) was composed of subjects who reported the lowest activity (IPAQ < 2769 METs·min/week) while subjects reporting the highest activity were allocated to T3 (IPAQ > 6492 METs·min/week). All subjects, except for one person, met the current PA guidelines ( $\geq$  600 METs·min/week) as per the IPAQ and WHO (Craig et al., 2003; Bull et al., 2020). There were no

statistical differences according to age, MMSE and BMI, neither among tertiles nor between APOE- $\epsilon$ 4 genotype (p > 0.05).

Analyzing SUVRs between tertiles, we can observe similar values between them (p > 0.05). When the sample was compared taking into account the APOE- $\epsilon$ 4 genotype, again no significant differences were observed in A $\beta$  brain concentrations. In the same way, comparing SUVRs between APOE- $\epsilon$ 4 genotypes (positive vs. negative) in each tertile, no statistically significant differences were found except for APOE- $\epsilon$ 4+ participants placed in T1 who showed a tendency to accumulate greater cerebral A $\beta$  deposits compared to APOE- $\epsilon$ 4- allocated in the same tertile (p < 0.1) (**Supplementary Figure 2**).

## Association Between FC and $A\beta$ Brain Concentrations

The sample was split into tertiles according to TUGt values. Individuals placed in T1 performed TUGt in lesser time than subjects allocated to T3, showing a better performance of T1 with respect to T3 (T1: TUGt < 7.0 s; T3: TUGt > 7.99 s). The 23.5% of the sample obtained values for the TUGt higher than the mean of the reference values published for healthy women over 60 years old (TUGt > 8.87 s) (Long et al., 2019), denoting that the majority of the cohort (76.5%) maintains an optimal functional mobility, especially participants allocated in the first tertile.

Statistically significant differences were observed in brain A $\beta$  deposits among tertiles (p = 0.016, see Figure 1). When the cohort was split according to TUGt tertiles and APOE- $\epsilon$ 4 genotypes (Figure 2), APOE- $\epsilon$ 4– participants obtained similar brain concentrations of A $\beta$  among tertiles, except for subjects in T3 who showed a trend to accumulate greater cerebral A $\beta$  deposits compared to T1 (p = 0.97) (data not shown). Regarding to APOE- $\epsilon$ 4+, participants placed in T1 accumulated significantly lower A $\beta$  levels compared with the other two tertiles (p < 0.05 in both cases). When SUVRs were compared between APOE- $\epsilon$ 4 genotypes and according to TUGt tertiles, APOE- $\epsilon$ 4+ subjects placed in T2 and T3 obtained significantly higher A $\beta$  brain concentrations compared with APOE- $\epsilon$ 4–subjects (p < 0.05), as shows in Figure 2.

ROC curve analysis demonstrates an area under the curve (AUC) of 0.621 and 0.644 (APOE-E4+ and APOE-E4-, respectively). The Youden index identified optimal cut-off values; a threshold of 6.5 s (APOE- $\varepsilon$ 4+) and 8.5 s (APOE- $\varepsilon$ 4-) maximizes sensitivity and specificity of the TUGt performance as a tool for discriminating participants with an intermediate brain A $\beta$  load (+SUVRs  $\geq$  1.2). A binary logistic regression examining the association between TUGt cut-off points and +SUVR was carried out. Participants whose TUGt performance was slower than cut-off points were associated with 6.0-fold higher odds (95% CI = 1.962 - 18.644) for having +SUVRs compared with those performing TUGt faster than cut-off points (Table 2). The adjustment for confounders (Model II) did not significantly change this result. In addition, a new binary logistic regression was run to analysis the association between TUGt cut-off points proposed and amyloidosis cut-off points reported by other authors (Villemagne et al., 2011; Duara et al., 2019) obtaining similar results (see Table 2).



## DISCUSSION

This study evaluated associations between PA (measured by IPAQ) and FC (measured by TUGt) and cerebral A $\beta$  deposition (assessed using F-18 florbetaben) in older women from the WHAP cohort. The main findings of the present study are: (1) in physically active older women (> 600 METs·min/week), higher PA levels are not associated with reduction in cerebral A $\beta$  deposition; (2) better performance in the TUGt is associated with lower A $\beta$  brain deposition in APOE- $\epsilon$ 4+; (3) a high PA level and faster TUGt results appear to lead to less cerebral A $\beta$  retention in APOE- $\epsilon$ 4+; (4) TUGt results slower than 6.5 (APOE- $\epsilon$ 4+) and 8.5 s (APOE- $\epsilon$ 4-) are associated with an increased risk of amyloid accumulation at levels above the accepted normal range.

Physical inactivity has been identified as a risk factor on various chronic diseases and has been associated with a higher risk of mortality (Kyu et al., 2016; Ekelund et al., 2020), while an active lifestyle has been associated with numerous benefits. Regarding AD-biomarkers, few studies have evaluated the potential benefits of habitual PA on A $\beta$  brain concentrations not finding a significant association between cerebral A $\beta$  concentrations and PA in the majority of studies (Landau et al., 2012; Okonkwo et al., 2014; Wirth et al., 2014; Schultz et al., 2015; Frederiksen et al., 2019). Nevertheless, some factors such as APOE- $\epsilon$ 4 genotype can influence this association and not all studies took this into account. Brown et al. (2013) evaluated the association between PA and amyloid brain depositions in

a cohort of 116 older people and did not find significant associations when the cohort was analysis on the whole; however, when the sample was stratified by genotypes, APOE- $\epsilon$ 4+ participants with more active lifestyle showed significant lower cerebral A $\beta$  concentrations than their counterparts. Conversely, our findings did not find associations between PA levels and cerebral A $\beta$  accumulations, not even when the sample was split into APOE- $\epsilon$ 4 genotypes, corroborating results presented in other observational studies (Vemuri et al., 2012; de Souto Barreto et al., 2015).

Another important factor to take into account is the PA level from which the individual starts. Previous studies (Kyu et al., 2016; Ekelund et al., 2020) have observed that the greatest health benefits are obtained by people whose activity level is greater than the 600 METs min/week recommended by the WHO (Bull et al., 2020). In relation to cerebral AB concentrations, similar results were reported. Liang et al. (2010) evaluated the association of exercise on AD-biomarkers concluding that individuals who satisfied the American Heart Association's physical exercise recommendation for older adults ( $\geq$  7.5 METs-h/week) (Nelson et al., 2007) accumulated lower cerebral AB concentrations compared with physically inactive elderly. Similar results were found in other studies (Head et al., 2012; Okonkwo et al., 2014) among which we can highlight the study by Head et al. (2012), in which a greater effect of exercise was observed on brain concentrations of A $\beta$  in APOE- $\varepsilon$ 4+ physically inactive participants. When analyzing our results, we observed that the



entire sample was physically active. This fact could explain the lack of statistical significance between the variables, since the main differences in relation to A $\beta$  retention have been observed comparing people who meet the PA recommendations vs. people who do not meet them. Moreover, previous studies have established that the most health gains occur at relatively lower levels of activity (> 600 METs·min/week) up to 3000 METs·min/week, approximately (Kyu et al., 2016; Ekelund et al., 2020). In our case, participants performed a habitual PA equal to or even higher than these thresholds, with the exception of one woman, elucidating that it is a cohort with a very active lifestyle and, though these PA cut-off points are not specific for brain amyloidosis risk, it may be influenced in the same way.

Although PA and FC are related, they are separate physiological and behavioral measures that can explain different aspects and predict various health outcomes. Physical activity has been defined as any bodily movement that results in energy expenditure (Caspersen et al., 1985) while FC reflects the ability to perform activities of daily living (Lawton and Brody, 1969). In this sense, FC requires integrated efforts of the cardiopulmonary and skeletal muscle systems, providing important diagnostic and prognostic information in clinical and research settings (Arena et al., 2007), especially when it is assessment by physical tests as objective measure of physical capacity instead of questionnaires.

The most common test to assess FC in relation to brain A $\beta$  load is gait speed. Slow walking speed has been considered a predictor of cognitive decline, dementia, disability, neuropathologies, and even death (Abellan van Kan et al., 2009; Wennberg et al., 2017). Few human studies have examined the association between cerebral A $\beta$  load and gait speed and functional mobility, finding in most studies a stronger association between greater cerebral A $\beta$  and lower extremity motor decline and poorer performance on multiple gait parameters among people without dementia (Nadkarni et al., 2017; Tian et al., 2017; Wennberg et al., 2017).

In this study FC was evaluated through the TUGt. It has a high correlation with other validated tests that measure pure gait speed (Bohannon, 2006), and it is appropriated for evaluating functional mobility and dynamic balance. According to our results, the TUGt evaluation showed very interesting findings with slower TUGt performance associated with greater cerebral  $A\beta$  depositions in APOE- $\epsilon$ 4+. In addition, a positive trend was

**TABLE 2** | Binary logistic regression examining the association between TUGt cut-off points and different thresholds for amyloid positivity.

Amyloid positive		Risk values of TUGt $\delta$	p value
thresholds		OR (95% CI)	
Cut-off $\geq$ 1.20 SUVRs	Model I	6.05 (1.96 – 18.64)	0.002
	Model II	8.12 (2.26 – 29.19)	0.001
$Cut\text{-off} \geq 1.31 \; SUVRs^{\dagger}$	Model I	4.12 (1.17 – 14.53)	0.027
	Model II	4.97 (1.22 – 20.22)	0.025
$Cut\text{-off} \geq 1.40 \; SUVRs^{\ddagger}$	Model I	7.35 (1.47 – 36.80)	0.015
	Model II	17.21 (2.12 – 139.86)	0.008
$Cut\text{-}off \geq 1.42 \; SUVRs^{\dagger}$	Model I	6.23 (1.22 – 31.82)	0.028
	Model II	17.21 (2.12 – 139.86)	0.008

Cl, confident interval; OR, odds ratio; SUVRs, standardized uptake values ratios; TUGt, timed up and go test.

<sup>†</sup>Amyloid positivity threshold by Duara et al., 2019; <sup>‡</sup>Amyloid positivity threshold by Villemagne et al., 2011.  $\delta$ TUGt cut-off points:  $\geq$  6.5 s (APOE- $\epsilon$ 4+) and  $\geq$  8.5 s (APOE- $\epsilon$ 4-).

Model I, included the independent TUGt cut-off variable; Model II, adjusted by age, BMI, physical activity (IPAQ score), education (>12 years), cognitive status (MMSE score), and cardiovascular disease risk (Framingham score).

observed when comparing T1 and T3 in APOE- $\varepsilon$ 4–; however, this association did not reach statistical significance. In extension of these findings, the results of our study further affirm that cognitively healthy women who preserve a good reserve of functional mobility are associated with optimal levels of brain A $\beta$ , especially for those with an APOE- $\varepsilon$ 4 risk genotype. Nevertheless, our findings are not supported by all authors. Dao et al. (2019) found that A $\beta$  deposition was not associated with the TUGt. However, this study assessed a relatively small sample, in addition to not stratifying by sex and APOE genotype, both APOE- $\varepsilon$ 4+ and women being strongly associated with cerebral A $\beta$  retention and functional mobility (Wennberg et al., 2017; Szoeke et al., 2019).

An interesting observation from our results is that women obtaining higher performance in TUGt (T1) maintain lower cerebral A $\beta$  concentrations, regardless of APOE- $\epsilon$ 4 genotype. In contrast, slower results in TUGt were associated with greater cerebral A $\beta$  depositions in APOE- $\epsilon$ 4+ participants, who had a significantly greater amyloid accrual compared to APOE- $\epsilon$ 4women placed in the same tertile (T2 and T3). Previous studies in this area have observed that those with the APOE- $\epsilon$ 4+ genotype tend to accumulate higher amyloid loads than APOE- $\epsilon$ 4-, at all ages and at all cognitive impairment levels (Duara et al., 2019). Our data suggest higher performance on functional mobility and high PA levels attenuate the negative effect of APOE- $\epsilon$ 4+ on amyloid concentrations, slowing down brain A $\beta$  accumulations in accordance with previous studies (Head et al., 2012).

A novel aspect of our research is that we describe cut-off points for TUGt which are related with an increase in the risk of presenting an intermediate brain A $\beta$  load (+SUVRs  $\geq$  1.2). We decided to use a lower cut-off point than current thresholds for amyloid positivity with the purposes of early diagnosis and thus to afford opportunity for successful therapeutic interventions aimed at delaying disease onset and limiting further neuronal damage. To our knowledge, this is the first time that cut-off points have been established for TUGt in relation to the risk of suffering

from amyloidosis. Our results indicate that slower values at the established cut-off points are associated with a greater risk of having high brain concentrations of amyloid.

Given the strong relationship between functional mobility and cognition seen in this study also relates to measures of brain pathology, other measures of FC and physical fitness known to relate to later life frailty may be useful clinical tools to help identify those at risk dementia. In this sense, TUGt is an accessible and easy measurement that may be used in clinical assessment. Further research could examine the specificity of these measures for the later life development of dementia. It will be necessary to have longitudinal studies to establish the precise association between FC and A $\beta$  brain concentrations and the interaction with APOE- $\epsilon$ 4 genotypes. Given we now know that amyloid accumulates over 30 years, it will be essential to examine PA over the prodrome of disease to understand if there are particular therapeutic windows or at risk periods which are relevant to proposed intervention.

We acknowledge this study had limitations. Whilst the optimal questionnaires to evaluate PA was utilized, objective measurement, such as accelerometer, could provide actual measures of activity, although the duration of this would be limited and there is evidence that when wearing the device, participants change their behavior. The relatively modest number of subjects included in the study is critical to the interpretation and generalizability of the findings. Our significant findings in a sample size around a hundred healthy women indicate that the strength of the effect is large.

Finally, as we have only one measure of amyloid accumulation we cannot address causality of these associations. Further longitudinal studies are needed to determine whether FC level predicts  $A\beta$  brain depositions, and human intervention studies are required to observe if increasing exercise influences  $A\beta$ .

In conclusion, this study provides valuable information on the association between PA and FC on AD risk. Our findings suggest that PA levels higher than global recommendations and a better performance on TUGt could be associated with slowing down cerebral A $\beta$  retention in APOE- $\epsilon$ 4 carriers and with a protective effect against brain A $\beta$  depositions. Finally, TUGt performance slower than cut-off points proposed increases the risk of presenting an intermediate brain A $\beta$  load (SUVRs  $\geq$  1.2).

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not publicly available because of patient confidentiality and participant privacy reasons. Requests to access the datasets can be found in online repository. The name of the repository is Women's Healthy Ageing Project University of Melbourne VIC and applications for data access can be made through the following URL: https://www.biogrid.org.au/ data-directory.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the University of Melbourne Human Research Ethics Committee and fully compliant with the guidelines of the National Health and Medical Research Council ethical standards (HREC 931149X, 1034765, 110525, 1339373, 010411, 1647448, and 1750632) and was carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

CS contributed to the conception and design of the study and protocol. CS, LD and SC participated in the assessment and clinical classifications. RP-C, CS and LD provided scientific input into the paper. RP-C and CS performed the statistical analysis plan and statistical analysis, interpreted the results, and wrote and edited the manuscript. All authors have read and approved the final version of the manuscript and agreed with the order of presentation of the authors.

## FUNDING

Funding for the Healthy Aging Program (HAP) has been provided by the National Health and Medical Research Council [NHMRC grants 547600, 1032350, and 1062133], Ramaciotti Foundation, Australian Healthy Aging Organisation, the Brain Foundation, the Alzheimer's Association [NIA320312], and Australian Menopausal Society, Bayer Healthcare, Shepherd Foundation, Scobie and Claire Mackinnon Foundation, Collier Trust Fund, J.O. & J.R. Wicking Trust, Mason Foundation, the Alzheimer's Association of Australia and Royal Australian College of Physicians. Inaugural funding was provided by VicHealth and the NHMRC. The Principal Investigator of HAP (CS) is supported by the National Health and Medical

#### REFERENCES

- Abellan van Kan, G., Rolland, Y., Andrieu, S., Bauer, J., Beauchet, O., Bonnefoy, M., et al. (2009). Gait speed at usual pace as a predictor of adverse outcomes in community-dwelling older people an International Academy on Nutrition and Aging (IANA) task force. J. Nutr. Health Aging 13, 881–889. doi: 10.1007/s12603-009-0246-z
- Arena, R., Myers, J., Williams, M. A., Gulati, M., Kligfield, P., Balady, G. J., et al. (2007). Assessment of functional capacity in clinical and research settings: a scientific statement from the american heart association committee on exercise, rehabilitation, and prevention of the council on clinical cardiology and the council on cardiovascular nursing. *Circulation* 116, 329–343. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.184461
- Bohannon, R. W. (2006). Reference values for the timed up and go test: a descriptive meta-analysis. J. Geriatr. Phys. Ther. 29, 64–68. doi: 10.1519/00139143-200608000-00004
- Brown, B. M., Peiffer, J. J., Taddei, K., Lui, J. K., Laws, S. M., Gupta, V. B., et al. (2013). physical activity and amyloid-beta plasma and brain levels: results from the Australian imaging, biomarkers and lifestyle study of ageing. *Mol. Psychiatry* 1875–1881. doi: 10.1038/mp.2012.107
- Bull, F. C., Al-Ansari, S. S., Biddle, S., Borodulin, K., Buman, M. P., Cardon, G., et al. (2020). World health organization 2020 guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour. *Br. J. Sports Med.* 54, 1451–1462. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2020-102955
- Caspersen, C. J., Powell, K. E., and Christenson, G. M. (1985). Physical activity, exercise, and physical fitness: definitions and distinctions for health-related research. *Public Health Rep.* 100, 126–131.

Research Council. RP-C was supported by Spanish Ministry of Education under Programa Estatal de Promoción del Talento y su Empleabilidad en I+D+i, Subprograma Estatal de Movilidad, del Plan Estatal de Investigación Científica y Técnica y de Innovación 2013–2016 [CAS18/00457]. The content of this paper is the responsibility of the authors. The funders did not take any part in this work.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to acknowledge the contribution of the participants and their supporters for their time and commitment for over 25 years to the University. We thank BioGrid for providing data linkage, Melbourne Health Pathology services for providing blood biomarker storage and analyses. We thank the research assistants who assisted in data collection. A full list of all researchers contributing to the project and the membership of our Scientific Advisory Board is available online. In addition, this research work was awarded in the National Sports Medicine Research Awards-Liberbank, year 2019, Faculty of Sports Medicine, University of Oviedo.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnagi. 2021.697528/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Figure 1 | Flow chart of participants in the study.

Supplementary Figure 2 | Mean standardized uptake value ratios (SUVRs) according to physical activity (PA) tertiles and APOE-ɛ4 genotypes.

- Ciarmiello, A., Giovannini, E., Riondato, M., Giovacchini, G., Duce, V., Ferrando, O., et al. (2019). Longitudinal cognitive decline in mild cognitive impairment subjects with early amyloid-beta neocortical deposition. *Eur. J. Nucl. Med. Mol. Imaging* 46, 2090–2098. doi: 10.1007/s00259-019-0 4409-1
- Craig, C. L., Marshall, A. L., Sjostrom, M., Bauman, A. E., Booth, M. L., Ainsworth, B. E., et al. (2003). International physical activity questionnaire: 12-country reliability and validity. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 35, 1381–1395. doi: 10.1249/01.MSS.0000078924.61453.FB
- Dao, E., Hsiung, G. R., Sossi, V., Tam, R., Shahinfard, E., Nicklin, E., et al. (2019). Cerebral amyloid-beta deposition is associated with impaired gait speed and lower extremity function. J Alzheimers Dis. 71, S41–S49. doi: 10.3233/JAD-180848
- de Souto Barreto, P., Andrieu, S., Payoux, P., Demougeot, L., Rolland, Y., Vellas, B., et al. (2015). Physical activity and amyloid-beta brain levels in elderly adults with intact cognition and mild cognitive impairment. *J. Am. Geriatr. Soc.* 63, 1634–1639. doi: 10.1111/jgs.13530
- Duara, R., Loewenstein, D. A., Lizarraga, G., Adjouadi, M., Barker, W. W., Greig-Custo, M. T., et al. (2019). Effect of age, ethnicity, sex, cognitive status and APOE genotype on amyloid load and the threshold for amyloid positivity. *Neuroimage Clin.* 22:101800. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2019.101800
- Ekelund, U., Dalene, K. E., Tarp, J., and Lee, I. M. (2020). Physical activity and mortality: what is the dose response and how big is the effect? *Br. J. Sports Med.* 54, 1125–1126. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2019-101765
- Erickson, K. I., Leckie, R. L., and Weinstein, A. M. (2014). Physical activity, fitness, and gray matter volume. *Neurobiol. Aging* 35, S20–S28. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.03.034

- Folstein, M. F., Folstein, S. E., and McHugh, P. R. (1975). "Mini-mental state". a practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J. Psychiatr. Res. 12, 189–198. doi: 10.1016/0022-3956(75)90026-6
- Frederiksen, K. S., Gjerum, L., Waldemar, G., and Hasselbalch, S. G. (2019). Physical activity as a moderator of alzheimer pathology: a systematic review of observational studies. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 16, 362–378. doi: 10.2174/1567205016666190315095151
- Gandy, S. (2005). The role of cerebral amyloid beta accumulation in common forms of Alzheimer disease. *J. Clin. Invest.* 115, 1121–1129. doi: 10.1172/JCI25100
- Head, D., Bugg, J. M., Goate, A. M., Fagan, A. M., Mintun, M. A., Benzinger, T., et al. (2012). Exercise engagement as a moderator of the effects of APOE genotype on amyloid deposition. *Arch. Neurol.* 69, 636–643. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2011.845
- Kannel, W. B., McGee, D., and Gordon, T. (1976). A general cardiovascular risk profile: the framingham study. Am. J. Cardiol. 38, 46–51. doi: 10.1016/0002-9149(76)90061-8
- Kim, J. Y., Oh, D., Sung, K., Choi, H., Paeng, J. C., Cheon, G. J., et al. (2020). Visual interpretation of [(18)F]Florbetaben PET supported by deep learning-based estimation of amyloid burden. *Eur J. Nucl. Med. Mol. Imaging* 48, 1116–1123. doi: 10.1007/s00259-020-05044-x
- Kyu, H. H., Bachman, V. F., Alexander, L. T., Mumford, J. E., Afshin, A., Estep, K., et al. (2016). Physical activity and risk of breast cancer, colon cancer, diabetes, ischemic heart disease, and ischemic stroke events: systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis for the global burden of disease study 2013. *BMJ* 354:i3857. doi: 10.1136/bmj.i3857
- Landau, S. M., Marks, S. M., Mormino, E. C., Rabinovici, G. D., Oh, H., O'Neil, J. P., et al. (2012). Association of lifetime cognitive engagement and low beta-amyloid deposition. *Arch. Neurol.* 69, 623–629. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2011.2748
- Lawton, M. P., and Brody, E. M. (1969). Assessment of older people: selfmaintaining and instrumental activities of daily living. *Gerontologist* 9, 179–186. doi: 10.1093/geront/9.3\_Part\_1.179
- Liang, K. Y., Mintun, M. A., Fagan, A. M., Goate, A. M., Bugg, J. M., Holtzman, D. M., et al. (2010). Exercise and Alzheimer's disease biomarkers in cognitively normal older adults. *Ann. Neurol.* 68, 311–318. doi: 10.1002/ana.22096
- Livingston, G., Huntley, J., Sommerlad, A., Ames, D., Ballard, C., Banerjee, S., et al. (2020). Dementia prevention, intervention, and care: 2020 report of the lancet commission. *Lancet* 396, 413–446. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30367-6
- Long, J., Cai, T., Huang, X., Zhou, Y., Kuang, J., and Wu, L. (2019). Reference value for the TUGT in healthy older people: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Geriatr. Nurs.* 41, 325–330. doi: 10.1016/j.gerinurse.2019.11.012
- Nadkarni, N. K., Perera, S., Snitz, B. E., Mathis, C. A., Price, J., Williamson, J. D., et al. (2017). Association of brain amyloid-beta with slow gait in elderly individuals without dementia: influence of cognition and apolipoprotein E epsilon4 genotype. JAMA Neurol. 74, 82–90. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2016.3474
- Nelson, M. E., Rejeski, W. J., Blair, S. N., Duncan, P. W., Judge, J. O., King, A. C., et al. (2007). Physical activity and public health in older adults: recommendation from the american college of sports medicine and the american heart association. *Circulation* 116, 1094–1105. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.185650
- Okonkwo, O. C., Schultz, S. A., Oh, J. M., Larson, J., Edwards, D., Cook, D., et al. (2014). Physical activity attenuates age-related biomarker alterations in preclinical AD. *Neurology* 83, 1753–1760. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000964
- Perani, D., Schillaci, O., Padovani, A., Nobili, F. M., Iaccarino, L., Della Rosa, P. A., et al. (2014). A survey of FDG- and amyloid-PET imaging in dementia and GRADE analysis. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2014, 1–1. doi: 10.1155/2014/246586

- Podsiadlo, D., and Richardson, S. (1991). The timed "Up & Go": a test of basic functional mobility for frail elderly persons. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 39, 142–148. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.1991.tb01616.x
- Rabin, J. S., Klein, H., Kirn, D. R., Schultz, A. P., Yang, H. S., Hampton, O., et al. (2019). Associations of physical activity and beta-amyloid with longitudinal cognition and neurodegeneration in clinically normal older adults. *JAMA Neurol*. 76:1203. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2019.1879
- Rowe, C. C., Ellis, K. A., Rimajova, M., Bourgeat, P., Pike, K. E., Jones, G., et al. (2010). Amyloid imaging results from the australian imaging, biomarkers and lifestyle (AIBL) study of aging. *Neurobiol. Aging* 31, 1275–1283. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2010.04.007
- Schultz, S. A., Boots, E. A., Almeida, R. P., Oh, J. M., Einerson, J., Korcarz, C. E., et al. (2015). Cardiorespiratory fitness attenuates the influence of amyloid on cognition. *J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc.* 21, 841–850. doi: 10.1017/S1355617715000843
- Szoeke, C., Coulson, M., Campbell, S., Dennerstein, L., and Gatewa, P. (2016). Cohort profile: women's healthy ageing project (WHAP) - a longitudinal prospective study of Australian women since 1990. Womens Midlife Health 2:5. doi: 10.1186/s40695-016-0018-y
- Szoeke, C., Goodwill, A. M., Gorelik, A., Dennerstein, L., Caeyenberghs, K., Simpson, S., et al. (2019). Apolipoprotein E4 mediates the association between midlife dyslipidemia and cerebral amyloid in aging women. J. Alzheimers Dis. 68, 105–114. doi: 10.3233/JAD-180815
- Tian, Q., Resnick, S. M., Bilgel, M., Wong, D. F., Ferrucci, L., and Studenski, S. A. (2017). Beta-amyloid burden predicts lower extremity performance decline in cognitively unimpaired older adults. *J. Gerontol. A. Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.* 72, 716–723. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glw183
- Valenzuela, P. L., Castillo-Garcia, A., Morales, J. S., de la Villa, P., Hampel, H., Emanuele, E., et al. (2020). Exercise benefits on Alzheimer's disease: state-ofthe-science. Ageing Res. Rev. 62:101108. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2020.101108
- Vemuri, P., Lesnick, T. G., Przybelski, S. A., Knopman, D. S., Roberts, R. O., Lowe, V. J., et al. (2012). Effect of lifestyle activities on Alzheimer disease biomarkers and cognition. *Ann. Neurol.* 72, 730–738. doi: 10.1002/ana.23665
- Villemagne, V. L., Ong, K., Mulligan, R. S., Holl, G., Pejoska, S., Jones, G., et al. (2011). Amyloid imaging with (18)F-florbetaben in Alzheimer disease and other dementias. *J. Nucl. Med.* 52, 1210–1217. doi: 10.2967/jnumed.111.0 89730
- Wennberg, A. M. V., Savica, R., Hagen, C. E., Roberts, R. O., Knopman, D. S., Hollman, J. H., et al. (2017). Cerebral amyloid deposition is associated with gait parameters in the mayo clinic study of aging. *J. Am. Geriatr. Soc.* 65, 792–799. doi: 10.1111/jgs.14670
- WHO (2019). Risk Reduction of Cognitive Decline And Dementia: WHO Guidelines. Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Wirth, M., Haase, C. M., Villeneuve, S., Vogel, J., and Jagust, W. J. (2014). Neuroprotective pathways: lifestyle activity, brain pathology, and cognition in cognitively normal older adults. *Neurobiol. Aging* 35, 1873–1882 doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.02.015

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Pedrero-Chamizo, Szoeke, Dennerstein and Campbell. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## **Optimal Blood Pressure Keeps Our Brains Younger**

Nicolas Cherbuin<sup>1</sup>\*, Erin I. Walsh<sup>1</sup>, Marnie Shaw<sup>2</sup>, Eileen Luders<sup>1,3</sup>, Kaarin J. Anstey<sup>4,5</sup>, Perminder S. Sachdev<sup>6</sup>, Walter P. Abhayaratna<sup>7</sup> and Christian Gaser<sup>8,9</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Centre for Research on Ageing, Health and Wellbeing, Australian National University, Canberra, ACT, Australia, <sup>2</sup>College of Engineering & Computer Science, Australian National University, Canberra, ACT, Australia, <sup>3</sup>School of Psychology, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand, <sup>4</sup>Neuroscience Research Australia, Sydney, NSW, Australia, <sup>5</sup>School of Psychiatry, University of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW, Australia, <sup>6</sup>Centre for Healthy Brain Ageing (CHeBA), School of Psychiatry, University of New South Wales, Sydney, NSW, Australia, <sup>7</sup>ANU Medical School, Australian National University, Canberra, ACT, Australia, <sup>8</sup>Department of Neurology, Jena University Hospital, Jena, Germany, <sup>9</sup>Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Jena University Hospital, Jena, Germany

**Background**: Elevated blood pressure (BP) is a major health risk factor and the leading global cause of premature death. Hypertension is also a risk factor for cognitive decline and dementia. However, when elevated blood pressure starts impacting cerebral health is less clear. We addressed this gap by estimating how a validated measure of brain health relates to changes in BP over a period of 12 years.

**Methods**: Middle-age (44–46 years at baseline, n = 335, 52% female) and older-age (60–64 years, n = 351, 46% female) cognitively intact individuals underwent up to four brain scans. Brain health was assessed using a machine learning approach to produce an estimate of "observed" age (BrainAGE), which can be contrasted with chronological age. Longitudinal associations between blood pressures and BrainAGE were assessed with linear mixed-effects models.

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Omar Yaxmehen Bello-Chavolla, Instituto Nacional de Geriatría, Mexico

#### Reviewed by:

Ricki Colman, University of Wisconsin-Madison, United States Edo Richard, University of Amsterdam, Netherlands

#### \*Correspondence:

Nicolas Cherbuin nicolas.cherbuin@anu.edu.au

Received: 14 April 2021 Accepted: 23 July 2021 Published: 05 October 2021

#### Citation:

Cherbuin N, Walsh El, Shaw M, Luders E, Anstey KJ, Sachdev PS, Abhayaratna WP and Gaser C (2021) Optimal Blood Pressure Keeps Our Brains Younger. Front. Aging Neurosci. 13:694982. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.694982 **Results**: A progressive increase in BP was observed over the follow up (MAP = 0.8 mmHg/year, SD = 0.92; SBP = 1.41 mmHg/year, SD = 1.49; DBP = 0.61 mmHg/year, SD = 0.78). In fully adjusted models, every additional 10 mmHg increase in blood pressure (above 90 for mean, 114 for systolic, and 74 for diastolic blood pressure) was associated with a higher BrainAGE by 65.7 days for mean, and 51.1 days for systolic/diastolic blood pressure. These effects occurred across the blood pressure range and were not exclusively driven by hypertension.

**Conclusion**: Increasing blood pressure is associated with poorer brain health. Compared to a person becoming hypertensive, somebody with an ideal BP is predicted to have a brain that appears more than 6 months younger at midlife.

Keywords: MAP-mean arterial pressure, systolic, diastolic, hypertension, machine learning, MRI

## INTRODUCTION

Elevated blood pressure (BP) is a major health risk factor and a leading global cause for premature death (Egan and Stevens-Fabry, 2015; Rahimi et al., 2015). In addition, hypertension is a demonstrated risk factor for dementia, and recent findings indicate a non-linear dose-response between systolic and diastolic blood pressure levels and incident dementia (Wang et al., 2018).

35
This complex dose-response is known to be modulated by age, and by the progression of the underlying pathology, which develops over decades (e.g., amyloid plaques, neurofibrillary tangles, cerebrovascular disease). The point at which elevated blood pressure starts to impact cerebral health, and the extent of that impact, is less clear. In this study, we address this gap by estimating how a well-validated measure of brain age (BrainAGE; Franke et al., 2013; Gaser et al., 2013; Luders et al., 2016; Cole et al., 2019; Elliott et al., 2019), which reflects global brain health, relates to differences and changes in BP in community-living individuals over a follow-up of 12 years. Thus, we seek to answer the question "Does the brain of individuals with optimal blood pressure stay younger for longer?"

Worldwide, approximately 31% of all adults suffer from hypertension and a further 25-50% suffer from prehypertension, also referred to as phase 1 hypertension in the latest American Heart Association guidelines (Egan and Stevens-Fabry, 2015; Rahimi et al., 2015). Both hypertension and pre-hypertension are associated with an increased risk of coronary heart disease, stroke and cardiovascular disease (Huang et al., 2013; Son et al., 2018; Satoh et al., 2019). The risk increases exponentially across the diastolic and systolic blood pressure ranges above the minimum risk levels, which have been estimated at 60-74 mmHg for diastolic and 90-114 mmHg for systolic blood pressure (Rapsomaniki et al., 2014). Moreover, those suffering from pre-hypertension have a two-fold increased risk of developing hypertension (Leitschuh et al., 1991). Although hypertension is more prevalent at older ages, it is becoming increasingly common at younger ages. In the US, 7.5% of 18-39 year-olds and 33.2% of 40-59 year-olds suffer from hypertension, and substantially higher rates have been reported in some Asian countries (Son et al., 2018).

A clear link has already been established between hypertension and the development of cerebrovascular disease (Meissner, 2016). In addition to hemorrhagic strokes, elevated blood pressure is associated with cerebral micro-bleeds and with more diffuse brain changes that can be detected using Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI; e.g., as white matter hyperintensities, cortical thinning, enlarged Virchow-Robin spaces, brain atrophy; Alateeq et al., 2021). These changes are known to reflect pathologic microscopic processes in the underlying tissue. However, their diffuse nature makes it difficult to precisely quantify their presence and co-occurrence and therefore hampers the detection of early effects of increasing BP on brain structure.

Assumption-free machine learning approaches that consider all the information present in a brain scan without the need for *a priori* definition of regions of interest have been effectively implemented to assess the impact of several conditions on cerebral health. One such approach is the use of relevance vector machines to estimate the "brain age" of individuals based on their MRI scans. The estimated brain age can then be compared to the chronological age to determine whether specific exposures are associated with "younger-looking" or "older-looking" brains in a specific population. For example, older brain age has been detected in individuals with mild cognitive impairment (Gaser et al., 2013), with type 2 diabetes (Franke et al., 2013), exposed to maternal nutrient restriction during early gestation (Franke et al., 2018), with poor personal health markers (Franke et al., 2014), and *APOE*  $\varepsilon$ 4 carriers (Löwe et al., 2016), while younger brain age has been demonstrated in people who meditate (Luders et al., 2016), or make music (Franke and Gaser, 2019). Apart from not requiring an *a priori* determination of which brain regions should be selected for investigation in relation to a particular research question of risk factors, a major benefit of this type of approach is that it does not rely exclusively on a single index of brain integrity such as brain volume. Instead, it integrates information across key explanatory regions, which might reflect relative atrophy, vascular lesions, white matter hyperintensities, as well as other contributors which can influence MRI signals such as iron deposition, inflammation, myelination.

Using the same approach, the aim of the present study is to estimate the brain age in a large sample of people aged in their 40s to 70s for whom longitudinal MRI scans and rich epidemiological data are available and to investigate how the full range of blood pressure relates to cerebral health over time. We predicted that individuals with higher blood pressure and those suffering from hypertension would present with a higher BrainAGE. Importantly, in this research, we conceptualize BrainAGE as a marker of brain health with higher BrainAGE suggesting poorer brain health. This is because extensive research is available indicating that BrainAGE (and similar approaches)-in addition to being methodologically robust and reliable (Franke and Gaser, 2012, 2019; Baecker et al., 2021)-is associated with cognitive decline, the transition from MCI to Alzheimer's disease, and markers of the underlying pathology and its main genetic risk factor, APOE genotype (Gaser et al., 2013; Löwe et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2019). Moreover, BrainAGE is significantly increased in several chronic conditions including type 2 diabetes (Franke et al., 2013), stroke (Egorova et al., 2019), Parkinson's disease (Beheshti et al., 2020), Multiple Sclerosis (Cole et al., 2020), and known health and lifestyle risk factors for cardiovascular health, neurodegeneration, brain ageing, and dementia (Bittner et al., 2021).

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

# **Study Population**

Participants included in the present study were selected from the larger PATH Through Life (PATH) project which has been described elsewhere (Anstey et al., 2012). Briefly, PATH randomly sampled individuals from the electoral roll of the city of Canberra and the adjoining town of Queanbeyan across three age groups. The focus of this investigation is on the middle-age (MA; n = 431) and older-age (OA; n = 478) participants who undertook a brain scan and were aged 44-46 years and 60-64 years respectively at first MRI assessment. Participants were followed up for up to four waves of assessment over a 12 year period and were included on the basis of having two or more brain scans (MA: n = 354, OA: n = 402). Participants were excluded if they had neurological conditions (stroke, MMSE < 25, either Parkinson's or Dementia diagnosis at any part of the study (MA: n = 0, OA n = 29) assessed based on a detailed neuropsychological assessment and consensus diagnosis using established criteria



as well as self-report of a diagnosis established by a clinician (Cherbuin et al., 2019). Other inclusion criteria included blood pressure exceeding three standard deviations from the mean (MA: n = 5, OA: n = 17), or missing key covariates at baseline (**Figure 1**). This resulted in a final sample of 686 participants (MA: n = 335, 52% female; OA n = 351, 46% female) with 180 (26%) having two, 287 (42%) having three, and 219 (32%) having four brain scans over the follow-up. Compared with the broader PATH sample at baseline (MA; n = 2,530; OA: n = 2,551), selected participants had a slightly higher education (14.12 excluded vs. 14.39 years included, t = 2.45, p = 0.01) but were not significantly older (53.06 years excluded vs. 53.39 years included, t = 0.81, p = 0.41) and did not differ in terms of sex ( $\chi^2 = 1.08$ , p = 0.29) or intracranial volume (ICV = 1,585,868 mm<sup>3</sup> excluded vs. 1,554,810 mm<sup>3</sup> included, t = 1.51, p = 0.13).

#### **Blood Pressure**

Sitting systolic and diastolic brachial blood pressure (SBP/DBP) were measured on the left upper arm at each assessment using an Omron M4 monitor after a rest of at least 5 min using a medium or large cuff as required and were computed over two measurements. Participants were classified as hypertensive if their mean systolic or diastolic blood pressure measures were higher than 140 and 90 mmHg respectively or if they took anti-hypertensive medication. Anti-hypertensive medication was assessed by self-report at each assessment. Mean arterial pressure (MAP) was calculated with the formula 1/3(SBP) + 2/3(DBP) and centered on 90. Participants were considered to have optimal BP if their DBP was <75 mmHg and their SBP was <115 mmHg (Rapsomaniki et al., 2014), which corresponds to an optimal MAP of 90 mmHg or below. These thresholds were selected based on findings from large studies indicating that SBP of 90-114 mm Hg and DBP of 60-74 mmHg were associated with the least adverse cardiovascular outcomes (Rapsomaniki et al., 2014; Li et al., 2021).

#### **Socio-demographic and Health Measures**

Chronological age across up to three follow-up assessments was computed as baseline age in years and months plus the precise interval (years, months and days) between each assessment. Total years of education, diabetes mellitus, depression symptomatology (Goldberg depression; Goldberg et al., 1988), and smoking (ever) were assessed by self-report. Body mass index (BMI) was computed with the formula weight (kg)/height × height (m<sup>2</sup>) based on a self-report of weight and height. APOE  $\varepsilon 4$  genotype was determined based on buccal swabs using QIAGEN DNA Blood kits (#51162; QIAGEN, Hilden, Germany). Participants were classified as APOE  $\varepsilon 4$ carriers if they possessed one or two  $\varepsilon 4$  alleles. To preserve sample size across waves, the 7% or less missingness across these covariates was dealt with *via* 5,000 iterations Missing Value Analysis in SPSS.

## **MRI Scan Acquisition and Image Analysis**

Detailed imaging protocols are provided in the Supplementary Material (**Supplementary Table 1**) and are extensively published (Shaw et al., 2016a,b; Fraser et al., 2018). Briefly, at each wave, all participants were imaged with a T1 3D fast-field echo sequence on a 1.5T scanner of the same type. Some scanner/protocol changes occurred between assessments and to control for variance owing to these changes the volumetric data were orthogonalized with respect to a scanner covariate, as described elsewhere (Shaw et al., 2016a,b; Fraser et al., 2018).

#### **BrainAGE**

As described previously (Franke et al., 2010), pre-processing of the T1-weighted images was done using the SPM8 package<sup>1</sup> and the VBM8 toolbox<sup>2</sup>, running under MATLAB. All T1-weighted images were corrected for bias-field inhomogeneities, then spatially normalized and segmented into gray matter, white matter, and cerebrospinal fluid within the same generative model

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>http://www.fil.ion.ucl.ac.uk/spm

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>http://dbm.neuro.uni-jena.de

(Ashburner and Friston, 2005). The gray matter images were spatially normalized using an affine registration and smoothed with a 4-mm full-width-at-half-maximum kernel and resampled to a spatial resolution of 4 mm.

The BrainAGE framework, which has been extensively described and validated elsewhere, and used to investigate other clinical conditions (Franke et al., 2010; Luders et al., 2016; Cole et al., 2019; Franke and Gaser, 2019), was applied to the processed gray matter images. Briefly, this approach comprises three analytical steps, including data reduction, training of the algorithm, and estimation of BrainAGE. Data reduction is achieved through principal component analysis (PCA) as many MRI scan voxels are highly correlated and provide redundant information, and because using PCA has been shown to produce more sensitive measures of brain health than approaches which do not apply a data reduction step (Franke et al., 2010). The purpose of the training step, which is based on a machine learning pattern recognition method, specifically relevance vector regression (RVR; Tipping, 2001), is to identify the most accurate predictive statistical model. The BrainAGE algorithm was trained using 2,601 images from the PATH study spanning the ages of 44-76 years, since participants were randomly selected from the population in this study this sample provides the best reference for this investigation. Finally, individual BrainAGE scores are estimated by using a leave-one-out approach cross-validation. The individual BrainAGE estimate produced represents a deviation in years from chronological age. A BrainAGE of 0 means that a person's brain appears to be the same age as their chronological age. In contrast, a negative BrainAGE indicates that a brain appears younger, and a positive BrainAGE indicates that a brain appears older than the person's chronological age. "The Spider" package<sup>3</sup>, a freely available toolbox running under MATLAB, was used to train the BrainAGE estimation model as well as to predict individual brain ages. Finally, the shared variance between chronological age and the estimated brain age measure was removed using a regression approach to ensure the final BrainAge measure was not correlated with chronological age.

## **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analyses were computed using the R statistical package (version 3.2). Group differences (gender and age group) were tested using Chi-square tests for categorical data and *t*-tests for continuous variables. Mixed-effects analyses were conducted to test the association between BP (MAP, DBP and SBP) and BrainAGE while controlling for age and sex (base model) as well as for education, diabetes mellitus, BMI, smoking, depression, physical activity, alcohol intake, and *APOE*  $\varepsilon 4$  genotype (fully adjusted model). Anti-hypertensive medication effects were tested based on treatment status at each assessment. To clarify the effects of time and the effects of the cohort, age was decomposed into two variables: time in study (years from baseline) and cohort (the 40s or 60s).

# RESULTS

Participants' demographic measures are presented in **Table 1**. MA had, on average, a higher education level than OA, but had a lower DBP, SBP and also was less likely to be hypertensive, be on hypertension medications, or to have diabetes. Across the whole cohort, men had a higher education level, SBP and DBP, undertook more physical activity, and were more likely to be hypertensive than women.

# **BrainAGE Characteristics**

Group- and wave-specific BrainAGE are reported in **Supplementary Table 2**. The Pearson correlation between BrainAGE and chronological age was -0.037 (p = 0.09), and the mean absolute deviation of measurement between these measures was 1.26 years. Together this indicates that BrainAGE indexed brain features unrelated to chronological age. On average, BrainAGE did not differ between OA (range -13.19-16.24 years) and MA (range -11.50-16.23 years), where a lower value indicates a "younger" and a higher value an "older" appearing brain compared to chronological age. However, on average, women had a lower BrainAGE than males by almost 10 months (female mean = -0.55 years, male = 0.26 years, p < 0.01).

# **Blood Pressure Characteristics**

The mean, systolic and diastolic blood pressures (**Table 1**) were significantly higher in OA compared to MA (5%, 9%, 2% respectively), and in men compared to women (5.9% for all measures). While more than 28% of MA and more than 61% of OA were hypertensive, only 9% of MA and 30% of OA reported taking anti-hypertensive medication. There were 64 MA and 19 OA participants who presented with optimal BP (DBP < 75 and SBP < 115), of whom seven were on anti-hypertensive medication (MA: 2; OA: 5). A progressive increase in BP was observed over the follow-up (MAP = 0.8 mmHg/year, SD = 0.92; SBP = 1.41 mmHg/year, SD = 1.49; DBP = 0.61 mmHg/year, SD = 0.78). MA experienced a 5% greater increase in MAP and a 28% greater increase in DBP than OA, while OA experienced a 24% greater increase in SBP.

# Associations Between Blood Pressure and BrainAGE

Associations between BrainAGE and mean, diastolic and systolic BP are presented in **Figure 2**. None of the analyses revealed an interaction between BP and Time-in-Study or a random effect of blood pressure on BrainAGE indicating that a change in BrainAGE over time was not predicted by baseline BP or by a change of BP over time (**Supplementary Table 2**). Therefore, only fixed effects are reported below.

# MAP, SBP, and DBP

In fully adjusted models, fixed effects indicated that every 1 mmHg higher MAP over 90 was significantly associated with just under a week (6.57 days) greater BrainAGE (**Figure 2A, Table 2, Supplementary Table 3**) indicative of older-appearing brains.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>https://people.kyb.tuebingen.mpg.de/spider

TABLE 1   Participants' demographic characteristics.	ographic characteristics.						
Measures	Whole sample ( <i>n</i> = 686)	40s ( <i>n</i> = 335)	60s ( <i>n</i> = 351)	$t/\chi^2$ test ( $p$ value)	Males ( <i>n</i> = 352)	Females ( <i>n</i> = 334)	$t/\chi^2$ test (p value)
Age, years (SD)	55.28 (8.04)	47.18 (1.36)	63.01 (1.42)	-149.07 (<0.001)*	55.65 (8.06)	54.89 (8.00)	1.24 (0.214)
Education, years (SD)	14.49 (2.49)	14.89 (2.24)	14.11 (2.65)	4.19 (<0.001)*	14.85 (2.37)	14.11 (2.55)	3.93 (<0.001)*
Total years in study (SD)	11.51 (1.68)	11.53 (1.66)	11.50 (1.70)	0.03 (0.97)	11.34 (1.74)	11.59 (1.60)	-1.94 (0.05)
SBP, mmHg (SD)	131.80 (18.24)	125.41 (16.83)	137.90 (17.45)	-9.54 (<0.001)*	135.72 (16.58)	127.68 (19.02)	5.89 (<0.001)*
DBP, mmHg (SD)	81.70 (10.02)	80.83 (9.89)	82.53 (10.09)	-2.23 (0.026)*	84.15 (9.92)	79.13 (9.47)	6.78 (<0.001)*
MAP, mmHg (SD)	98.40 (11.83)	95.69 (11.57)	100.99 (11.51)	-6.01 (<0.001)*	101.34 (11.13)	95.31 (11.77)	6.89 (<0.001)*
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup> (SD)	26.91 (4.43)	27.22 (4.61)	26.61 (4.23)	1.79 (0.074)	27.10 (3.82)	26.70 (4.98)	1.18 (0.240)
Physical activity, METs/day	39.15 (34.95)	37.79 (31.78)	40.44 (37.72)	-1.00 (0.319)	44.92 (37.78)	33.07 (30.58)	4.53 (<0.001)*
Smoker, <i>n</i> (%)	305 (44.46%)	154 (45.97%)	151 (43.02%)	0.49 (0.484)	138 (41.32%)	167 (47.44%)	2.36 (0.124)
Hypertension, <i>n</i> (%)	306 (44.61%)	93 (27.76%)	213 (60.68%)	73.86 (<0.001)*	117 (50.02%)	113 (33.83%)	24.92 (<0.001)*
BP Med, <i>n</i> (%)	133 (19.39%)	29 (8.66%)	104 (29.63%)	46.91 (<0.001)*	61 (18.26%)	72 (20.45%)	0.40 (0.529)
Diabetes, n (%)	86 (12.54%)	21 (6.27%)	65 (18.52%)	22.35 (<0.001)*	40 (11.98%)	46 (13.07%)	0.10 (0.752)
APOE $\varepsilon 4$ , $n$ (%)	204 (29.74%)	101 (30.15%)	103 (29.34%)	0.02 (0.883)	94 (28.14%)	110 (31.25%)	0.65 (0.420)
Note. * indicates significance at $p < 0.05$ .	o < 0.05.						

In fully adjusted models, fixed effects indicated that every 1 mmHg higher SBP over 114 was significantly associated with 5.11 days older brains (Figure 2B, Table 2, Supplementary Table 4).

In fully adjusted models, fixed effects indicated that every 1 mmHg higher SBP over 74 was significantly associated with 5.11 days older brains (Figure 2C, Table 2, Supplementary Table 5).

#### **Optimal BP**

Individuals with an optimal BP (MBP < 90, SBP < 115, DBP < 75) had a significantly lower BrainAGE than those who did not have an optimal BP (mean -0.45 vs. 0.3 years at baseline, and in mixed-effects models b = -0.4895% CI [-0.843, -0.119], p < 0.001). However, no significant difference in BrainAGE was detected when analyses were stratified by age groups (i.e., MA and OA analyzed separately).

#### Hypertension

After controlling for age and sex, the association between BP and BrainAGE did not significantly differ between those who were or were not hypertensive (MAP  $\times$  hypertension status interaction b = 0.013 95% CI [-0.010, 0.037]). Limiting the sample to those with hypertension only, there were no significant differences in BrainAGE between those who were and were not on antihypertensive medication (mean -0.08 vs. 0.22 years, b = -0.042,95% CI [-0.420, 0.336]) when considering treatment at each wave.

#### **Sensitivity Analyses**

There were no significant interactions between MAP and sex, hypertension, or APOE  $\varepsilon 4$  carrier status (Figure 2, Supplementary Tables 3-5). The significant relationship between MAP and BrainAGE remained significant in most subgroup analyses (MA only vs. OA only, women only vs. men only, APOE  $\varepsilon 4$  carriers only vs. non-carriers only). In subgroup analysis based on hypertension status (not hypertensive, medicated hypertension, un-medicated hypertension) MAP continued to be positively associated with BrainAGE, but only reached significance in individuals with un-medicated hypertension. This pattern was broadly similar for DBP and SPB as predictors of BrainAGE (Figure 2, Supplementary Tables 3-5).

#### DISCUSSION

The main findings of this study were that all BP measures were associated with older BrainAGE, that these associations were stronger in men than women, and were not only detected in hypertensive individuals but across the whole BP range, with individuals with optimal blood pressure presenting with the lowest BrainAGE.

It is notable that associations were very similar between all BP measures and BrainAGE, with every 1-mmHg increase above optimal thresholds being associated with a 5-7 day increase in BrainAge. On first appearance, these effect sizes may seem trivial. However, when considered for typically observed differences in



BP between individuals in good cardiovascular health compared to those who are pre-hypertensive or above, their magnitude stands out. Indeed, compared to an individual with optimal blood pressure (e.g., 110/70), an individual with pre-hypertension (e.g., 135/85) would be predicted to have a brain more than 6 months older. Although, larger age deviations (up to 6.7 years) have been detected in Alzheimer's disease (Franke and Gaser, 2012), an average difference of 6 months has high relevance as it can serve as an additional risk marker, which if combined with other risk factors, may be predictive of premature conversion to dementia. However, more longitudinal and mechanistic evidence is required to determine the extent to which BrainAGE is a risk factor for future cognitive decline.

Importantly, these effects were not uniquely driven by some extreme cases with poorly or un-controlled hypertension because sensitivity analyses showed similar associations between BP and BrainAGE in those who were normotensive, treated hypertensive, or untreated hypertensive indicating that a consistent effect was detected across the whole BP range.

As previously reported in the literature (Luders et al., 2016), women in this cohort had a lower BrainAGE than men indicating that their brains appeared on average almost 10 months younger than those of men. The underlying reasons for this effect are not completely clear. However, it is likely that differences in cardiovascular health between men and women, which are frequently reported in the literature (Cherbuin

et al., 2015), contributed substantially to this difference. Indeed, 48% more men were hypertensive compared to women in this study. Moreover, the interaction between sex and blood pressure was not significant in regression analyses, suggesting that blood pressure was the likely underlying reason for the initial sex difference.

A particularly important finding is that the association between BP (all measures) and BrainAGE was not substantially different between middle-aged and older individuals. This indicates that the negative impact of elevated blood pressure on the brain do not emerge in old age but rather progressively across the lifespan. Although the present study did not investigate young adults, the fact that associations between BP and brain are already detectable in early middle-age suggests that these effects start developing in the 30s or younger. Emerging evidence suggests that this is indeed the case. For example, Shaare and Colleagues (Schaare et al., 2019) have recently shown that moderately elevated BP ( $\geq$ 120/80) in 19–40 year-olds was associated with smaller gray matter volume. It is therefore imperative that greater preventative efforts be directed at this population.

#### Benefits of the BrainAGE Methodology

Given the relative complexity of the BrainAGE method, one might reasonably ask whether its use is justified since other more typical methods such as regional brain volumes could perhaps

#### TABLE 2 | Mixed-effects model results.

	Mean arter	rial pressure	Systolic blo	ood pressure	Diastolic blo	od pressure
	Base model	Controlled model	Base model	Controlled model	Base model	Controlled model
Mean arterial pressure	0.019***	0.018***	0.015***	0.014***	0.016**	0.014*
	(0.009, 0.028)	(0.008, 0.029)	(0.008, 0.021)	(0.007, 0.021)	(0.005, 0.027)	(0.002, 0.026)
Time in study (years)	0.035***	0.037***	0.026**	0.029**	0.041***	0.041***
	(0.017, 0.054)	(0.017, 0.057)	(0.008, 0.044)	(0.009, 0.049)	(0.023, 0.059)	(0.020, 0.062)
Cohort (OA relative to MA)	-0.402	-0.565	-0.536	-0.667*	-0.322	-0.521
	(-0.968, 0.164)	(-1.157, 0.026)	(-1.107, 0.035)	(-1.261, -0.072)	(-0.888, 0.244)	(-1.114, 0.072)
Sex (Female relative to Male)	-0.837**	-0.775**	-0.840**	-0.788**	-0.858**	-0.800**
	(-1.402, -0.272)	(-1.357, -0.193)	(-1.405, -0.274)	(-1.370, -0.205)	(-1.423, -0.292)	(-1.381, -0.220)
APOE $\varepsilon 4$ carriers (relative to non-carriers)		-0.079		-0.085		-0.072
		(-0.693, 0.535)		(-0.701, 0.530)		(-0.686, 0.543)
Unmedicated hypertension only		-0.01		0.004		0.017
		(-0.283, 0.263)		(-0.266, 0.275)		(-0.254, 0.289)
Non-hypertensive only		-0.04		0.012		-0.106
		(-0.378, 0.299)		(-0.329, 0.354)		(-0.437, 0.224)
Constant	0.073	-0.51	0.15	-0.45	0.163	-0.308
	(-0.451, 0.598)	(- 2.722, 1.702)	(-0.368, 0.669)	(- 2.661, 1.761)	(-0.358, 0.683)	(- 2.490, 1.874)
Random effects intercept	3.633	3.615	3.641	3.622	3.636	3.616
	(3.427, 3.839)	(3.394, 3.803)	(3.435, 3.847)	(3.401, 3.811)	(3.430, 3.842)	(3.397, 3.867)
Random effects residual	1.590	1.593	1.584	1.589	1.592	1.595
	(1.531, 1.650)	(1.529, 1.647)	(1.526, 1.643)	(1.526, 1.644)	(1.534, 1.652)	(1.532, 1.649)
Observations	2,070	2,070	2,085	2,070	2,085	2,080
Log Likelihood	-4,860.409	-4,870.309	-4,887.345	-4,868.801	-4,893.34	-4,892.469
Akaike Inf. Crit.	9,734.818	9,784.618	9,788.691	9,781.602	9,800.679	9,826.939
Bayesian Inf. Crit.	9,774.265	9,908.595	9,828.189	9,905.579	9,840.177	9,945.381

Note. \*indicates significance at p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001. Rounded brackets include 95% confidence intervals. Controlled models include education, diabetes mellitus, BMI, smoking, depression, physical activity, alcohol intake, and APOE ε4 genotype (coefficients not reported).

be more easily used and/or explained instead. The conceptual benefits of the BrainAGE methodology-including its lack of assumption of which brain regions might be most affected and its capacity to integrate a variety of mechanisms reflecting brain integrity and not just atrophy-have already been highlighted in the introduction. In addition, the BrainAGE methodology might be particularly useful in detecting subtle, diffuse effects in young to middle-age population in which relatively low levels of atrophy and therefore low variability between individuals is observed. But perhaps as important is that BrainAGE might be easier to communicate to scientifically less informed individuals. How meaningful is it to communicate to a patient that if lifestyle modifications are not embraced now to keep their BP in a healthy range their hippocampus might shrink by an additional 1%? In contrast, being able to explain that without adequate action their brain is likely to age faster such that they may acquire a dementia diagnosis 6 months earlier than they otherwise would, might send a clearer and more potent message. This issue may be even more important in communicating with younger generations who appear to be more health-conscious but might be more responsive to more proximal health messages.

## **Policy and Population Health Implication**

These findings support the view that maintaining blood pressure in an optimal range (SBP < 115, DBP < 75) across the lifespan starting before mid-life (i.e., in early adulthood and before) is essential to maintain good cerebral health. The premature brain ageing associated with pre-hypertension compared to optimal blood pressure (~6 months) is likely to be associated with a very large additional burden of disease and economic costs as it is expected to directly lead to a corresponding early dementia onset, all other factors being equal.

# Limitations

This study had a number of strengths and limitations. It investigated a large longitudinal neuroimaging sample of individuals randomly drawn from the population whose age covered a period of more than three decades. BP was objectively measured, and analyses contrasted different components (SBP, DBP, MAP) while also considering the impact of clinical hypertension, anti-hypertensive medication, and variation across the whole BP range. Importantly, this study applied a stateof-the-art method to assess cerebral health without limiting a priori what MRI information should or could contribute to this evaluation. However, limitations included the lack of data for early adulthood, the known sub-optimal precision of brachial measurements, the possible impact of other factors not measured and accounted for in the present analyses, and the punctual nature of the assessments. In addition, while the investigation of middle-age and older-age participants was a strength, some cohort differences may have explained, at least in part, differences in findings between these groups. For example, education was significantly different between age groups. However, this difference was small in the context of a well-educated population (average >14 years of education) and fully adjusted models including education and many other covariates did not produce substantially different findings. Similarly, while the proportion of participants with higher BMI and diabetes was higher in older participants, fully controlled analyses were adjusted for these factors. Furthermore, sensitivity analyses conducted separately in middle-aged and older participants demonstrated consistent associations between BP and BrainAGE in the two age groups. Thus, it is unlikely that these differences explain the present results. Finally, BMI was computed on a self-report of weight and height and may not have been completely accurate. However, a previous study including 608 older adults has investigated the accuracy of self-reports for these measures and found that while self-report overestimated height (1.24 cm) and underestimated weight (0.55 kg) and BMI (0.56 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), there were strong correlations (>0.95) between measured and reported data and excellent agreement between BMI categories was observed (Ng et al., 2011).

In conclusion, the present findings show that elevated BP is associated with a relatively consistent decrease in BrainAGE across middle-age and into old age which may be indicative of worsening brain health. While much is known about the risk factors leading to elevated blood pressure and ensuing hypertension, future research is required to investigate how best to prevent exposure to these factors in early to mid-adulthood. It is also critical that such findings inform policy more effectively and are communicated widely to the population.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because data sharing is constrained by study governance and participants' consent, however it will be made available on request for the purpose of reviewing the methodology used. Data may be made available for other purposes but this is subject to formal study data sharing processes available through the authors. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to nicolas.cherbuin@anu.edu.au.

# **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The study was reviewed and approved by the Australian National University Ethics Committee and the ACT Health Human Research Ethics Committee. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

NC contributed to the design of the study and to statistical analyses, and managed all aspects of manuscript preparation and submission. EW and CG provided theoretical expertise, contributed to data preparation and statistical analyses, and contributed to writing and editing the manuscript. MS provided theoretical expertise, conducted part of the neuroimaging analyses, and contributed to writing and editing the manuscript. EL, KA, PS, and WA provided theoretical expertise and contributed to writing and editing the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

The study was supported by NHMRC grants 973302, 179805, 157125, 1063907, 568969; ARC grant 120100227; and the ACT Private Practice Fund.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to Anthony Jorm, Helen Christensen, Simon Easteal, Keith Dear, Bryan Rogers, Peter Butterworth,

## REFERENCES

- Alateeq, K., Walsh, E. I., and Cherbuin, N. (2021). Higher blood pressure is associated with greater white matter lesions and brain atrophy: a systematic review with meta-analysis. J. Clin. Med. 10:637. doi: 10.3390/jcm10040637
- Anstey, K. J., Christensen, H., Butterworth, P., Easteal, S., Mackinnon, A., Jacomb, T., et al. (2012). Cohort profile: the PATH through life project. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 41, 951–960. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyr025
- Ashburner, J., and Friston, K. J. (2005). Unified segmentation. Neuroimage 26, 839–851. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2005.02.018
- Baecker, L., Dafflon, J., da Costa, P. F., Garcia-Dias, R., Vieira, S., Scarpazza, C., et al. (2021). Brain age prediction: a comparison between machine learning models using region- and voxel-based morphometric data. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 42, 2332–2346. doi: 10.1002/hbm.25368
- Beheshti, I., Mishra, S., Sone, D., Khanna, P., and Matsuda, H. (2020). T1-weighted MRI-driven brain age estimation in Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease. Aging Dis. 11, 618–628. doi: 10.14336/AD.2019.0617
- Bittner, N., Jockwitz, C., Franke, K., Gaser, C., Moebus, S., Bayen, U. J., et al. (2021). When your brain looks older than expected: combined lifestyle risk and BrainAGE. *Brain Struct. Funct.* 226, 621–645. doi: 10.1007/s00429-020 -02184-6
- Cherbuin, N., Mortby, M. E., Janke, A. L., Sachdev, P. S., Abhayaratna, W. P., and Anstey, K. J. (2015). Blood pressure, brain structure and cognition: opposite associations in men and women. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 28, 225–231. doi: 10.1093/ajh/hpu120
- Cherbuin, N., Walsh, E., Baune, B. T., and Anstey, K. J. (2019). Oxidative stress, inflammation and risk of neurodegeneration in a population sample. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 26, 1347–1354. doi: 10.1111/ene.13985
- Cole, J. H., Franke, K., and Cherbuin, N. (2019). "Quantification of the biological age of the brain using neuroimaging," in *Biomarkers of Human Aging. Healthy Ageing and Longevity, (Vol. 10)*, ed A. Moskalev (Cham: Springer International Publishing), 293–328. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-24970-0\_19
- Cole, J. H., Raffel, J., Friede, T., Eshaghi, A., Brownlee, W. J., Chard, D., et al. (2020). Longitudinal assessment of multiple sclerosis with the brain-age paradigm. *Ann. Neurol.* 88, 93–105. doi: 10.1002/ana.25746
- Egan, B. M., and Stevens-Fabry, S. (2015). Prehypertension—prevalence, health risks and management strategies. *Nat. Rev. Cardiol.* 12, 289–300. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2015.17
- Egorova, N., Liem, F., Hachinski, V., and Brodtmann, A. (2019). Predicted brain age after stroke. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 11:348. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2019. 00348
- Elliott, M. L., Belsky, D. W., Knodt, A. R., Ireland, D., Melzer, T. R., Poulton, R., et al. (2019). Brain-age in midlife is associated with accelerated biological aging and cognitive decline in a longitudinal birth cohort. *Mol. Psychiatry* doi: 10.1038/s41380-019-0626-7. [Online ahead of Print].
- Franke, K., and Gaser, C. (2012). Longitudinal changes in individual BrainAGE in healthy aging, mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *GeroPsych*. 25, 235–245. doi: 10.1024/1662-9647/a000074
- Franke, K., and Gaser, C. (2019). Ten years of BrainAGE as a neuroimaging biomarker of brain aging: what insights have we gained? *Front. Neurol.* 10:789. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00789
- Franke, K., Gaser, C., Manor, B., and Novak, V. (2013). Advanced BrainAGE in older adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 5:90. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2013.00090

Andrew McKinnon, and the PATH Team. This research was partly undertaken on the National Computational Infrastructure (NCI) facility in Canberra, Australia, which is supported by the Australian Commonwealth Government.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIALS

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnagi.2021.6949 82/full#supplementary-material.

- Franke, K., Gaser, C., Roseboom, T. J., Schwab, M., and de Rooij, S. R. (2018). Premature brain aging in humans exposed to maternal nutrient restriction during early gestation. *Neuroimage* 173, 460–471. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage. 2017.10.047
- Franke, K., Ristow, M., and Gaser, C. (2014). Gender-specific impact of personal health parameters on individual brain aging in cognitively unimpaired elderly subjects. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 6:94. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014. 00094
- Franke, K., Ziegler, G., Kloppel, S., and Gaser, C. (2010). Estimating the age of healthy subjects from T1-weighted MRI scans using kernel methods: exploring the influence of various parameters. *Neuroimage* 50, 883–892. doi: 10.1016/j. neuroimage.2010.01.005
- Fraser, M. A., Shaw, M. E., Anstey, K. J., and Cherbuin, N. (2018). Longitudinal assessment of hippocampal atrophy in midlife and early old age: contrasting manual tracing and semi-automated segmentation (FreeSurfer). *Brain Topogr.* 31, 949–962. doi: 10.1007/s10548-018-0659-2
- Gaser, C., Franke, K., Klöppel, S., Koutsouleris, N., Sauer, H., and Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative (2013). BrainAGE in mild cognitive impaired patients: predicting the conversion to Alzheimer's disease. *PLoS One* 8:e67346. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0067346
- Goldberg, D., Bridges, K., Duncan-Jones, P., and Grayson, D. (1988). Detecting anxiety and depression in general medical settings. *BMJ* 297, 897–899. doi: 10.1136/bmj.297.6653.897
- Huang, Y., Wang, S., Cai, X., Mai, W., Hu, Y., Tang, H., et al. (2013). Prehypertension and incidence of cardiovascular disease: a meta-analysis. *BMC Med.* 11:177. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-11-177
- Leitschuh, M., Cupples, L. A., Kannel, W., Gagnon, D., and Chobanian, A. (1991). High-normal blood pressure progression to hypertension in the Framingham Heart Study. *Hypertension* 17, 22–27. doi: 10.1161/01.hyp.17.1.22
- Li, J., Somers, V. K., Gao, X., Chen, Z., Ju, J., Lin, Q., et al. (2021). Evaluation of optimal diastolic blood pressure range among adults with treated systolic blood pressure less than 130 mm Hg. *JAMA Netw. Open* 4:e2037554. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.37554
- Löwe, L., Gaser, C., and Franke, K. (2016). The effect of the APOE Genotype on individual BrainAGE in normal aging, mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *PLoS One* 11:e0157514. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0157514
- Luders, E., Cherbuin, N., and Gaser, C. (2016). Estimating brain age using high-resolution pattern recognition: younger brains in long-term meditation practitioners. *Neuroimage* 134, 508–513. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016. 04.007
- Meissner, A. (2016). Hypertension and the brain: a risk factor for more than heart disease. *Cerebrovasc. Dis.* 42, 255–262. doi: 10.1159/000446082
- Ng, S. P., Korda, R., Clements, M., Latz, I., Bauman, A., Bambrick, H., et al. (2011). Validity of self-reported height and weight and derived body mass index in middle-aged and elderly individuals in Australia. *Aust. N. Z. J. Public Health* 35, 557–563. doi: 10.1111/j.1753-6405.2011.00742.x
- Rahimi, K., Emdin Connor, A., and MacMahon, S. (2015). The epidemiology of blood pressure and its worldwide management. *Circ. Res.* 116, 925–936. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.304723
- Rapsomaniki, E., Timmis, A., George, J., Pujades-Rodriguez, M., Shah, A. D., Denaxas, S., et al. (2014). Blood pressure and incidence of twelve cardiovascular diseases: lifetime risks, healthy life-years lost and age-specific associations in 1.25 million people. *Lancet* 383, 1899–1911. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60685-1

- Satoh, M., Ohkubo, T., Asayama, K., Murakami, Y., Sugiyama, D., Yamada, M., et al. (2019). Lifetime risk of stroke and coronary heart disease deaths according to blood pressure level. *Hypertension* 73, 52–59. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.118.11635
- Schaare, H. L., Kharabian Masouleh, S., Beyer, F., Kumral, D., Uhlig, M., Reinelt, J. D., et al. (2019). Association of peripheral blood pressure with gray matter volume in 19- to 40-year-old adults. *Neurology* 92, e758–e773. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000006947
- Shaw, M. E., Abhayaratna, W. P., Sachdev, P. S., Anstey, K. J., and Cherbuin, N. (2016a). Cortical thinning at midlife: the PATH through life study. *Brain Topogr.* 29, 875–884. doi: 10.1007/s10548-016-0509-z
- Shaw, M. E., Sachdev, P. S., Anstey, K. J., and Cherbuin, N. (2016b). Age-related cortical thinning in cognitively healthy individuals in their 60s: the PATH through life study. *Neurobiol. Aging* 39, 202–209. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging. 2015.12.009
- Son, J. S., Choi, S., Kim, K., Kim, S. M., Choi, D., Lee, G., et al. (2018). Association of blood pressure classification in korean young adults according to the 2017 american college of cardiology/american heart association guidelines with subsequent cardiovascular disease eventscardiovascular disease rates among young korean adults by 2017 ACC/AHA hypertension guideline definitionscardiovascular disease rates among young korean adults by 2017 ACC/AHA hypertension guideline definitions. JAMA 320, 1783–1792. doi: 10.1001/jama.2018. 16501
- Tipping, M. E. (2001). Sparse bayesian learning and the relevance vector machine. J. Mach. Learn. Res. 1, 211–244. doi: 10.1162/15324430152748236

- Wang, J., Knol, M. J., Tiulpin, A., Dubost, F., de Bruijne, M., Vernooij, M. W., et al. (2019). Gray matter age prediction as a biomarker for risk of dementia. *Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci.* 116, 21213–21218. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1902 376116
- Wang, Z. T., Xu, W., Wang, H. F., Tan, L., Tan, C. C., Li, J. Q., et al. (2018). Blood pressure and the risk of dementia: a dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Curr. Neurovasc. Res.* 15, 345–358. doi: 10.2174/1567202616666181128114523

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Cherbuin, Walsh, Shaw, Luders, Anstey, Sachdev, Abhayaratna and Gaser. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Physically Active Lifestyle Is Associated With Attenuation of Hippocampal Dysfunction in Cognitively Intact Older Adults

Tamir Eisenstein<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Nir Giladi<sup>1,3,4</sup>, Talma Hendler<sup>1,2,4,5</sup>, Ofer Havakuk<sup>1,6</sup> and Yulia Lerner<sup>1,2,4</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Sackler Faculty of Medicine, Tel Aviv University, Tel Aviv, Israel, <sup>2</sup> Sagol Brain Institute, Tel Aviv Sourasky Medical Center, Tel Aviv, Israel, <sup>3</sup> Department of Neurology, Tel Aviv Sourasky Medical Center, Tel Aviv, Israel, <sup>4</sup> Sagol School of Neuroscience, Tel Aviv University, Tel Aviv, Israel, <sup>6</sup> School of Psychological Sciences, Tel Aviv University, Tel Aviv, Israel, <sup>6</sup> Department of Cardiology, Tel Aviv Sourasky Medical Center, Tel Aviv, Israel

Alterations in hippocampal function have been shown in older adults, which are expressed as changes in hippocampal activity and connectivity. While hippocampal activation during memory demands has been demonstrated to decrease with age, some older individuals present increased activity, or hyperactivity, of the hippocampus which is associated with increased neuropathology and poor memory function. In addition, lower functional coherence between the hippocampus and core hubs of the default mode network (DMN), namely, the posteromedial and medial prefrontal cortices, as well as increased local intrahippocampal connectivity, were also demonstrated in cognitively intact older adults. Aerobic exercise has been shown to elicit neuroprotective effects on hippocampal structure and vasculature in aging, and improvements in cardiorespiratory fitness have been suggested to mediate these exercise-related effects. However, how these lifestyle factors relate to hippocampal function is not clear. Fifty-two cognitively intact older adults (aged 65-80 years) have been recruited and divided into physically active (n = 29) or non-active (n = 23) groups based on their aerobic activity lifestyle habits. Participants underwent resting-state and task-based fMRI experiments which included an associative memory encoding paradigm followed by a post-scan memory recognition test. In addition, 44 participants also performed cardiopulmonary exercise tests to evaluate cardiorespiratory fitness by measuring peak oxygen consumption (Vo2peak). While both groups demonstrated increased anterior hippocampal activation during memory encoding, a physically active lifestyle was associated with significantly lower activity level and higher memory performance in the recognition task. In addition, the physically active group also demonstrated higher functional connectivity of the anterior and posterior hippocampi with the core hubs of the DMN and lower local intra-hippocampal connectivity within and between hemispheres. Vo2peak was negatively associated with the hippocampal activation level and demonstrated a positive correlation with hippocampal-DMN connectivity. According to these findings, an aerobically active lifestyle may be associated with attenuation of hippocampal dysfunction in cognitively intact older adults.

# OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Susanne Röhr, University Hospital Leipzig, Germany

#### Reviewed by:

Caterina Motta, Santa Lucia Foundation (IRCCS), Italy Joseph Michael Northey, University of Canberra, Australia

> \*Correspondence: Tamir Eisenstein tamire1@mail.tau.ac.il

Received: 05 June 2021 Accepted: 12 August 2021 Published: 06 October 2021

#### Citation:

Eisenstein T, Giladi N, Hendler T, Havakuk O and Lerner Y (2021) Physically Active Lifestyle Is Associated With Attenuation of Hippocampal Dysfunction in Cognitively Intact Older Adults. Front. Aging Neurosci. 13:720990. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.720990

Keywords: hippocampus, aerobic exercise, neuroimaging, memory, functional connectivity

# INTRODUCTION

Episodic memory, the ability to encode, consolidate, and retrieve past experiences and events, is one of the most affected cognitive abilities during aging (Nyberg et al., 2012). The hippocampus is a brain region that plays a key role in episodic memory processes (Squire and Zola-Morgan, 1991; Squire and Wixted, 2011; Insausti et al., 2013), through anatomical and functional interactions with cortical and subcortical regions across the brain (Ranganath and Ritchey, 2012; Cooper and Ritchey, 2019). The hippocampus presents distinct structural and functional connections along its longitudinal axis with its anterior part being more connected to anterior temporal and ventromedial prefrontal regions and its posterior part more linked to posteriormedial cortices and hubs of the default mode network (DMN) such as the posterior cingulate cortex (Ranganath and Ritchey, 2012). Moreover, from a cognitive perspective, the anterior hippocampus has been shown to be more associated with memory encoding while its posterior part has been more related to retrieval (Grady, 2020).

Older adults have been demonstrated to exhibit age-related alterations in hippocampal function. Hippocampal activity patterns during memory demands have been shown to generally decrease with age (Mormino et al., 2012; Ta et al., 2012; Nyberg et al., 2019). Furthermore, this age-related hypoactivity pattern was suggested to be region and process selective, affecting more pronouncedly the anterior part of the hippocampus during encoding (Ta et al., 2012; Nyberg et al., 2019). However, some older individuals demonstrate abnormally increased hippocampal activation during memory encoding and retrieval compared with both old and younger counterparts, also referred to as hippocampal hyperactivity. In addition, although this phenomenon has been observed in both healthy aging and prodromal stages of Alzheimer's disease (AD), such as mild cognitive impairment (MCI), it is not clear whether this activity pattern represents a compensatory effect or a dysfunctional pathological consequence.

While increased hippocampal activity or hyperactivity has been generally demonstrated to be associated with poorer neurobiological and cognitive outcomes in cognitively healthy older adults, it has been both negatively and positively linked with cognitive and clinical outcomes in patients with MCI (Kircher et al., 2007; Clement and Belleville, 2010; Bakker et al., 2012; Huijbers et al., 2015; Eisenstein et al., 2020). For example, increased left hippocampal activation during memory encoding in MCI was correlated with better memory performance and cognitive-clinical status in some studies (Kircher et al., 2007; Clement and Belleville, 2010), while others found it to be associated with poorer memory performance and increased A $\beta$ burden (Bakker et al., 2012; Huijbers et al., 2015).

In addition to altered activation levels, changes in the restingstate functional connectivity of the hippocampus have also been documented to take place during aging. The hippocampus constitutes a part of the medial temporal subsystem of the DMN and is functionally and anatomically connected with regions comprising this network (Andrews-Hanna et al., 2010). However, the study suggests that with increasing age, the hippocampal activity becomes less coherent with the activity of distant brain regions such as major hubs of the DMN including the posteromedial and medial prefrontal cortices (or decreased hippocampal-DMN resting-state functional connectivity) and more locally connected within itself (or increased intrahippocampal resting-state functional connectivity) (Salami et al., 2014; Damoiseaux et al., 2016; Harrison et al., 2019). Furthermore, this increased local connectivity was found to be associated with increased AD pathology burden in distinct memory networks and poorer episodic memory performance.

While neurobiological alterations have been well documented in the hippocampus during aging, several lifestyle factors have been proposed to attenuate this age-related deterioration, one of which is physical activity. The physically active lifestyle has been associated with the prevention of cognitive decline and the risk of AD and dementia (Rovio et al., 2005; Larson et al., 2006; Andel et al., 2008). Aerobic exercise has been associated with hippocampal neuroprotective effects in both animal models (van Praag et al., 1999, 2005; Vaynman et al., 2004; Bednarczyk et al., 2009; Van der Borght et al., 2009) and healthy human subjects (Erickson et al., 2011; Maass et al., 2015; Kleemeyer et al., 2016). However, studies examining the effect of physical exercise on the hippocampus in older adults had largely focused on structural characteristics, and to our knowledge, no previous work had focused specifically on the relationship between the aerobically active lifestyle and hippocampal function in human aging.

Several factors have been suggested to potentially mediate the effects of aerobic exercise on the brain. Peak oxygen consumption (Vo<sub>2</sub>peak) is perhaps the most studied physiological correlate of aerobic/cardiorespiratory fitness in this context, and it reflects the peak metabolic rate of the body in generating adenosine triphosphate molecules through aerobic metabolism (Wilmore et al., 2008). Previous studies that demonstrated neuroprotective effects of aerobic exercise intervention in older adults also found favorable structural and cerebrovascular hippocampal changes to correlate with improved Vo<sub>2</sub>peak (Erickson et al., 2011; Maass et al., 2015; Kleemeyer et al., 2016). However, to our knowledge, no study to date specifically examined the relationship between Vo<sub>2</sub>peak and age-related hippocampal dysfunction patterns.

This study aimed to address this gap by investigating the relationship between aerobic exercise and hippocampal function of lifestyle during both resting-state and active memory demands in cognitively intact older adults. In addition, we aimed to examine whether the extent of these trends may be associated with the level of Vo2peak. We first aimed to examine the activity levels of the anterior hippocampus during the associative memory encoding task, since this hippocampal subpart has been shown to be more involved in memory encoding processing (Grady, 2020). The associative memory paradigm was chosen as this form of episodic memory has been shown to be highly sensitive to aging compared with item memory and relies greatly on hippocampal function (Old and Naveh-Benjamin, 2008). Then, we aimed to investigate both remote and local restingstate functional connectivity patterns of both anterior and posterior hippocampal subparts. Distant hippocampal restingstate functional connectivity was examined with the two core hubs of the DMN, i.e., the posteromedial and medial prefrontal

cortices (hippocampal-DMN), and intra-hippocampal restingstate functional connectivity patterns were examined between bilateral anterior and posterior hippocampi. We then examined whether physically active individuals may demonstrate distinct patterns of hippocampal activity and functional connectivity compared with sedentary individuals, and whether it may explain differences in memory performance between the two groups. Finally, we investigated the correlations between Vo2peak and all hippocampal and memory measures. According to the previous findings in the literature, we hypothesized that physically active older adults will demonstrate lower anterior hippocampal activity during memory encoding, higher memory performance, higher distant functional connectivity with the cortical DMN hubs, and lower within hippocampal functional correlation. In accordance, we hypothesized that Vo2peak, as a potential mediator of aerobic exercise, will demonstrate dose-response correlations with hippocampal function and memory measures in the same directions as physically active lifestyle.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

# **Participants**

Fifty-two older adults aged 65-80 years were recruited for this study (22 women/30 men). All participants were recruited from the community via an online advert on the Israeli Ministry of Health research website, social media, and by "word-of-mouth." Participants were fluent Hebrew speakers and reported no current or previous neuropsychiatric disorders (e.g., Parkinson's disease, brain tumor, head injury, transient memory loss, stroke, subjective cognitive/memory decline, psychosis, bipolar disorder, and depressive symptoms) or any other current significant uncontrolled and unbalanced medical illness (e.g., cardiac or vascular disease, hypertension, type II diabetes, cancer, and autoimmune syndromes). Nine participants reported being diagnosed with hypertension; however, they were included in this study since their blood pressure was controlled and balanced. This study was approved by the Human Studies Committee of Tel Aviv Sourasky Medical Center (TASMC), and all participants provided written informed consent to participate in this study.

# Assessment of Aerobic Activity Lifestyle Habits

The current aerobically active lifestyle of participants was assessed using a background interview that examined background characteristics and the physical exercise habits of the participants during the last year. The interview was administered face-to-face on the first assessment day. Specifically, participants were asked regarding the amount of weekly exercise-oriented activity sessions of some types of aerobic exercises (i.e., walking, running, cycling, swimming, elliptical/cross-training gym machines, etc.) or "How often during the week did you participate in leisure time aerobic activity for the purpose of sporting or exercise that lasts at least 20 min in the passing year?" Then, based on their reported activity patterns, the participants were divided into two groups, namely, active (n = 29) and non-active (n = 23). Frequency of twice-a-week or higher was set as the cutoff for active lifestyle based on previous methodologies

(Rovio et al., 2005, 2010), findings (Liu-Ambrose et al., 2012), and recommendations (Voelcker-Rehage et al., 2010; Petersen et al., 2018). In addition, since we used a subjective measure of physical activity, using a cutoff of several times per week may help to decrease potential information bias from the reports of participants on their true activity levels. Also, regarding the potential of self-selection bias of volunteering in this study, it is important to note that the fraction of the active group out of the whole sample (56%) was similar to a recent report on the aerobically active lifestyle habits among older adults in the areal county from which participants were recruited (53.5% who reported being active) (Central Bureau of Statistics of Israel, 2021).

# Vo<sub>2</sub>Peak Measurement

Out of 52 participants, 44 participants (16 women/28 men) also underwent a graded maximal cardiopulmonary exercise test performed on a cycle ergometer (Ergoselect 100, Ergoline, GmBH, Germany) to evaluate Vo2peak. Assessments were conducted at the Non-Invasive Cardiology Outpatient Clinic at TASMC. Tests were performed using a metabolic cart (ZAN, nSpire Health Inc., Longmont, Colorado) while continuously measuring breath-by-breath minute ventilation, carbon dioxide production (Vco<sub>2</sub>), oxygen consumption (Vo<sub>2</sub>), and respiratory exchange ratio (RER). In addition, a 12-lead electrocardiograph, non-invasive arterial saturation, heart rate, and blood pressure were monitored continuously. All tests were supervised by a cardiologist and an exercise physiologist. An automated computerized ramp protocol was used to increase the exercise intensity by 10 W/min for women and 15 W/min for men, while participants were asked to maintain a constant velocity of 60 revolutions per minute. All tests were performed until volitional exhaustion, and no adverse events or medical symptoms were reported. An RER value of  $\geq 1.1$  was used as the indication for a satisfactory effort level during test (Balady et al., 2010) and was demonstrated in all examinations. Plateau in Vo2 was not evident in any participant; therefore, the highest Vo2 demonstrated in each test was considered as a Vo2peak. The highest average Vo<sub>2</sub> value recorded during an intensity interval (2/2.5 W increment for women and men, respectively) was considered as the Vo2peak value obtained from the procedure and that was used in further analyses.

#### Experimental Procedure and Stimuli Inside the MRI Scanner

A face-name associative memory encoding task based on the classic paradigm by Sperling et al. (2001, 2003) was used to evaluate the hippocampal function. During scanning, participants were shown novel images of non-famous faces, each face paired with a fictional name (**Figure 1A**). Participants were asked to memorize which name was coupled with each face and to subjectively decide (by pressing a button) whether the name "fits" or not to the face. This subjective decision has been shown to enhance associative encoding (Sperling et al., 2003). Participants performed one run of a block-design pictureviewing paradigm consisted of 8 blocks with 4 faces presented in



each block (overall 32 faces). Between blocks and consecutive inblock images, participants were shown "resting" fixation blocks of a white cross in the middle of a black background. Before the scanning session, participants underwent a familiarization practice with the task to minimize novel task learning effects which could bias the neurocognitive outcome. Each stimuli block lasted for 21 s, while the overall run lasted 5:06 min.

# Outside the Scanner–Memory Performance Evaluation

Following the acquisition phase in the scanner, participants performed a two-alternative forced-choice recognition task. During the task, participants were shown images of all 32 faces presented during the encoding task and were asked to decide between two options which name was paired with each face (**Figure 1B**). The scores on the task were later used as the measure of memory performance.

# **MRI Data Acquisition**

MRI scanning was performed at TASMC on a 3 T Siemens system (MAGNETOM Prisma, Germany). High resolution, anatomical T1-weighted images (voxel size =  $1 \times 1 \times 1$  mm) were acquired with a magnetization prepared rapid acquisition gradient-echo protocol with 176 contiguous slices using the following parameters: field of view (FOV) = 256 mm; matrix size = 256 × 192; repetition time (TR) = 1,740 ms; echo time (TE) = 2.74 ms, inversion time (TI) = 976 ms, flip angle (FA) = 8°. These anatomical volumes were used for structural segmentation and co-registration with functional images. Blood oxygenation level-dependent functional MRI was acquired with T2\*-weighted imaging. The memory encoding task was conducted using the following parameters: 102 TRs of 3,000 ms each; TE = 35 ms; FA = 90°; FOV = 220 mm; matrix size = 96 × 96; 44 slices, size = 2.3 × 2.3 × 3 mm, no gap (5:06 min run). The resting-state run was carried out with the same parameters with 120 TRs (6:00 min run).

To minimize head movements, the head of participants was stabilized with foam padding. MRI-compatible headphones (OPTOACTIVEtm) were used to considerably attenuate the scanner noise and communicate with the participants during the session. Designated software (Presentation<sup>®</sup>, Neurobehavioral Systems) was used for the presentation of visual stimuli.

# Functional MRI Analysis

## Hippocampal Activation

The fMRI analysis was carried out using the FEAT tool in FMRIB's Software Library 6.00 (FSL, www.fmrib.ox.ac.uk/fsl). The first five TRs of the functional data were discarded to allow steady-state magnetization. Registration of the functional data to the high-resolution structural images was carried out using boundary-based registration algorithm (Greve and Fischl, 2009). Registration of high-resolution structural to standard space (MNI152) was carried out using FLIRT (Jenkinson and Smith, 2001; Jenkinson et al., 2002) and then further refined using FNIRT non-linear registration. Motion correction of functional data was carried out using MCFLIRT (Jenkinson et al., 2002), brain removal using BET (Smith, 2002), spatial smoothing using a Gaussian kernel of 5-mm FWHM, grandmean intensity normalization of the entire 4D dataset by using a single multiplicative factor, and high-pass temporal filtering was performed with a Gaussian-weighted least-squares straightline fitting with a cutoff period of 100 s. Time-series statistical analysis (pre-whitening) was carried out using FILM with local autocorrelation correction (Woolrich et al., 2001). A first-level task regressor of interest was defined and convolved using the block onset times with a double-gamma hemodynamic response function and a temporal derivative regressor of the task timing. In addition, 24 nuisance motion regressors were added to each first-level model and included 6 standard motion parameters

(i.e., 3 rotations and 3 translations), their temporal derivatives, and squares of all the above. Moreover, volumes with excessive head motion (predetermined as frame-wise-displacement value > 0.9 mm) were scrubbed by adding an additional regressor for each volume to be removed. The participants were removed and excluded from the group analysis if they had 30% or more of their volumes scrubbed out (one participant from the non-active group). Z statistic images were thresholded non-parametrically using clusters determined by Z > 3.1 and a corrected cluster significance threshold of p = 0.05. Group-level analysis was carried out using FLAME (FMRIB's Local Analysis of Mixed Effects) stage 1 (Beckmann et al., 2003; Woolrich et al., 2004; Woolrich, 2008). Group-level Z statistic images were thresholded non-parametrically using clusters determined by Z > 2.3 and a corrected cluster significance threshold of p = 0.05. Another participant from the non-active group did not go through the encoding run. The mean activation patterns observed during the encoding task of the entire sample were used to identify anterior hippocampal regions which demonstrated increased activity during the task. Then, a mask was created for these regions (for each hemisphere) by masking the activation map with anatomical anterior hippocampal masks from https://neurovault. org/collections/3731/ based on the study by Ritchey et al. (2015; Figure 2A). Then, we used the Featquery tool of FSL, which enables the interrogation of FEAT results within a specific mask, to extract the parameter estimates from the bilateral anterior hippocampal regions activated during the task. The parameter estimate values were then used to examine the differences in activation levels between the groups.

#### Hippocampal Resting-State Functional Connectivity

Resting-state functional connectivity was carried out using the functional connectivity toolbox CONN v.19c (nitrc.org/projects/conn). Preprocessing included discarding the first five TRs to allow steady-state magnetization. Functional images were slice-time corrected, realigned to the middle volume, motion-corrected, and normalized to the standard MNI152 space. Spatial smoothing was performed using a 5-mm FWHM Gaussian kernel. To reduce noise, functional volumes were band-pass filtered at 0.008-0.15, and the component-based method (CompCor) was used to extract noise signals (e.g., white matter, cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), and movement artifact) that were used as nuisance regressors to denoise the data. In addition, images that were regarded as movement outliers were regressed out. Movement outlier volumes were detected using the ART toolbox (nitrc.org/projects/artifact\_detect/) and defined as volumes with a movement >0.9 mm or signal intensity changes >5 SD. These volumes were also used as nuisance regressors at the denoising step. No participant demonstrated more than 30% of removed volumes. One participant from the active group did not go through the resting-state run. Remote functional connectivity of the anterior and posterior hippocampi with the main hubs of the DMN was examined by creating specific masks of these regions of interest. Anterior and posterior hippocampal masks were again created from https://neurovault. org/collections/3731/ (Figure 3A). To create the DMN masks, we used a deactivation contrast in the memory encoding task



to elicit areas demonstrating decreased activity during the task (Supplementary Table 1). The two main and larger clusters revealed from this analysis were anatomically corresponding to the posteromedial and medial prefrontal cortices and were used to create the masks for the hippocampal-DMN analyses. The mean z-transformed correlation value between each pair of these eight areas was then used to examine differences in hippocampal-DMN functional connectivity between the groups. Intra-hippocampal resting-state connectivity was examined in two ways. First, we computed the z-transformed correlation between the time series of bilateral anterior hippocampi and bilateral posterior hippocampi. Second, we calculated the local correlation within each hemispheric anterior or posterior region using the local correlation implemented in CONN. This index represents a measure of local coherence at each voxel, characterized by the strength and sign of connectivity between a given voxel and the neighboring regions in the brain (Deshpande et al., 2009). We used a 6-mm kernel for the Gaussian weighting function characterizing the size of the local neighborhoods.

# **General Cognitive Evaluation**

All participants were evaluated for general cognitive functioning and were screened for objective general cognitive decline using the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) (Oren et al., 2015).



**FIGURE 3** Between-group differences in hippocampal resting-state local correlation **(A)** and between-hemisphere anterior and posterior hippocampal resting-state functional connectivity **(B)**. The top row demonstrates the anterior (green) and posterior (red) hippocampal masks used in the analyses. Horizontal lines in between-group plots represent 25, 50, and 75% quantiles. B, bilateral; aHC, anterior hippocampus; pHC, posterior hippocampus.

# **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analyses and visualizations were performed and constructed using IBM SPSS Statistics Version 24.0 (Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.) and R Version 4.0.3 (R Core Team, Vienna, Austria; https://www.R-project.org/). Between-group differences were tested using non-parametric permutation testing. These procedures were conducted with 10,000 iterations, permuting each hippocampal or memory measure, and preserving the original group sizes. Then, the observed between-group mean difference in each measure was compared with all betweengroup differences obtained from the permuted null distribution. The *p*-values were determined as the probability of getting equal or greater between-group differences based on the null distribution. Correlations between Vo2peak and hippocampal and memory measures were evaluated using non-parametric

partial Spearman's rank correlations controlling for age, sex, and years of education. Since the implemented recognition task has no well-established norms, a linear regression was used to create standardized residuals of the memory scores controlled for age, sex, and education, which was used as the memory performance measure for further analyses. In addition, since the local correlation of bilateral anterior or posterior hippocampi was highly correlated between the homologous regions, we used the average local correlation value of the bilateral anterior/posterior hippocampal regions for further analyses. Between-group differences in continuous background characteristics (i.e., age, education, and MoCA) were evaluated using the Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney U-test. Between-group differences in the proportions between males and females, marital status, smoking status, and hypertension diagnosis were assessed using the chi-squared test. As only two participants reported being currently smoking, we characterized the participants as "current or past smokers" and "non-smokers." *p*-values of hippocampal-DMN connectivity between-group tests and correlations (8 tests each) were corrected for multiple comparisons using the false discovery rate (FDR) method (Benjamini and Hochberg, 1995).

# RESULTS

# **Study Participants**

The active and non-active groups were not statistically different in any background characteristics, including years of education, general cognitive functioning, smoking status, and hypertension diagnosis (p > 0.05; **Table 1**).

# Aerobic Exercise Habits and Vo<sub>2</sub>Peak Characteristics

The report of study participants of weekly aerobic activity ranged from being completely sedentary (not engaging in exerciseoriented activities, n = 18) to 6 days per week (n = 3). Seventeen participants reported exercising 3 times per week. Exercising on a single day (n = 5), twice a week (n = 3), 4 times per week (n = 4), and 5 times (n = 2) were also reported. The active group demonstrated statistically significant higher weekly frequency of exercise sessions and Vo<sub>2</sub>peak values (**Table 2**).

#### Hippocampal Activation Between-Group Differences

Whole-brain analysis of all participants revealed bilateral anterior hippocampal activation during the associative memory encoding task (**Figure 2A**). Both groups demonstrated a positive mean activation level in both right and left anterior hippocampi during the task. However, the active group activation levels were significantly lower compared with the non-active group (right anterior hippocampus:  $0.09 \pm 0.31$  vs.  $0.38 \pm 0.31$ , p = 0.002; left anterior hippocampus:  $0.13 \pm 0.31$  vs.  $0.33 \pm 0.32$ , p = 0.027; **Figure 2B**).

#### Association With Vo<sub>2</sub>Peak

In accordance with the between-group results, higher  $Vo_2peak$  was negatively correlated with both right and left anterior

TABLE 1 | General socio-demographic and cognitive characteristics of participants (means  $\pm$  SD).

Variable	Whole sample	Aerobically active	Non-Active	Between-Group
	(n = 52)	(n = 29)	(n = 23)	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years)	$70.83 \pm 3.9$	70.34 ± 4.0	$71.43 \pm 3.7$	0.247
Sex (female/male)	22/30	11/18	11/1	0.473
Education (years)	$15.84 \pm 3.3$	$16.17 \pm 3.7$	$15.41 \pm 2.8$	0.644
Marital status (married/unmarried)	45/7	26/3	19/4	0.460
Smoking (current or past smokers/non-smokers)	25/27	14/15	11/12	0.974
Hypertension (diagnosed/undiagnosed)	9/43	3/26	6/17	0.136
MoCA (raw score)	$24.81 \pm 2.5$	$25.13 \pm 2.2$	$24.39\pm2.8$	0.349

MoCA, Montreal Cognitive Assessment; SD, standard deviation.

**TABLE 2** | Aerobic activity and fitness characteristics of participants (means  $\pm$  SD).

Variable	Whole sample $(n = 52)$	Aerobically active $(n = 29)$	Non-Active (n = 23)	Between-Group <i>p</i> -value
Aerobic exercise (d/week)	$2.04 \pm 1.8$	3.48 ± 1.1	0.22 ±.4	<0.001
Vo2peak (ml/kg/min)	$25.25\pm8.3$	$30.58 \pm 6.2$	$18.86 \pm 3.8$	<0.001

d/week, days per week; kg, kilogram; min, minute; ml, milliliter; SD, standard deviation; Vo2peak, peak oxygen consumption.

hippocampal activation levels during the memory encoding task [r(38) = -0.439, p = 0.004 and r(38) = -0.334, p = 0.031, respectively] (Figures 4A,B).

#### Distant Hippocampal Resting-State Functional Connectivity Between-Group Differences

Whole-brain analysis of deactivation contrast during memory encoding revealed several clusters of areas demonstrating decreased activity which are usually attributed to the DMN (Supplementary Table 1). The two main and larger clusters observed corresponded to the posteromedial and medial prefrontal cortices, which were used as the regions of interest for the hippocampal-DMN resting-state functional connectivity analysis (Figure 5). In turn, between-group analysis revealed both the left and right posterior hippocampi to demonstrate higher functional connectivity with the posteromedial cortex in the physically active group compared with the non-active group (left posterior hippocampus: 21  $\pm$  0.14 vs. 0.09  $\pm$  0.16, p = 0.009, pFDR = 0.026; right posterior hippocampus: 23  $\pm$  $0.16 \text{ vs.} 0.11 \pm 0.17$ , p = 0.007, pFDR = 0.055; Figures 5A,B). In addition, the aerobically active group demonstrated higher functional connectivity between the right anterior hippocampus and both DMN hubs (posteromedial: 0.15  $\pm$  0.13 vs. 0.04  $\pm$ 0.15, p = 0.009, pFDR = 0.037; medial prefrontal: 21  $\pm$  0.17 vs.  $0.10 \pm 0.15$ , p = 0.023, pFDR = 0.046; Figures 5C,D). All other hippocampal-DMN regional connectivity values were not different between the groups (p > 0.40).

#### Association With Vo<sub>2</sub>Peak

Higher  $Vo_2peak$  was found to demonstrate a moderate positive correlation with the connectivity strength of the left posterior

hippocampus and the posteromedial cortex [r(38) = 0.415, p = 0.004, pFDR = 0.064; **Figure 4C**] and a weak-to-moderate positive correlation with the connectivity strength of the right posterior hippocampus and the posteromedial cortex which demonstrated a trend toward statistical significance before multiple testing correction [r(38) = 0.282, p = 0.078, pFDR = 0.312; **Figure 4D**]. All other hippocampal-DMN connectivity values demonstrated weak to negligible correlations.

#### Local Hippocampal Resting-State Functional Connectivity Between-Group Differences

The active group demonstrated lower resting-state local correlation in both anterior and posterior hippocampi, but only the anterior hippocampus reached a trend for statistical significance (anterior:  $0.103 \pm 0.011$  vs.  $0.108 \pm 0.011$ , p = 0.080; posterior:  $0.092 \pm 0.010$  vs.  $0.094 \pm 0.009$ , p = 0.287; **Figure 3A**). In addition, the resting-state connectivity of the bilateral posterior hippocampus was lower in the active group compared with the non-active group ( $0.37 \pm 0.14$  vs.  $0.47 \pm 0.22$ , p = 0.051). No difference was found between the bilateral anterior hippocampus connectivity across the groups ( $0.43 \pm 0.14$  vs.  $0.47 \pm 0.17$ , p = 0.446; **Figure 3B**).

#### Association With Vo<sub>2</sub>Peak

Peak oxygen consumption (Vo<sub>2</sub>peak) demonstrated weak correlations with anterior and posterior intra-hippocampal local correlations [r(38) = -0.232, p = 0.150 for both regions] and with inter-hemispheric hippocampal connectivity [anterior: r(38) = 0.089, p = 0.585; posterior: r(38) = -0.166, p = 0.305].



FIGURE 4 | Associations between Vo<sub>2</sub>peak and hippocampal function. Correlations between Vo<sub>2</sub>peak and right (A) and left (B) anterior hippocampal activity during memory encoding and with the connectivity strength of the left (C) and right (D) posterior hippocampi connectivity with the posteromedial cortex are presented. All correlations are adjusted for age, sex, and education. L/RaHC, left/right anterior hippocampus; L/RpHC, left/right posterior hippocampus; PMC, posteromedial cortex; Vo<sub>2</sub>peak, peak oxygen consumption.



FIGURE 5 | Between-group differences in resting-state functional connectivity of the posterior (A,B) and anterior (C,D) hippocampi with the posteromedial and medial prefrontal cortical clusters which demonstrated decreased activity during the memory encoding paradigm. The top row demonstrates the DMN clusters of interest. Horizontal lines in between-group plots represent 25, 50, and 75% quantiles. aHC, anterior hippocampus; pHC, posterior hippocampus; mPFC, medial prefrontal cortex; PMC, posteromedial cortex; L, left; R, right.

## Memory Performance and Relationship With Hippocampal Activation During the Task

Between-group analysis revealed a statistically significant difference between the groups with the active group demonstrating higher performance on the memory recognition task compared with the non-active group (residual score 0.24  $\pm$  0.95 vs.  $-0.30 \pm 0.93$ , p = 0.043; **Figure 6A**). In addition, higher

Vo<sub>2</sub>peak was positively associated with higher performance in the recognition task [r(39) = 0.354, p = 0.023; **Figure 6B**]. No correlation was found between anterior hippocampal activity level and memory performance on the whole sample level in both right [Spearman rho(45) = -0.139, p = 0.350] and left [Spearman rho(45) = -0.199, p = 0.180] hippocampi while controlling for age, sex, and education, or when examined separately within each group for the active [right: Spearman rho(24) = 0.009, p = 0.967, left: Spearman rho(24) = 0.009, p



= 0.964] and non-active [right: Spearman rho(16) = 0.156, p = 0.536, left: Spearman rho(16) = -0.261, p = 0.296] groups.

## DISCUSSION

As aging has been demonstrated to be associated with compromised brain structure and function (Raz et al., 2005; Mormino et al., 2012; Nobis et al., 2019; Nyberg et al., 2019), a study has been conducted to investigate lifestyle factors that may attenuate this deterioration with advanced age (Akbaraly et al., 2009; Foubert-Samier et al., 2012). Physical exercise, aerobic in particular, has been associated with a reduced risk of cognitive decline and dementia (Rovio et al., 2005) and hippocampal resilience in older adults (Erickson et al., 2011; Maass et al., 2015; Sexton et al., 2016). However, studies investigating the neuroprotective relationship between physical activity and hippocampus have been mainly focusing on hippocampal structure (Sexton et al., 2016) and to a lesser extent on hippocampal cerebrovascular properties (Zimmerman et al., 2014; Maass et al., 2015). This study aimed to broaden this line of research by investigating the relationship between aerobically active lifestyle and hippocampal function in cognitively intact older adults using both resting-state and task-based fMRI experiments. In addition, we aimed to examine whether Vo<sub>2</sub>peak, a potential mediator of aerobic exercise effects, may be associated with hippocampal functional characteristics in a dose-response manner.

While anterior hippocampal activity patterns during memory encoding have been generally demonstrated to exhibit age-related decline, some older individuals have been shown to exhibit increased hippocampal activity, or hyperactivity, exceeding values demonstrated in even younger counterparts. In this study, both active and non-active groups demonstrated increased bilateral anterior hippocampal activation during the associative memory task. However, the non-active group demonstrated a significantly higher activity level compared with the active group, with this difference being more pronounced in the right anterior hippocampus. In accordance with this trend,  $Vo_2$ peak was also negatively correlated with bilateral anterior hippocampus activation level. Mormino et al. (2012) found

successful episodic memory encoding to be associated with right hippocampal hyperactivity in cognitively normal older adults with high  $A\beta$  burden compared with young adults and older adults without significant AD pathology. While not reporting on the specific relationship between the hippocampal hyperactivity and post-task memory performance, they demonstrated that the general increase in brain activity observed in the high-risk participants was associated with favorable memory performance, suggesting for a compensatory mechanism as being previously shown in patients with amnestic MCI (Dickerson et al., 2005; Eisenstein et al., 2020). However, this explanation was ruled out in the current cognitively intact sample, since the increased hippocampal activity was not associated with better memory performance in each group separately or at the whole sample level. In fact, previous studies supported the possibility that increased hippocampal activity may reflect an aberrant dysfunctional activity pattern. Nyberg et al. (2019) found older adults exhibiting right anterior hippocampal hyperactivity to demonstrate lower memory performance, higher genetic risk of AD, and higher incidence of deteriorating to dementia at follow-up. Leal et al. (2017) found increased right hippocampal activity during memory encoding to be associated with longitudinal accumulation of AB several years later, which in turn was associated with steeper memory decline. Importantly, this association was not demonstrated for other cortical areas demonstrating increased activity prior to followup. Hippocampal hyperactivity during different types of memory encoding tasks was also shown to be associated with increased tau pathology and lower memory performance in cognitively normal older adults (Berron et al., 2019; Huijbers et al., 2019). Further, the study supporting the potential link between AD pathology and hippocampal hyperactivity comes from the findings in genetic models of the disease. Aberrant hyper-excitatory activity in the hippocampus is a consistent finding in animal models of AD (Palop et al., 2007; Haberman et al., 2017), whereas young adults carrying the mutation for the familial subtype of AD have been repeatedly demonstrating right anterior hippocampal hyperactivity during memory encoding compared with noncarrier controls (Quiroz et al., 2010; Reiman et al., 2012). Furthermore, increased hippocampal activity during memory encoding has also been shown in young individuals at risk for late-onset sporadic AD, i.e., APOE ɛ4 carriers (Filippini et al., 2009; Dennis et al., 2010). The observed relationship between hippocampal hyperactivity and Aß accumulation may be a reflection of a vicious neuropathological cycle in which over-excitatory neurons drive local AB aggregation, which, in turn, further increases neuronal excitability levels (Palop et al., 2007; Bero et al., 2011). While aerobic exercise has been repeatedly demonstrated to be associated with a lower risk of AD and dementia (Rovio et al., 2005; Larson et al., 2006; Andel et al., 2008), a mechanism that may link aerobic exercise with hippocampal hyper-excitability and dysfunction attenuation in aging may lie in Aß metabolism. AD model mice demonstrated lower hippocampal amyloid plaque load following exercise intervention, with greater training intensity resulting in lower Aß burden (Thomas et al., 2020). Furthermore, evidence for increased glymphatic clearance of hippocampal amyloid plaques in aged mice was also demonstrated following a single session of aerobic exercise (He et al., 2017). A study in already diagnosed human patients with AD did not find the aerobic intervention to affect AB levels; however, the late clinical stage of the participants on the AD continuum, the relatively short duration of the intervention, and significantly higher A $\beta$  levels in the exercise group at baseline may account for the lack of interventional efficacy observed in this study (Frederiksen et al., 2019). In addition, while normal hippocampal function requires a balance between excitation and inhibition, abnormal hippocampal excitation in pathological aging has also been linked to GABAergic inhibitory dysfunction (Hazra et al., 2013; Tong et al., 2014). Aerobic exercise, in turn, has been demonstrated to induce neuroprotective inhibitory modulation in the hippocampus of hyper-excitatory epileptic rats (Lim et al., 2015; Barzroodi Pour et al., 2019). This, in turn, suggests another potential neurobiological mechanism that may underlie the relationship between aerobic exercise and attenuated hippocampal hyperactivity observed in this study.

The second primary finding in this study is the differences observed in hippocampal resting-state connectivity between the groups. Namely, aerobically active lifestyle (and to a lesser extent Vo2peak) was found to be associated with higher distant hippocampal functional connectivity with core hubs of the DMN, i.e., the posteromedial and medial prefrontal cortices and with lower local intra-hippocampal connectivity. The hippocampus is a part of the medial temporal subsystem of the DMN (Andrews-Hanna et al., 2010), and these regions have been shown to functionally cooperate in cortico-hippocampal memory networks (Ranganath and Ritchey, 2012; Cooper and Ritchey, 2019). Previous studies demonstrated decreased cortico-hippocampal connectivity in healthy older adults. While Damoiseaux et al. (2016) found only the posterior hippocampus to demonstrate an age-related decline in functional connectivity with the DMN, Salami et al. (2014) demonstrated this agerelated effect to occur in both anterior and posterior hippocampal subparts, and that higher connectivity values were positively correlated with episodic memory performance. We found a link between the physically active lifestyle and higher connectivity of the bilateral posterior hippocampus with the posteromedial cortex while also higher connectivity of the right anterior hippocampus with both posteromedial and medial prefrontal cortices. In addition to higher distant connectivity, the active group in our study also demonstrated a trend toward lower intrahippocampal connectivity expressed as lower local correlations within the anterior hippocampus and between the posterior hippocampi across the two hemispheres. Higher withinand between-hippocampus correlations have been previously demonstrated with increasing age, negatively correlating with memory performance, and load of AD pathology (Salami et al., 2014; Harrison et al., 2019). Harrison et al. (2019) further demonstrated that increased local within hippocampal correlation, represented by higher regional homogeneity, was associated with decreased cortico-hippocampal connectivity, suggesting that both age and AD pathology may be associated with increasing hippocampal functional disconnection and isolation. In contrast, our findings provide evidence that aerobic activity and physically active lifestyle may constitute a neuroprotective factor in face of this aspect of hippocampal

dysfunction. In turn, these results extend previous studies which demonstrated a relationship between physical activity and increased DMN connectivity (Voss et al., 2010; Boraxbekk et al., 2016). Reduced functional connectivity of the DMN is associated not only with aging (Salami et al., 2014) but also with early biomarkers of AD pathology, as being highly sensitive regions to early Aß accumulation (Palmqvist et al., 2017). Given the evidence pointing at the potential role that aerobic activity may have in increasing the glymphatic removal of AB deposition from the interstitial space, it may underlie, at least partially, the observed relationship with higher functional connectivity of the two core hubs of DMN with the hippocampus. In addition, one of the hallmarks of exercise-induced mechanisms observed in animal models is the upregulation of brain and hippocampal brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (Oliff et al., 1998; Vaynman et al., 2004; Berchtold et al., 2005). Among its versatile functions, BDNF promotes neurite outgrowth and synaptogenesis, plays a significant role in synaptic plasticity, and is involved in learning and memory processes (Binder and Scharfman, 2004; Leal et al., 2015). In human older adults, increased serum levels of BDNF were associated with increased parahippocampal functional connectivity following 1 year of aerobic intervention, supporting the potential role of BDNF as a neurobiological mediator of exercise-induced changes in brain function (Voss et al., 2013). It is important to note that although Vo<sub>2</sub>peak was associated with some of the hippocampal measures we examined in this study, it did not explain all the betweengroup differences observed, especially in terms of distant and local hippocampal connectivity. Although it may support a potential mediating role of Vo2peak in some of the exerciserelated hippocampal function effects, it also suggests that other potential mechanisms play a role in mediating this relationship.

This study adds evidence regarding the functional neuroprotective potential of aerobic exercise which is in line with previous models that aim to explain neurocognitive differences in older adults. The ability to successfully perform a cognitive task while recruiting less neural resources, or increased neural efficiency, has been suggested to constitute a mechanism, which may underlie the superior cognitive performance observed in some older individuals compared with others (Barulli and Stern, 2013). Increased neural efficiency has been previously shown to be associated with favorable cognitive performance in aging (Steffener et al., 2011; Hakun et al., 2015) and was also demonstrated to be expressed in healthy older adults compared with neurodegenerative patients (Sole-Padulles et al., 2009). In this study, since the physically active group also demonstrated higher memory performance, in addition to the observed lower hippocampal activation, these findings may suggest that these individuals may be able to use more efficiently hippocampal resources in order to cope with memory demands.

## **Study Limitations**

The main limitation of this study lies in its cross-sectional nature. Although previous evidence from animal models and human participants support the observed relationship between aerobic exercise and hippocampal function from a neurobiological mechanistic point of view, we cannot state that the physically active lifestyle is, in fact, the causal mediator of the attenuation in hippocampal dysfunction observed in the current sample of cognitively intact older adults. Instead, these results should serve as a starting point for future longitudinal and interventional studies that are needed to explore the time-dependency between aerobic exercise and functional adaptations of the hippocampus in human aging and to establish a causal effect. Another issue that should be kept in mind is that other factors that have not been evaluated in this study could potentially contribute to the explanation of the relationship observed. These include, but are not limited to, differences in genetic background and latent pathological processes. Although we excluded participants with unbalanced medical conditions, this population is prone to agerelated pathologies, and it is possible that at least some of the included participants had ongoing pathological processes that are still not symptomatically expressed and therefore they were not aware of.

## CONCLUSION

While the relationship between physical activity and hippocampal function in human aging has been sparsely investigated, this study provides evidence for a potential relationship between lifestyle habits of aerobic exercise and attenuation of different aspects of hippocampal dysfunction, normally observed in older individuals, namely alteration in patterns of hippocampal activity and connectivity. By that, the current research extends previous studies demonstrating the relationship between physical activity and aging brain in general and specifically the neuroprotective effect of aerobic exercise on the aged hippocampus. In addition, our results suggest that although Vo<sub>2</sub>peak may be associated with some aspects of hippocampal function in older adults, other factors may also contribute to the relationship between aerobic exercise and distinct hippocampal functions.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Due to medical confidentiality and since participants did not consent to having their data publicly published, the unidentified data (e.g., data spreadsheet) and code that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author without undue reservation.

# REFERENCES

- Akbaraly, T. N., Portet, F., Fustinoni, S., Dartigues, J. F., Artero, S., Rouaud, O., et al. (2009). Leisure activities and the risk of dementia in the elderly: results from the Three-City study. *Neurology* 73, 854–861. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181b7849b
- Andel, R., Crowe, M., Pedersen, N. L., Fratiglioni, L., Johansson, B., and Gatz, M. (2008). Physical exercise at midlife and risk of dementia three decades later: a population-based study of Swedish twins. *J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.* 63, 62–66. doi: 10.1093/gerona/63.1.62
- Andrews-Hanna, J. R., Reidler, J. S., Sepulcre, J., Poulin, R., and Buckner, R. L. (2010). Functional-Anatomic fractionation of the brain's default network. *Neuron* 65, 550–562. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2010.02.005

# ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Human Studies Committee of Tel Aviv Sourasky Medical Center. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

TE: conceptualization, investigation, methodology, software, formal analysis, writing—original draft, writing—review & editing, project administration, and visualization. NG: supervision and conceptualization. TH: resources and funding acquisition. OH: project administration. YL: conceptualization, methodology, supervision, writing—review & editing, project administration, resources, and funding acquisition. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

This study has been funded from the grant of the Israel Science Foundation (ISF) provided to YL (Grant No. 1573/18) and the financial support of the Sagol Family Foundation for Brain Research provided to Sagol Brain Institute. The funding sources were not involved in the conduction of the research.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Prof. Dafna Ben Bashat for her consultation during the research process. We thank Dr. Moran Artzi for the help with planning the acquisition sequences and Prof. Yuval Nir for his thoughtful advice. We also thank Dr. Avraham Man for his assistance with conducting the cardiopulmonary testing. This manuscript has been previously uploaded to bioRxiv (Eisenstein et al., 2021).

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnagi. 2021.720990/full#supplementary-material

- Bakker, A., Krauss, G. L., Albert, M. S., Speck, C. L., Jones, L. R., Stark, C. E., et al. (2012). Reduction of hippocampal hyperactivity improves cognition in amnestic mild cognitive impairment. *Neuron* 74, 467–474. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2012.03.023
- Balady, G. J., Arena, R., Sietsema, K., Myers, J., Coke, L., Fletcher, G. F., et al. (2010). Clinician's guide to cardiopulmonary exercise testing in adults: a scientific statement from the American heart association. *Circulation* 122, 191–225. doi: 10.1161/CIR.0b013e3181e52e69
- Barulli, D., and Stern, Y. (2013). Efficiency, capacity, compensation, maintenance, plasticity: emerging concepts in cognitive reserve. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 17, 502–509. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2013.08.012
- Barzroodi Pour, M., Bayat, M., Golab, F., Eftekharzadeh, M., Katebi, M., Soleimani, M., et al. (2019). The effect of exercise on GABA signaling

pathway in the model of chemically induced seizures. *Life Sci.* 232:116667. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2019.116667

- Beckmann, C. F., Jenkinson, M., and Smith, S. M. (2003). General multilevel linear modeling for group analysis in FMRI. *Neuroimage* 20, 1052–1063. doi: 10.1016/S1053-8119(03)00435-X
- Bednarczyk, M. R., Aumont, A., Decary, S., Bergeron, R., and Fernandes, K. J. (2009). Prolonged voluntary wheel-running stimulates neural precursors in the hippocampus and forebrain of adult CD1 mice. *Hippocampus* 19, 913–927. doi: 10.1002/hipo.20621
- Benjamini, Y., and Hochberg, Y. (1995). Controlling the false discovery rate: a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. J. R. Stat. Soc. Ser. B 57, 289–300. doi: 10.1111/j.2517-6161.1995.tb02031.x
- Berchtold, N. C., Chinn, G., Chou, M., Kesslak, J. P., and Cotman, C. W. (2005). Exercise primes a molecular memory for brain-derived neurotrophic factor protein induction in the rat hippocampus. *Neuroscience* 133, 853–861. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2005.03.026
- Bero, A. W., Yan, P., Roh, J. H., Cirrito, J. R., Stewart, F. R., Raichle, M. E., et al. (2011). Neuronal activity regulates the regional vulnerability to amyloid-β deposition. *Nat. Neurosci.* 14, 750–756. doi: 10.1038/nn.2801
- Berron, D., Cardenas-Blanco, A., Bittner, D., Metzger, C. D., Spottke, A., Heneka, M. T., et al. (2019). Higher CSF tau levels are related to hippocampal hyperactivity and object mnemonic discrimination in older adults. *J. Neurosci.* 39, 8788–8797. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1279-19.2019
- Binder, D. K., and Scharfman, H. E. (2004). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor. *Growth Fact.* 22, 123–131. doi: 10.1080/089771904100017 23308
- Boraxbekk, C. J., Salami, A., Wahlin, A., and Nyberg, L. (2016). Physical activity over a decade modifies age-related decline in perfusion, gray matter volume, and functional connectivity of the posterior defaultmode network-A multimodal approach. *Neuroimage* 131, 133–141. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.12.010
- Central Bureau of Statistics of Israel. (2021). *The Socio-Demongraphic Survey: Health and Lifestyle 2017*. Available online at: https://surveys.cbs.gov.il/Survey/ survey.htm
- Clement, F., and Belleville, S. (2010). Compensation and disease severity on the memory-related activations in mild cognitive impairment. *Biol. Psychiatry* 68, 894–902. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.02.004
- Cooper, R. A., and Ritchey, M. (2019). Cortico-hippocampal network connections support the multidimensional quality of episodic memory. *Elife* 8:e45591. doi: 10.7554/eLife.45591
- Damoiseaux, J. S., Viviano, R. P., Yuan, P., and Raz, N. (2016). Differential effect of age on posterior and anterior hippocampal functional connectivity. *Neuroimage* 133, 468–476. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016. 03.047
- Dennis, N. A., Browndyke, J. N., Stokes, J., Need, A., Burke, J. R., Welsh-Bohmer, K. A., et al. (2010). Temporal lobe functional activity and connectivity in young adult APOE ε4 carriers. *Alzheimers Dement.* 6, 303–311. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2009.07.003
- Deshpande, G., LaConte, S., Peltier, S., and Hu, X. (2009). Integrated local correlation: a new measure of local coherence in fMRI data. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 30, 13–23. doi: 10.1002/hbm.20482
- Dickerson, B. C., Salat, D. H., Greve, D. N., Chua, E. F., Rand-Giovannetti, E., Rentz, D. M., et al. (2005). Increased hippocampal activation in mild cognitive impairment compared to normal aging and AD. *Neurology* 65, 404–411. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000171450.97464.49
- Eisenstein, T., Giladi, N., Hendler, T., Havakuk, O., and Lerner, Y. (2021). Physically active lifestyle is associated with attenuation of hippocampal dysfunction in healthy older adults. *bioRxiv* 2021.05.27.445934. doi: 10.1101/2021.05.27.445934
- Eisenstein, T., Yogev-Seligmann, G., Ash, E., Giladi, N., Sharon, H., Shapira-Lichter, I., et al. (2020). Maximal aerobic capacity is associated with hippocampal cognitive reserve in older adults with amnestic mild cognitive impairment. *Hippocampus.* 31, 305–320. doi: 10.1002/hipo. 23290
- Erickson, K. I., Voss, M. W., Prakash, R. S., Basak, C., Szabo, A., Chaddock, L., et al. (2011). Exercise training increases size of hippocampus and improves memory. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 3017–3022. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1015950108

- Filippini, N., MacIntosh, B. J., Hough, M. G., Goodwin, G. M., Frisoni, G. B., Smith, S. M., et al. (2009). Distinct patterns of brain activity in young carriers of the APOE–epsilon4 allele. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 7209–7214. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0811879106
- Foubert-Samier, A., Catheline, G., Amieva, H., Dilharreguy, B., Helmer, C., Allard, M., et al. (2012). Education, occupation, leisure activities, and brain reserve: a population-based study. *Neurobiol. Aging* 33, 423.e15–25. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2010.09.023
- Frederiksen, K. S., Madsen, K., Andersen, B. B., Beyer, N., Garde, E., Høgh, P., et al. (2019). Moderate- to high-intensity exercise does not modify cortical β-amyloid in Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement.* 5, 208–215. doi: 10.1016/j.trci.2019.04.006
- Grady, C. L. (2020). Meta-analytic and functional connectivity evidence from functional magnetic resonance imaging for an anterior to posterior gradient of function along the hippocampal axis. *Hippocampus* 30, 456–471. doi: 10.1002/hipo.23164
- Greve, D. N., and Fischl, B. (2009). Accurate and robust brain image alignment using boundary-based registration. *Neuroimage* 48, 63–72. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2009.06.060
- Haberman, R. P., Branch, A., and Gallagher, M. (2017). Targeting neural hyperactivity as a treatment to stem progression of late-onset Alzheimer's disease. *Neurother. J. Am. Soc. Exp. Neurother.* 14, 662–676. doi: 10.1007/s13311-017-0541-z
- Hakun, J. G., Zhu, Z., Johnson, N. F., and Gold, B. T. (2015). Evidence for reduced efficiency and successful compensation in older adults during task switching. *Cortex* 64, 352–362. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2014. 12.006
- Harrison, T. M., Maass, A., Adams, J. N., Du, R., Baker, S. L., and Jagust, W. J. (2019). Tau deposition is associated with functional isolation of the hippocampus in aging. *Nat. Commun.* 10:4900. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-12921-z
- Hazra, A., Gu, F., Aulakh, A., Berridge, C., Eriksen, J. L., and Ziburkus, J. (2013). Inhibitory neuron and hippocampal circuit dysfunction in an aged mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *PLoS ONE*. 8:e64318. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0064318
- He, X., Liu, D., Zhang, Q., Liang, F., Dai, G., Zeng, J., et al. (2017). Voluntary exercise promotes glymphatic clearance of amyloid beta and reduces the activation of astrocytes and microglia in aged mice. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 10:144. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2017.00144
- Huijbers, W., Mormino, E. C., Schultz, A. P., Wigman, S., Ward, A. M., Larvie, M., et al. (2015). Amyloid-beta deposition in mild cognitive impairment is associated with increased hippocampal activity, atrophy and clinical progression. *Brain* 138, 1023–1035. doi: 10.1093/brain/ awv007
- Huijbers, W., Schultz, A. P., Papp, K. V., LaPoint, M. R., Hanseeuw, B., Chhatwal, J. P., et al. (2019). Tau accumulation in clinically normal older adults is associated with hippocampal hyperactivity. *J. Neurosci.* 39, 548–556. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1397-18.2018
- Insausti, R., Annese, J., Amaral, D. G., and Squire, L. R. (2013). Human amnesia and the medial temporal lobe illuminated by neuropsychological and neurohistological findings for patient E.P. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, E1953–E1962. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1306244110
- Jenkinson, M., Bannister, P., Brady, M., and Smith, S. (2002). Improved optimization for the robust and accurate linear registration and motion correction of brain images. *Neuroimage* 17, 825–841. doi: 10.1006/nimg.2002.1132
- Jenkinson, M., and Smith, S. (2001). A global optimisation method for robust affine registration of brain images. *Med. Image Anal.* 5, 143–156. doi: 10.1016/S1361-8415(01)00036-6
- Kircher, T. T., Weis, S., Freymann, K., Erb, M., Jessen, F., Grodd, W., et al. (2007). Hippocampal activation in patients with mild cognitive impairment is necessary for successful memory encoding. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 78, 812–818. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2006.104877
- Kleemeyer, M. M., Kuhn, S., Prindle, J., Bodammer, N. C., Brechtel, L., Garthe, A., et al. (2016). Changes in fitness are associated with changes in hippocampal microstructure and hippocampal volume among older adults. *Neuroimage* 131, 155–161. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015.11.026

- Larson, E. B., Wang, L., Bowen, J. D., McCormick, W. C., Teri, L., Crane, P., et al. (2006). Exercise is associated with reduced risk for incident dementia among persons 65 years of age and older. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 144, 73–81. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-144-2-200601170-00004
- Leal, G., Afonso, P. M., Salazar, I. L., and Duarte, C. B. (2015). Regulation of hippocampal synaptic plasticity by BDNF. *Brain Res.* 1621, 82–101. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2014.10.019
- Leal, S. L., Landau, S. M., Bell, R. K., and Jagust, W. J. (2017). Hippocampal activation is associated with longitudinal amyloid accumulation and cognitive decline. *Elife* 6:e22978. doi: 10.7554/eLife.22978.012
- Lim, B.-V., Shin, M.-S., Lee, J.-M., and Seo, J.-H. (2015). Treadmill exercise prevents GABAergic neuronal loss with suppression of neuronal activation in the pilocarpine-induced epileptic rats. *J. Exerc. Rehabil.* 11, 80–86. doi: 10.12965/jer.150193
- Liu-Ambrose, T., Nagamatsu, L. S., Voss, M. W., Khan, K. M., and Handy, T. C. (2012). Resistance training and functional plasticity of the aging brain: a 12-month randomized controlled trial. *Neurobiol. Aging* 33, 1690–1698. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2011.05.010
- Maass, A., Duzel, S., Goerke, M., Becke, A., Sobieray, U., Neumann, K., et al. (2015). Vascular hippocampal plasticity after aerobic exercise in older adults. *Mol. Psychiatry* 20, 585–593. doi: 10.1038/mp.2014.114
- Mormino, E. C., Brandel, M. G., Madison, C. M., Marks, S., Baker, S. L., and Jagust, W. J. (2012). Aβ Deposition in aging is associated with increases in brain activation during successful memory encoding. *Cereb. Cortex* 22, 1813–1823. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhr255
- Nobis, L., Manohar, S. G., Smith, S. M., Alfaro-Almagro, F., Jenkinson, M., Mackay, C. E., et al. (2019). Hippocampal volume across age: nomograms derived from over 19,700 people in UK Biobank. *Neuroimage Clin.* 23:101904. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2019.101904
- Nyberg, L., Andersson, M., Lundquist, A., Salami, A., and Wåhlin, A. (2019). Frontal contribution to hippocampal hyperactivity during memory encoding in aging. *Front. Mol. Neurosci.* 12:229. doi: 10.3389/fnmol.2019.00229
- Nyberg, L., Lovden, M., Riklund, K., Lindenberger, U., and Backman, L. (2012). Memory aging and brain maintenance. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 16, 292–305. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2012.04.005
- Old, S. R., and Naveh-Benjamin, M. (2008). Differential effects of age on item and associative measures of memory: a meta-analysis. *Psychol. Aging* 23, 104–118. doi: 10.1037/0882-7974.23.1.104
- Oliff, H. S., Berchtold, N. C., Isackson, P., and Cotman, C. W. (1998). Exercise-induced regulation of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) transcripts in the rat hippocampus. *Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res.* 61, 147–153. doi: 10.1016/S0169-328X(98)00222-8
- Oren, N., Yogev-Seligmann, G., Ash, E., Hendler, T., Giladi, N., and Lerner, Y. (2015). The montreal cognitive assessment in cognitively-intact elderly: a case for age-adjusted cutoffs. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 43, 19–22. doi: 10.3233/JAD-1 40774
- Palmqvist, S., Schöll, M., Strandberg, O., Mattsson, N., Stomrud, E., Zetterberg, H., et al. (2017). Earliest accumulation of β-amyloid occurs within the defaultmode network and concurrently affects brain connectivity. *Nat. Commun.* 8:1214. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-01150-x
- Palop, J. J., Chin, J., Roberson, E. D., Wang, J., Thwin, M. T., Bien-Ly, N., et al. (2007). Aberrant excitatory neuronal activity and compensatory remodeling of inhibitory hippocampal circuits in mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuron* 55, 697–711. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2007.07.025
- Petersen, R. C., Lopez, O., Armstrong, M. J., Getchius, T. S. D., Ganguli, M., Gloss, D., et al. (2018). Practice guideline update summary: Mild cognitive impairment: report of the guideline development, dissemination, and implementation subcommittee of the American academy of neurology. *Neurology* 90, 126–135. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000004826
- Quiroz, Y. T., Budson, A. E., Celone, K., Ruiz, A., Newmark, R., Castrillón, G., et al. (2010). Hippocampal hyperactivation in presymptomatic familial Alzheimer's disease. Ann. Neurol. 68, 865–875. doi: 10.1002/ana.22105
- Ranganath, C., and Ritchey, M. (2012). Two cortical systems for memory-guided behaviour. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 13, 713–726. doi: 10.1038/nrn3338
- Raz, N., Lindenberger, U., Rodrigue, K. M., Kennedy, K. M., Head, D., Williamson, A., et al. (2005). Regional brain changes in aging healthy adults: general trends, individual differences and modifiers. *Cereb. Cortex* 15, 1676–1689. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhi044

- Reiman, E. M., Quiroz, Y. T., Fleisher, A. S., Chen, K., Velez-Pardo, C., Jimenez-Del-Rio, M., et al. (2012). Brain imaging and fluid biomarker analysis in young adults at genetic risk for autosomal dominant Alzheimer's disease in the presenilin 1 E280A kindred: a case-control study. *Lancet Neurol.* 11, 1048–1056. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70228-4
- Ritchey, M., Montchal, M. E., Yonelinas, A. P., and Ranganath, C. (2015). Delay-dependent contributions of medial temporal lobe regions to episodic memory retrieval. *Elife* 4:e05025. doi: 10.7554/eLife. 05025.023
- Rovio, S., Kareholt, I., Helkala, E. L., Viitanen, M., Winblad, B., Tuomilehto, J., et al. (2005). Leisure-time physical activity at midlife and the risk of dementia and Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet Neurol.* 4, 705–711. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(05)70198-8
- Rovio, S., Spulber, G., Nieminen, L. J., Niskanen, E., Winblad, B., Tuomilehto, J., et al. (2010). The effect of midlife physical activity on structural brain changes in the elderly. *Neurobiol. Aging* 31, 1927–1936. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2008.10.007
- Salami, A., Pudas, S., and Nyberg, L. (2014). Elevated hippocampal restingstate connectivity underlies deficient neurocognitive function in aging. *Proc. Natl. Accad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 17654–17659. doi: 10.1073/pnas.14102 33111
- Sexton, C. E., Betts, J. F., Demnitz, N., Dawes, H., Ebmeier, K. P., and Johansen-Berg, H. (2016). A systematic review of MRI studies examining the relationship between physical fitness and activity and the white matter of the ageing brain. *Neuroimage* 131, 81–90. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015. 09.071
- Smith, S. M. (2002). Fast robust automated brain extraction. Hum. Brain Mapp. 17, 143–155. doi: 10.1002/hbm.10062
- Sole-Padulles, C., Bartres-Faz, D., Junque, C., Vendrell, P., Rami, L., Clemente, I. C., et al. (2009). Brain structure and function related to cognitive reserve variables in normal aging, mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 30, 1114–1124. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2007. 10.008
- Sperling, R. A., Bates, J. F., Chua, E. F., Cocchiarella, A. J., Rentz, D. M., Rosen, B. R., et al. (2003). fMRI studies of associative encoding in young and elderly controls and mild Alzheimer's disease. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 74, 44–50. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.74.1.44
- Sperling, R. A., Bates, J. F., Cocchiarella, A. J., Schacter, D. L., Rosen, B. R., and Albert, M. S. (2001). Encoding novel face-name associations: a functional MRI study. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 14, 129–139. doi: 10.1002/hbm.1047
- Squire, L. R., and Wixted, J. T. (2011). The cognitive neuroscience of human memory since H.M. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 34, 259–288. doi: 10.1146/annurev-neuro-061010-113720
- Squire, L. R., and Zola-Morgan, S. (1991). The medial temporal lobe memory system. *Science* 253, 1380–1386. doi: 10.1126/science.1896849
- Steffener, J., Reuben, A., Rakitin, B. C., and Stern, Y. (2011). Supporting performance in the face of age-related neural changes: testing mechanistic roles of cognitive reserve. *Brain Imaging Behav.* 5, 212–221. doi: 10.1007/s11682-011-9125-4
- Ta, A. T., Huang, S.-E., Chiu, M.-J., Hua, M.-S., Tseng, W.-Y. I., Chen, S.-H. A., et al. (2012). Age-related vulnerabilities along the hippocampal longitudinal axis. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 33, 2415–2427. doi: 10.1002/hbm. 21364
- Thomas, R., Zimmerman, S. D., Yuede, K. M., Cirrito, J. R., Tai, L. M., Timson, B. F., et al. (2020). Exercise training results in lower amyloid plaque load and greater cognitive function in an intensity dependent manner in the Tg2576 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Sci.* 10:88. doi: 10.3390/brainsci10020088
- Tong, L. M., Djukic, B., Arnold, C., Gillespie, A. K., Yoon, S. Y., Wang, M. M., et al. (2014). Inhibitory interneuron progenitor transplantation restores normal learning and memory in ApoE4 knock-in mice without or with Aβ accumulation. *J. Neurosci.* 34, 9506–9515. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0693-14.2014
- Van der Borght, K., Kobor-Nyakas, D. E., Klauke, K., Eggen, B. J., Nyakas, C., Van der Zee, E. A., et al. (2009). Physical exercise leads to rapid adaptations in hippocampal vasculature: temporal dynamics and relationship to cell proliferation and neurogenesis. *Hippocampus* 19, 928–936. doi: 10.1002/hipo.20545

- van Praag, H., Kempermann, G., and Gage, F. H. (1999). Running increases cell proliferation and neurogenesis in the adult mouse dentate gyrus. *Nat. Neurosci.* 2, 266–270. doi: 10.1038/6368
- van Praag, H., Shubert, T., Zhao, C., and Gage, F. H. (2005). Exercise enhances learning and hippocampal neurogenesis in aged mice. J. Neurosci. 25, 8680–8685. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1731-05.2005
- Vaynman, S., Ying, Z., and Gomez-Pinilla, F. (2004). Exercise induces BDNF and synapsin I to specific hippocampal subfields. J. Neurosci. Res. 76, 356–362. doi: 10.1002/jnr.20077
- Voelcker-Rehage, C., Godde, B., and Staudinger, U. M. (2010). Physical and motor fitness are both related to cognition in old age. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 31, 167–176. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2009.07014.x
- Voss, M. W., Erickson, K. I., Prakash, R. S., Chaddock, L., Kim, J. S., Alves, H., et al. (2013). Neurobiological markers of exercise-related brain plasticity in older adults. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 28, 90–99. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2012.10.021
- Voss, M. W., Prakash, R. S., Erickson, K. I., Basak, C., Chaddock, L., Kim, J. S., et al. (2010). Plasticity of brain networks in a randomized intervention trial of exercise training in older adults. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 2:32. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2010.00032
- Wilmore, J. H., Costill, D. L., and Kenney, W. L. (2008). *Physiology of Sport and Exercise*. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- Woolrich, M. (2008). Robust group analysis using outlier inference. Neuroimage 41, 286–301. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2008.02.042
- Woolrich, M. W., Behrens, T. E. J., Beckmann, C. F., Jenkinson, M., and Smith, S. M. (2004). Multilevel linear modelling for FMRI group analysis using Bayesian inference. *Neuroimage* 21, 1732–1747. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2003.12.023

- Woolrich, M. W., Ripley, B. D., Brady, M., and Smith, S. M. (2001). Temporal autocorrelation in univariate linear modeling of FMRI data. *Neuroimage* 14, 1370–1386. doi: 10.1006/nimg.2001.0931
- Zimmerman, B., Sutton, B. P., Low, K. A., Fletcher, M. A., Tan, C. H., Schneider-Garces, N., et al. (2014). Cardiorespiratory fitness mediates the effects of aging on cerebral blood flow. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 6:59. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014.00059

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Eisenstein, Giladi, Hendler, Havakuk and Lerner. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Arterial Stiffening Moderates the Relationship Between Type-2 Diabetes Mellitus and White Matter Hyperintensity Burden in Older Adults With Mild Cognitive Impairment

Madeleine L. Werhane<sup>1\*</sup>, Kelsey R. Thomas<sup>2,3</sup>, Katherine J. Bangen<sup>2,3</sup>, Alexandra J. Weigand<sup>2,3,4</sup>, Emily C. Edmonds<sup>2,3</sup>, Daniel A. Nation<sup>5</sup>, Erin E. Sundermann<sup>3</sup>, Mark W. Bondi<sup>2,3</sup> and Lisa Delano-Wood<sup>2,3</sup> for the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative<sup>†</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, United States, <sup>2</sup> VA San Diego Healthcare System, San Diego, CA, United States, <sup>3</sup> Department of Psychiatry, University of California, San Diego, La Jolla, CA, United States, <sup>4</sup> SDSU/UC San Diego Joint Doctoral Program in Clinical Psychology, San Diego State University/University of California, San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States, <sup>5</sup> Department of Psychological Sciences, University of California, Irvine, Irvine, CA, United States

**Background:** Cerebrovascular dysfunction has been proposed as a possible mechanism underlying cognitive impairment in the context of type 2 diabetes mellitus (DM). Although magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) evidence of cerebrovascular disease, such as white matter hyperintensities (WMH), is often observed in DM, the vascular dynamics underlying this pathology remain unclear. Thus, we assessed the independent and combined effects of DM status and different vascular hemodynamic measures (i.e., systolic, diastolic, and mean arterial blood pressure and pulse pressure index [PPi]) on WMH burden in cognitively unimpaired (CU) older adults and those with mild cognitive impairment (MCI).

**Methods:** 559 older adults (mean age: 72.4 years) from the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative were categorized into those with diabetes (DM+; CU = 43, MCI = 34) or without diabetes (DM-; CU = 279; MCI = 203). Participants underwent BP assessment, from which all vascular hemodynamic measures were derived. T2-FLAIR MRI was used to quantify WMH burden. Hierarchical linear regression, adjusting for age, sex, BMI, intracranial volume, CSF amyloid, and APOE  $\epsilon$ 4 status, examined the independent and interactive effects of DM status and each vascular hemodynamic measure on total WMH burden.

**Results:** The presence of DM (p = 0.046), but not PPi values (p = 0.299), was independently associated with greater WMH burden overall after adjusting for covariates. Analyses stratified by cognitive status revealed a significant DM status x PPi interaction within the MCI group (p = 0.001) such that higher PPi values predicted greater WMH burden in the DM + but not DM- group. No significant interactions were observed in the CU group (all ps > 0.05).

**OPEN ACCESS** 

## Edited by:

Frauke Beyer, Max Planck Institute for Human Cognitive and Brain Sciences, Germany

#### Reviewed by:

Heike Minnerup, University of Muenster, Germany Mahsa Dadar, Laval University, Canada

#### \*Correspondence:

Madeleine L. Werhane mwerhane@uw.edu

<sup>†</sup>Data used in preparation of this article were obtained from the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative (ADNI) database (adni.loni.usc.edu). As such, the investigators within the ADNI contributed to the design and implementation of ADNI and/or provided data but did not participate in analysis or writing of this report. A complete listing of ADNI investigators can be found at: http://adni.loni.usc.edu/wp-content/ uploads/how\_to\_apply/ADNI\_ Acknowledgement\_List.pdf

> Received: 28 May 2021 Accepted: 06 September 2021 Published: 25 October 2021

#### Citation:

Werhane ML, Thomas KR, Bangen KJ, Weigand AJ, Edmonds EC, Nation DA, Sundermann EE, Bondi MW and Delano-Wood L (2021) Arterial Stiffening Moderates the Relationship Between Type-2 Diabetes Mellitus and White Matter Hyperintensity Burden in Older Adults With Mild Cognitive Impairment. Front. Aging Neurosci. 13:716638. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.716638

59

**Discussion:** Results indicate that higher PPi values are positively associated with WMH burden in diabetic older adults with MCI, but not their non-diabetic or CU counterparts. Our findings suggest that arterial stiffening and reduced vascular compliance may have a role in development of cerebrovascular pathology within the context of DM in individuals at risk for future cognitive decline. Given the specificity of these findings to MCI, future exploration of the sensitivity of earlier brain markers of vascular insufficiency (i.e., prior to macrostructural white matter changes) to the effects of DM and arterial stiffness/reduced vascular compliance in CU individuals is warranted.

Keywords: mild cognitive impairment, white matter hyperintensity volume, blood pressure, arterial stiffness, diabetes

## INTRODUCTION

Type 2 diabetes (hereby referred to as "diabetes" or DM) has been repeatedly linked to an increased risk for developing dementia in late life (Arvanitakis et al., 2004; Crane et al., 2013). Given that both diabetes and dementia represent chronic, debilitating conditions that are extremely common in our rapidly aging population (Alzheimer's Association [AA], 2019; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDCP], 2020), there has been a critical push for research aimed at disentangling the nature of their association in order to aid in prognosis and identify potential treatment targets. Cerebrovascular dysfunction remains a putative mechanism by which poor cognitive outcomes occur in diabetes. Dementia in the context of diabetes has been linked to increased cerebrovascular pathology at autopsy, which stands in contrast to dementia without diabetes that on average has greater evidence of other neuropathological changes (e.g., amyloid beta and tau accumulation; Sonnen et al., 2009). Wellaligned with such findings is the observation that the most common neuroradiological finding associated with diabetes is the presence of increased white matter hyperintensity (WMH) burden in the brain (Van Harten et al., 2006). Thought to reflect a highly prevalent form of cerebrovascular disease (i.e., small vessel ischemic damage to deep white matter regions; DeCarli et al., 2005), the presence of increased WMH burden on imaging is associated with greater risk for age-related cognitive decline, mild cognitive impairment (MCI), and dementia (Delano-Wood et al., 2008, 2009; Debette and Markus, 2010; Nation et al., 2013; Bangen et al., 2018).

Structural neuroimaging studies have also demonstrated *in vivo* evidence of cerebral atrophy and accumulation of neurodegenerative pathology in individuals with diabetes, which in turn predict poorer cognitive performance across domains including memory, executive functioning, and processing speed (Tiehuis et al., 2009; Hayashi et al., 2011; Moran et al., 2013). Critically, these white and gray matter alterations observed in individuals with diabetes likely represent endstage pathological changes to brain parenchyma attributable to chronic cerebrovascular dysfunction, as suggested by prior work reporting links between cognitive functioning and alterations in regional cerebral blood flow (an indicator of cerebral perfusion), but not cortical thickness or regional brain volume, in older adults without dementia (Bangen et al., 2018). Combined, this research highlights the need to identify sensitive, early markers of cerebrovascular dysfunction prior to the development of irreversible brain pathology and cognitive impairment in individuals with diabetes.

While hypertension, specifically, has shown the most consistent association with increased WMH burden (de Leeuw et al., 2002; de Havenon et al., 2019), there is accumulating evidence for arterial stiffness-the decreased elasticity of the arterial wall that occurs in the context of aging-as a sensitive predictor of risk for cerebrovascular disease and dementia. Particularly notable are longitudinal findings that show that increased arterial stiffness at baseline in cognitively unimpaired older adults predicts future accumulation of concomitant white matter disease and neurodegenerative pathology (Ohmine et al., 2008; Mitchell et al., 2011), as well as increased risk for cognitive impairment, functional decline, and dementia diagnosis (Nation et al., 2013, 2016; Werhane et al., 2018). Importantly, arterial stiffness represents one of the earliest indicators of change to vascular wall structure and function in the progression of cardiovascular and cerebrovascular disease (Cohn et al., 2005), and is accelerated in health conditions such as diabetes that negatively impact the integrity of the vascular system (Xu et al., 2016; Chirinos et al., 2019).

Taken together, this literature highlights the potential role of vascular-induced white matter pathology in the development of poor cognitive outcomes in aging individuals with diabetes. Indeed, vascular disease, alterations to white matter integrity, and cognitive impairment are all highly prevalent in older adults, regardless of diabetes status. However, few studies to date have characterized differential relationships between vascular and white matter pathologies, especially in relation to the presence of cognitive impairment, in older adults with and without diabetes. Therefore, we explored relationships between diabetes status (i.e., diabetes absent vs. present) and different vascular hemodynamic measures (i.e., diastolic and systolic BP [BP], pulse pressure index [PPi], and mean arterial BP [MABP]) to the presence of MRI evidence of small vessel cerebrovascular disease (i.e., WMH) in a large sample of well-characterized older adults without dementia. Of particular interest was PPi as an indicator of systemic vascular pathology, given literature to suggest its utility as an easily obtainable blood-pressure based measure of arterial stiffness and reduced vascular compliance (Peng-Lin and Yue-Chun, 2009). In order to understand how relationships between different vascular hemodynamic measures, diabetes status, and WMH burden may vary across the spectrum of cognitive aging to early stages of cognitive impairment, these variables were examined in both cognitively unimpaired older adults as well as those with a diagnosis of MCI.

We hypothesized the following: (1) greater arterial stiffness, as indicated by greater PPi values, would predict greater WMH volume on neuroimaging across cognitive groups, and (2) any observed relationship would be more pronounced in individuals with MCI versus cognitively unimpaired. Additionally, we also predicted that (3) older adults with both diabetes and greater arterial stiffening would demonstrate greater white matter pathology burden compared to those with one or no risk factors (i.e., no diabetes and/or reduced arterial stiffening); and (4) this interactive effect will be observed to a lesser extent in older adults with no evidence of cognitive impairment (i.e., cognitively unimpaired [CU] older adults). These hypotheses were evaluated using data from the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative (ADNI).

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### The ADNI Dataset

Data used for the present study were obtained from the ADNI database (adni.loni.usc.edu). The ADNI was launched in 2003 by the National Institute on Aging (NIA), the National Institute of Biomedical Imaging and Bioengineering (NIBIB), the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), private pharmaceutical companies and non-profit organizations. The main goal of ADNI has been to determine whether MRI, PET, other biological markers, and clinical and neuropsychological assessment can be combined to measure the progression of MCI and early AD. The Principal Investigator of ADNI is Michael W. Weiner, MD, VA Medical Center and University of California - San Francisco. ADNI is the result of efforts of many co-investigators from a broad range of academic institutions and private corporations, and participants have been recruited from over 50 sites across the United States and Canada. ADNI has been followed by ADNI-GO and ADNI-2. Subjects originally recruited for ADNI-1 and ADNI-GO had the option to be followed in ADNI-2. Data used in the present study were acquired in ADNI-2. For up-to-date information, see www.adni-info.org.

## **Participants**

The sample comprised 559 dementia-free older adults with or without MCI from ADNI. All participants were between the ages of 55 and 90 years old, had completed at least six years of education, were fluent in Spanish or English, and were free of any significant neurological or psychiatric disease. Information about each participant's medical history and medications was collected at baseline. All participants underwent neuropsychological testing and brachial BP assessment at baseline. Full criteria for ADNI eligibility and diagnostic classifications are described in detail at http://www.adni-info.org/ Scientists/ADNIGrant/ProtocolSummary.aspx.

Participant selection was as follows: Of the 2,952 ADNI participants who completed neuropsychological assessment, 2,393 participants were identified as having no dementia at

baseline based on ADNI's criteria for dementia. Consistent with previous work, we excluded individuals with functional dependence (based on a Functional Assessment Questionnaire [FAQ] score > 5) to ensure that that the final study sample consisted of older adults who could independently complete their activities of daily living (e.g., Thomas et al., 2017; Werhane et al., 2018). Of this sample, 559 participants had available WMH volume data. Within this subsample, the comprehensive neuropsychological criteria for MCI (Jak et al., 2009; Bondi et al., 2014) were used to identify cognitive status, yielding a final analytic sample of 322 CU older adults and 237 with MCI. Participants were then classified as either diabetic (DM+; CU = 43, MCI = 34) or non-diabetic (DM-; CU = 279; MCI = 203) based on their self-reported diabetes diagnosis, presence of glucose-lowering agents in their medical history, and/or fasting blood glucose above American Diabetes Association cutoff values for a diagnosis of diabetes (i.e., > 125 mg/dL). Consistent with our previous work in ADNI (Thomas et al., 2020), the following search terms were used to identify participants with DM at their initial study visit from medical history: diabetes, diabetic, insulin, insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus, and non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus.

## White Matter Imaging

All participants underwent baseline MR imaging from which total WMH volume was derived. A detailed description of ADNI MR imaging data acquisition and processing can be found online<sup>1</sup>. Briefly, participants were scanned using a 3T MRI scanner. A T1-weighted sequence was acquired using the following parameters: TR = 2300 ms; TE = 2.98 ms; TI = 900 ms; 170 sagittal slices; within plane FOV =  $256 \times 240$ mm<sup>2</sup>; voxel size =  $1.1 \times 1.1 \times 1.2 \text{ mm}^3$ ; flip angle = 9; bandwidth = 240 Hz/pix. T2 FLAIR scans were also obtained using an echo-planar imaging sequence with the following parameters: TR = 9000ms; TE = 90ms; TI = 2500ms; 42 slices at a thickness 5 mm. T1-weighted and T2 FLAIR scans were both pre-processed through a standardized pipeline and coregistered using cross-correlation. Brain and non-brain tissues were separated via skull-stripping. WMHs were detected using the previously validated, semi-automated Bayesian Markov-Random Field (MRF) method (DeCarli et al., 1999). The skullstripped T1-weighted image was then non-linearly aligned to a minimum deformation template (MDT), to which the T1, T2 FLAIR, and map of ground-truth FLAIR-based WMH pixels were then warped using the non-linear alignment.

## **Blood Pressure Assessment**

Seated brachial artery systolic and diastolic BPs were obtained from ADNI participants at their initial study visit. PPi values were calculated for each participant by dividing pulse pressure values (systolic BP – diastolic BP) by systolic BP. PPi allows for the evaluation of the effects of pulse pressure, a common proxy for arterial stiffening, while also removing the effects of systolic pressure. This measure was derived to help disambiguate the potential effects of arterial stiffening versus hypertension in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>http://adni.loni.usc.edu/methods/mri-tool/mri-acquisition/



age, sex, body mass index, intracranial volume, cerebrospinal fluid amyloid beta positivity, and apolipoprotein E ε4 status. PPi significantly modified the relationship between diabetes status and total WMH burden (interaction p = 0.001), such that PPi values were associated with greater WMH burden in older adults with MCI and diabetes ( $\beta = 1.99$ , S.E. = 0.943, 95% CI: 0.051–3.928; p = 0.045, partial r = 0.382), but not their non-diabetes counterparts (p > 0.05). Diastolic BP also significantly interacted with diabetes status on total WMH volume (interaction p = 0.002). Here, greater diastolic BP values were associated with greater WMH volumes in non-diabetic older adults with MCI ( $\beta = 0.008$ , S.E. = 0.003, 95% CI: 0.155, 2.438; p = 0.016, partial r = 0.382). In contrast, no significant association was observed between diastolic BP values and WMH burden in their diabetic counterparts (p > 0.05). No significant interaction effects were observed with systolic BP or MABP (interaction ps > 0.05).

study findings, and allows for the improved evaluation of arterial stiffness and vascular compliance in the context of pathological vascular aging (Peng-Lin and Yue-Chun, 2009). Mean arterial pressure was calculated as diastolic pressure plus one-third the pulse pressure. All arterial BP measurements were taken using a calibrated mercury sphygmomanometer and BP cuff. BP readings were taken from the dominant arm while the participant was in a seated position, with their forearm held horizontally at the level of the fourth intercostal space at the sternum (i.e., the level of the heart).

# **Statistical Analyses**

Demographic and clinical characteristics by diabetes and cognitive status were examined using linear regression and chisquare tests for continuous and categorical variables, respectively. Hierarchical multiple linear regression was used in order to assess the independent and interactive effects of diabetes status and each vascular hemodynamic measure on total WMH volume within the overall and then within cognitive normal and MCI groups, separately. Parameters of interest in the models included vascular hemodynamic variables (systolic BP, diastolic BP, PPi, and MABP; all continuous and mean centered) and diabetes status (dichotomous; type 2 diabetes absent/present). The outcome of interest was total WMH volumes (continuous), which was logtransformed in order to improve distributional normality. At the first level of each model, age, sex, BMI, amyloid beta 1-42 positivity (Hansson et al., 2018), apolipoprotein E (APOE) ɛ4 status, and intracranial volume were all entered given wellestablished associations with vascular aging and WMH volume in the literature. Diabetes status, a vascular hemodynamic variable, and their interaction term were then entered on the second level. Again, separate models were generated for each vascular hemodynamic measure, stratified by cognitive status. Effect sizes were indexed semi-partial r values. The Bonferroni method was used to control for familywise error inflation due to multiple comparisons (statistical significance threshold: p < 0.05/8; Bonferroni corrected *p*-value = 0.006). All analyses were performed using R Studio Version 1.1.453 (2009-2018 RStudio, Inc.).

#### RESULTS

Participant demographics and clinical characteristics are presented in Table 1. The mean age of the overall sample was 72.4 years (SD: 6.94 years; range: 55.1 to 91.4 years). Mean physiological (i.e., BP [systolic, diastolic], arterial stiffness, MABP) and psychometric scores were in the non-clinical range<sup>2</sup> both across the entire sample and within diabetes status groups, confirming that the sample was generally healthy with respect to vascular, psychiatric, cognitive, and functional symptomatology. Diabetes status did not significantly differ by cognitive group (CU vs. MCI, p = 0.591). The bivariate association between DM status and WMH burden was not significant in the overall sample; however, a significant positive association was observed between diabetes status and WMH burden once covariates were included in an adjusted model (p = 0.045). Both bivariate and adjusted associations between PPi and WMH burden were not statistically significant in the sample overall, nor within cognitive subgroups (ps > 0.05). Within the CU group, participants with diabetes had fewer years of formal education at the level of a statistical trend (p = 0.060) and performed more poorly on a brief screen of global cognitive functioning (Mini Mental Status Exam [MMSE]; p = 0.028) relative to non-diabetic participants. Comparatively, within the MCI group, participants with diabetes on average were significantly younger (p = 0.005) and had significantly greater BMI values (p < 0.001) relative to those without diabetes. No other significant differences by diabetes status were observed within CU or MCI groups across all other demographic characteristics, parameters of interest (PPi, WMH total volume), or variables related to increased vascular and dementia risk (e.g., BP values, depressive symptomology, everyday functioning, genetic risk for dementia, cerebrospinal fluid amyloid beta positivity).

Separate hierarchical multiple linear regression analyses examined the relationship between diabetes status and each vascular hemodynamic measure (i.e., systolic BP, diastolic BP, MABP, and PPi) on total WMH volume in both CU (**Table 2**) and MCI (**Table 3**) older adults. Covariates included in all models included age, sex, BMI, amyloid beta positivity, APOE &4 status, and intracranial volume. Within CU older adults, the relationship vascular hemodynamic measures and WMH burden did not vary depending on diabetes status (all interaction ps > 0.05). In contrast, within the MCI group, diabetes status significantly interacted with PPi ( $\beta = 3.48, 95\%$  CI: 1.52, 5.44; p = 0.001, partial r = 0.226) and diastolic blood pressure ( $\beta = -0.025, 95\%$ CI: -0.04, -0.009; p = 0.002, semi-partial r = -0.202) on total WMH volume (Figure 1). Specifically, PPi significantly modified the relationship between diabetes status and total WMH burden (interaction p = 0.001), such that PPi values were associated with greater WMH burden in older adults with MCI and diabetes  $(\beta = 1.99, S.E. = 0.943, 95\% CI: 0.051-3.928; p = 0.045, semi-partial$ r = 0.382), but not their non-diabetes counterparts (p > 0.05). In comparison, higher diastolic BP values were associated with greater WMH volumes in non-diabetic older adults with MCI  $(\beta = 0.008, S.E. = 0.003, 95\%$  CI: 0.155, 2.438; p = 0.016, semipartial r = 0.382), but not their diabetic counterparts (p > 0.05). There were no other significant interaction effects observed between other vascular hemodynamic measures (i.e., systolic BP, MABP) and diabetes status on total WMH burden in older adults with MCI.

## DISCUSSION

We examined the interactive effects of different vascular hemodynamic measures and diabetes on the white matter hyperintensity burden in a sample of well-characterized older adults with and without MCI. Pulse pressure index, a proxy measure for arterial stiffening and vascular non-compliance, significantly interacted with diabetes status in its association white matter hyperintensity burden, such that cognitively impaired older adults with diabetes and higher PPi values had more extensive white matter hyperintensity pathology compared to those with one or no vascular risk factors. Interestingly, these effects were only observed in older adults with MCI, and not their cognitively unimpaired counterparts. Taken together, these findings suggest that arterial stiffening and reduced vascular compliance may have a role in the presence of cerebrovascular pathology in older adults with diabetes who have objective evidence of cognitive impairment, highlighting the need for further research parsing apart the nature of the association between arterial stiffening, white matter hyperintensity burden, and diabetes status on cognitive decline in this potentially highrisk aging subgroup.

The *a priori* focus of this study was PPi given prior findings using both pulse pressure and PPi as a measure of arterial stiffness and vascular non-compliance (Peng-Lin and Yue-Chun, 2009; Nation et al., 2013, 2015, 2016), which have importance to pathological vascular aging within the context of both diabetes and cognitive impairment in late life. We also repeated all primary analyses using other vascular hemodynamic measures (i.e., systolic, diastolic, and mean arterial BP) to determine whether findings were specific to PPi. The pattern of findings observed with PPi were not observed for any other vascular hemodynamic measures, suggesting that increased arterial stiffness, but not other blood pressure measures of vascular risk, may have a unique link to the presence of greater cerebrovascular pathological burden in cognitively symptomatic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Clinical cut points: hypertension, BP > 140/90 in older adults < 60 years of age and 150/90 in older adults of 60 + years of age (James et al., 2014); functional dependence, FAQ  $\geq$  6 (Teng et al., 2010); presence of depressive symptoms, GDS > 9 (Yesavage and Sheikh, 1986); cognitive impairment, MMSE < 24 (Folstein et al., 1975).

#### TABLE 1 | Sample characteristics by diabetes status and cognitive diagnosis.

		DM +	DM-	Differ by DM status?	Differ by cognitive dx
Variable	Cognitive dx	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	$p$ or $\chi^2$ value	$p$ or $\chi^2$ value
N	MCI	N = 34	N = 203	-	-
	CU	N = 43	N = 279	_	-
Age ( <i>years</i> )	MCI	73.1 (6.89)	69.5 (7.41)	0.005	0.358
	CU	72.0 (6.82)	72.2 (6.30)	0.852	-
Education ( <i>year</i> s)	MCI	16.4 (2.54)	15.7 (3.05)	0.182	0.055
	CU	16.5 (2.52)	15.7 (2.50)	0.060	-
Sex (% male)	MCI	69.23%	53.55%	0.129	0.168
	CU	58.62%	48.46%	0.297	-
Systolic BP ( <i>mm Hg</i> )	MCI	137.3 (16.27)	135.1 (19.80)	0.490	0.320
	CU	135.6 (16.96)	134.2 (14.14)	0.781	-
Diastolic BP (mm Hg)	MCI	76.0 (9.92)	75.4 (10.63)	0.736	0.383
	CU	75.2 (9.62)	74.9 (8.07)	0.831	_
Pulse Pressure Index ( <i>mm Hg/mm Hg</i> )	MCI	0.4 (0.07)	0.4 (0.09)	0.600	0.924
	CU	0.4 (0.07)	0.4 (0.08)	0.984	-
Mean Arterial BP ( <i>mm Hg</i> )	MCI	95.27 (11.50)	96.41 (10.32)	0.560	0.275
	CU	94.9 (98.27)	95.4 (10.26)	0.774	_
$BMI(kg/m^2)$	MCI	27.0 (4.92)	31.1 (6.36)	< 0.001	0.846
	CU	27.4 (4.77)	28.3 (5.70)	0.245	-
GDS Total Score	MCI	1.6 (1.45)	2.0 (1.62)	0.082	0.002
	CU	1.3 (1.40)	1.0 (1.02)	0.289	_
MMSE Score	MCI	27.8 (1.80)	27.8 (1.94)	0.968	< 0.001
	CU	28.9 (1.20)	28.4 (2.18)	0.028	_
AQ Score	MCI	3.6 (4.30)	4.0 (4.33)	0.642	< 0.001
	CU	0.6 (1.15)	0.58 (1.16)	0.973	_
APOE ε4 status (%ε4 +)	MCI	50.00%	51.66%	0.977	< 0.001
	CU	44.83%	34.81%	0.092	-
CSF amyloid beta (% positive)	MCI	65.38%	65.88%	0.960	< 0.001
	CU	37.93%	36.18%	0.851	-
VMH total volume <sup>†</sup>	MCI	0.6 (0.66)	0.6 (0.48)	0.138	< 0.001
	CU	0.5 (0.45)	0.4 (0.49)	0.256	-
CV	MCI	1405.9 (142.10)	1417.0 (147.02)	0.178	0.125
	CU	1393.1 (129.20)	1367.8 (132.50)	0.235	-

Abbreviations: DM, diabetes mellitus; dx, diagnosis; MCI, mild cognitive impairment; CU, cognitively unimpaired; BP, blood pressure; BMI, body mass index; CDR, clinical dementia rating; GDS, Geriatric Depression Scale; MMSE, Mini Mental State Exam; FAQ, Functional Assessment Questionnaire; APOE, apolipoprotein E; WMH, white matter hyperintensity; ICV, intracranial volume.

<sup>†</sup>This variable was log-transformed in order to improve the normality of the distribution. Bold values indicate for  $p \ge 0.05$ .

older adults with diabetes. While diastolic BP was observed to significantly modify the relationship between diabetes and WMH burden, this interaction effect was such that diastolic BP was positively associated with WMH burden in non-diabetic older adults with MCI, but negatively associated (although this was statistically non-significant) with WMH burden in their diabetic counterparts. A possible explanation for this unexpected finding is that the etiology of high vs. low diastolic BP values in older adults with and without diabetes differs. For example, while high diastolic BP likely reflects general hypertension in older adults without diabetes, low diastolic blood pressure values could be more indicative of cardiac dysfunction and associated with the greater prevalence of isolated systolic hypertension due to arterial stiffening in older adults with diabetes (Franklin et al., 2011). This would represent an intriguing area for further exploration in

future studies that are well-equipped to explore associations with diastolic BP and other health and brain aging variables in older adults with and without diabetes. Findings from such work would help inform how diastolic BP contributes to neurocognitive aging in an often medically complex clinical population (i.e., older adults with diabetes and cognitive impairment).

There are a variety of vascular risk factors (e.g., hypertension, atherosclerosis, hyperlipidemia, metabolic syndrome, diabetes) that have been linked to pathological brain aging processes, such as evidence of cerebrovascular disease on neuroimaging (e.g., white matter hyperintensity burden, altered cerebral perfusion), neuropathological changes on brain autopsy, cognitive impairment, and functional decline (Arvanitakis et al., 2004; de la Torre, 2010; Crane et al., 2013; Bangen et al., 2018; Werhane et al., 2018; Thomas et al., 2020). There is a growing

#### TABLE 2 | Final Multiple Linear Regression Models for CU Older Adults.

Systolic	Blood	Pressure
----------	-------	----------

	Estimate	SE	t-value	p-value	95%CI	Semi-partial r
Intercept	-3.827	0.521	-7.343	< 0.001	-4.853, -2.802	-
DM	0.373	0.686	0.544	0.587	-0.977, 1.723	0.031
SYS BP	0.004	0.002	2.520	0.012	0.001, 0.007	0.141
SYS BP x DM	-0.002	0.005	-0.328	0.743	-0.012, 0.008	-0.019
Age	0.025	0.004	6.499	< 0.001	0.017, 0.032	0.345
Gender	0.158	0.063	2.528	0.012	0.035, 0.281	0.142
BMI	0.007	0.005	1.312	0.191	-0.003, 0.017	0.074
$CSF \ A\beta \ +$	0.174	0.055	3.145	0.002	0.065, 0.282	0.175
APOE £4 +	-0.019	0.055	-0.343	0.732	-0.127, 0.089	-0.019
ICV	0.001	0.000	4.813	< 0.001	0.001, 0.002	0.263

#### **Diastolic Blood Pressure**

	Estimate	SE	t-value	p-value	95%CI	Semi-partial r
Intercept	-3.950	0.548	-7.202	< 0.001	-5.029, -2.870	_
DM	0.414	0.668	0.619	0.536	-0.901, 1.729	0.035
DIA BP	0.006	0.003	2.249	0.025	0.001, 0.012	0.126
DIA BP x DM	-0.004	0.009	-0.398	0.691	-0.021, 0.014	-0.023
Age	0.028	0.004	7.182	< 0.001	0.020, 0.035	0.377
Gender	0.173	0.063	2.748	0.006	0.049, 0.296	0.154
BMI	0.006	0.005	1.187	0.236	-0.004, 0.016	0.067
CSF A $\beta$ +	0.158	0.056	2.826	0.005	0.048, 0.268	0.158
APOE £4 +	-0.007	0.055	-0.132	0.895	-0.116, 0.101	-0.007
ICV	0.001	0.000	4.723	< 0.001	0.001, 0.002	0.258

#### Mean Arterial Blood Pressure

	Estimate	SE	t-value	p-value	95%CI	Semi-partial r
Intercept	-4.067	0.546	-7.444	< 0.001	-5.142, -2.992	-
DM	0.493	0.820	0.601	0.548	-1.120, 2.105	0.034
MABP	0.007	0.003	2.781	0.006	0.002, 0.012	0.156
MABP x DM	-0.004	0.009	-0.418	0.676	-0.021, 0.013	-0.024

(Continued)

TABLE 2   (	Continued)
-------------	------------

#### Mean Arterial Blood Pressure

	Estimate	SE	t-value	p-value	95%CI	Semi-partial r
Age	0.026	0.004	7.030	< 0.001	0.019, 0.034	0.370
Gender	0.169	0.062	2.698	0.007	0.046, 0.291	0.151
BMI	0.006	0.005	1.134	0.258	-0.004, 0.016	0.064
CSF Aβ +	0.159	0.056	2.853	0.005	0.049, 0.268	0.159
APOE ε4 +	-0.013	0.055	-0.244	0.808	-0.121, 0.095	-0.014
ICV	0.001	0.000	4.764	< 0.001	0.001, 0.002	0.260

#### **Pulse Pressure Index**

	Estimate	SE	t-value	p-value	95%CI	Semi-partial r
	Estimate	3E	t-value	p-value	95 /801	Semi-partiari
Intercept	-3.464	0.509	-6.801	< 0.001	-4.466, -2.462	-
DM	0.139	0.482	0.289	0.773	-0.810, 1.089	0.016
PPi	0.155	0.378	0.409	0.683	-0.590, 0.899	0.023
PPi x DM	0.011	1.080	0.010	0.992	-2.113, 2.135	0.001
Age	0.025	0.004	6.380	< 0.001	0.018, 0.033	0.340
Gender	0.158	0.063	2.489	0.013	0.033, 0.283	0.140
BMI	0.008	0.005	1.556	0.121	-0.002, 0.018	0.088
CSF A $\beta$ +	0.186	0.056	3.331	0.001	0.076, 0.295	0.185
APOE E4 +	-0.012	0.056	-0.212	0.832	-0.121, 0.098	-0.012
ICV	0.001	0.000	4.775	< 0.001	0.001, 0.002	0.261

Abbreviations: DM, diabetes; SYS, systolic; DIA, diastolic; BP, blood pressure; MABP, mean arterial blood pressure; PPi, pulse pressure index; BMI, body mass index; CSF A $\beta$  +, cerebrospinal fluid amyloid beta positivity; APOE  $\epsilon$ 4 +, apolipoprotein E  $\epsilon$ 4 positivity; ICV, intracranial volume. Bold values indicate for  $p \geq 0.05$ .

body of evidence to suggest a robust association between arterial stiffness and pathological changes associated with advanced age, including gray and white matter degradations, accumulation of AD neuropathology, and cognitive decline (Nation et al., 2015; Saji et al., 2016). It is thought that arterial stiffness gives rise to these changes by inducing a deleterious systemic hypertensive state, causing downstream damage to vulnerable microvasculature and associated tissue. The brain is especially susceptible to these effects given the high density and low impedance of its microvasculature, which allows for the increased pulsatile load that occurs in the context of arterial stiffening to deeply penetrate the microvascular bed and cause damage to the vessels (particularly in watershed areas with low perfusion), ultimately leading to chronic

#### TABLE 3 | Final Multiple Linear Regression Models for MCI Older Adults.

Systolic	Blood	Pressure
----------	-------	----------

	Estimate	SE	t-value	p-value	95%CI	Semi-partial r
Intercept	-2.420	0.584	-4.142	< 0.001	-3.571, -1.269	_
DM	-0.239	0.609	-0.392	0.696	-1.438, 0.961	-0.026
SYS BP	0.000	0.002	0.149	0.882	-0.004, 0.004	0.010
SYS BP x DM	0.003	0.004	0.576	0.565	-0.006, 0.011	0.038
Age	0.030	0.005	6.577	< 0.001	0.021, 0.039	0.400
Gender	0.061	0.074	0.825	0.410	-0.085, 0.208	0.055
BMI	-0.010	0.006	-1.690	0.092	-0.021, 0.002	-0.111
CSF A $\beta$ +	0.122	0.069	1.773	0.078	-0.014, 0.257	0.117
APOE £4 +	-0.055	0.066	-0.829	0.408	-0.185, 0.076	-0.055
ICV	0.001	0.000	2.839	0.005	0.000, 0.001	0.185

#### **Diastolic Blood Pressure**

	Estimate	SE	t-value	p-value	95%CI	Semi-partial r
Intercept	-2.894	0.585	-4.950	< 0.001	-4.046, -1.742	-
DM	1.975	0.605	3.264	0.001	0.783, 3.167	0.212
DIA BP	0.007	0.003	2.243	0.026	0.001, 0.013	0.147
DIA BP x DM	-0.025	0.008	-3.105	0.002	-0.04, -0.009	-0.202
Age	0.030	0.004	6.977	< 0.001	0.022, 0.039	0.420
Gender	0.060	0.074	0.809	0.419	-0.086, 0.205	0.054
BMI	-0.010	0.006	-1.695	0.092	-0.021, 0.002	-0.112
$CSF \ A\beta \ +$	0.090	0.068	1.333	0.184	-0.043, 0.223	0.088
APOE £4 +	-0.051	0.065	-0.797	0.426	—0.179, 0.076	-0.053
ICV	0.001	0.000	2.809	0.005	0.000, 0.001	0.183

#### Mean Arterial Blood Pressure

	Estimate	SE	t-value	p-value	95%CI	Semi-partial r
Intercept	-2.792	0.603	-4.632	< 0.001	-3.980, -1.604	-
DM	1.232	0.720	1.712	0.088	-0.186, 2.650	0.113
MABP	0.005	0.003	1.509	0.133	-0.001, 0.011	0.100
MABP x DM	-0.012	0.008	-1.567	0.119	-0.027, 0.003	-0.103

(Continued)

TABLE 3	(Continued)
---------	-------------

#### Mean Arterial Blood Pressure

	Estimate	SE	t-value	p-value	95%CI	Semi-partial r
Age	0.029	0.004	6.629	< 0.001	0.021, 0.038	0.403
Gender	0.063	0.075	0.843	0.400	-0.084, 0.210	0.056
BMI	-0.009	0.006	-1.608	0.109	-0.021, 0.002	-0.106
$CSFA\beta +$	0.107	0.068	1.564	0.119	-0.028, 0.242	0.103
APOE ε4 +	-0.049	0.066	-0.745	0.457	-0.178, 0.080	-0.049
ICV	0.001	0.000	2.851	0.005	0.000, 0.001	0.186

#### **Pulse Pressure Index**

	Estimate	SE	t-value	p-value	95%CI	Semi-partial r
Intercept	-2.042	0.549	-3.722	< 0.001	-3.123, -0.961	_
DM	-1.398	0.439	-3.184	0.002	-2.263, -0.533	-0.207
PPi	-0.952	0.447	-2.130	0.034	-1.832, -0.071	-0.140
PPi x DM	3.480	0.994	3.501	0.001	1.521, 5.438	0.226
Age	0.033	0.004	7.301	< 0.001	0.024, 0.041	0.436
Gender	0.059	0.073	0.816	0.415	-0.084, 0.203	0.054
BMI	-0.011	0.006	-1.962	0.051	-0.022, 0.000	-0.129
CSF A $\beta$ +	0.098	0.067	1.457	0.146	-0.034, 0.230	0.096
APOE £4 +	-0.064	0.064	-0.989	0.324	-0.191, 0.063	-0.065
ICV	0.001	0.000	2.769	0.006	0.000, 0.001	0.181

Abbreviations: DM, diabetes; SYS, systolic; DIA, diastolic; BP, blood pressure; MABP, mean arterial blood pressure; PPi, pulse pressure index; BMI, body mass index; CSF A $\beta$  +, cerebrospinal fluid amyloid beta positivity; APOE  $\epsilon$ 4 +, apolipoprotein E  $\epsilon$ 4 positivity; ICV, intracranial volume. Bold values indicate for  $p \geq 0.05$ .

hypoperfusion and ischemia that harms the surrounding brain tissue (Watson et al., 2011; Wardlaw et al., 2013; Nation et al., 2015). Evidence in support of this mechanism comes from studies linking arterial stiffening to morphological and functional brain change as early as young and mid-life (Tsao et al., 2013; Maillard et al., 2016; Pase et al., 2016), highlighting the chronic, insidious contribution of vascular disease to cognitive aging. Our findings extend this literature by demonstrating that elevated arterial stiffness, as measured by pulse pressure index values, is particularly deleterious in the presence of diabetes and MCI.

While the role of white matter alterations in cognitive aging has long been acknowledged, there is a growing body of evidence highlighting their role in the link between diabetes and late-life cognitive impairment. White matter hyperintensities are more prevalent in populations with increased vascular risk, such as those with diabetes, and several studies have shown that white matter hyperintensity burden predicts cognitive impairment and MCI in older adults (DeCarli et al., 1995; Au et al., 2006; Delano-Wood et al., 2008, 2009; Silbert et al., 2008, 2009; Bangen et al., 2018), more rapid cognitive decline within at-risk populations (Tosto et al., 2014), and the onset and progression of incident AD dementia (Wolf et al., 2000; Brickman et al., 2012; Brickman et al., 2015). Critically, findings from the present study show that, for individuals already at increased risk for developing dementia (i.e., those with MCI), diabetes in the presence of increased systemic vascular pathology is associated with greater white matter hyperintensity burden. Such findings not only suggest that arterial stiffening may contribute to the development of cerebrovascular pathology in at-risk older adults, but moreover underscore its possible utility as an early, potentially modifiable risk factor for cognitive impairment. Given the specificity of these findings to MCI, future exploration of the sensitivity and utility of sensitive brain markers of vascular insufficiency that may precede gross, end stage white matter changes observable on MRI is also warranted, as such markers may allow for the detection of similar interactive effects of arterial stiffness and diabetes within cognitively unimpaired individuals. Such research may lead to a better understanding of the pathophysiological mechanism that underlies the relationship between arterial stiffening and white matter pathogenesis in the context of diabetes, and possible targets for intervention prior to the development of cognitive impairment.

There are several strengths to the present study. This well-characterized older adult sample allowed us to adjust for multiple relevant covariates to increase confidence in the interpretation of the effects of arterial stiffness and diabetes. To this point, we have confidence in the robustness of the reported findings given that they held across various models adjusted for several relevant factors and confounds. We also identified cognitively unimpaired older adults and those with MCI within the ADNI dataset using highly sensitive diagnostic criteria that have shown to be more reliable and stable than the conventional diagnostic criteria for MCI and yield far fewer (~33%) false positives diagnostic errors (Jak et al., 2009; Bondi et al., 2014; Edmonds et al., 2015, 2016). However, there are some important limitations to the present study that must also be considered. The ADNI exclusion and inclusion criteria yielded a particularly healthy sample (on average, participants were within recommended ranges clinically for all vascular hemodynamic measures) that likely does not adequately mirror the health status of the general population. Indeed, only 9.5% of our sample met criteria for diabetes which, while comparable to diabetes prevalence in the American population, resulted in a relatively small cell size in our final diabetes analytic sample. This sample may therefore reflect a subsample of older adults with and without diabetes that has relatively reduced chronic disease and vascular risk burden compared to the general population. This more restricted range of vascular risk may also explain why PPi was not associated with WMH in our sample overall. Additionally, our sample was highly educated (average was approximately 16 years of education, while the national average for older adults age 65 + is 13 years [Ryan and Bauman, 2016]) and homogeneous with respect to race/ethnicity (predominantly White). This is an important caveat this study, particularly given ample literature documenting differences across racial/ethnics groups in diabetes prevalence and outcomes (Walker et al., 2016). Thus, our findings may apply only to a demographically specific subpopulation (i.e., highly educated older adults who identify as White and are willing and have access to participate in an Alzheimer's disease study) with a relatively restricted range of vascular disease. Additional research using more diverse, multiethnic epidemiological samples would therefore facilitate an enhanced understanding of how relationships between these variables compare across subpopulations, and moreover clarify important mechanisms that may underlie observed differences across demographic and clinical groups. Additionally, there was limited information available for this sample regarding other risk and protective factors for arterial stiffness and vascular disease (e.g., hemoglobin A1C levels, disease characteristics, disease management, health behaviors). Thus, replication of these results in a more representative community sample that is well characterized with respect to vascular risk is needed in order to further elucidate the role of arterial stiffness as a predictor of white matter pathology in aging individuals with DM. Finally, our study design was cross-sectional in nature, and thus did not address questions about directionality of these relationships nor how they might evolve over time. Future research that employs multivariate models to explore more complex associations between longitudinal pulse pressure index measurements, diabetes status, and white matter pathology is needed.

# CONCLUSION

Our results demonstrated that higher pulse pressure index values in the presence of diabetes was associated with small vessel disease as indexed by white matter hyperintensities in older adults with MCI. These findings have important implications for the early identification of individuals at risk for progressive cognitive decline and dementia, as well as the development of treatment targets to potentially stave off cognitive decline in order to optimize independence and quality of life in at-risk older adults. The proportion of people over the age of 65 is rapidly increasing in our population and the number of individuals with dementia are expected to burgeon in tandem with this population expansion. Such demographic changes will stretch resources related to the social, economic, and psychological needs of those who develop cognitive impairment in late life. While we do not yet have therapies that can reliably slow or halt cognitive decline, there are a variety of validated preventative approaches and interventions that can target vascular risk factors. Thus, identifying high-risk individuals using potentially modifiable markers, such as elevated pulse pressure index values (which is a relatively quick, cost-effective, and non-invasive proximate measure of arterial stiffness), prior to the onset of cognitive impairment may help to relieve this burden and promote independence in late adulthood, particularly in populations where vascular risk is elevated. Future longitudinal studies that include biomarkers are needed in order to clarify the etiology and timeline of the association between pulse pressure index values and different brain aging processes. Moreover, research that extends into middle age (and focuses on earlier disease states such as prediabetes) will assist in further exploring the utility of the pulse pressure index as an early marker of risk for poor cognitive outcomes in aging.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses/restrictions: The datasets analyzed for this study can be found in the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative (ADNI) database. Investigators must submit an application to access ADNI data. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to the official ADNI website: adni.loni.usc.edu.

#### **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the ethics committees/institutional review boards that approved the ADNI, including: Albany Medical Center Committee on Research Involving Human Subjects Institutional Review Board, Boston University Medical Campus and Boston Medical Center Institutional Review Board, Butler Hospital Institutional Review Board, Cleveland Clinic Institutional Review Board, Columbia University Medical Center Institutional Review Board, Duke University Health System Institutional Review Board, Emory Institutional Review Board, Georgetown University Institutional Review Board, Health Sciences Institutional Review Board, Houston Methodist Institutional Review Board, Howard University Office of Regulatory Research Compliance, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai Program for the Protection of Human Subjects, Indiana University Institutional Review Board, Institutional Review Board of Baylor College of Medicine, Jewish General Hospital Research Ethics Board, Johns Hopkins Medicine Institutional Review Board, Lifespan - Rhode Island Hospital Institutional Review Board, Mavo Clinic Institutional Review Board, Mount Sinai Medical Center Institutional Review Board, Nathan Kline Institute for Psychiatric Research and Rockland Psychiatric Center Institutional Review Board, New York University Langone Medical Center School of Medicine Institutional Review Board, Northwestern University Institutional Review Board, Oregon Health and Science University Institutional Review Board, Partners Human Research Committee Research Ethics, Board Sunnybrook Health Sciences Centre, Roper St. Francis Healthcare Institutional Review Board, Rush University Medical Center Institutional Review Board, St. Joseph's Phoenix

## REFERENCES

Alzheimer's Association [AA] (2019). 2019 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. *Alzheimer's Dementia* 15, 321–387. Institutional Review Board, Stanford Institutional Review Board, The Ohio State University Institutional Review Board, University Hospitals Cleveland Medical Center Institutional Review Board, University of Alabama Office of the IRB, University of British Columbia Research Ethics Board, University of California Davis Institutional Review Board Administration, University of California Los Angeles Office of the Human Research Protection Program, University of California San Diego Human Research Protections Program, University of California San Francisco Human Research Protection Program, University of Iowa Institutional Review Board, University of Kansas Medical Center Human Subjects Committee, University of Kentucky Medical Institutional Review Board, University of Michigan Medical School Institutional Review Board, University of Pennsylvania Institutional Review Board, University of Pittsburgh Institutional Review Board, University of Rochester Research Subjects Review Board, University of South Florida Institutional Review Board, University of Southern, California Institutional Review Board, UT Southwestern Institution Review Board, VA Long Beach Healthcare System Institutional Review Board, Vanderbilt University Medical Center Institutional Review Board, Wake Forest School of Medicine Institutional Review Board, Washington University School of Medicine Institutional Review Board, Western Institutional Review Board, Western University Health Sciences Research Ethics Board, and Yale University Institutional Review Board. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MW, KB, KT, ES, and LD-W contributed to conception and design of the study. KT and AW organized the database. MW performed the statistical analysis and wrote the manuscript. MB and EE provided consultation regarding MCI diagnosis using Jak et al. diagnostic criteria to identify CU and MCI participants in the ADNI database. DN provided consultation and guidance with respect to the use of PP as a measure for arterial stiffness and its application to the ADNI data. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by the US Department of Veterans Affairs Clinical Sciences Research and Development Service (Merit Award 1I01CX001842; CDA-2 1IK2CX001865), National Institutes of Health/National Institute of Aging (NIH/NIA) grants (R01 AG063782; R01 AG049810; and R01 AG054049), and the Alzheimer's Association (AARG-18-566254).

Arvanitakis, Z., Wilson, R. S., Bienias, J. L., Evans, D. A., and Bennett, D. A. (2004). Diabetes mellitus and risk of Alzheimer disease and decline in cognitive function. *Arch. Neurol.* 61, 661–666. doi: 10.1001/archneur.61. 5.661

- Au, R., Massaro, J. M., Wolf, P. A., Young, M. E., Beiser, A., Seshadri, S., et al. (2006). Association of white matter hyperintensity volume with decreased cognitive functioning: the framingham heart study. *Arch. Neurol.* 63, 246–250.
- Bangen, K. J., Werhane, M. L., Weigand, A. J., Edmonds, E. C., Delano-Wood, L., Thomas, K. R., et al. (2018). Reduced regional cerebral blood flow relates to poorer cognition in older adults with type 2 diabetes. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 10:270. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2018.00270
- Bondi, M. W., Edmonds, E. C., Jak, A. J., Clark, L. R., Delano-Wood, L., McDonald, C. R., et al. (2014). Neuropsychological criteria for mild cognitive impairment improves diagnostic precision, biomarker associations, and progression rates. *J. Alzheimer's Dis.* 42, 275–289. doi: 10.3233/jad-140276
- Brickman, A. M., Provenzano, F. A., Muraskin, J., Manly, J. J., Blum, S., Apa, Z., et al. (2012). Regional white matter hyperintensity volume, not hippocampal atrophy, predicts incident Alzheimer disease in the community. *Arch. Neurol.* 69, 1621–1627. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2012.1527
- Brickman, A. M., Zahodne, L. B., Guzman, V. A., Narkhede, A., Meier, I. B., Griffith, E. Y., et al. (2015). Reconsidering harbingers of dementia: progression of parietal lobe white matter hyperintensities predicts Alzheimer's disease incidence. *Neurobiol. Aging* 36, 27–32. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014. 07.019
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDCP] (2020). *National Diabetes Statistics Report, 2020.* Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, US Department of Health and Human Services, 12–15.
- Chirinos, J. A., Bhattacharya, P., Kumar, A., Proto, E., Konda, P., Segers, P., et al. (2019). Impact of diabetes mellitus on ventricular structure, arterial stiffness, and pulsatile hemodynamics in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *J. Am. Heart Assoc.* 8:e011457.
- Cohn, J. N., Duprez, D. A., and Grandits, G. A. (2005). Arterial elasticity as part of a comprehensive assessment of cardiovascular risk and drug treatment. *Hypertension* 46, 217–220. doi: 10.1161/01.hyp.0000165686.50890.c3
- Crane, P. K., Walker, R., Hubbard, R. A., Li, G., Nathan, D. M., Zheng, H., et al. (2013). Glucose levels and risk of dementia. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 369, 540–548.
- de Havenon, A., Majersik, J. J., Tirschwell, D. L., McNally, J. S., Stoddard, G., and Rost, N. S. (2019). Blood pressure, glycemic control, and white matter hyperintensity progression in type 2 diabetics. *Neurology* 92, e1168–e1175.
- de la Torre, J. C. (2010). The vascular hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: bench to bedside and beyond. *Neurodegener. Dis.* 7, 116–121. doi: 10.1159/00028 5520
- de Leeuw, F. E., de Groot, J. C., Oudkerk, M., Witteman, J. C. M., Hofman, A., Van Gijn, J., et al. (2002). Hypertension and cerebral white matter lesions in a prospective cohort study. *Brain* 125, 765–772. doi: 10.1093/brain/awf077
- Debette, S., and Markus, H. S. (2010). The clinical importance of white matter hyperintensities on brain magnetic resonance imaging: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ* 341:c3666.
- DeCarli, C., Massaro, J., Harvey, D., Hald, J., Tullberg, M., Au, R., Beiser, A., et al. (2005). Measures of brain morphology and infarction in the framingham heart study: establishing what is normal. *Neurobiol. Aging* 26, 491–510. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2004.05.004
- DeCarli, C., Miller, B. L., Swan, G. E., Reed, T., Wolf, P. A., Garner, J., et al. (1999). Predictors of brain morphology for the men of the NHLBI twin study. *Stroke* 30, 529–536. doi: 10.1161/01.str.30.3.529
- DeCarli, C., Murphy, D. G. M., Tranh, M., Grady, C. L., Haxby, J. V., Gillette, J. A., et al. (1995). The effect of white matter hyperintensity volume on brain structure, cognitive performance, and cerebral metabolism of glucose in 51 healthy adults. *Neurology* 45, 2077–2084. doi: 10.1212/wnl.45.11. 2077
- Delano-Wood, L., Abeles, N., Sacco, J. M., Wierenga, C. E., Horne, N. R., and Bozoki, A. (2008). Regional white matter pathology in mild cognitive impairment: differential influence of lesion type on neuropsychological functioning. *Stroke* 39, 794–799.
- Delano-Wood, L., Bondi, M. W., Sacco, J., Abeles, N., Jak, A. J., Libon, D. J., et al. (2009). Heterogeneity in mild cognitive impairment: differences in neuropsychological profile and associated white matter lesion pathology. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 15, 906–914.
- Edmonds, E. C., Delano-Wood, L., Jak, A. J., Galasko, D. R., Salmon, D. P., and Bondi, M. W. (2016). "Missed" mild cognitive impairment: high false-negative error rate based on conventional diagnostic criteria. *J. Alzheimer's Dis.* 52, 685–691. doi: 10.3233/jad-150986

- Edmonds, E. C., Delano-Wood, L., Clark, L. R., Jak, A. J., Nation, D. A., and McDonald, C. R. (2015). Susceptibility of the conventional criteria for mild cognitive impairment to false-positive diagnostic errors. *Alzheimer's Dementia* 11, 415–424. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2014.03.005
- Folstein, M. F., Folstein, S. E., and McHugh, P. R. (1975). "Mini-mental state": a practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *J. Psychiatric Res.* 12, 189–198.
- Franklin, S. S., Chow, V. H., Mori, A. D., and Wong, N. D. (2011). The significance of low DBP in US adults with isolated systolic hypertension. *J. Hypertens.* 29, 1101–1108.
- Hansson, O., Seibyl, J., Stomrud, E., Zetterberg, H., Trojanowski, J. Q., and Bittner, T. (2018). CSF biomarkers of Alzheimer's disease concord with amyloid-β PET and predict clinical progression: a study of fully automated immunoassays in BioFINDER and ADNI cohorts. *Alzheimer's Dementia* 14, 1470–1481. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2018.01.010
- Hayashi, K., Kurioka, S., Yamaguchi, T., Morita, M., Kanazawa, I., Takase, H., et al. (2011). Association of cognitive dysfunction with hippocampal atrophy in elderly Japanese people with type 2 diabetes. *Diab. Res. Clin. Practice* 94, 180–185.
- Jak, A. J., Bondi, M. W., Delano-Wood, L., Wierenga, C., Corey-Bloom, J., Salmon, D. P., et al. (2009). Quantification of five neuropsychological approaches to defining mild cognitive impairment. Am. J. Geriatric Psychiatry 17, 368–375.
- James, P. A., Oparil, S., Carter, B. L., Cushman, W. C., Dennison-Himmelfarb, C., Handler, J., et al. (2014). 2014 evidence-based guideline for the management of high blood pressure in adults: report from the panel members appointed to the Eighth Joint National Committee (JNC 8). J. Am. Med. Assoc. 311, 507–520.
- Maillard, P., Mitchel, L. G. F., Himali, J. J., Beiser, A., Tsao, C. W., Pase, M. P., et al. (2016). Effects of arterial stiffness on brain integrity in young adults from the framingham heart study. *Stroke* 47, 1030–1036.
- Mitchell, G. F., van Buchem, M. A., Sigurdsson, S., Gotal, J. D., Jonsdottir, M. K., Kjartansson, O., et al. (2011). Arterial stiffness, pressure and flow pulsatility and brain structure and function: the Age, Gene/Environment Susceptibility– Reykjavik study. *Brain* 134, 3398–3407. doi: 10.1093/brain/awr253
- Moran, C., Phan, T. G., Chen, J., Blizzard, L., Beare, R., Venn, A., et al. (2013). Brain atrophy in type 2 diabetes: regional distribution and influence on cognition. *Diab. Care* 36, 4036–4042. doi: 10.2337/dc13-0143
- Nation, D. A., Edland, S. D., Bondi, M. W., Salmon, D. P., Delano-Wood, L., Peskind, E. R., et al. (2013). Pulse pressure is associated with Alzheimer biomarkers in cognitively unimpaired older adults. *Neurology* 81, 2024–2027. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000436935.47657.78
- Nation, D. A., Edmonds, E. C., Bangen, K. J., Delano-Wood, L., Scanlon, B. K., Han, S. D., et al. (2015). Pulse pressure in relation to tau-mediated neurodegeneration, cerebral amyloidosis, and progression to dementia in very old adults. *JAMA Neurol.* 72, 546–553. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.4477
- Nation, D. A., Preis, S. R., Beiser, A., Bangen, K. J., Delano-Wood, L., Lamar, M., et al. (2016). Pulse pressure is associated with early brain atrophy and cognitive decline: modifying effects of APOE4. *Alzheimer Dis. Assoc. Disord.* 30:210. doi: 10.1097/wad.00000000000127
- Ohmine, T., Miwa, Y., Yao, H., Yuzuriha, T., Takashima, Y., Uchino, A., et al. (2008). Association between arterial stiffness and cerebral white matter lesions in community-dwelling elderly subjects. *Hypertension Res.* 31, 75–81. doi: 10.1291/hypres.31.75
- Pase, M. P., Himali, J. J., Mitchell, G. F., Beiser, A., Maillard, P., Tsao, C., et al. (2016). Association of aortic stiffness with cognition and brain aging in young and middle-aged adults: the framingham third generation cohort study. *Hypertension* 67, 513–519. doi: 10.1161/hypertensionaha.115.06610
- Peng-Lin, Y., and Yue-Chun, L. (2009). Pulse pressure index (pulse pressure/systolic pressure) may be better than pulse pressure for assessment of cardiovascular outcomes. *Med. Hypotheses* 72, 729–731. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2008.12.041
- Ryan, C. L., and Bauman, K. (2016). Educational Attainment in the United States: 2015. Population Characteristics. Current Population Reports. P20-578. Suitland, MD: US Census Bureau.
- Saji, N., Toba, K., and Sakurai, T. (2016). Cerebral small vessel disease and arterial stiffness: tsunami effect in the brain? *Pulse* 3, 182–189. doi: 10.1159/000443614
- Silbert, L. C., Howieson, D. B., Dodge, H., and Kaye, J. A. (2009). Cognitive impairment risk White matter hyperintensity progression matters. *Neurology* 73, 120–125. doi: 10.1212/wnl.0b013e3181ad53fd

- Silbert, L. C., Nelson, C., Howieson, D. B., Moore, M. M., and Kaye, J. A. (2008). Impact of white matter hyperintensity volume progression on rate of cognitive and motor decline. *Neurology* 71, 108–113. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000316799. 86917.37
- Sonnen, J. A., Larson, E. B., Brickell, K., Crane, P. K., Woltjer, R., Montine, T. J., et al. (2009). Different patterns of cerebral injury in dementia with or without diabetes. *Arch. Neurol.* 66, 315–322. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.200 8.579
- Teng, E., Becker, B. W., Woo, E., Knopman, D. S., Cummings, J. L., and Lu, P. H. (2010). Utility of the Functional Activities Questionnaire for distinguishing mild cognitive impairment from very mild Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer Dis. Assoc. Disord.* 24:348. doi: 10.1097/wad.0b013e3181e2fc84
- Thomas, K. R., Bangen, K. J., Weigand, A. J., Edmonds, E. C., Sundermann, E., Wong, C. G., et al. (2020). Type 2 diabetes interacts with Alzheimer disease risk factors to predict functional decline. *Alzheimer Dis. Assoc. Disord.* 34, 10–17. doi: 10.1097/wad.00000000000332
- Thomas, K. R., Edmonds, E. C., Delano-Wood, L., and Bondi, M. W. (2017). Longitudinal trajectories of informant-reported daily functioning in empirically-defined subtypes of mild cognitive impairment. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 23:521. doi: 10.1017/s1355617717000285
- Tiehuis, A. M., Mali, W. T. M., Van Raamt, A. F., Visseren, F. L. J., Biessels, G. J., and Van Zandvoort, M. J. E. (2009). Cognitive dysfunction and its clinical and radiological determinants in patients with symptomatic arterial disease and diabetes. *J. Neurol. Sci.* 283, 170–174. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2009.0 2.337
- Tosto, G., Zimmerman, M. E., Carmichael, O. T., and Brickman, A. M. (2014). Predicting aggressive decline in mild cognitive impairment: the importance of white matter hyperintensities. *JAMA Neurol.* 71, 872–877. doi: 10.1001/ jamaneurol.2014.667
- Tsao, C. W., Seshadri, S., Beiser, A. S., Westwood, A. J., Decarli, C., Au, R., et al. (2013). Relations of arterial stiffness and endothelial function to brain aging in the community. *Neurology* 81, 984–991.
- Van Harten, B., de Leeuw, F. E., Weinstein, H. C., Scheltens, P., and Biessels, G. J. (2006). Brain imaging in patients with diabetes: a systematic review. *Diab. Care* 29, 2539–2548. doi: 10.2337/dc06-1637
- Walker, R. J., Williams, J. S., and Egede, L. E. (2016). Influence of race, ethnicity and social determinants of health on diabetes outcomes. Am. J. Med. Sci. 351, 366–373. doi: 10.1016/j.amjms.2016.01.008
- Wardlaw, J. M., Smith, E. E., Biessels, G. J., Cordonnier, C., Fazekas, F., Frayne, R., et al. (2013). Neuroimaging standards for research into small vessel disease and

its contribution to ageing and neurodegeneration. *Lancet Neurol.* 12, 822-838. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(13)70124-8

- Watson, N. L., Sutton-Tyrrell, K., Rosano, C., Boudreau, R. M., Hardy, S. E., Simonsick, E. M., et al. (2011). Arterial stiffness and cognitive decline in well-functioning older adults. *J. Gerontol. Series A: Biomed. Sci. Med. Sci.* 66, 1336–1342. doi: 10.1093/gerona/ glr119
- Werhane, M. L., Thomas, K. R., Edmonds, E. C., Bangen, K. J., Tran, M., Clark, A. L., et al. (2018). Differential effect of APOE ɛ4 status and elevated pulse pressure on functional decline in cognitively unimpaired older adults. *J. Alzheimer's Dis.* 62, 1567–1578.
- Wolf, H., Ecke, G. M., Bettin, S., Dietrich, J., and Gertz, H. J. (2000). Do white matter changes contribute to the subsequent development of dementia in patients with mild cognitive impairment? A longitudinal study. *Int. J. Geriatric Psychiatry* 15, 803–812. doi: 10.1002/1099-1166(200009)15:9<803:: aid-gps190>3.0.co;2-w
- Xu, M., Huang, Y., Xie, L., Peng, K., Ding, L., Lin, L., et al. (2016). Diabetes and risk of arterial stiffness: a Mendelian randomization analysis. *Diabetes* 65, 1731–1740. doi: 10.2337/db15-1533
- Yesavage, J. A., and Sheikh, J. I. (1986). Geriatric depression scale (GDS) recent evidence and development of a shorter version. *Clin. Gerontol.* 5, 165–173. doi: 10.1300/J018v05n01\_09

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Werhane, Thomas, Bangen, Weigand, Edmonds, Nation, Sundermann, Bondi and Delano-Wood. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Leisure Activities and Their Relationship With MRI Measures of Brain Structure, Functional Connectivity, and Cognition in the UK Biobank Cohort

Melis Anatürk<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>, Sana Suri<sup>2,3</sup>, Stephen M. Smith<sup>3</sup>, Klaus P. Ebmeier<sup>2</sup> and Claire E. Sexton<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Centre for Medical Image Computing, Department of Computer Science, University College London, London, United Kingdom, <sup>2</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Warneford Hospital, University of Oxford, Oxford, United Kingdom, <sup>3</sup> Nuffield Department of Clinical Neurosciences, Wellcome Centre for Integrative Neuroimaging, Oxford Centre for Functional MRI of the Brain, John Radcliffe Hospital, University of Oxford, Oxford, United Kingdom

**Introduction:** This study aimed to evaluate whether engagement in leisure activities is linked to measures of brain structure, functional connectivity, and cognition in early old age.

**Methods:** We examined data collected from 7,152 participants of the United Kingdom Biobank (UK Biobank) study. Weekly participation in six leisure activities was assessed twice and a cognitive battery and 3T MRI brain scan were administered at the second visit. Based on responses collected at two time points, individuals were split into one of four trajectory groups: (1) stable low engagement, (2) stable weekly engagement, (3) low to weekly engagement, and (4) weekly to low engagement.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Francesca R. Farina, Trinity College Dublin, Ireland

#### Reviewed by:

Nora Bittner, Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf, Germany Rory Boyle, Trinity College Dublin, Ireland

> \*Correspondence: Melis Anatürk melis.anaturk.14@ucl.ac.uk

#### Received: 01 July 2021 Accepted: 05 October 2021 Published: 16 November 2021

#### Citation:

Anatürk M, Suri S, Smith SM, Ebmeier KP and Sexton CE (2021) Leisure Activities and Their Relationship With MRI Measures of Brain Structure, Functional Connectivity, and Cognition in the UK Biobank Cohort. Front. Aging Neurosci. 13:734866. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.734866 **Results:** Consistent weekly attendance at a sports club or gym was associated with connectivity of the sensorimotor functional network with the lateral visual ( $\beta = 0.12$ , 95%CI = [0.07, 0.18], FDR  $q = 2.48 \times 10^{-3}$ ) and cerebellar ( $\beta = 0.12$ , 95%CI = [0.07, 0.18], FDR  $q = 1.23 \times 10^{-4}$ ) networks. Visiting friends and family across the two timepoints was also associated with larger volumes of the occipital lobe ( $\beta = 0.15$ , 95%CI = [0.08, 0.21], FDR q = 0.03). Additionally, stable and weekly computer use was associated with global cognition ( $\beta = 0.62$ , 95%CI = [0.35, 0.89], FDR  $q = 1.16 \times 10^{-4}$ ). No other associations were significant (FDR q > 0.05).

**Discussion:** This study demonstrates that not all leisure activities contribute to cognitive health equally, nor is there one unifying neural signature across diverse leisure activities.

Keywords: leisure activities, brain, MRI, aging, cognition, UK Biobank

# INTRODUCTION

By 2050, the total number of older adults (i.e. individuals  $\geq$  60 years old) worldwide is expected to reach 2.1 billion (Prince et al., 2015). While improvements in life expectancy is a significant achievement of the 21st century, population aging represents a major societal challenge (World Health Organization, 2015). This is because older adults are often at a greater risk of developing
certain health conditions than their younger counterparts. For instance, an individual aged 90 or older has 25 times the risk of developing dementia compared to an individual in their late 60s (Yip et al., 2006; Brayne, 2007). Whole population rates of dementia, such as Alzheimer's disease, are projected to triple by 2050 as a consequence of population aging (Patterson, 2018). Consequently, there has been growing scientific interest in identifying modifiable factors that may reduce the risk of developing dementia and contribute to "better" brain health in late life.

Leisure activities (e.g., visiting friends and family, reading, and going to the cinema or museum) represent one set of modifiable factors that potentially support healthy cognitive aging, by promoting brain plasticity (Stern, 2012). For example, higher activity participation has been systematically linked to better cognitive performance, higher regional and global gray matter (GM) volume, fewer volumetric measures of WM lesions and less decline in the quality of white matter (WM) tracts (Fratiglioni et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2012; Sexton et al., 2013; Erickson et al., 2014; Yates et al., 2016; Anatürk et al., 2018; Chan et al., 2018; Evans et al., 2018; Matyas et al., 2019; Wassenaar et al., 2019). Variability in functional connectivity measures also appears to be partly accounted for by activity engagement, particularly for physically demanding activities (Stillman et al., 2019). However, many of these studies have employed composite measures of leisure activities, providing limited insights into the specific activities that need to be targeted to promote brain health in older individuals. Targeting non-optimal activities may in part explain the limited efficacy of current randomized-controlled trials (RCTs) on cognitive and neural outcomes (Mortimer et al., 2012; Stephen et al., 2019).

A small number of epidemiological studies have begun to shift away from the composite approach when examining the link between leisure activities and the aging brain, finding that not all activities equally contribute to the risk of cognitive impairment (Krell-Roesch et al., 2017, 2019; Fancourt et al., 2018). For example, Fancourt et al. (2018) examined data collected from 3,911 participants enrolled in the English Longitudinal Study of Aging and found that adults who visited museums, art galleries and exhibitions on a regular basis, had a lower incidence of dementia over the course of 10 years. The association between cultural activities and dementia incidence appeared to be robust, as it remained significant after adjusting for how frequently these individuals were involved in community-based activities (e.g., social clubs, volunteering, sports clubs), alongside sociodemographic (i.e., age, sex, marital status, education, employment status, wealth, and previous occupational classification), and health-related co-variates (i.e., eyesight, depression, hearing, and existing cardiovascular health conditions). Importantly, a study that aims to evaluate whether different activities relate to markers of brain health requires a comparably larger number of univariate tests, relative to when a single composite measure of leisure activity is of interest. A range of key factors also need to be appropriately adjusted for when investigating the association between leisure activities and the aging brain, due to the bias that these confounding variables can otherwise introduce in the results and conclusions

of a study, including inflated effect sizes or even spurious findings. For example, education and socio-economic status (SES) are determinants of how often a person engages in cultural activities such as visiting a museum, art gallery and exhibition (Grisolía et al., 2010; Mak et al., 2020). As low levels of education and SES are linked to an increased risk of dementia (Cadar et al., 2018; Livingston et al., 2020), demonstrating an independent relationship between cultural activities and the dementia risk strengthens the argument that these activities potentially contribute to maintaining brain health in older ages. The results of such correlational studies can then help guide randomized controlled trials (RCTs) to focus their intervention programs on a specific subset of activities, to determine whether these reported associations translate to direct effects on the aging brain. With a sample that currently exceeds several thousand well-characterized individuals, the United Kingdom Biobank (UK Biobank) study offers the statistical power to employ a more fine-grained approach to investigate the relationship between activities and markers of brain health, after adjusting for a wide range of confounders. This cohort study also offers measures of activity levels at more than one timepoint, allowing us to capture how longitudinal patterns of activities relate to metrics of brain health.

The aim of this study was to investigate whether individual leisure activities relate to MRI measures of GM volume, WM microstructure, WM lesions, resting-state functional connectivity, and cognitive function in late life. We examined six leisure activities that were available in the UK Biobank: going to a pub or social club, undertaking a religious activity, attending adult education classes, going to a sports club or gym, visiting friends and family and leisure-time computer use. Based on their self-reported activity levels at two timepoints, individuals were divided into one of four groups: (1) stable weekly participation, (2) stable low participation, (3) low to weekly participation, and (4) weekly to low participation. We predicted that weekly activity participation (both stable and increased participation over time) would associate with higher global cognitive function (Brown et al., 2012; Mitchell et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2012; Yates et al., 2016; Evans et al., 2018). We further expected that consistently high or increased participation in each leisure activity would correlate with greater structural integrity, including greater regional GM and higher WM integrity (i.e., higher fractional anisotropy (FA), lower mean diffusivity (MD; Anatürk et al., 2018). Given the limited evidence investigating activity-specific effects on resting-state functional connectivity, no predictions were made regarding this modality, so any results would be exploratory.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Sample Characteristics**

Data was provided by participants enrolled in the UK Biobank study, a large-scale prospective cohort study. These individuals were asked to complete a range of assessments including detailed lifestyle questionnaires, cognitive tests, physical measures (e.g., blood pressure and mobility tests), provide biological samples (e.g., blood, urine, and saliva) and also provide permission to access their National Health Services (NHS) health records. Since 2014, a sub-sample of the original 500,000 participants have been invited back to undergo a single session of MRI scanning of the brain, body and heart, with the goal of reaching 100,000 scanned individuals by 2022. Their recruitment continues, with regular data releases made available to researchers (Miller et al., 2016). At the time of paper preparation, imaging data from a total 15,000 participants had been released (January 2019).

In our analyses, we examine data collected from two study phases: at recruitment (2006–2010) and MRI assessment (2014+). As demonstrated in **Supplementary Figure 1**, leisure activity measures were taken from both timepoints, while MRI and cognitive data was taken at the second timepoint (mean years between timepoints = 8 years, range = 4–11 years). The UK Biobank study received ethical approval from the NHS National Research Ethics Service (Ref 11/NW/0382) and all enrolled participants gave their informed and written consent.

#### **Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria**

The sample consisted of individuals without a diagnosis of stroke or dementia for the study duration, who had completed an MRI assessment and provided complete data on leisure activities and sociodemographic, health, cognitive and lifestyle variables (for flowchart, see **Supplementary Figure 2**).

#### **Activities**

Activity levels were assessed through items displayed on a touch screen tablet. From a list of activities, participants were required to highlight those that they participated in on at least a weekly basis. Accordingly, we coded response option for each activity as (1) weekly or (2) less than weekly participation. A total of six activities were examined, which included going to a pub or social club; undertaking a religious activity; attending adult education classes; going to a sports club or gym; visiting friends and family and leisure-time computer use. Note that visiting friends and family and computer use were measured with different response options (i.e., frequency and hours) and these items were binarized into weekly/less than weekly engagement to harmonize the scales with the remaining activity measures. Further information on these items is provided in the Supplementary Methods section "Activity Measures." Individuals were then split into one of four groups: (1) weekly stable engagement, (2) low stable engagement, (3) low to weekly engagement, and (4) weekly to low engagement.

#### **Cognitive Function**

A 15-min study-specific battery of cognitive assessments was administered to participants via a touch screen tablet (Cornelis et al., 2019). The cognitive measures examined are described in **Table 1**, with a detailed description of each measure in the **Supplementary Material**. A measure of global cognitive function was computed by summing across all cognitive measures. Prior to this step, all continuous cognitive scores were standardized, with the outcomes of the alphanumeric and numeric trail making tasks and Pairs Matching test reverse scored to allow higher scores to reflect "better" performance.

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{TABLE 1}}\xspace$  | Neuropsychological tests of the UK Biobank battery examined in the present study.

Cognitive test	Outcome
Fluid intelligence	Total number of questions answered correctly (maximum score: 13)
Numeric/Alphanumeric Trail making	Time (in seconds) taken to complete the trail
Digit span	Maximum number of digits recalled (maximum score: 12)
Pairs matching	Number of incorrect matches made
Prospective memory	Whether or not participant responded correctly at first attempt
Symbol digit matching	Number of correct symbol-digit matches
Simple reaction time	Mean response time (in seconds) across the 4 trials containing matching pairs

## Demographic and Health-Related Variables

Baseline measures of age, sex, education, occupation, frequency of alcohol intake, sleep duration, body mass index (BMI), Mean arterial pressure (MAP), and social isolation (total number of individuals in household) were collected. ICD-10 diagnoses of depressive or anxiety disorders developed over the study duration was also examined. Additional information about these variables can be found in the **Supplementary Material**.

### MRI Data Acquisition and Pre-processing

Participants were scanned using identical protocols with Siemens Skyra 3T (software VB13) and a Siemens 32-channel head coil at one of two study sites (i.e., Stockport or Newcastle).

T<sub>1</sub>-weighted images, diffusion-weighted images, T2 FLAIR images and resting-state functional images were assessed. Summary measures of brain structure and functional connectivity, or Image Derived Phenotypes (IDPs), have been generated on behalf of UK Biobank (Alfaro-Almagro et al., 2018) and are available from UK Biobank upon data access application. For a detailed description of the imaging protocol and pre-processing steps, please see the Supplementary Material. The IDPs generated from this pipeline consisted of total and regional GM volume (142 IDPs), total WM volume and lesions within WM (2 IDPs), WM microstructure (FA and MD in 27 pre-defined tracts, 54 IDPs), and partial correlation functional connectivity between large-scale resting-state networks (210 IDPs). GM and WM IDPs were averaged across left and right hemispheres, resulting in a total of 76 GM outcomes and 63 WM outcomes. For a comprehensive list of all IDPs examined in our study, please see Supplementary File: List of MRI Outcomes.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

All analyses were performed in R (version 3.5.2). The lm function in R was used to fit a series of linear models to evaluate the relationship between each type of activity (e.g., going to a sports club or gym; visiting friends and family) and each of the neuroimaging outcomes and global cognition, after adjusting for a range of co-variates. The co-variates included age, sex, education, occupational status, assessment center, BMI, Mean Arterial Pressure (MAP), frequency of alcohol intake, sleep duration, the presence of depressive or anxiety disorders and the number of individuals living in a household. Mean head motion and head size were also included as co-variates in the analysis of neuroimaging metrics. Six linear models (one for each type of activity) were run across the entire sample for every activityoutcome combination, with 139 MRI outcomes (i.e., 76 GM and 63 WM measures) and 1 cognitive outcome examined. This resulted in a total of 840 linear regressions that were conducted, with an example of the general formulae used for these models provided below:

 $y = \beta 0 + \beta 1$  weekly stable activity engagement +  $\beta 2$  low to weekly activity engagement +  $\beta$ 3 weekly to low activity engagement +  $\beta$ 4 age +  $\beta$ 5 sex +  $\beta$ 6 education +  $\beta$ 7 occupation +  $\beta 8$  assessment center +  $\beta 9$  body mass index +  $\beta 10$  mean arterial pressure +  $\beta$ 11 alcohol intake +  $\beta$  12 sleep duration +  $\beta$ 13 depressive/anxiety disorder +  $\beta$ 14 number in household +  $\beta$ 15 mean head motion (MRI outcomes only) +  $\beta$ 16 head size (MRI outcomes only) +  $\varepsilon$ .

Prior to the analysis, the distributions of all dependent variables were screened, with the distributions of total WM lesions log-transformed due to non-normality. All continuous variables were also standardized before the analysis, while categorical variables were dummy coded. A total of three dummy variables were used to reflect different engagement patterns for a given activity: (1) weekly stable activity engagement (=1, all other groups = 0), (2) low to weekly activity engagement (=1, all other responses = 0), and (3) weekly to low activity engagement (=1, all other responses = 0). Based on prior evidence indicating that low levels of activity are linked to poorer brain health and cognitive outcomes (Brown et al., 2012; Mitchell et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2012; Yates et al., 2016; Anatürk et al., 2018), individuals in the "low stable" group were chosen as our reference category. Comparisons of age, sex and education and ICD-10 diagnosis of anxiety/depression between each group for a given activity can be found in Supplementary File: Group Comparisons.

Due to the number of univariate tests conducted, FDRcorrections were applied. To facilitate these corrections, the p.adjust function in R was applied with a two-tailed FDR qvalue < 0.05 considered significant (Cox et al., 2019). We report standardized beta coefficients ( $\beta$ ), 95% confidence intervals and FDR q-values in the main text. The results of all associations examined are also included in the Supplementary File: Results. Excluded and included participants were compared on age, sex, education and ICD-10 diagnosis of anxiety or depression, which are reported in Supplementary Table 1.

#### RESULTS

#### **Participant Demographics**

Table 2 provides a detailed description of the sample demographics. In brief, a total of 7,152 participants were included in the analysis of neuroimaging outcomes. Participants were on average 56.39 years old (SD = 7.31) at baseline and

		Range
No. of participants	7,152	
Duration between baseline	7.55	4.29–10.85
and MRI scan (years)		
Demographics		
Age at baseline (years)	$56.39 \pm 7.31$	40–70
Age at MRI scan (years)	$63.94 \pm 7.32$	46-80
No. of females (%)	3,897 (54.5)	
Highest educational qualification (%)	O levels/GCSE = 146 (2%)     A levels/AS = 3 NVQ/HND/HNC = 2213 (3 (50.7%)	98 (5.6%) 0.9%)   CU = 3624
Occupational status n. (%)	0 = 1480 (20.7%)   1 = 1 (0.4%)   3 = 37 (0.5%)   4 = (2.2%)   6 = 513 (7.2%)   7 8 = 2290 (32%)   9 =	7 (0.2%)   2 = 29 58 (0.8%)   5 = 154 7 = 1046 (14.6%)
Activities		
No. (%) reporting weekly participation at	Baseline	Follow-up
Leisure-time computer use	6,340 (88.7)	6,778 (94.8)
Visiting friends and family	5,750 (80.4)	5,874 (82.1)
Going to the pub or social club	2,540 (35.5)	2,513 (35.1)
Undertaking religious activities	1,723 (24.1)	1,770 (24.8)
Attending educational courses	903 (12.6)	775 (10.8)
Going to a sports club or gym	3,852 (50.1)	3,539 (49.5)
Health and Lifestyle		Range
BMI (kg/m²)	$26.4 \pm 4.01$	16.14–55.07
MAP	$99.57 \pm 11.84$	60-152.83
No. (%) with ICD-10 diagnosis of	51 (0.71)	
Depression/Anxiety	7.01 + 0.00	0.40
Sleep duration (hours/night)	7.21 ± 0.93	2–13
Alcohol (frequency/week)	0 = 300 (4.2%)   1 = 499 (7 3 = 1,837 (25.7%)   4 = 5 = 1,669 (25)	2,183 (30.5%)
Structural MRI measures		
Total GM (volume, mm <sup>3</sup> )	613,301.98 ± 54,614.44	443,926-832,927
WM (volume, mm <sup>3</sup> )	547,421.16 ± 61,214.82	362,561-804,641
CSF (volume, mm <sup>3</sup> )	36,479.39 ± 17,032.15	7,613.27–157,075
WM hyperintensities (volume, mm <sup>3</sup> )*	2,752 (4054.5)	30–86,534
Cognitive function ( $n = 1,734$	)	
Fluid intelligence score	7.04 ± 1.93	1–13
Alphanumeric trail making (seconds)*	47.9 (20.08)	21.10-242.10
Numerie treil melking	10.0 (6.5)	0.40.112.00

(Continued)

9.40-112.90

0 - 28

Numeric trail making

Pairs matching test (total

(seconds)\*

errors)\*

19.9 (6.5)

6(4)

#### TABLE 2 | (Continued)

		Range
Simple reaction time (seconds)	$0.59 \pm 0.1$	0.37–1.34
No. of correct symbol-digit matches	$19.74 \pm 5.14$	2–36
Backward digit span score	$6.91 \pm 1.22$	2–12
Prospective memory score (No. % correct)	1,510 (87.1%)	

Values are Mean  $\pm$  Standard deviation and N (%) for categorical variables, unless otherwise stated. \*Median (IQR) reported.

BMI, body mass index; BP, blood pressure; CSE, certificate of secondary education, CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; CU, college or university degree, GCSE, general certificate of secondary education; GM, gray matter; HNC, higher national certificate; HND, higher national diploma; ICD, international classification of diseases; MAP, mean arterial pressure; MRI, magnetic resonance imaging; OL, O-levels, N, number; NVQ, national vocational gualifications; WM, white matter. Occupational status was coded according to the following scale: 0 = "Unemployed/Retired/Unable to work/Student," 1 = "Elementary Occupations," 2 = "Process, plant and machine operatives," 3 = "Sales and Customer Service Occupations," 4 = "Personal Service Occupations," 5 = "Skilled Trades Occupations," 6 = "Administrative and Secretarial Occupations," 7 = "Associate Professional and Technical Occupations," 8 = "Professional Occupations," and 9 = "Manager and Senior Officials. Alcohol intake was measured on a 5-point scale: 5 = "daily or almost daily," 4 = "three or four times a week," 3 = "once or twice a week," 2 = "one to three times a month," and 1 = "special occasions only" or 0 = "never."

63.94 years old (SD = 7.32) at follow-up. Females represented 54.5% of the sample (n = 3,897). A substantially smaller number of individuals had provided complete data for all cognitive measures at follow-up and were therefore analyzed as a sub-set (n = 1,734) of the main sample. The percentage of participants in each activity group (along with the percentage of females) are reported in Table 3. Comparisons between the analytical samples and excluded participants (Supplementary Table 1) suggested that the MRI sample were significantly older, more educated and had a higher occupation status and higher proportion of females than compared to excluded participants. These group differences were also found for sex, education and occupational status in the cognitive sample. No significant group differences were observed in the proportion of individuals with an ICD-10 diagnoses of anxiety/depression in either sample. For group comparisons on these variables between each activity group, please see Supplementary File: Group Comparisons.

#### **Cognitive Function**

Stable weekly computer use was linked to higher global cognitive performance, relative to stable low computer use ( $\beta = 0.62$ , 95%CI = [0.35, 0.89], FDR  $q = 1.16 \times 10^{-4}$ ). No other activities were significantly linked to cognitive performance (FDR q's > 0.05).

#### Structural MRI

Stable weekly family/friend visits were associated with higher GM volume in the occipital pole, in comparison to individuals consistently reporting infrequent family and friend visits ( $\beta = 0.15$ , 95%CI = [0.08, 0.21], FDR q = 0.03). No significant associations were found for any other activity with GM volume,

**TABLE 3** | Summarizing the number of individuals in each activity group, for the

 MRI and cognitive samples.

Activity	Stable low engagement	Weekly to low engagement	Low to weekly engagement	Stable weekly engagement
MRI sample				
Computer use No. of females (%)	197 (2.8%); 129 (65.5%)	177 (2.5%); 120 (67.8%)	615 (8.6%); 412 (67%)	6163 (86.2%) ; 3,236 (52.5%)
Educational classes No. of females (%)	5804 (81.2%); 2,947 (50.8%)	573 (8%); 387 (67.5%)	445 (6.2%); 312 (70.1%)	330 (4.6%); 251 (76.1%)
Religious activities No. of females (%)	5,208 (72.8%); 2,659 (51.1%)	174 (2.4%); 106 (60.9%)	221 (3.1%); 152 (68.8%)	1,549 (21.7%); 980 (63.6%)
Pub/social club No. of females (%)	3974 (55.6%); 2,573 (64.7%)	665 (9.3%); 347 (52.2%)	638 (8.9%); 340 (53.3%)	1875 (26.2%); 637 (34%)
Sports club/gym No. of females (%)	2707 (37.8%); 1,408 (52%)	906 (12.7%); 529 (58.4%)	875 (12.2%); 525 (60%)	2664 (37.2%); 1,435 (53.9%)
<b>Visiting friends/family</b> No. of females (%)	685 (9.6%) ; 314 (45.8%)	593 (8.3%); 277 (46.7%)	717 (10%); 377 (52.6%)	5157 (72.1%); 2,929 (56.8%)
Cognitive sample	•			
<b>Computer use</b> No. of females (%)	45 (2.6%); 31 (68.9%)	48 (2.8%); 36 (75%)	142 (8.2%); 89 (62.7%)	1,499 (86.4%); 795 (53%)
Educational classes No. of females (%)	1,385 (79.9%) ; 704 (50.8%)	161 (9.3%); 107 (66.5%)	110 (6.3%); 83 (75.5%)	78 (4.5%); 57 (73.1%)
Religious activities No. of females (%)	1,270 (73.2%) ; 643 (50.6%)	44 (2.5%); 27 (61.4%)	45 (2.6%); 34 (75.6%)	375 (21.6%); 247 (65.9%)
Pub/social club No. of females (%)	958 (55.2%); 638 (66.6%)	162 (9.3%); 87 (53.7%)	169 (9.7%); 82 (48.5%)	445 (25.7%); 144 (32.4%)
<b>Sports club/gym</b> No. of females (%)	621 (35.8%); 325 (52.3%)	208 (12%); 119 (57.2%)	241 (13.9%) 137 (56.8%)	370 (55.7%)
Visiting friends/family No. of females (%)	167 (9.6%) ; 73 (43.7%)	155 (8.9%); 73 (47.1%)	184 (10.6%) 92 (50%)	; 1,228 (70.8%) 515 (41.9%)

Numbers and percentages are reported as well as the percentage of females in each group. For comparisons of age, sex, education and the presence of ICD-10 diagnoses of anxiety/depression, please see **Supplementary File**: Group Comparisons.

tract-specific FA or MD, total WM volume or lesions (FDR q's > 0.05).

#### **Functional MRI**

Stable weekly engagement at a sports club or gym was associated with stronger absolute connectivity between the sensorimotor network and lateral visual network, relative to stable low engagement ( $\beta = 0.12$ , 95%CI = [0.07, 0.18], FDR  $q = 2.04 \times 10^{-2}$ ; **Figure 1**). Similarly, stronger connectivity was also observed between the sensorimotor and cerebellar networks for this activity ( $\beta = 0.12$ , 95%CI = [0.07, 0.18], FDR  $q = 2.04 \times 10^{-2}$ ; **Figure 1**). The association for sensorimotor-cerebellar network connectivity ( $\beta = 0.12$ , 95%CI = [0.07, 0.18], FDR  $q = 1.23 \times 10^{-4}$ ) and sensorimotor-lateral visual network connectivity ( $\beta = 0.12$ , 95%CI = [0.07, 0.18], FDR  $q = 1.23 \times 10^{-4}$ ) and sensorimotor-lateral visual network connectivity ( $\beta = 0.12$ , 95%CI = [0.07, 0.18], FDR  $q = 2.48 \times 10^{-3}$ ) remained significant after adjusting



for physical activity levels (i.e., summed weekly Metabolic equivalent of task (MET) minutes, n. with physical activity information = 6,289) and global GM volume. There were no significant associations between any other activity and resting-state functional connectivity strength (FDR q > 0.05).

#### DISCUSSION

We present the largest multi-modal study to examine whether patterns of engagement in leisure activities associate with markers of brain structure, functional connectivity, and cognition. We found that stable weekly participation in a sports club or gym correlated positively with connectivity of the sensorimotor network. Additionally, weekly visits to or from family and friends was associated with higher volumetric measures of GM in the occipital pole. However, apart from consistent leisure time computer use, no other activity was significantly linked to global cognition. Each of these results are discussed, in turn.

One of our main findings was that consistent, weekly visits to a gym or sports club correlated with greater absolute connectivity of the sensorimotor network and cerebellar network, relative to infrequent attendance over time. Similar activation patterns at rest and during task execution indicate that both the sensorimotor and cerebellar networks play a role in motor tasks (Smith et al., 2009), potentially interacting with one another to support motor behavior. Subdivisions of the cerebellum are typically found within the sensorimotor network (Habas et al., 2009; Dobromyslin et al., 2012), an observation that was also replicated in our study (**Supplementary Figure 3**). The present findings additionally identified a link between connectivity of the sensorimotor and lateral visual network in individuals reporting consistent gym and sports club attendance across time, suggesting that sustained activity engagement contributes to enhanced visual-motor coupling. Potentially underlying this relationship is the importance of visual information in regulating and updating current behavior during physical exercise (Mallek et al., 2017). Our findings are in line with a previous study reporting strengthened connectivity between regions involved in the sensorimotor network, cerebellar and visual network, following a 13-week cognitive and motor skills training intervention (Demirakca et al., 2016). Task based fMRI has also highlighted a greater BOLD response in regions involved in these networks (Domingos et al., 2021). For example, the supplementary motor areas, precentral gyrus, angular gyrus and supramarginal gyrus were among the areas to demonstrate greater BOLD activation during a famous face recognitions task, in a group of adults (age range = 65 to 85) reporting high physical activity levels (n = 34) relative to a low physical activity group (n = 34, Smith et al., 2011). However, stronger connectivity between resting-state networks in an aging sample is not entirely straightforward to interpret. For instance, older adults often exhibit less segregated sensorimotor networks (i.e., lower withinnetwork connectivity and higher between-network connectivity) when compared to younger adults, with these increases in connectivity linked to poorer task performance (e.g., reaction time, dexterity; Cassady et al., 2019). Additionally, physical activity levels did not account for the associations observed across the sensorimotor-visual-cerebellar networks, suggesting that other factors (e.g., physical fitness or socially interacting with others) may support these associations.

A difficulty in interpreting our findings is that while gym/sports club attendance was linked to greater connectivity between the visual and sensorimotor networks, no parallel associations were found between this activity and cognition, despite an established link between physical activity participation and cognitive function (Kelly et al., 2014; Erickson et al., 2019). The absence of a relationship with global cognition may be partly explained by the lower statistical power present in the analyses of cognitive function relative to the MRI analyses, due to the smaller sample size (1,734 individuals versus 7,152 individuals in the MRI sample). As we focused our analyses on global cognition, our study may have also failed to detect specific cognitive domains that are sensitive to gym/sports club participation (e.g., executive function (Erickson et al., 2019). Future studies examining cognitive subdomains could therefore provide novel insights into the cognitive correlates of these types of activities. Additionally, we were only able to generate a crude measure of activity participation based on the measures available in the UK Biobank study, which potentially hampered our ability to detect a link between gym/sports club attendance and cognitive function. Specifically, the granularity of our activity measure may have prevented us from capturing sufficient inter-individual variation in activity levels, such as between individuals who attended a gym/sports club once a week to those who attend it on a more regular basis (e.g., five times a week). Further work would therefore benefit from using more fine-grained assessments of activities (e.g., duration and frequency), as this approach could offer enhanced sensitivity in detecting associations between gym/sport club attendance and cognitive function. A final and more general consideration is that attending the gym or sports clubs is unlikely to serve as an accurate proxy of overall physical activity levels, as many activities can be performed outside of these settings (e.g., running and cycling). This could explain why our study failed to replicate well-established links between physical activity, GM and WM outcomes (Cheng, 2016; Sexton et al., 2016; Wassenaar et al., 2019).

Another of our key findings was that consistently visiting friends and family on a weekly basis associated with higher GM volume in the occipital pole, relative to low and stable patterns. This finding offers partial support for our second hypothesis. Two previous studies have also reported a relationship between higher social activity levels and higher GM volume within this region (James et al., 2012; Arenaza-Urquijo et al., 2016), consistent with the "brain maintenance" (Nyberg et al., 2012) or "brain reserve" (Stern, 2012) hypotheses. However, other studies have not replicated this association (Foubert-Samier et al., 2012; Seider et al., 2016; Anatürk et al., 2020), or otherwise report associations across frontal, parietal and temporal regions (Valenzuela et al., 2008; Arenaza-Urquijo et al., 2015; Seider et al., 2016). The discrepant findings may be due to the use of a cross-sectional assessment of activities in most of these studies or alternatively a lack of assessment into activity-specific relationships. While the frontal and temporal regions are considered to be the most age-sensitive, GM in the occipital cortex also demonstrates a negative relationship with age (e.g., Allen et al., 2005; Fjell and Walhovd, 2010; Lemaitre et al., 2012; Raz et al., 2005). Sustained interpersonal interactions could potentially prevent age-related neuronal or synaptic loss or otherwise promote synaptic or dendritic plasticity (Anatürk et al., 2018). Animal studies offer support for this interpretation (e.g., Briones et al., 2004; Okuda et al., 2009; Zhao et al., 2011; Jung and Herms, 2014), with one study reporting an increase in the synaptic density of the rat visual cortex after housing in an enriched environment for a month (Briones et al., 2004). At the same time, the selectivity of the occipital cortex needs to be interpreted with caution, given the "blunt" nature of our activity measure. Overall, our results suggest that encouraging middle-aged and older adults to stay engaged with their existing social network could potentially be an important avenue for supporting individuals through their later years of life.

Individuals who consistently reported weekly computer use had higher global cognitive performance, relative to those who consistently reported less frequent participation over time. Despite the small number of individuals in the low and stable group (i.e., reference group; n = 197) this association was one of the few to survive FDR corrections. These results are in line with prior findings indicating a link between frequent computer (Tun and Lachman, 2010) and internet use (Berner et al., 2019) and better cognitive function. Our findings further complement the observation that computerized cognitive training programs lead to improvements in trained cognitive domains, with some findings suggesting transfer to untrained domains (e.g., Kueider et al., 2012; Nguyen et al., 2019). While speculative, the pathway linking computer use to cognition could be through an increased exposure to novelty (e.g., reading articles online), a greater demand on psychomotor skill (through mouse use and typing) and/or the opportunity to engage several domains of cognition at once (e.g., attention and memory when playing computer games; Tun and Lachman, 2010). Nevertheless, we cannot rule out the explanation that individuals who frequently use the computer are more accustomed to using technology and may have had an advantage to non-users on the computerized cognitive assessments administered in the UK Biobank. Reverse causation could alternatively explain our results, such that individuals with higher levels of cognitive function are inclined to spend more of their time using computers relative to individuals with lower levels of global cognition. While no structural or functional correlates were found for this activity, a link with GM volume in the putamen was detected at trend-level  $(\beta = 0.22, 95\%$ CI = [0.12, 0.33], FDR *q* = 0.07), **Supplementary** File: Results). The putamen is implicated in both movement preparation and execution and non-motor functions, (e.g., executive control, working and episodic memory and category fluency, Ell et al., 2011) and although the trend reported here needs to be independently validated by future studies, it could represent a potential region of interest for studies investigating potential mediators of the computer-cognition association. Taken together, our results suggest that improving computer use level among middle-aged adults represents an important aim of future RCTs, which will also concurrently establish the directionality of the associations reported here.

Otherwise, contrary to our hypotheses, none of the other activities examined (i.e., going to the pub or social clubs, attending an adult educational class, undertaking religious activities) were associated with markers of GM, WM microstructure, functional connectivity or cognitive function, after FDR corrections. While prior meta-analytic investigations have identified associations with brain structure (Anatürk et al., 2018) and cognition (Kuiper et al., 2016) when composite measures of activities were used, our results suggest that comparatively speaking, they do not uniquely contribute to brain health in early late life. The alternative explanation is that the crude measure of activity levels used in our study potentially attenuated associations between these activities and neural/cognitive outcomes. Therefore, an important next step for this line of work is to examine whether our results are replicated when assessing other dimensions of engagement (i.e., duration and frequency). Considering that the present findings imply dissociable effects between activities in braincognition associations, our results are in favor of an approach sensitive to these inter-activity differences when the statical power of a study allows for it. However, it also needs to be considered that cumulative engagement over separate activities is likely necessary for sustained improvement in brain function, especially as only weak associations were found for the individual activities investigated in our study. Accordingly, we repeated our results with the inclusion of cumulative leisure activities (i.e., number of activities engaged in on a weekly basis across the two timepoints) and found that although cumulative activities were not significantly linked to any MRI or cognitive outcomes, a trend (i.e.,  $\beta = 0.03$ , 95%CI = [0.02, 0.05], FDR q = 0.066, **Supplementary File:** Results [Posthoc MRI results]) was detected for higher cumulative activity and stronger connectivity between the medial visual and posterior default mode network, which was not observed for any specific activity. Hence, activity-specific associations could serve as complementary to that of composite leisure activity scores. Overall, our results are informative to clinicians and researchers planning intervention studies as we highlight several activities that may play a role in maintaining brain health in older adult populations.

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

The core strength of this study is the use of longitudinal leisure activity data provided by a large cohort of middleaged and older adults. This design enabled novel insights into the neural and cognitive correlates of life activities, while minimizing the risk of recall errors inherent in retrospective assessments of baseline activity levels (Gow et al., 2017). Furthermore, corrections for multiple comparisons were applied to minimize the risk of type I errors, due to the large number of associations examined. However, we were only able to examine six activities due to limited coverage in the Biobank study. Other common activities, such as reading (Paillard-Borg et al., 2009) were not investigated. There was also a lack of specificity in some of the activity items, for example, no information was collected on the type of social or sports clubs that respondents attended. These highlighted weaknesses in our activity measure reflect a more general limitation in the field, where activity questionnaires are often brief or otherwise include non-specific items on club participation (e.g., Cognitive Activities Scale (Wilson et al., 1999, 2003, 2005); Cognitive Reserve Index Questionnaire (Nucci et al., 2012); Cognitive & Leisure Activity Scale (Galvin et al., 2021). We therefore recommend that the activity measures employed by future studies include a comprehensive list of activities and integrate an open-ended question that allows respondents to clarify the type of sports/social clubs that they participate in during their leisure time.

The observational design is also a major weakness of this study. Due to the opportunistic self-selected nature of the sample, we are unable to rule out reverse causation or residual confounding by a third unaccounted for variable. Additionally, at the time of manuscript preparation only a single timepoint of MRI data was available, meaning that the associations reported between gym/sports club attendance and connectivity of the sensorimotor and lateral network could reflect preexisting differences in visual-motor coupling between individuals who engage frequently in this activity compared to those who do so infrequently. Future releases of longitudinal MRI data from the UK Biobank study will help to delineate the directionality of these associations and RCTs will serve to establish whether the reported associations translate to direct effects. Cohort effects serve as another alternative explanation of our results. For example, while older individuals who are now fully engaged with technology may gain cognitive benefits, the same effects might not be observed in 20 years' time as it becomes more common for individuals to become computer literate from a young age. We also note significant differences between individuals included in the sample to those excluded, with those included generally being older, more educated and from a higher occupational grade and more likely to be female. These comparisons complement the observation that the larger Biobank cohort is not entirely representative of the British general population (Fry et al., 2017). This would suggest that our results are most applicable to those who share similar characteristics to our sample and may not equally generalize to all middle- and olderaged adults.

A final limitation of our study is that while we compared each trajectory group against the "low and stable" group for each activity, we did not compare these trajectory groups against each other, which may have revealed further insights into how differences in activity trajectories relate to brain structure, functional connectivity and cognition. This study therefore represents an initial step toward better characterizing activity-specific associations with the brain but is by no means exhaustive. Further work is required to parse out the specific set of activities that have greater implications for brain aging, generating evidence that may help improve current RCTs designs and retirement programs to ensure that the most promising activities are targeted.

### CONCLUSION

We found that sustained sports club/gym attendance was linked to greater absolute connectivity of the sensorimotor connectivity although no parallel associations with cognition were found. Conversely, consistent family and friend visits over time were associated with higher volumetric measures of GM in the occipital cortex. Only weekly leisure time computer use over time was linked higher levels of global cognition. Overall, this study demonstrates selective associations between different leisure activities, highlighting several that may be relevant for RCTs aiming to promoting cognitive health in late life.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses/restrictions: Data access to the UK Biobank will need to requested through a standard data access procedure. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to http://www. ukbiobank.ac.uk/register-apply.

#### **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by NHS National Research Ethics Service (Ref 11/NW/0382). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

SMS provided the overall scientific strategy for UK Biobank brain imaging. MA planned and conducted the analyses and prepared the manuscript, including all tables and the figures. SS, SMS, CES, and KPE provided feedback and comments on all versions of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

#### FUNDING

This research was conducted using the UK Biobank Resource under the approved application of 45301. The UK Biobank resource and brain imaging extension was funded by the UK Medical Research Council and the Wellcome Trust. MA was supported by the Clarendon Trust DPhil Fellowship and HDH Wills 1965 Charitable Trust (1117747). SS was supported by a fellowship from the UK Alzheimer's Society (Ref 441), the EU Horizon 2020 Program "Lifebrain" (Grant No. 732592) and WIN (203139/Z/16/Z). SMS receives support from the Wellcome Trust (098369/Z/12/Z, 203139/Z/16/Z). KPE reports support from the UK Medical Research Council (G1001354, MR/K013351/),

### REFERENCES

- Alfaro-Almagro, F., Jenkinson, M., Bangerter, N. K., Andersson, J. L. R., Griffanti, L., Douaud, G., et al. (2018). Image processing and quality control for the first 10,000 brain imaging datasets from UK Biobank. *Neuroimage* 166, 400–424. doi: 10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2017.10.034
- Allen, J. S., Bruss, J., Brown, C. K., and Damasio, H. (2005). Normal neuroanatomical variation due to age: the major lobes and a parcellation of the temporal region. *Neurobiol. Aging* 26, 1245–1260. doi: 10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2005.05.023
- Anatürk, M., Demnitz, N., Ebmeier, K. P., and Sexton, C. E. (2018). A systematic review and meta-analysis of structural magnetic resonance imaging studies investigating cognitive and social activity levels in older adults. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 93, 71–84. doi: 10.1016/J.NEUBIOREV.2018.06.012
- Anatürk, M., Suri, S., Zsoldos, E., Filippini, N., Mahmood, A., Singh-Manoux, A., et al. (2020). Associations between longitudinal trajectories of cognitive and social activities and brain health in old age. *JAMA Netw. Open* 3:e2013793. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.13793
- Arenaza-Urquijo, E. M., de Flores, R., Gonneaud, J., Wirth, M., Ourry, V., Callewaert, W., et al. (2016). Distinct effects of late adulthood cognitive and physical activities on gray matter volume. *Brain Imag. Behav.* 11, 346–356. doi: 10.1007/s11682-016-9617-3
- Arenaza-Urquijo, E. M., Wirth, M., and Chételat, G. (2015). Cognitive reserve and lifestyle: moving towards preclinical Alzheimer's disease. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 7:134. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2015.00134
- Berner, J., Comijs, H., Elmståhl, S., Welmer, A.-K., Sanmartin Berglund, J., Anderberg, P., et al. (2019). Maintaining cognitive function with internet use: a two-country, six-year longitudinal study. *Int. Psychoger.* 31, 929–936. doi: 10.1017/S1041610219000668
- Brayne, C. (2007). The elephant in the roomhealthy brains in later life, epidemiology and public health. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 8, 233–239. doi: 10.1038/ nrn2091
- Briones, T. L., Klintsova, A. Y., and Greenough, W. T. (2004). Stability of synaptic plasticity in the adult rat visual cortex induced by complex environment exposure. *Brain Res.* 1018, 130–135. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2004.06.001
- Brown, C. L., Gibbons, L. E., Kennison, R. F., Robitaille, A., Lindwall, M., Mitchell, M. B., et al. (2012). Social activity and cognitive functioning over time: a coordinated analysis of four longitudinal studies. *J. Aging Res.* 2012, 1–12. doi: 10.1155/2012/287438

the HDH Wills 1965 Charitable Trust (1117747), Alzheimer's Research UK (PPG2012A-5), and the European Commission (Horizon 2020 grant "Lifebrain," 732592). SS and CES were supported by the NIHR Oxford Biomedical Research Center located at the Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust and the University of Oxford, the NIHR Oxford Health BRC. The Wellcome Center for Integrative Neuroimaging was supported by core funding from the Wellcome Trust (203139/Z/16/Z).

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank all participants of the UK Biobank study who have dedicated their valuable time toward this project and the UK Biobank team for collecting, preparing, and providing data used in this work.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnagi. 2021.734866/full#supplementary-material

- Cadar, D., Lassale, C., Davies, H., Llewellyn, D. J., Batty, G. D., and Steptoe, A. (2018). Individual and area-based socioeconomic factors associated with dementia incidence in England: evidence from a 12-year follow-up in the English longitudinal study of ageing. *JAMA Psychiatry* 75, 723–732. doi: 10. 1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.1012
- Cassady, K., Gagnon, H., Lalwani, P., Simmonite, M., Foerster, B., Park, D., et al. (2019). Sensorimotor network segregation declines with age and is linked to GABA and to sensorimotor performance. *Neuroimage* 186, 234–244. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuroimage.2018.11.008
- Chan, D., Shafto, M., Kievit, R., Matthews, F., Spink, M., Valenzuela, M., et al. (2018). Lifestyle activities in mid-life contribute to cognitive reserve in late-life, independent of education, occupation, and late-life activities. *Neurobiol. Aging* 70, 180–183. doi: 10.1016/J.NEUROBIOLAGING.2018.06.012
- Cheng, S.-T. T. (2016). Cognitive reserve and the prevention of dementia: the role of physical and cognitive activities. *Curr. Psychiatry Rep.* 18:85. doi: 10.1007/ s11920-016-0721-2
- Cornelis, M. C., Wang, Y., Holland, T., Agarwal, P., Weintraub, S., and Morris, M. C. (2019). Age and cognitive decline in the UK biobank. *PLoS One* 14:e0213948. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0213948
- Cox, S. R., Lyall, D. M., Ritchie, S. J., Bastin, M. E., Harris, M. A., Buchanan, C. R., et al. (2019). Associations between vascular risk factors and brain MRI indices in UK biobank. *Eur. Heart J.* 40, 2290–2300. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehz100
- Demirakca, T., Cardinale, V., Dehn, S., Ruf, M., and Ende, G. (2016). The exercising brain: changes in functional connectivity induced by an integrated multimodal cognitive and whole-body coordination training. *Neural. Plast.* 2016:8240894. doi: 10.1155/2016/8240894
- Dobromyslin, V. I., Salat, D. H., Fortier, C. B., Leritz, E. C., Beckmann, C. F., Milberg, W. P., et al. (2012). Distinct functional networks within the cerebellum and their relation to cortical systems assessed with independent component analysis. *Neuroimage* 60, 2073–2085. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.01.139
- Domingos, C., Pêgo, J. M., and Santos, N. C. (2021). Effects of physical activity on brain function and structure in older adults: a systematic review. *Behav. Brain Res.* 402:113061. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2020.11 3061
- Ell, S., Helie, S., and Hutchinson, S. (2011). "Contributions of the putamen to cognitive function," in *Horizons in Neuroscience Research*, (Nova Science Publishers Inc), 29–52. Available online at: http://ahuman.org/svn/ahengine/ research/articles/Biological/2011-Contributions-of-putamen-to-cognitivefunction.pdf (accessed July 29, 2019).

- Erickson, K. I., Hillman, C., Stillman, C. M., Ballard, R. M., Bloodgood, B., Conroy, D. E., et al. (2019). Physical activity, cognition, and brain outcomes: a review of the 2018 physical activity guidelines. *Med. Sci. Sports Exerc.* 51, 1242–1251. doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000001936
- Erickson, K. I., Leckie, R. L., and Weinstein, A. M. (2014). Physical activity, fitness, and gray matter volume. *Neurobiol. Aging* 35, S20–S28. doi: 10.1016/ j.neurobiolaging.2014.03.034
- Evans, I. E. M., Martyr, A., Collins, R., Brayne, C., and Clare, L. (2018). Social isolation and cognitive function in later life: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J. Alzheimer's Dis. 70, S119–S144. doi: 10.3233/JAD-180501
- Fancourt, D., Steptoe, A., and Cadar, D. (2018). Cultural engagement and cognitive reserve: museum attendance and dementia incidence over a 10-year period. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 213, 661–663. doi: 10.1192/bjp.2018.129
- Fjell, A. M., and Walhovd, K. B. (2010). Structural brain changes in aging: courses, causes and cognitive consequences. *Rev. Neurosci.* 21, 187–221. doi: 10.1515/ REVNEURO.2010.21.3.187
- Foubert-Samier, A., Catheline, G., Amieva, H., Dilharreguy, B., Helmer, C., Allard, M., et al. (2012). Education, occupation, leisure activities, and brain reserve: a population-based study. *Neurobiol. Aging* 33, 423.e15-25. doi: 10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2010.09.023
- Fratiglioni, L., Paillard-Borg, S., and Winblad, B. (2004). An active and socially integrated lifestyle in late life might protect against dementia. *Lancet Neurol.* 3, 343–353. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(04)00767-7
- Fry, A., Littlejohns, T. J., Sudlow, C., Doherty, N., Adamska, L., Sprosen, T., et al. (2017). Comparison of *Sociodemographic* and health-related characteristics of uk biobank participants with those of the general population. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 186, 1026–1034. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwx246
- Galvin, J. E., Tolea, M. I., and Chrisphonte, S. (2021). The cognitive & leisure activity scale (CLAS): a new measure to quantify cognitive activities in older adults with and without cognitive impairment. Alzheimer's Dement. *Transl. Res. Clin. Interv.* 7:e12134. doi: 10.1002/trc2.12134
- Gow, A. J., Pattie, A., and Deary, I. J. (2017). Lifecourse activity participation from early, mid, and later adulthood as determinants of cognitive aging: the lothian birth cohort 1921. J. Gerontol. B. Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 72, 25–37. doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbw124
- Grisolía, J. M., Willis, K., Wymer, C., and Law, A. (2010). Social engagement and regional theatre: patterns of theatre attendance. *Cult. Trends* 19, 225–244. doi: 10.1080/09548963.2010.495277
- Habas, C., Kamdar, N., Nguyen, D., Prater, K., Beckmann, C. F., Menon, V., et al. (2009). Distinct cerebellar contributions to intrinsic connectivity networks. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 8586–8594. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1868-09.2009
- James, B. D., Glass, T. A., Caffo, B., Bobb, J. F., Davatzikos, C., Yousem, D., et al. (2012). Association of social engagement with brain volumes assessed by structural MRI. J. Aging Res. 2012:512714. doi: 10.1155/2012/512714
- Jung, C. K. E., and Herms, J. (2014). Structural dynamics of dendritic spines are influenced by an environmental enrichment: an in vivo imaging study. *Cereb. Cortex* 24, 377–384. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhs317
- Kelly, M. E., Loughrey, D., Lawlor, B. A., Robertson, I. H., Walsh, C., and Brennan, S. (2014). The impact of cognitive training and mental stimulation on cognitive and everyday functioning of healthy older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Ageing Res. Rev. 15, 28–43. doi: 10.1016/J.ARR.2014.02.004
- Krell-Roesch, J., Syrjanen, J. A., Vassilaki, M., Machulda, M. M., Mielke, M. M., Knopman, D. S., et al. (2019). Quantity and quality of mental activities and the risk of incident mild cognitive impairment. *Neurology* 93, e548–e558. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000007897
- Krell-Roesch, J., Vemuri, P., Pink, A., Roberts, R. O., Stokin, G. B., Mielke, M. M., et al. (2017). Association between mentally stimulating activities in late life and the outcome of incident mild cognitive impairment, with an analysis of the APOE ε4 genotype. *JAMA Neurol.* 74:332. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2016.3822
- Kueider, A. M., Parisi, J. M., Gross, A. L., and Rebok, G. W. (2012). Computerized cognitive training with older adults: a systematic review. *PLoS One* 7:e40588. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0040588
- Kuiper, J. S., Zuidersma, M., Zuidema, S. U., Burgerhof, J. G. M., Stolk, R. P., Oude Voshaar, R. C., et al. (2016). Social relationships and cognitive decline: a systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal cohort studies. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 30:dyw089. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyw089
- Lemaitre, H., Goldman, A. L., Sambataro, F., Verchinski, B. A., Meyer-Lindenberg, A., Weinberger, D. R., et al. (2012). Normal age-related brain morphometric

changes: nonuniformity across cortical thickness, surface area and gray matter volume? *Neurobiol. Aging* 33, 617.e1–617.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging. 2010.07.013

- Livingston, G., Huntley, J., Sommerlad, A., Ames, D., Ballard, C., Banerjee, S., et al. (2020). Dementia prevention, intervention, and care: 2020 report of the lancet commission. *Lancet* 396, 413–446. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30367-6
- Mak, H., Coulter, R., and Fancourt, D. (2020). Patterns of social inequality in arts and cultural participation: findings from a nationally representative sample of adults living in the united kingdom of great Britain and Northern Ireland. *Public Heal. Panor.* 6, 55–68.
- Mallek, M., Benguigui, N., Dicks, M., and Thouvarecq, R. (2017). Sport expertise in perception–action coupling revealed in a visuomotor tracking task. *Eur. J. Sport Sci.* 17, 1270–1278. doi: 10.1080/17461391.2017.1375014
- Matyas, N., Keser Aschenberger, F., Wagner, G., Teufer, B., Auer, S., Gisinger, C., et al. (2019). Continuing education for the prevention of mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's-type dementia: a systematic review and overview of systematic reviews. *BMJ Open* 9:e027719. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2018-027719
- Miller, K. L., Alfaro-Almagro, F., Bangerter, N. K., Thomas, D. L., Yacoub, E., Xu, J., et al. (2016). Multimodal population brain imaging in the UK biobank prospective epidemiological study. *Nat. Neurosci.* 19, 1523–1536. doi: 10.1038/ nn.4393
- Mitchell, M. B., Cimino, C. R., Benitez, A., Brown, C. L., Gibbons, L. E., Kennison, R. F., et al. (2012). Cognitively stimulating activities: effects on cognition across four studies with up to 21 years of longitudinal data. J. Aging Res. 2012, 1–12. doi: 10.1155/2012/461592
- Mortimer, J. A., Ding, D., Borenstein, A. R., DeCarli, C., Guo, Q., Wu, Y., et al. (2012). Changes in brain volume and cognition in a randomized trial of exercise and social interaction in a community-based sample of non-demented Chinese elders. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 30, 757–766. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2012-120079
- Nguyen, L., Murphy, K., and Andrews, G. (2019). Immediate and long-term efficacy of executive functions cognitive training in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychol. Bull.* 145, 698–733. doi: 10.1037/bul0000196
- Nucci, M., Mapelli, D., and Mondini, S. (2012). Cognitive reserve index questionnaire (CRIQ): a new instrument for measuring cognitive reserve. *Aging Clin. Exp. Res.* 24, 218–226. doi: 10.3275/7800
- Nyberg, L., Lö Vdé N, M., Riklund, K., Lindenberger, U., Bä Ckman, L., Lövdén, M., et al. (2012). Memory aging and brain maintenance. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 16, 292–305. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2012.04.005
- Okuda, H., Tatsumi, K., Makinodan, M., Yamauchi, T., Kishimoto, T., and Wanaka, A. (2009). Environmental enrichment stimulates progenitor cell proliferation in the amygdala. *J. Neurosci. Res.* 87, 3546–3553. doi: 10.1002/jnr.22160
- Paillard-Borg, S., Wang, H.-X., Winblad, B., and Fratiglioni, L. (2009). Pattern of participation in leisure activities among older people in relation to their health conditions and contextual factors: a survey in a Swedish urban area. *Ageing Soc.* 29, 803–821. doi: 10.1017/S0144686X08008337

Patterson, C. (2018). World Alzheimer Report 2018.

- Prince, M. M., Wimo, A., Guerchet, M., Gemma-Claire, A., Wu, Y.-T., Prina, M., et al. (2015). World Alzheimer Report 2015 The Global Impact of Dementia An Analysis of Prevalence, Incidence, Cost and Trends. London. Available online at: https://www.alz.co.uk/research/WorldAlzheimerReport2015.pdf (accessed April 2, 2017).
- Raz, N., Lindenberger, U., Rodrigue, K. M., Kennedy, K. M., Head, D., Williamson, A., et al. (2005). Regional brain changes in aging healthy adults: general trends, individual differences and modifiers. *Cereb. Cortex* 15, 1676–1689. doi: 10.1093/ cercor/bhi044
- Seider, T. R., Fieo, R. A., O'Shea, A., Porges, E. C., Woods, A. J., and Cohen, R. A. (2016). Cognitively engaging activity is associated with greater cortical and subcortical volumes. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 8:1–10. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2016. 00094
- Sexton, C. E., Betts, J. F., Demnitz, N., Dawes, H., Ebmeier, K. P., and Johansen-Berg, H. (2016). A systematic review of MRI studies examining the relationship between physical fitness and activity and the white matter of the ageing brain. *Neuroimage* 131, 81–90. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2015. 09.071
- Sexton, C. E., Mackay, C. E., and Ebmeier, K. P. (2013). A systematic review and meta-analysis of magnetic resonance imaging studies in late-life depression. *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 21, 184–195. doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2012.10.019

- Smith, J. C., Nielson, K. A., Woodard, J. L., Seidenberg, M., Durgerian, S., Antuono, P., et al. (2011). Interactive effects of physical activity and APOE-e4 on BOLD semantic memory activation in healthy elders. *Neuroimage* 54, 635–644. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2010.07.070
- Smith, S. M., Fox, P. T., Miller, K. L., Glahn, D. C., Fox, P. M., Mackay, C. E., et al. (2009). Correspondence of the brain's functional architecture during activation and rest. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 13040–13045. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 0905267106
- Stephen, R., Liu, Y., Ngandu, T., Antikainen, R., Hulkkonen, J., Koikkalainen, J., et al. (2019). Brain volumes and cortical thickness on MRI in the finnish geriatric intervention study to prevent cognitive impairment and disability (FINGER). Alzheimers. Res. Ther. 11:53. doi: 10.1186/s13195-019-0506-z
- Stern, Y. (2012). Cognitive reserve in ageing and Alzheimer's disease. Lancet Neurol. 11, 1006–1012. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70191-6
- Stillman, C. M., Donofry, S. D., and Erickson, K. I. (2019). Exercise, Fitness and the Aging Brain: A Review of Functional Connectivity in Aging. Available online at: http://www.archivesofpsychology.org (accessed June 3, 2021).
- Tun, P. A., and Lachman, M. E. (2010). The association between computer use and cognition across adulthood: use it so you won't lose it? *Psychol. Aging* 25:560. doi: 10.1037/A0019543
- Valenzuela, M. J., Sachdev, P., Wen, W., Chen, X., and Brodaty, H. (2008). Lifespan mental activity predicts diminished rate of hippocampal atrophy. *PLoS One* 3:1–6. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002598
- Wang, H.-X., Xu, W., and Pei, J.-J. J. (2012). Leisure activities, cognition and dementia. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Basis Dis.* 1822, 482–491. doi: 10.1016/j. bbadis.2011.09.002
- Wassenaar, T. M., Yaffe, K., van der Werf, Y. D., and Sexton, C. E. (2019). Associations between modifiable risk factors and white matter of the aging brain: insights from diffusion tensor imaging studies. *Neurobiol. Aging* 80, 56–70. doi: 10.1016/J.NEUROBIOLAGING.2019.04.006
- Wilson, R. S., Barnes, L. L., Krueger, K. R., Hoganson, G., and Bienias, J. L. (2005). Early and late life cognitive activity and cognitive systems in old age. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 11, 400–407. doi: 10.1017/S1355617705050459
- Wilson, R. S., Bennett, D. A., Beckett, L. A., Morris, M. C., Gilley, D. W., Bienias, J. L., et al. (1999). Cognitive activity in older persons from a geographically defined population. J. Gerontol. B. Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 54, 155–160. doi: 10. 1093/geronb/54B.3.P155
- Wilson, R., Barnes, L., and Bennett, D. (2003). Assessment of lifetime participation in cognitively stimulating activities. J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol. 25, 634–642. doi: 10.1076/jcen.25.5.634.14572
- World Health Organization (2015). World Report on Ageing and Health. Luxembourg: World Health Organization.

- Yates, L. A., Ziser, S., Spector, A., and Orrell, M. (2016). Cognitive leisure activities and future risk of cognitive impairment and dementia: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int. Psychogeriatr.* 28, 1–16. doi: 10.1017/S104161021600 1137
- Yip, A. G., Brayne, C., Matthews, F. E., and Mrc Cognitive Function and Ageing Study. (2006). Risk factors for incident dementia in England and Wales: the medical research council cognitive function and ageing study. a populationbased nested case-control study. *Age Ageing* 35, 154–160. doi: 10.1093/ageing/ afj030
- Zhao, Y. Y., Shi, X. Y., Qiu, X., Zhang, L., Lu, W., Yang, S., et al. (2011). Enriched environment increases the total number of CNPase positive cells in the corpus callosum of middle-aged rats. *Acta Neurobiol. Exp.* 71, 322–330.

**Conflict of Interest:** This research was conducted using the UK Biobank Resource under the approved application of 45301. MA was supported by the Clarendon Trust DPhil Fellowship and HDH Wills 1965 Charitable Trust (1117747). SS reports funding from the Academy of Medical Sciences/the Wellcome Trust/the Government Department of Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy/the British Heart Foundation/Diabetes UK Springboard Award (SBF006)1078). SMS receives support from the Wellcome Trust (098369/Z/12/Z, 203139/Z/16/Z). KPE reports support from the UK Medical Research Council (G1001354, MR/K013351/), the HDH Wills 1965 Charitable Trust (1117747), Alzheimer's Research UK (PPG2012A-5), and the European Commission (Horizon 2020 grant "Lifebrain," 732592). SS and CES were supported by the NIHR Oxford Biomedical Research Center located at the Oxford Health BRC. The Wellcome Center for Integrative Neuroimaging was supported by core funding from the Wellcome Trust (203139/Z/16/Z). CES is now a full-time employee of the Alzheimer's Association.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Anatürk, Suri, Smith, Ebmeier and Sexton. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## **Psychographic Segmentation: Another Lever for Precision Population Brain Health**

Erin Smith<sup>1,2,3,4,5\*</sup>, Agustin Ibanez<sup>2,3,6,7,8</sup>, Helen Lavretsky<sup>9</sup>, Michael Berk<sup>10,11,12,13</sup> and Harris A. Eyre<sup>1,2,3,5,10,14</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Neuroscience-Inspired Policy Initiative, Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) and the PRODEO Institute, Paris, France, <sup>2</sup> Global Brain Health Institute, University of California, San Francisco (UCSF), San Francisco, CA, United States, <sup>3</sup> Trinity College Dublin, Dublin, Ireland, <sup>4</sup> Department of Medicine, Stanford Hospital, Stanford, CA, United States, <sup>5</sup> The PRODEO Institute, San Francisco, CA, United States, <sup>6</sup> Cognitive Neuroscience Center (CNC), Universidad de San Andrés, Buenos Aires, Argentina, <sup>7</sup> Latin American Brain Health (BrainLat), Universidad Adolfo Ibáñez, Santiago, Chile, <sup>8</sup> National Scientific and Technical Research Council (CONICET), Buenos Aires, Argentina, <sup>9</sup> Semel Institute for Neuroscience and Human Behavior, University of California, Los Angeles (UCLA), Los Angeles, CA, United States, <sup>10</sup> The Institute for Mental and Physical Health and Clinical Translation (IMPACT), Deakin University, Geelong, VIC, Australia, <sup>11</sup> Department of Psychiatry, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, <sup>12</sup> Orggen Youth Health, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, <sup>13</sup> The Florey Institute for Neuroscience and Mental Health, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, <sup>14</sup> Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, TX, United States

Dementia prevention interventions that address modifiable risk factors for dementia require extensive lifestyle and behavior changes. Strategies are needed to enhance engagement and personalization of the experience at a population level. Precision Population Brain Health aims to improve brain health across the lifespan at a population level. Psychographic segmentation is a core component of Precision Population Brain Health with untapped potential. Psychographic segmentation applies behavioral and social sciences to understanding people's motivations, values, priorities, decision making, lifestyles, personalities, communication preferences, attitudes, and beliefs. Integrating psychographic segmentation into dementia care could provide a more personalized care experience and increased patient engagement, leading to improved health outcomes and reduced costs. Psychographic segmentation can enhance patient engagement for dementia and shift the clinical paradigm from "What is the matter?" to "What matters to you?" Similar benefits of psychographic segmentation can be provided for dementia caregivers. Developing dementia prevention programs that integrate psychographic segmentation could become the basis for creating a shared framework for prevention of non-communicable diseases and brain health disorders at a population level. Integrating psychographic segmentation into digital health tools for dementia prevention programs is especially critical to overcome current suboptimal approaches. Applying psychographic segmentation to dementia prevention has the potential to help people feel a sense of empowerment over their health and improve satisfaction with their health experience-creating a culture shift in the way brain health is approached and paving the way toward Precision Population Brain Health.

Keywords: psychographic segmentation, precision/personalized medicine, population health, dementia prevention, patient engagement

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Frauke Beyer, Max Planck Institute for Human Cognitive and Brain Sciences, Germany

#### Reviewed by:

Ruth Stephen, University of Eastern Finland, Finland Craig Speelman, Edith Cowan University, Australia

> \*Correspondence: Erin Smith erin.smith@gbhi.org

Received: 25 September 2021 Accepted: 19 November 2021 Published: 08 December 2021

#### Citation:

Smith E, Ibanez A, Lavretsky H, Berk M and Eyre HA (2021) Psychographic Segmentation: Another Lever for Precision Population Brain Health. Front. Aging Neurosci. 13:783297. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.783297

## INTRODUCTION

The dearth of clinically established dementia therapeutics emphasizes the importance of prevention approaches (Rabinovici, 2021). The 2020 Lancet Commission on dementia prevention, intervention, and care identified 12 modifiable risk factors for dementia and developed a life-course model of dementia prevention based on these factors (Livingston et al., 2020). The risk factors are less education, hypertension, hearing impairment, smoking, obesity, depression, physical inactivity, diabetes, low social contact, excessive alcohol consumption, traumatic brain injury (TBI), and air pollution (Livingston et al., 2020). Modifying these 12 risk factors might prevent or delay up to 40% of dementias and maybe even more in low-income and middle-income countries where around twothirds of people with dementia live (Livingston et al., 2020; Patterson, 2018). Dementia prevention interventions that address modifiable risk factors for dementia, such as the Finnish geriatric intervention study to prevent cognitive impairment and disability (FINGER) (Ngandu et al., 2015), require extensive lifestyle and behavior changes. Consequently, strategies are needed to enhance engagement and personalization of the experience at a population level.

Precision Population Brain Health aims to improve brain health across the lifespan at a population level. It fuses Precision Brain Health (Fernandes et al., 2017; Frisoni et al., 2020) and Population Brain Health (UCSF Center for Population Brain Health, 2021). Engagement and personalization at a population level is key to Precision Population Brain Health. For Precision Population Brain Health to be achieved, insights from various disciplines must be combined. For example, for efforts such as widespread dementia prevention, platform technologies (e.g., telemedicine, apps) and frontier technologies (e.g., genomics, AI, robotics), creative care, culturally competent care, personalization techniques, and behavior design must be combined to address social determinants and other modifiable risk factors for dementia.

Psychographic segmentation is a core component of Precision Population Brain Health with untapped potential. Psychographic segmentation applies behavioral and social sciences to understanding people's motivations, values, priorities, decision making, lifestyles, personalities, communication preferences, attitudes, and beliefs (Samuel, 2016). Complementing demographic and socioeconomic segmentation, psychographic segmentation enables people to be divided into sub-groups based on shared psychological characteristics. Since the 1970s, psychographic segmentation has been used by the world's most successful consumer product and retail companies to understand and influence consumer behavior. It is commonly leveraged by the corporate sector to better understand employees and build more successful organizations. Psychographic segmentation has potential to improve dementia prevention initiatives and to provide a more ecological, decision making-oriented evaluation of both people with dementia and their caregivers.

# PSYCHOGRAPHIC SEGMENTATION FOR HEALTH

Psychographic segmentation has only recently started to be used for healthcare applications. Currently, many healthcare programs are one-size-fits-all or are based on a shared diagnosis. This often does not lead to high adoption rates of recommended behaviors. This highlights a need for personalization, creating an opportunity for psychographic segmentation to increase patient engagement and improve outcomes (Hardcastle and Hagger, 2015). Applying psychographic segmentation to healthcare enables organizations within healthcare to understand-and classify accordingly-if individual consumers take a proactive or reactive approach to health and wellness; want many or few choices; want traditional and/or alternative medicine; prioritize others' health and wellness over their own; and more. For example, if someone lives in the "here and now" and does not prioritize their long-term health, messages from a health system may be sent via text instead of email and include language that emphasizes living for today, clear first steps, and immediacy. Companies including Frame Health and PatientBond have been key to actioning and scaling psychographic segmentation within healthcare, including capturing psychographic data and integrating it into electronic health records (EMRs) and customer relationship management platforms (CRMs) (Frame Health, 2021; PatientBond, 2021a). In partnership with Frame Health for example, CVS, UnitedHealthcare, and Cedars-Sinai Medical Center were able to increase patient signups for a medication adherence program by 38% and decrease pharmacy all time by 22% using Frame Health's personalized call strategies and scripts (Frame Health, 2020). As another example, in partnership with PatientBond, a top health system was able to reduce hospital readmissions for congestive heart failure by 90% using PatientBond's digital system (PatientBond, 2020).

However, the use of psychographic segmentation for dementia—along with brain health more broadly—remains nascent. Integrating psychographic segmentation into dementia care could provide a more personalized care experience and increased patient engagement, leading to improved health outcomes and reduced costs (Laurance et al., 2014). Psychographic segmentation has the opportunity to enhance patient engagement for dementia and to "change the clinical paradigm from 'What is the matter?' to 'What matters to you?'" (Edgman-Levitan et al., 2013).

### PSYCHOGRAPHIC SEGMENTATION FOR DEMENTIA PREVENTION

Due to the complex, multifactorial, and heterogeneous nature of dementia, there has been increasing interest in multidomain interventions for dementia prevention (Andrieu et al., 2015). Multidomain interventions target several risk factors and mechanisms simultaneously and may be required for optimal preventative effects (Rosenberg et al., 2020b). The first largescale randomized controlled trials (RCTs) of multidomain interventions include the Finnish Geriatric Intervention Study to Prevent Cognitive Impairment and Disability (FINGER) trial and the Multidomain Alzheimer Preventive Trial (MAPT).

In FINGER, participants received a 2-year multidomain lifestyle intervention consisting of physical training, cognitive training, nutritional counseling, and cardiovascular monitoring (Kivipelto et al., 2013; Ngandu et al., 2015). In MAPT, participants received a 3-year multidomain lifestyle intervention consisting of cognitive training, physical activity counseling, and nutritional counseling with either an omega-3 supplement or placebo (Andrieu et al., 2017). For multidomain interventions such as FINGER and MAPT, adherence is key (Coley et al., 2019). Greater personalization, such as considering participant characteristics and motivations and taking a precision prevention approach, is critical to increase adherence (Coley et al., 2019; Rosenberg et al., 2020a; Solomon et al., 2021). In other words, a psychographic segmentation approach to prevention is needed.

Psychographic segmentation has the potential to improve the adherence and effectiveness of multidomain interventions for dementia prevention. For instance, a few example segments of psychographic segmentation include the following (see Figure 1 for more) (PatientBond, 2021b): (1) Self-achiever, people who are highly receptive to health information; (2) priority juggler, people who are generally not engaged in getting health care information for themselves and whose family or peer influence is important; and (3) Willful endurers, people who live in the here and now and are least engaged with their health. The

engagement strategies will need to be varied and personalized for each segment. For example, outreach materials and participation strategies for self-achievers may be centered around the theme of achieving a goal, whereas for priority jugglers, a sense of how the family/other people will benefit and evoking commitment and duty will be essential. For the willful endurers, messages that center around living for today and create a sense of urgency will be important. The method of communication may differ with certain segments preferring text messaging, emails, or physical mail. Different versions of dementia preventions programs could be developed for different psychographic profiles. Since dementia prevention requires multifactorial efforts across the lifespan, these methods of enhancing engagement and personalization through psychographic segmentation are key and a powerful addition to researchers' and health providers' toolkits.

### PSYCHOGRAPHIC SEGMENTATION FOR DIGITAL TECHNOLOGIES FOR DEMENTIA

Both in-person and digital dementia prevention programs could extensively benefit by integrating psychometric segmentation into their approach. With the proliferation of digital health tools for dementia prevention programs, it is especially important to integrate psychographic segmentation into these technologies. When describing hallmarks of digital health initiatives that have not lived up to their potential, Dr. Brennan Spiegel, Director of Health Services Research at Cedars-Sinai Health System, points toward not giving patients optimal messaging,



FIGURE 1 | Examples of how psychographic segmentation can enable a Precision Population Brain Health approach to care through addressing modifiable risk factors of dementia and enhancing patient engagement.

not inviting patients in the most compelling way, and a lack of patient engagement as being problematic (Fry and Mukherjee, 2018) - all of which could have been helped by psychographic segmentation. He further noted that with digital health tools "Creating the tech isn't the hard part...the hard part is using the tech to change patient behavior" (Pagoto and Hekler, 2018). Psychometric segmentation is highly compatible with current applications of behavioral insights across the health system, especially for nudging (Hansen et al., 2016; Benartzi et al., 2017). Such interventions can be boosted by the development behavioral research in policy domains to increase effectiveness, economic growth, and competitiveness (Sunstein, 2016). The combination of technology and psychometry are a powerful force to change behavior that should be ethically addressed to avoid technocracy and "psychocracy" (Feitsma, 2018). Integrating psychometric segmentation into digital health tools for dementia may help address these challenges.

#### PSYCHOGRAPHIC SEGMENTATION FOR CAREGIVERS

Psychographic segmentation can also improve the lives of caregivers for people with dementia. For example, a recent study explored how people balance caregiving with other family and employment responsibilities by considering their personal characteristics and their informal caregiving network (Neubert et al., 2018). Applying psychographic segmentation could expand this study and lead to a more comprehensive understanding of a caregiver's needs. Additionally, better understanding of a caregiver's motivations and personality through psychographic segmentation can be used to develop personalized strategies to mitigate caregiver burden and prevent burnout.

## REFERENCES

- Andrieu, S., Coley, N., Lovestone, S., Aisen, P. S., and Vellas, B. (2015). Prevention of sporadic Alzheimer's disease: lessons learned from clinical trials and future directions. *Lancet Neurol.* 14, 926–944. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(15)00153-2
- Andrieu, S., Guyonnet, S., Coley, N., Cantet, C., Bonnefoy, M., and Bordes, S. (2017). Effect of long-term omega 3 polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation with or without multidomain intervention on cognitive function in elderly adults with memory complaints (MAPT): a randomised, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet Neurol.* 16, 377–389. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30040-6
- Benartzi, S., Beshears, J., Milkman, K. L., Sunstein, C. R., Thaler, R. H., Shankar, M., et al. (2017). Should governments invest more in nudging? *Psychol. Sci.* 28, 1041–1055. doi: 10.1177/0956797617702501
- Coley, N., Ngandu, T., Lehtisalo, J., Soininen, H., Vellas, B., Richard, E., et al. (2019). Adherence to multidomain interventions for dementia prevention: data from the FINGER and MAPT trials. *Alzheimers Dement*. 15, 729–741. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2019.03.005
- Edgman-Levitan, S., Brady, C., and Howitt, P. (2013). "Partnering with patients, families, and communities for health: A global imperative," in *Report of The Patient and Family Engagement Working Group 2013*, Doha.
- Feitsma, J. N. P. (2018). The behavioural state: critical observations on technocracy and psychocracy. *Policy Sci.* 51, 387–410. doi: 10.1007/s11077-018-9325-5
- Fernandes, B. S., Williams, L. M., Steiner, J., Leboyer, M., Carvalho, A. F., and Berk, M. (2017). The new field of 'precision psychiatry'. *BMC Med.* 15:80. doi: 10.1186/s12916-017-0849-x

#### CONCLUSION

Applying psychometric segmentation to dementia prevention endeavors can improve the entire spectrum of care. Psychometric segmentation accounts for an individual's unique values, motivations, priorities, lifestyle, personality, and beliefs as well as behavioral change. Thus, personalization and patient engagement can be at the heart of care. In addition to improved health outcomes and reduced costs due to dementia, developing dementia prevention programs that integrate psychographic segmentation could become the basis for creating a shared framework for prevention of non-communicable diseases and brain health disorders at a population level (O'Neil et al., 2015). Applying psychometric segmentation to dementia prevention endeavors has the potential to help people feel a sense of empowerment over their health and improve satisfaction with their health experience-creating a culture shift in the way brain health is approached and paving the way toward Precision Population Brain Health.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

ES led the manuscript development. ES and HE co-developed the idea that led to the beginning of this manuscript. All authors contributed to the idea development, writing, and editing of this manuscript and approved the submitted version.

- Frame Health (2021). Available online at: https://www.framehealth.com/ (accessed September 2, 2021).
- Frame Health (2020). Frame Health Case Study: Persona-Based Communication Increases Patient Enrollment In A CVS, UnitedHealthcare, And Cedars-Sinai Medication Adherence Program. 2020. Available online at: https://www. framehealth.com/health-plans/ (accessed September 2, 2021).
- Frisoni, G. B., Molinuevo, J. L., Altomare, D., Carrera, E., Barkhof, F., Berkhof, J., et al. (2020). Precision prevention of Alzheimer's and other dementias: anticipating future needs in the control of risk factors and implementation of disease-modifying therapies. *Alzheimers Dement*. 16, 1457–1468. doi: 10.1002/ alz.12132
- Fry, E., and Mukherjee, S. (2018). Tech's Next Big Wave: Big Data Meets Biology. Available online at: https://fortune.com/2018/03/19/big-data-digital-healthtech/ (accessed September 2, 2021).
- Hansen, P. G., Skov, L. R., and Skov, K. L. (2016). Making healthy choices easier: regulation versus nudging. *Annu. Rev. Public Health* 37, 237–251. doi: 10.1146/ annurev-publhealth-032315-021537
- Hardcastle, S. J., and Hagger, M. S. (2015). Psychographic profiling for effective health behavior change interventions. *Front. Psychol.* 6:1988. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg. 2015.01988
- Kivipelto, M., Solomon, A., Ahtiluoto, S., Ngandu, T., Lehtisalo, J., Antikainen, R., et al. (2013). The Finnish Geriatric Intervention Study to Prevent Cognitive Impairment and Disability (FINGER): study design and progress. *Alzheimers Dement.* 9, 657–665. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2012. 09.012

- Laurance, J., Henderson, S., Howitt, P. J., Matar, M., Al Kuwari, H., Edgman-Levitan, S., et al. (2014). Patient engagement: four case studies that highlight the potential for improved health outcomes and reduced costs. *Health Affairs* 33, 1627–1634. doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2014.0375
- Livingston, G., Huntley, J., Sommerlad, A., Ames, D., Ballard, C., Banerjee, S., et al. (2020). Dementia prevention, intervention, and care: 2020 report of the Lancet Commission. *Lancet* 396, 413–446. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30 367-6
- Neubert, L., König, H. H., and Brettschneider, C. (2018). Seeking the balance between caregiving in dementia, family and employment: study protocol for a mixed methods study in Northern Germany. BMJ Open 8:e019444. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019444
- Ngandu, T., Lehtisalo, J., Solomon, A., Levälahti, E., Ahtiluoto, S., Antikainen, R., et al. (2015). A 2 year multidomain intervention of diet, exercise, cognitive training, and vascular risk monitoring versus control to prevent cognitive decline in at-risk elderly people (FINGER): a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* 385, 2255–2263. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)60461-5
- O'Neil, A., Jacka, F. N., Quirk, S. E., Cocker, F., Taylor, C. B., Oldenburg, B., et al. (2015). A shared framework for the common mental disorders and noncommunicable disease: key considerations for disease prevention and control. *BMC Psychiatr.* 15:15. doi: 10.1186/s12888-015-0394-0
- Pagoto, S., and Hekler, E. (2018). Is Digital Health A Behavioral Science?. Available online at: https://medcitynews.com/2018/05/is-digital-health-a-behavioralscience/?rf=1 (accessed September 2, 2021).
- PatientBond (2021a). Available online at: https://www.patientbond.com/ (accessed September 2, 2021).
- PatientBond (2021b). Psychographic Segmentation and its Practical Application in Patient Engagement and Behavior Change: A PatientBond Whitepaper. Holladay, UT: PatientBond.
- PatientBond (2020). Patient Bond Case Study: Breakthroughs in Patient Engagement and Behavior Change- Reducing Hospital Readmissions and Promoting Prevention of Cardiovascular Events. Holladay, UT: PatientBond.
- Patterson, C. (2018). World Alzheimer Report 2018. Wuhan: Scientific Research Publishing.
- Rabinovici, G. D. (2021). Controversy and progress in Alzheimer's Disease-FDA approval of aducanumab. N. Engl. J. Med. 385, 771–774. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMp2111320

- Rosenberg, A., Mangialasche, F., Ngandu, T., Solomon, A., and Kivipelto, M. (2020b). Multidomain interventions to prevent cognitive impairment. alzheimer's disease, and dementia: from FINGER to World-Wide FINGERS. J. Prev. Alzheimers Dis. 7, 29–36. doi: 10.14283/jpad.2019.41
- Rosenberg, A., Coley, N., Soulier, A., Kulmala, J., Soininen, H., Andrieu, S., et al. (2020a). Experiences of dementia and attitude towards prevention: a qualitative study among older adults participating in a prevention trial. *BMC Geriatr.* 20:99. doi: 10.1186/s12877-020-1493-4
- Samuel, A. (2016). Psychographics are just as important for marketers as demographics. *Harv. Bus. Rev.* 11:1.
- Solomon, A., Stephen, R., Altomare, D., Carrera, E., Frisoni, G. B., Kulmala, J., et al. (2021). Multidomain interventions: state-of-the-art and future directions for protocols to implement precision dementia risk reduction. a user manual for Brain Health Services—part 4 of 6. *Alzheimers Res. Ther.* 13, 1–15. doi: 10.1186/s13195-021-00875-8
- Sunstein, C. R. (2016). The council of psychological advisers. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 67, 713–737. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-081914-12 4745
- UCSF Center for Population Brain Health (2021). Available online at: https:// popbrain.ucsf.edu/ (accessed September 2, 2021).

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Smith, Ibanez, Lavretsky, Berk and Eyre. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Liver Health and Dementia in an Italian Older Population: Findings From the Salus in Apulia Study

Luisa Lampignano<sup>1\*</sup>, Rossella Donghia<sup>1</sup>, Chiara Griseta<sup>1</sup>, Gianvito Lagravinese<sup>2</sup>, Sabrina Sciarra<sup>1</sup>, Roberta Zupo<sup>1</sup>, Fabio Castellana<sup>1</sup>, Ilaria Bortone<sup>1</sup>, Vito Guerra<sup>1</sup>, Sarah Tirelli<sup>1</sup>, Sara De Nucci<sup>1</sup>, Rossella Tatoli<sup>1</sup>, Madia Lozupone<sup>3</sup>, Giancarlo Sborgia<sup>3</sup>, Antonio Leo<sup>4</sup>, Giovanni De Pergola<sup>1,5</sup>, Gianluigi Giannelli<sup>1</sup>, Francesco Panza<sup>1</sup> and Rodolfo Sardone<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Unit of Research Methodology and Data Sciences for Population Health, "Salus in Apulia Study" National Institute of Gastroenterology "S. de Bellis" Research Hospital, Bari, Italy, <sup>2</sup> IRCCS ICS Maugeri, Bari, Italy, <sup>3</sup> Department of Basic Medicine, Neuroscience, and Sense Organs, University of Bari Aldo Moro, Bari, Italy, <sup>4</sup> "Santa Chiara" Institute, Lecce, Italy, <sup>5</sup> Department of Biomedical Science and Human Oncology, School of Medicine, University of Bari Aldo Moro, Bari, Italy

**OPEN ACCESS** 

#### Edited by:

Omar Yaxmehen Bello-Chavolla, Instituto Nacional de Geriatría, Mexico

#### Reviewed by:

Aarti Mishra, AbbVie, United States Douglas F. Watt, Lesley University, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Luisa Lampignano luisa.lampignano@irccsdebellis.it Rodolfo Sardone rodolfo.sardone@irccsdebellis.it

Received: 28 July 2021 Accepted: 17 November 2021 Published: 08 December 2021

#### Citation:

Lampignano L, Donghia R, Griseta C, Lagravinese G, Sciarra S, Zupo R, Castellana F, Bortone I, Guerra V, Tirelli S, De Nucci S, Tatoli R, Lozupone M, Sborgia G, Leo A, De Pergola G, Giannelli G, Panza F and Sardone R (2021) Liver Health and Dementia in an Italian Older Population: Findings From the Salus in Apulia Study. Front. Aging Neurosci. 13:748888. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.748888 **Objectives:** Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) currently affects a quarter of the global population. Systemic inflammation, metabolic syndrome, and coronary artery disease, all conditions associated with NAFLD, have also been related to cognitive dysfunction in older age. The present study aimed to investigate the relationship between NAFLD risk and a dementia diagnosis in a large population-based sample aged > 65 years.

**Methods:** We selected 1,542 participants (723 men) from the Salus in Apulia Study. To assess the risk of fat distribution in the liver, we used the Fatty Liver Index (FLI). Dementia was diagnosed according to the American Psychiatric Association criteria (DSM-5).

**Results:** The overall prevalence of dementia was 8.5% [95% confidence interval (CI): 7–10%]. Subjects with dementia were older [effect size (ES): -0.89, 95% CI: -1.07 to -0.70], had a lower level of education (ES:0.88, 95% CI:0.69–1.06), higher levels of gamma-glutamyl transferase (ES: -0.21, 95% CI: -0.39 to -0.03), lower levels of total cholesterol (ES: -0.24, 95% CI: -0.42 to -0.06) and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (ES: -0.20, 95% CI: -0.38 to 0.02), and a higher FLI (ES: -0.22, 95% CI: -0.39 to -0.04). In the logistic regression model adjusted for age, sex, education, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, alcohol consumption, smoking habits, stroke, cholesterol, and Apo-E, a dementia diagnosis was positively associated with FLI > 60 [odds ratio (OR):1.81; standard error (SE): 0.53; 95% CI: 1.02-3.21].

**Conclusion:** Our findings suggested that an increased NAFLD risk may be associated to dementia and cognitive decline in older age. Considering the high NAFLD prevalence, the possible adverse disease effects on cognitive performance pose a health problem with significant social and economic implications.

Keywords: NAFLD (non-alcoholic fatty liver disease), aging, dementia, older population, neurodegenerative diseases, liver

## INTRODUCTION

In Western countries, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is the most prevalent cause of chronic liver diseases (CLDs), a major cause of multimorbidity and mortality worldwide. The Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES-III), conducted in the U.S. population between 1988 and 2008, showed that the prevalence of CLDs increased from 12 to 15% (Younossi et al., 2011). In Western countries, this tendency is mainly driven by the rising impact of NAFLD, and, as the populations age, the number of patients affected by this condition is expected to increase. NAFLD is common in older adults, and its prevalence rises with age, reaching 30% from the age of seventy onward (Bertolotti et al., 2014). During aging, the concomitance and increasing weight of several biomarker (i.e., metabolic syndrome, obesity, dyslipidemia, type 2diabetes) and lifestyle risk factors (i.e., Western diet pattern and sedentary habits) predisposing to NAFLD can partly explain this rising prevalence (Bertolotti et al., 2014; Younossi et al., 2021).

The rapid growth of the global population aged 65 and older has driven recent scientific interest in cognitive aging (World Health Organization [WHO], 2021). Indeed, severe cognitive impairments, such as dementia, lead to substantial cognitive dysfunction that impairs performance in daily living and global functional status activities. Dementia is defined by the WHO as a syndrome featuring the deterioration of cognitive and social functions such as memory, attention, problem-solving, and judgment (World Health Organization [WHO], 2021). Dementia has several physical, psychological and social repercussions both on people with dementia and their families, and on the whole population. A classic way to conceptualize dementia is to consider two major categories of disease: "neurodegenerative" [i.e., Alzheimer's disease (AD)] and "non-neurodegenerative" (i.e., cerebrovascular disease). This dichotomy is a valuable heuristic, although it is constrained by its simplicity (Gale et al., 2018). Most dementia in the elderly have a neurodegenerative nature (Gale et al., 2018). Diseases can impair cognition without causing a decline in daily functioning, whether at the time of diagnosis or later. Mild neurocognitive disorder and mild cognitive impairment are two terms that have been used to describe these conditions (Gale et al., 2018).

In Europe, dementia affects approximately 10 million people, while in Italy, its prevalence ranges between 5 and 7% among older people over 65 years (Niu et al., 2017). People living with dementia lose their autonomy over time and need assistance to accomplish even the simplest activities, such as personal care. The need for ongoing care causes increased healthcare costs to enable appropriate management and care of these patients.

Starting from these concepts, prevention appears to play a central role in the optimal management of cognitive aging, recognizing potentially modifiable risk factors to reduce the risk of cognitive decline and achieving early recognition of individuals at risk of dementia to slow the progression to more severe conditions. Based on a growing body of scientific evidence, the 2017 Lancet Commission identified nine risk factors for dementia: less education, hypertension, hearing impairment, smoking, obesity, depression, physical

inactivity, diabetes mellitus, sleep deprivation, and chronic isolation/loneliness (Livingston et al., 2017; Wu et al., 2019). In 2020, the Lancet Commission added excessive alcohol consumption, traumatic brain injury, and air pollution to the "life-course model" of dementia to be prevented (Livingston et al., 2020). The 12 risk factors listed above are responsible for about 40% of the world dementia cases. By modifying these both biomarkers and lifestyle risk factors, dementia could be prevented or delayed.

A link between NAFLD and brain health has been suggested (Yilmaz and Ozdogan, 2009). Liver steatosis may be linked with brain structure and function, at least partly, through shared risk factors including diabetes mellitus, obesity, and physical inactivity, which are established risk factors for dementia (Gorelick et al., 2011), as well as for brain aging (Debette et al., 2011). Interestingly, both NAFLD and dementia share two important biological risk factors, such as Apolipoprotein E (APO-E) (Yang et al., 2005; Rasmussen, 2016) and Adiponectin (ADPN) (Buechler et al., 2011; Rizzo et al., 2020). Nevertheless, although both NAFLD and the degree of liver fibrosis are linked to a wide range of adverse health outcomes, their link to cognitive performance in older people is unclear (Weinstein et al., 2019). However, in a study that compared cognitive performance in 874 NAFLD and healthy controls, the NAFLD group performed less well in activities requiring memory and attention (Seo et al., 2016). A deterioration in the cognitive performance of NAFLD subjects was also found in other smaller cross-sectional studies (Kjærgaard et al., 2021). Nevertheless, another report from the NHANES did not show specific cognitive impairment in NAFLD, and nor did other studies (Weinstein et al., 2018). Recent Italian population-based results suggest that advanced liver fibrosis could be a long-term predictor for overall dementia in people with physical frailty (Solfrizzi et al., 2020).

The present study investigated the cross-sectional relationships between a non-invasive risk score for NAFLD (fatty liver index, FLI) and a dementia diagnosis in an older population (aged over 65 years) from Southern Italy selected from the large population-based Salus in Apulia Study.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Study Population and Design**

Participants of the present study were recruited from the electoral rolls of Castellana Grotte, Bari, Southern Italy. The sampling framework was the health registry office list until December 31, 2014, which included 19,675 subjects, 4,021 of whom were aged 65 years or more. All subjects belonged to the "Salus in Apulia Study," a public health initiative funded by the Italian Ministry of Health and Apulia Regional Government and conducted at IRCCS "S. De Bellis" Research Hospital. From the whole sample of 4,021 subjects, only 1,542 who underwent the physical and neurological assessment, and complete blood tests, enrolled from 2015 to 2018, were included in this analysis. The subjects had the neurological and blood evaluation in the same week, contextually. The exclusion criteria were to have no complete data about neuropsychological examination. physical

examination and blood biomarkers (complete case analysis). All participants signed informed consent before their examination. The Internal Review Board (IRB) approved the study of the head institution, the National Institute of Gastroenterology and Research Hospital "S. de Bellis" in Castellana Grotte, Italy, in 2014. The present study adhered to the "Standards for Reporting Diagnostic Accuracy Studies" (STARD) guidelines<sup>1</sup>, the "Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology" (STROBE) guidelines<sup>2</sup> and is in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975.

# Clinical and Socio-Demographic Characteristics

Smoking status was assessed with the single question, "Are you a current smoker?" The level of education is expressed in years of schooling. Alcohol consumption was evaluated by a validated food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) (Leoci et al., 1993). A sphygmomanometer YTON and a stethoscope FARMAC-ZARBAN were used to measure blood pressure by nurses with professional qualifications in Italy. Blood pressure was determined in a sitting position after rest. The final blood pressure values (systolic and diastolic blood pressure) were the mean of the last two of three measurements. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Height and weight measurements were performed using a Seca 220 stadiometer and a Seca 711 scale. Waist circumference was measured at the narrowest part of the abdomen or in the area between the tenth rib and the iliac crest (minimum circumference). Blood samples were collected from each subject in the morning after an overnight fast. Plasma glucose was determined using the glucose oxidase method (Sclavus, Siena, Italy), while the concentrations of plasma lipids [triglycerides, total cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol] were quantified by an automated colorimetric method (Hitachi; Boehringer Mannheim, Mannheim, Germany). Low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol was calculated by applying the Friedewald equation. Blood cell count, glutamyl oxaloacetic transaminase (GOT), glutamyl pyruvic transaminase (GPT), and gamma-glutamyl transferase (GGT) were measured using automatic enzyme procedures. The platelets count was determined using an XT-2000i hematology analyzer (Sysmex, Dasit, Cornaredo, Italy). Genomic DNA was manually purified from 4 mL of frozen blood samples by organic protein extraction and ethanol precipitation in accordance with standard methods (Kirby, 1957). The APO-E genotype was established by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and agarose gel electrophoresis, as described in detail elsewhere (Seripa et al., 2006). Genotypes were considered according to the presence of at least one allele. For the apoE polymorphism, we reported  $\varepsilon 2$  ( $\varepsilon 2$ /) and  $\varepsilon 4$  ( $\varepsilon 4$ /) carriers. ɛ2 carriers were distinct as those participants showing at least one  $\epsilon 2$  allele, that is, having a  $\epsilon 2/\epsilon 2$ , a  $\epsilon 2/\epsilon 3$ , or a  $\epsilon 2/\epsilon 4$ genotype. Likewise, ɛ4 carriers were defined as those participants showing at least one  $\varepsilon 4$  allele, that is, having a  $\varepsilon 4/\varepsilon 2$ , a  $\varepsilon 4/\varepsilon 3$ , or a ε4/ε4 genotype (Seripa et al., 2006). We considered APO-E ε2

carriers as at decreased risk and APO-E  $\epsilon$ 4 carriers as at increased risk for late-life cognitive decline (Verghese et al., 2011).

In addition, the following pathological conditions were assessed, as described in detail elsewhere (Castellana et al., 2021). In accordance with the American College of Cardiology American Heart Association criteria, hypertension status was evaluated as values  $\geq 130/80$  mmHg (Whelton et al., 2018). Diabetes mellitus was diagnosed as fasting blood glucose  $\geq 126$  mg/dL. The presence of stroke was ascertained during a complete medical history questionnaire administered by a certified neurologist.

# Assessment of Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease Risk

To assess the risk of fat distribution in the liver, Bedogni et al. (2006) developed an index, the FLI, that is accurate and easy to employ to predict NAFLD in the general population, applying BMI, waist circumference, triglycerides and GGT as routine measurements in clinical practice (Bedogni et al., 2006). An algorithm based on BMI, waist circumference, triglycerides, and GGT had an accuracy of 0.84 [95% confidence interval (CI): 0.81–0.87] in detecting NAFLD. This index ranges between 0 and 100, whereby NAFLD is ruled out with FLI < 30 and ruled in with FLI  $\geq$  60.

# Neurological and Neuropsychological Assessment

A standard neurological examination was carried out by a licensed neurologist, exploring perception, deambulation, cranial nerves, motor function (muscle tone, erectness of posture, and tropism), pathological gestures, sensory function, cerebellar and sphincter functions, deep tendon reflexes, and signs of diffuse cerebral distress. The Clinical Dementia Rating Scale (CDR) was administered to stage cognitive decline (Hughes et al., 1982). The diagnosis of dementia was made according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition criteria (DSM-4) (American Psychiatric Association [APA], 2000), as detailed elsewhere (Sardone et al., 2020). Global cognitive performance was assessed by the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE), a measure that includes 10 items to determine spatial and temporal orientation, attention, memory, language, and visuospatial functions (Measso et al., 1993).

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The whole sample was subdivided according to the parameter: dementia vs. non-dementia. Normal distributions of quantitative variables were tested using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Data are reported as mean  $\pm$  standard deviations (M  $\pm$  SD) for continuous measures and frequency and percentages (%) for all categorical variables. In order to focus on the practical differences, a statistical approach based on the effect size rather than the null hypothesis significance test (NHST) was adopted. Differences in the prevalence of exposure groups (FLI categories) and other categorical variables and their 95% CIs were calculated and used to assess essential differences in the magnitude of association, i.e., effect size (ES). Differences between continuous

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>http://www.stard-statement.org/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://www.strobe-statement.org/

variables were calculated using Cohen's d difference between means, Hedge's g when the assumption of a similar variance was violated, and their ES using the CIs (Grissom and Kim, 2005). Three nested logistic regression multivariable models were built to estimate the odds ratio (OR) for dementia of all the principal variables. The goodness of fit of the models was assessed using pseudo-R squared (Pseudo-R2) and Akaike Information Criteria (AIC), measuring the amount of variance explained by the regression model. It ranges in (0,1), with a larger value indicating that the model explains more variance (higher value is better). In detail, its measure shows how much Logistic Regression model reduces the error vs. simply guessing the average probability of occurrence for each observation. Probability estimators were expressed as Odds Ratios (OR) and 95% CI. The multicollinearity of models was evaluated through the variance inflation factor (VIF), using the score of 2 as a cut-off for exclusion of the covariates with a high probability of convergence in the model. In addition, the load of every single covariate was assessed using standard error (se) to control for overfitting of the adjusted models. Confounders were selected among the retained factors related both to exposure (FLI categories) and to the probability of dementia, i.e., the risk factors: age, sex, education, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, alcohol consumption, smoking habit, stroke, cholesterol, and Apo-E (Cheng et al., 2012; Licher et al., 2019).

#### RESULTS

In the present study, conducted on 1,542 older individuals (53% women), the mean age of the whole sample was  $73.51 \pm 6.25$  years. The prevalence of dementia was 8.5% (95% CI: 7–10%) People with dementia were older on average (ES: -0.89, 95% CI: -1.07 to -0.70), had a lower level of education (ES: 0.88, 95% CI: 0.69-1.06) and MMSE (ES: 3.19, 95% CI: 2.98-3.40), and a higher FLI score (ES: -0.22, 95% CI: -0.39 to -0.04). As to the metabolic biomarkers, subjects with dementia had lower levels of total cholesterol (ES: -0.24, 95% CI: -0.42 to -0.06) and LDL cholesterol (ES: -0.20, 95% CI: -0.38 to 0.02) and higher levels of GGT (ES: 0.2, 95% CI: 0.03-0.039) (Table 1).

In the logistic regression models, a dementia diagnosis was positively associated with a FLI > 60 in the unadjusted model (**Table 2**). Subjects with a FLI > 60 showed almost twice the probability of dementia compared to subjects with lower FLI, ceteris paribus of the other confounders, in the fully adjusted model (OR:1.81; se:0.53; 95% CI: 1.02–3.21) (**Table 1**). The goodness of fit was assessed using pseudo R2, that showed an absolute good fit of the model (pseudo R2 = 0.1337); considering the small increase of the adjusted Pseudo-R2 in the models before and after the implementation of the confounders, we could be confident in that results, despite the presence of several variables. Moreover, overfitting was quite low considering the single standard errors (<1) of the model covariates (**Table 1**).

#### DISCUSSION

In the present study, we found a positive association between dementia and NAFLD risk assessed with the FLI in a large,  
 TABLE 1 | Sociodemographic and clinical variables in cognitively normal subjects and patients with dementia.

Variables	Dementia         Cognitively           (n = 131)         (n = 141)           (8.5%)         (91.5%)		Effect size* (95% CI)
Sociodemograp	hic		
Age (years)	$78.85\pm6.53$	$73.39\pm6.12$	0.89 (0.70–1.07)
Females	77 (9.40)	742 (90.60)	-0.06 (-0.15 to 0.03)
Males	54 (7.47)	669 (92.53)	0.06 (-0.03 to 0.15)
Education (years)	$3.76\pm3.07$	$7.06\pm3.81$	-0.88 (-1.06 to -0.69)
Smoking (yes)	8 (6.11)	110 (7.80)	0.44 (-0.03 to 0.06)
BMI (Kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	$29.37\pm4.24$	$28.92\pm4.38$	0.10 (-0.08 to 0.28)
Waist circumference (cm)	102.96 ± 9.85	102.93 ± 10.54	0.002 (-0.18 to 0.18)
MMSE	$16.76\pm5.01$	$27.10 \pm 3.02$	-3.19 (-3.40 to -2.98)
Low physical activity (Yes)	107 (81.68)	1,165 (82.57)	0.01 (-0.06 to 0.08)
Alcohol consumption (>20 g/die)	14 (16.28)	209 (19.05)	0.03 (-0.05 to 0.11)
Biomarkers	100 44 1 01 50		0.00 ( 0.00 to 0.07)
FBG (mg/dl)	$108.44 \pm 31.53$	$105.64 \pm 29.11$	0.09 (-0.08 to 0.27)
Total cholesterol (mg/dl)	176.08 ± 39.48	184.95 ± 36.91	-0.24 (-0.42 to -0.06)
HDL cholesterol (mg/dl)	47.08 ± 12.99	49.35 ± 12.90	-0.18 (-0.35 to 0.003)
LDL cholesterol (mg/dl)	107.50 ± 31.71	113.83 ± 31.07	-0.20 (-0.38 to -0.02)
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	108.72 ± 52.12	$104.37 \pm 59.74$	0.07 (-0.10 to 0.25)
GGT	$41.03\pm42.61$	$33.49\pm35.56$	0.21 (0.03–0.39)
AST	$32.55\pm22.37$	$32.15\pm28.39$	0.01 (-0.16 to 0.19)
ALT	$25.44\pm16.74$	$25.67\pm20.66$	-0.01 (-0.19 to 0.17)
Apo-E genotype	•		
Apo-E ε3/ε3 carriers	100 (76.09)	1,043 (73.99)	-0.02 (-0.15 to 0.11)
Apo-E ε2 carriers	20 (15.22)	173 (12.28)	-0.03 (-0.14 to 0.08)
Apo-E ε4 carriers	11 (8.70)	194 (13.73)	0.05 (-0.03 to 0.13)
Clinical variable	s		
Hypertension (Yes)	89 (67.94)	988 (70.02)	0.02 (-0.06 to 0.10)
Diabetes mellitus (Yes)	22 (16.79)	172 (12.19)	-0.05 (-0.11 to 0.02)
Stroke (Yes)	6 (7.23)	31 (3.06)	-0.04 (-0.10 to 0.01)
FLI	59.12 ± 25.43	53.81 ± 24.46	0.22 (0.04–0.39)
FLI-Code			,
<30	21 (16.03)	276 (19.56)	0.03 (-0.03 to 0.10)
30–60	38 (29.01)	552 (39.12)	0.10 (0.02–0.18)
>60	72 (54.96)	583 (41.32)	-0.14 (-0.22 to -0.05)

The Salus in Apulia Study (n = 1,542). \*Hedges' effect size; Cl, confidence interval. Data are shown as mean and standard deviation for continuous variables and as percentage (%) for proportions.

BMI, body mass index; MMSE, Mini Mental State Examination; FBG, fasting blood glucose; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; GGT, γ-glutamyl transferase; AST, aspartate transaminase; ALT, alanine amino transferase, FLI Fatty Liver Index; APO-E, Apolipoprotein E.

TABLE 2 | Logistic regression multivariable models in cognitively normal subjects and patients with dementia.

Parameters		Unadju	usted model			Partially a	djusted model 1	
	OR	se (OR)	95% CI	R <sup>2</sup>	OR	se (OR)	95% CI	R <sup>2</sup>
				0.0101				0.0979
FLI (> 60)	1.73	0.32	1.21-2.48		1.68	0.32	1.16-2.43	
Age	-	-	-		1.89	0.14	1.63-2.19	
Sex	-	_	-		1.33	0.25	0.92-1.94	
Education	-	_	-		_	_	_	
Hypertension	-	_	-		_	_	_	
Diabetes mellitus	-	_	-		_	_	_	
Alcohol consumption	-	_	-		_	_	_	
Smoking habit	-	-	-		-	-	-	
Stroke	-	-	-		-	-	-	
Cholesterol	_	-	-		_	_	_	
Apo-E	_	_	-		-	_	-	

Parameters		Partially a	djusted model 2			Fully ad	justed model	
	OR	se (OR)	95% CI	R <sup>2</sup>	OR	se (OR)	95% CI	R <sup>2</sup>
				0.1313				0.1337
FLI (> 60)	1.79	0.42	1.12-2.85		1.81	0.53	1.02-3.21	
Age	1.74	0.17	1.44-2.11		1.66	0.20	1.31-2.12	
Sex	1.15	0.30	0.69-1.92		1.38	0.46	0.72-2.67	
Education	0.35	0.09	0.21-0.56		0.29	0.10	0.15-0.57	
Hypertension	0.72	0.19	0.44-1.20		1.04	0.35	0.54-2.00	
Diabetes mellitus	0.85	0.29	0.44-1.66		0.56	0.26	0.23-1.39	
Alcohol consumption	1.01	0.35	0.51-1.99		1.13	0.46	0.51-2.49	
Smoking habit	-	-	-		2.12	1.26	0.66-6.83	
Stroke	-	-	-		2.08	1.22	0.65-6.60	
Cholesterol	-	-	-		0.99	0.004	0.98-1.00	
Apo-E	-	-	-		0.54	0.27	0.20-1.44	

The Salus in Apulia Study (n = 1,542). OR, odds ratio; se (OR), standard error of OR; CI, confidence interval; R<sup>2</sup>, pseudo R<sup>2</sup>; FLI, Fatty Liver Index.

older population-based sample. This association persisted after controlling for possible confounders such as age, sex, education, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, alcohol consumption, smoking habit, and stroke.

Although there is a wealth of evidence about the risk of a declining cognitive performance of older people with diabetes mellitus (Palta et al., 2014), studies of the cognitive performance in subjects with NAFLD are lacking. In a large cross-sectional study involving more than 4,000 American adults aged 20-59 years, NAFLD was independently associated with lower cognitive performance, independently of cerebrovascular disease (CVD) and its risk factors (Seo et al., 2016). Individuals with NAFLD and diabetes mellitus had a lower cognitive function, according to a large population-based cohort study (Weinstein et al., 2018). However, the presence of NAFLD without diabetes mellitus did not appear to be linked to poor cognitive function (Weinstein et al., 2018). Another study found that participants in the community-based Framingham Study with NAFLD had a cognitive function that was not statistically different from those without NAFLD (Weinstein et al., 2019). Insulin resistance may play a significant role in the link between NAFLD and cognitive function. Insulin resistance is widespread in people with NAFLD, diabetes mellitus, and cognitive impairment diseases, such as Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Targher et al., 2005; Craft, 2007).

A study on animal models suggested that increased insulin resistance (induced by nitrosamine) may result in non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH) and AD (Tong et al., 2009). The role of metabolic disorders in the pathophysiology of AD is shown by the consistent correlations of serum-based liver function markers with cognitive performance and amyloid  $\beta$  (A $\beta$ ), tau protein, and other AD neurodegeneration biomarkers (Nho et al., 2019).

AD is the most prevalent cause of dementia in older people (No Authors Listed, 2021). The liver physiological role includes various processes engaged in pathways that contribute to the development and progression of AD. Both functional and structural deterioration of the liver reduces its ability to efficiently remove and degrade AB (Wang et al., 2017). A low hepatic expression of low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 (LRP1) and high levels of circulating A<sup>β</sup> have been reported in patients with CLDs. This is due to diminished  $A\beta$  clearance with low hepatic LRP1 activity (Wang et al., 2017). According to a recent epidemiological study, NAFLD, cirrhosis, CVD, or type 2 diabetes mellitus were the most common comorbidities associated with dementia caused by AD (Bassendine et al., 2020). Diet-induced hepatic insulin resistance is closely linked to NAFLD (Kumashiro et al., 2011). In a healthy condition, insulin enhances LRP1 translocation to the cell membrane in hepatocytes, favoring AB clearance by LRP1. Therefore, insulin resistance hampers or prevents this process, leading to increased A $\beta$  levels (Tamaki et al., 2007). Furthermore, liver damage is correlated with A $\beta$  deposition in the brain. Besides, NAFLD and NASH enhance the level of hematic cholesterol, particularly of 27-hydroxycholesterol, the form that can pass freely through the blood-brain barrier. This accumulation of cholesterol in the brain favors the production of A $\beta$  in lipid rafts, contributing to the vicious circle supporting AD progression (Tamaki et al., 2007).

The AD pathogenesis is characterized by synaptic and neuronal degeneration and amyloid plaques, mostly consisting of Aß peptide (Estrada et al., 2019). Through metabolic detoxification, the liver plays a critical role in the clearance of peripheral circulating AB. The absorption of AB into hepatocytes and subsequent excretion in the bile may be impaired in the presence of hepatic inflammation, especially in more advanced stages such as cirrhosis, resulting in greater Aβ levels in the circulation (Kanekiyo and Bu, 2014; Gehrke and Schattenberg, 2020). Moreover, failing autophagy (Nixon, 2013) predisposes to amyloidosis, which in turn sets the stage for microglial activation/phenotype change, increased CNS inflammation, and microglial toxicity, as well as an emerging tauopathy (modification of tau via excessive phosphorylation or disruption of phosphatase/kinase balance). These alterations may be due to both compensations for amyloidosis and systemic inflammation (Nixon, 2013), and thus metabolic alterations contributing to NAFLD.

Furthermore, evidence suggests that both NAFLD and dementia share two important biological risk factors, such as Apolipoprotein E (APO-E) and Adiponectin (ADPN). APO-E has been linked to a variety of diseases as well as altered lipid profiles (Nascimento et al., 2020). In particular, some studies suggest that the apoE £4 allele is a risk factor for NAFLD pathogenesis (Yang et al., 2005). Moreover, the ɛ4 allele is a major genetic risk factor for late onset Alzheimer's disease (Rasmussen, 2016). This association was first recognized in 1993 (Corder et al., 1993) and then has been validated worldwide. The APO-E polymorphism is undoubtedly the strongest genetic risk factor implicated in late-life Alzheimer's disease (Hort et al., 2010). Even though APO-E was considered as a covariate in our models, it does not modify the effect of the association. This finding may be due to the presence of several epigenetic factors (i.e., environmental factors, lifestyle and gut microbiota) that may have influenced both NAFLD (Frank et al., 2021) and cognitive impairment in aging subjects (Morris et al., 2019) and then could have a hidden confounding effect or interplay between apoe4 and dementia.

Adiponectin (ADPN) is a pleiotropic plasma protein produced by adipose tissue with anti-diabetic, anti-atherogenic, and antiinflammatory functions (Roy and Palaniyandi, 2021). Initially, it was considered that the principal function was to regulate metabolism. ADPN receptors were later discovered in the central nervous system as well (CNS) (Rizzo et al., 2020). Overall, ADPN appears to have neuroprotective effects through lowering inflammatory markers such as C-reactive protein (PCR), interleukin 6 (IL6), and Tumor Necrosis Factor a, based on its central and peripheral actions (TNFa). High levels of inflammatory cascade components, on the other hand, appear to suppress ADPN synthesis, implying bidirectional modulation. Furthermore, ADPN appears to have an insulin-sensitizing effect. As stated previously, the decline in insulin signaling is known to be linked to both cognitive impairment and liver diseases (Buechler et al., 2011; Rizzo et al., 2020).

In the present study, we observed lower levels of total cholesterol (TC) and LDL cholesterol and higher levels of GGT in subjects with dementia. In a meta-analysis including 23,338 participants, total cholesterol was not associated with cognitive outcomes or dementia in any analyses or in any of the extensive individual studies conducted in late-life, and the authors concluded that there is no biological association between late-life lipids and brain health, even though evidence suggests that high midlife TC increases risk of late-life AD, and may correlate with the onset of AD (Anstey et al., 2017). In the Honolulu-Asia Aging Study (HAAS) cohort, total cholesterol was reported to be consistently lower in men who developed dementia (Stewart et al., 2007). Nevertheless, there are still considerable gaps in the literature about associations between total cholesterol and late-life dementia (Peters et al., 2020). It is difficult to predict whether an isolated reading indicates cognitive decline without knowing an individual's total cholesterol trajectory over time. It is also plausible that participants with high LDL cholesterol (and not HDL cholesterol) were lost from our cohort due to mortality or other multimorbidity associated with cardiovascular diseases. Very long-term cohort follow-ups with AD biomarkers, which the field currently lacks, will be needed to disentangle the impact of lipids on late-life brain health (Anstey et al., 2017).

GGT is a biomarker produced mostly by the liver and present in human epithelial cells. It's an oxidative stress marker linked to an elevated risk of cardiovascular disease (Oni et al., 2020). Elevated GGT levels have also been linked with hepatic steatosis and liver cancer (Loomba et al., 2013). Since evidence suggests that smoking may also cause elevated GGT levels (Oni et al., 2020), we adjusted our analysis for smoking habits. Interestingly, several studies highlighted that baseline GGT level and GGT variability were independent predictors of incident dementia, confirming our findings (Kunutsor and Laukkanen, 2016; Lee et al., 2020). The present results could also reflect the fact that the GGT value is included in the formula for calculating the FLI.

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

The strengths of the present study include its well-defined population-based sample, the standardized and clinically based evaluations. Moreover, this study benefits from good internal validity, as the subjects with dementia were older and had lower MMSE scores. Furthermore, in our population study, the prevalence of dementia reflects that of the European population (OECD and European Union, 2018), corroborating a good external validity of the dementia findings. Of note, the FLI has been validated to detect NAFLD in an Italian population and reflects the prevalence of the disease (Bedogni et al., 2005, 2006).

However, we must acknowledge some limitations. Firstly, the cross-sectional nature of the study did not allow us to establish causality in the relationship between NAFLD and dementia. Secondly, we cannot introduce any variables about the use of drugs (statins, NSAIDs, corticosteroids) because we don't have access to that information. Moreover, our subjects did not have a diagnosis of AD but an overall diagnosis of dementia (unspecified) that could also include vascular forms with an entirely different etiopathogenesis from AD. In addition, we do not have any data about subjects with severe dementia (CDR greater than 1). They could not come to visit because of substantial impairment, generating a typical selection bias. Besides, we used MMSE that shown less sensitivity to mild cognitive impairment and lesser degrees of a cognitive deficit than other assessments. Furthermore, we did not use a gold standard method to confirm liver fat presence such as ultrasonography or biopsy, since the risk of having NAFLD was based on the FLI score.

#### CONCLUSION

In conclusion, NAFLD may be a possible independent risk factor for dementia. Such a link might shed light on the contribution of NAFLD to late-life cognitive impairment and support a more effective management of older people with the disease. Particularly, if we consider NAFLD as a precursor stage of clinical diabetes, this finding could highlight an early role of metabolic alterations in the pathogenesis of dementia. This is especially important in light of the increasing prevalence of obesity and metabolic syndrome, which might signal increased NAFLD rates. In the near future, the NAFLD clinical assessment may well be included in the comprehensive geriatric assessment (CGA) with the aim of increasing the accuracy of determining a dementia risk in older age, and thus modifying the prevention trajectories in a primary care setting.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

#### REFERENCES

- American Psychiatric Association [APA] (2000). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders: DSM-IV-TR. Washington: American Psychiatric Association.
- Anstey, K. J., Ashby-Mitchell, K., and Peters, R. (2017). Updating the evidence on the association between serum cholesterol and risk of late-life dementia: review and meta-analysis. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 56, 215–228. doi: 10.3233/JAD-160826
- Bassendine, M. F., Taylor-Robinson, S. D., Fertleman, M., Khan, M., and Neely, D. (2020). Is Alzheimer's disease a liver disease of the brain? *J. Alzheimer's Dis.* 75, 1–14. doi: 10.3233/jad-190848
- Bedogni, G., Bellentani, S., Miglioli, L., Masutti, F., Passalacqua, M., Castiglione, A., et al. (2006). The Fatty Liver Index: a simple and accurate predictor of hepatic steatosis in the general population. *BMC Gastroenterol.* 6:33. doi: 10.1186/1471-230X-6-33
- Bedogni, G., Miglioli, L., Masutti, F., Tiribelli, C., Marchesini, G., and Bellentani, S. (2005). Prevalence of and risk factors for non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: the Dionysos nutrition and liver study. *Hepatology* 42, 44–52. doi: 10.1002/hep. 20734
- Bertolotti, M., Lonardo, A., Mussi, C., Baldelli, E., Pellegrini, E., Ballestri, S., et al. (2014). Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and aging: epidemiology to

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

RS and LL: conceptualization. RD, FP, and RS: methodology. RD and VG: formal analysis. CG, GL, SS, RZ, FC, IB, ST, SD, RT, and ML: investigation. LL: writing—original draft preparation. CG, FP, and RS: writing—review and editing. GS, AL, GD, FP, and RS: supervision. RS and GG: project administration. GG: funding acquisition. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

#### FUNDING

This study was funded by the Italian Ministry of Health with the "Ricerca Corrente 2019" Grant. The Salus in Apulia Study was funded by Apulia Government and Italian Ministry of Health, under the Studies on Aging Network, at Italian Research Hospitals (IRCCS).

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the "Salus in Apulia" Research Team. This manuscript is the result of the research work on frailty undertaken by the "Research Network on Aging" team, supported by the resources of the Italian Ministry of Health—Research Networks of National Health Institutes. We thank M. V. Pragnell, B.A., for her precious help as native English language supervisor. We thank the General Practitioners of Castellana Grotte, for their fundamental role in supporting the recruitment of participants in these studies: Campanella Cecilia Olga Maria, Daddabbo Annamaria, Dell'aera Giosue, Giustiniano Rosalia Francesca, Guzzoni Iudice Massimo, Lomuscio Savino, Lucarelli Rocco, Mazzarisi Antonio, Palumbo Mariana, Persio Maria Teresa, Pesce Rosa Vincenza, Puzzovivo Gabriella, Romano Pasqua Maria, Sgobba Cinzia, Simeone Francesco, Tartaglia Paola, and Tauro Nicola.

management. World J. Gastroenterol. 20, 14185–14204. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v20. i39.14185

- Buechler, C., Wanninger, J., and Neumeier, M. (2011). Adiponectin, a key adipokine in obesity related liver diseases. World J. Gastroenterol. 17, 2801– 2811. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v17.i23.2801
- Castellana, F., Lampignano, L., Bortone, I., Zupo, R., Lozupone, M., Griseta, C., et al. (2021). Physical frailty, multimorbidity, and all-cause mortality in an older population from Southern Italy: results from the salus in apulia study. J. Am. Med. Dir. Assoc. 22, 598–605. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2020.12.026
- Cheng, G., Huang, C., Deng, H., and Wang, H. (2012). Diabetes as a risk factor for dementia and mild cognitive impairment: a meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Intern. Med. J.* 42, 484–491. doi: 10.1111/j.1445-5994.2012.02 758.x
- Corder, E. H., Saunders, A. M., Strittmatter, W. J., Schmechel, D. E., Gaskell, P. C., Small, G. W., et al. (1993). Gene dose of apolipoprotein E type 4 allele and the risk of Alzheimer's disease in late onset families. *Science* 261, 921–923. doi: 10.1126/science.8346443
- Craft, S. (2007). Insulin resistance and Alzheimer's disease pathogenesis: potential mechanisms and implications for treatment. *Curr. Alzheimer Res.* 4, 147–152. doi: 10.2174/156720507780362137
- Debette, S., Seshadri, S., Beiser, A., Au, R., Himali, J. J., Palumbo, C., et al. (2011). Midlife vascular risk factor exposure accelerates structural brain

aging and cognitive decline. *Neurology* 77, 461–468. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 0b013e318227b227

- Estrada, L. D., Ahumada, P., Cabrera, D., and Arab, J. P. (2019). Liver dysfunction as a novel player in alzheimer's progression: looking outside the brain. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 11:174. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2019.00174
- Frank, J., Kisters, K., Stirban, O. A., Obeid, R., Lorkowski, S., Wallert, M., et al. (2021). The role of biofactors in the prevention and treatment of age-related diseases. *Biofactors* 47, 522–550. doi: 10.1002/biof.1728
- Gale, S. A., Acar, D., and Daffner, K. R. (2018). Dementia. Am. J. Med. 131, 1161–1169. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2018.01.022
- Gehrke, N., and Schattenberg, J. M. (2020). Metabolic inflammation-a role for hepatic inflammatory pathways as drivers of comorbidities in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease? *Gastroenterology* 158, 1929–1947.e6. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.02. 020
- Gorelick, P. B., Scuteri, A., Black, S. E., Decarli, C., Greenberg, S. M., Iadecola, C., et al. (2011). Vascular contributions to cognitive impairment and dementia: a statement for healthcare professionals from the american heart association/american stroke association. *Stroke* 42, 2672–2713. doi: 10.1161/ STR.0b013e3182299496
- Grissom, R. J., and Kim, J. J. (2005). *Effect Sizes for Research: A Broad Practical Approach*. Mahwah: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers.
- Hort, J., O'Brien, J. T., Gainotti, G., Pirttila, T., Popescu, B. O., Rektorova, I., et al. (2010). EFNS guidelines for the diagnosis and management of Alzheimer's disease. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 17, 1236–1248. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2010.03040.x
- Hughes, C. P., Berg, L., Danziger, W., Coben, L. A., and Martin, R. L. (1982). A new clinical scale for the staging of dementia. *Br. J. Psychiatry* 140, 566–572. doi: 10.1192/bjp.140.6.566
- Kanekiyo, T., and Bu, G. (2014). The low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1 and amyloid-β clearance in Alzheimer's disease. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 6:93. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2014.00093
- Kirby, K. S. (1957). A new method for the isolation of deoxyribonucleic acids; evidence on the nature of bonds between deoxyribonucleic acid and protein. *Biochem. J.* 66, 495–504. doi: 10.1042/bj0660495
- Kjærgaard, K., Mikkelsen, A. C. D., Wernberg, C. W., Grønkjær, L. L., Eriksen, P. L., Damholdt, M. F., et al. (2021). Cognitive dysfunction in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease—current knowledge, mechanisms and perspectives. J. Clin. Med. 10:673.
- Kumashiro, N., Erion, D. M., Zhang, D., Kahn, M., Beddow, S. A., Chu, X., et al. (2011). Cellular mechanism of insulin resistance in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 108, 16381–16385. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 1113359108
- Kunutsor, S. K., and Laukkanen, J. A. (2016). Gamma glutamyltransferase and risk of future dementia in middle-aged to older Finnish men: a new prospective cohort study. *Alzheimers. Dement.* 12, 931–941. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2016.03.003
- Lee, Y.-B., Han, K., Park, S., Kim, S. M., Kim, N. H., Choi, K. M., et al. (2020). Gamma-glutamyl transferase variability and risk of dementia: a nationwide study. Int. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 35, 1105–1114. doi: 10.1002/gps.5332
- Leoci, C., Centonze, S., Guerra, V., Cisternino, A. M., and Misciagna, G. (1993). Reliability and validity of a semiquantitative food frequency questionnaire. *G. Ital. Nutr. Clin. Prev.* 2, 58–59.
- Licher, S., Ahmad, S., Karamujić-Čomić, H., Voortman, T., Leening, M. J. G., Ikram, M. A., et al. (2019). Genetic predisposition, modifiable-risk-factor profile and long-term dementia risk in the general population. *Nat. Med.* 25, 1364– 1369. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0547-7
- Livingston, G., Huntley, J., Sommerlad, A., Ames, D., Ballard, C., Banerjee, S., et al. (2020). Dementia prevention, intervention, and care: 2020 report of the Lancet commission. *Lancet* 396, 413–446. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30367-6
- Livingston, G., Sommerlad, A., Orgeta, V., Costafreda, S. G., Huntley, J., Ames, D., et al. (2017). Dementia prevention, intervention, and care. *Lancet* 16, 2673–2734. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31363-6
- Loomba, R., Doycheva, I., Bettencourt, R., Cohen, B., Wassel, C. L., Brenner, D., et al. (2013). Serum γ-glutamyltranspeptidase predicts all-cause, cardiovascular and liver mortality in older adults. *J. Clin. Exp. Hepatol.* 3, 4–11. doi: 10.1016/j. jceh.2012.10.004
- Measso, G., Cavarzeran, F., Zappalà, G., Lebowitz, B. D., Crook, T. H., Pirozzolo, F. J., et al. (1993). The mini-mental state examination: normative study of an Italian random sample. *Dev. Neuropsychol.* 9, 77–85. doi: 10.1080/ 87565649109540545

- Morris, B. J., Willcox, B. J., and Donlon, T. A. (2019). Genetic and epigenetic regulation of human aging and longevity. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta Mol. Basis Dis.* 1865, 1718–1744. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2018.08.039
- Nascimento, J. C. R., Matos, G. A., Pereira, L. C., Mourão, A. E. C. C. B., Sampaio, A. M., Oriá, R. B., et al. (2020). Impact of apolipoprotein E genetic polymorphisms on liver disease: an essential review. *Ann. Hepatol.* 19, 24–30. doi: 10.1016/j.aohep.2019.07.011
- Nho, K., Kueider-Paisley, A., Ahmad, S., MahmoudianDehkordi, S., Arnold, M., Risacher, S. L., et al. (2019). Association of altered liver enzymes with alzheimer disease diagnosis, cognition, neuroimaging measures, and cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers. *JAMA Netw. Open* 2:e197978. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen. 2019.7978
- Niu, H., Álvarez-Álvarez, I., Guillén-Grima, F., and Aguinaga-Ontoso, I. (2017). Prevalence and incidence of Alzheimer's disease in Europe: a meta-analysis. *Neurologia* 32, 523–532. doi: 10.1016/j.nrl.2016.02.016
- Nixon, R. (2013). The role of autophagy in neurodegenerative disease. *Nat. Med.* 19, 983–997. doi: 10.1038/nm.3232
- No Authors Listed (2021). 2021 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. *Alzheimers Dement.* 17, 327–406. doi: 10.1002/alz.12328
- OECD, and European Union (2018). *Health at a Glance: Europe 2018: State of Health in the EU Cycle.* Paris: OECD.
- Oni, E. T., Figueredo, V., Aneni, E., Veladar, E., McEvoy, J. W., Blaha, M. J., et al. (2020). Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease modifies serum gamma-glutamyl transferase in cigarette smokers. *J. Clin. Med. Res.* 12, 472–482. doi: 10.14740/ jocmr3932
- Palta, P., Schneider, A. L. C., Biessels, G. J., Touradji, P., and Hill-Briggs, F. (2014). Magnitude of cognitive dysfunction in adults with type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis of six cognitive domains and the most frequently reported neuropsychological tests within domains. *J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc.* 20, 278–291. doi: 10.1017/S1355617713001483
- Peters, R., Peters, J., Booth, A., and Anstey, K. J. (2020). Trajectory of blood pressure, body mass index, cholesterol and incident dementia: systematic review. Br. J. Psychiatry 216, 16–28. doi: 10.1192/bjp.2019.156
- Rasmussen, K. L. (2016). Plasma levels of apolipoprotein E, APOE genotype and risk of dementia and ischemic heart disease: a review. *Atherosclerosis* 255, 145–155. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2016.10.037
- Rizzo, M. R., Fasano, R., and Paolisso, G. (2020). Adiponectin and cognitive decline. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 21:2010. doi: 10.3390/ijms21062010
- Roy, B., and Palaniyandi, S. S. (2021). Tissue-specific role and associated downstream signaling pathways of adiponectin. *Cell Biosci.* 11:77. doi: 10.1186/ s13578-021-00587-4
- Sardone, R., Battista, P., Donghia, R., Lozupone, M., Tortelli, R., Guerra, V., et al. (2020). Age-related central auditory processing disorder, MCI, and dementia in an older population of Southern Italy. *Otolaryngol. Head Neck Surg.* 163, 348–355. doi: 10.1177/0194599820913635
- Seo, S. W., Gottesman, R. F., Clark, J. M., Hernaez, R., Chang, Y., Kim, C., et al. (2016). Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease is associated with cognitive function in adults. *Neurology* 86, 1136–1142. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000 2498
- Seripa, D., Signori, E., Gravina, C., Matera, M. G., Rinaldi, M., and Fazio, V. M. (2006). Simple and effective determination of apolipoprotein E genotypes by positive/negative polymerase chain reaction products. *Diagn. Mol. Pathol.* 15, 180–185. doi: 10.1097/01.pdm.0000213451.99655.1d
- Solfrizzi, V., Scafato, E., Custodero, C., Loparco, F., Ciavarella, A., Panza, F., et al. (2020). Liver fibrosis score, physical frailty, and the risk of dementia in older adults: the Italian longitudinal study on aging. *Alzheimers Dement.* 6:e12065. doi: 10.1002/trc2.12065
- Stewart, R., White, L. R., Xue, Q.-L., and Launer, L. J. (2007). Twenty-six-year change in total cholesterol levels and incident dementia. Arch. Neurol. 64, 103–7. doi: 10.1001/archneur.64.1.103
- Tamaki, C., Ohtsuki, S., and Terasaki, T. (2007). Insulin Facilitates the Hepatic Clearance of Plasma Amyloid β-Peptide (1–40) by intracellular translocation of low-density LIPOPROTEIN Receptor-Related Protein 1 (LRP-1) to the plasma membrane in hepatocytes. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 72, 850–855. doi: 10.1124/mol.107. 036913
- Targher, G., Bertolini, L., Poli, F., Rodella, S., Scala, L., Tessari, R., et al. (2005). Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease and risk of future cardiovascular events among type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetes* 54, 3541–3546. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.54.12.3541

- Tong, M., Neusner, A., Longato, L., Lawton, M., Wands, J. R., and de la Monte, S. M. (2009). Nitrosamine exposure causes insulin resistance diseases: relevance to type 2 diabetes mellitus, non-alcoholic steatohepatitis, and Alzheimer's disease. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 17, 827–844.
- Verghese, P. B., Castellano, J. M., and Holtzman, D. M. (2011). Apolipoprotein E in Alzheimer's disease and other neurological disorders. *Lancet Neurol.* 10, 241–252. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70325-2
- Wang, Y.-R., Wang, Q.-H., Zhang, T., Liu, Y.-H., Yao, X.-Q., Zeng, F., et al. (2017). Associations between hepatic functions and plasma amyloid-beta levels implications for the capacity of liver in peripheral amyloid-beta clearance. *Mol. Neurobiol.* 54, 2338–2344. doi: 10.1007/s12035-016-9826-1
- Weinstein, A. A., de Avila, L., Paik, J., Golabi, P., Escheik, C., Gerber, L., et al. (2018). Cognitive performance in individuals with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and/or type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Psychosomatics* 59, 567–574. doi: 10. 1016/j.psym.2018.06.001
- Weinstein, G., Davis-Plourde, K., Himali, J. J., Zelber-Sagi, S., Beiser, A. S., and Seshadri, S. (2019). Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, liver fibrosis score and cognitive function in middle-aged adults: the Framingham study. *Liver Int.* 39, 1713–1721. doi: 10.1111/liv.14161
- World Health Organization [WHO] (2021). Dementia. Available online at: https:// www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/dementia [accessed July 19, 2021].
- Wu, H., Dunnett, S., Ho, Y. S., and Chang, R. C. (2019). The role of sleep deprivation and circadian rhythm disruption as risk factors of Alzheimer's disease. *Front. Neuroendocrinol.* 54:100764. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2019.100764
- Yang, M. H., Son, H. J., Sung, J. D., Choi, Y. H., Koh, K. C., Yoo, B. C., et al. (2005). The relationship between apolipoprotein E polymorphism,

lipoprotein (a) and fatty liver disease. *Hepatogastroenterology* 52, 1832–1835.

- Yilmaz, Y., and Ozdogan, O. (2009). Liver disease as a risk factor for cognitive decline and dementia: an under-recognised issue. *Hepatology* 49:698. doi: 10. 1002/hep.22752
- Younossi, Z. M., Corey, K. E., and Lim, J. K. (2021). AGA clinical practice update on lifestyle modification using diet and exercise to achieve weight loss in the management of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: expert review. *Gastroenterology* 160, 912–918. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2020.11.051
- Younossi, Z. M., Stepanova, M., and Afendy, M. (2011). Changes in the prevalence of the most common causes of chronic liver diseases in the United States from 1988 to 2008. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 9, 524–530.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Lampignano, Donghia, Griseta, Lagravinese, Sciarra, Zupo, Castellana, Bortone, Guerra, Tirelli, De Nucci, Tatoli, Lozupone, Sborgia, Leo, De Pergola, Giannelli, Panza and Sardone. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Prevalence and Associated Risk Factors of Cognitive Frailty: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

Tao Zhang<sup>1,2†</sup>, Yan Ren<sup>3†</sup>, Ping Shen<sup>4</sup>, Shixie Jiang<sup>5</sup>, Yanrong Yang<sup>6</sup>, Yan Wang<sup>6</sup>, Zheng Li<sup>6</sup> and Ying Yang<sup>6,7\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> School of Medicine, Zunyi Medical University, Zunyi, China, <sup>2</sup> Sichuan Provincial People's Hospital, Sichuan Academy of Medical Sciences, Chengdu, China, <sup>3</sup> Department of Geriatrics, Fifth People's Hospital of Chengdu, Chengdu, China, <sup>4</sup> College of Life and Science, Chengdu University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Chengdu, China, <sup>5</sup> Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Neurosciences, University of South Florida, Tampa, FL, United States, <sup>6</sup> Department of Neurology, Fifth People's Hospital of Chengdu, Chengdu, China, <sup>7</sup> School of Computer Science and Technology, Chongqing University of Posts and Telecommunications, Chongqing, China

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Omar Yaxmehen Bello-Chavolla, Instituto Nacional de Geriatría, Mexico

#### Reviewed by:

Zhou Jianghua, Wenzhou People's Hospital, China Chuan Shao, Nanchong Central Hospital, China

> \*Correspondence: Ying Yang yang.88.smile@163.com

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurocognitive Aging and Behavior, a section of the journal Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience

> Received: 09 August 2021 Accepted: 27 December 2021 Published: 28 January 2022

#### Citation:

Zhang T, Ren Y, Shen P, Jiang S, Yang Y, Wang Y, Li Z and Yang Y (2022) Prevalence and Associated Risk Factors of Cognitive Frailty: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Front. Aging Neurosci. 13:755926. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.755926 **Objective:** Currently, the prevalence of CF (Cognitive Frailty) is not very clear, and the relationship between CF and its associated risk factors has not been accurately evaluated. Therefore, it is necessary to conduct a systematic review and meta-analysis further to understand CF's prevalence and associated factors.

**Methods:** Embase, PubMed, Web of Science, Ovid, and Cochrane were systematically searched for articles exploring the prevalence of CF, the deadline of searching date was up to March 2021. For the prevalence of CF, the events of CF and the total number of patients in every included study were extracted to estimate the prevalence of CF. For associated factors of CF, Odds Ratios (ORs) with (corresponding) 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were used for estimations.

**Results:** Firstly, the estimated prevalence of CF I (Cognitive Frailty in the model I) was 16%, 95% CI (0.13–0.19), and the estimated prevalence of CF II (Cognitive Frailty in model II) was 6%, 95% CI (0.05–0.07). Secondly, both lower engagement in activities and age were calculated to be independent risk factors of CF, and the OR (95% CI) was 3.31 (2.28–4.81) and 1.10 (1.04–1.16), respectively. Finally, depression was also a prominent risk factor of CF, with the overall OR (95% CI) as 1.57 (1.32–1.87).

**Conclusion:** CF was a high prevalence in community older. The various assessment scales and the different cutoff values of diagnostic criteria would affect the prevalence of CF. Lower engagement in activities, age, and depression was the risky factor of CF.

**Systematic Review Registration:** http://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/, identifier: CRD42019121369.

Keywords: cognitive frailty (CF), associated factor, prevalence, frailty, cognitive

96

## INTRODUCTION

Frailty, a critical intermediate status of the aging process and a reversible condition, is a multidimensional clinical syndrome that includes physical, cognitive, social, and psychological dimensions or phenotypes (Clegg et al., 2013; Rodríguez-Mañas et al., 2013; Sugimoto et al., 2018). Numerous studies have confirmed that cognitive impairment is significantly associated with physical frailty, as both cognitive impairment and physical frailty often co-occur in older people (Avila-Funes et al., 2009; Boyle et al., 2010; Auyeung et al., 2011; Malmstrom and Morley, 2013; Shimada et al., 2013). Based on previous research, the consensus from the International Academy on Nutrition and Aging and the International Association of Gerontology and Geriatrics (IANA-IAGG) proposed the operational definition of cognitive frailty (CF) as the co-existence of physical frailty and mild cognitive impairment (MCI) in the absence of dementia (Kelaiditi et al., 2013). Individuals with CF carry a higher risk of developing dementia and mortality in comparison to healthy older adults (Solfrizzi et al., 2017a), as well as a higher risk than older adults with either physical frailty or cognitive impairment alone (Avila-Funes et al., 2009; Feng et al., 2017; Shimada et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2021). Notably, CF is a potentially reversible condition, unlike dementia (Clegg et al., 2013). It is a state of reduced cognitive reserve, occurring at an intermediate stage between age-related cognitive changes and neurodegenerative diseases (Dorner et al., 2013; Morley et al., 2013). However, CF by itself may still lead to the following adverse outcomes: decline in physiological function, disability, hospitalization, and dementia (Avila-Funes et al., 2009; Solfrizzi et al., 2017a,b; Shimada et al., 2018). Therefore, CF preventive and health promotion strategies need to be implemented in the early stages or the reversible stage.

Owing to different assessment measures and diagnostic criteria, the prevalence of CF varies significantly among studies. There is currently no gold standard for diagnosing CF and no evident estimated prevalence of CF in communitydwelling individuals.

Moreover, in recognition of the importance of CF and the perniciousness of adverse health, a significant number of studies have focused on the risk factors for it. However, the main associated factors of CF have also varied in different studies, and results have been controversial. For example, Katayama et al. (2021) reported that sex was independently associated with CF. However, Chu et al. (2019) reported that sex did not show a significant association with CF. Furthermore, Xie et al. (2021) reported that depression was independently associated with CF, but Chu et al. (2019) reported that depression was not. Therefore, it is crucial to objectively evaluate the risk factors of CF with more rigorous scientific methods. Given those as mentioned earlier, we have conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis to clarify CF's prevalence and associated risk factors in community-dwelling older adults.

## METHODS

#### **Inclusion Criteria**

- 1) We defined CF as the co-existence of frailty and cognitive impairment, so included studies must evaluate cognition level and frailty.
- 2) The original study must include the number of individuals with CF and the total population size.
- 3) The included population is community-dwelling.
- 4) Multiple papers were generated from the same data set; only the most relevant study and the larger sample were included.

### **Exclusion Criteria**

- 1) The original study did not involve or could not calculate the number of those diagnosed with CF.
- 2) Data cannot be obtained, even after contacting the corresponding author of a study.
- 3) Literature reviews, case reports, animal studies, or conference abstracts.
- 4) Non-English studies.

#### **Data Sources and Search Strategy**

Two researchers (Tao Zhang and Yan Ren) independently searched the following electronic databases: Cochrane, PubMed, Web of Science, Ovid, and EMBASE, the deadline of searching date was up to March 2021. Search terms were as follows: [(frailty [Mesh Terms]) OR (frail\*[Title/Abstract])] AND (cogniti\*[Title/Abstract]). After removing duplicates, 9,198 articles were screened, and the screening process of included studies is shown in **Figure 1**.

#### **Data Extraction and Study Selection**

Firstly, two reviewers (Tao Zhang and Yan Ren) screened the titles and abstracts from searches and independently selected relevant studies, which met the inclusion criteria. Secondly, Tao Zhang and Yan Ren decided on the studies for final inclusion after reviewing the full text of potential studies. Thirdly, once the quantitative data in the original study met the inclusion criteria, we extracted the number of events of CF and other important information. Fourth, we also collected the adjusted OR and 95% (CI), which evaluated the associated risk factors of CF. Lastly, any disagreement in selection was referred to the arbitrator (Ying Yang). We also contacted the corresponding author of the original studies for additional information if required.

## **Risk of Bias (Quality) Assessment**

Two reviewers (Ping Shen and Yan Ren) independently assessed the risk of bias of the included studies by using a tool explicitly designed for assessing the risk of bias of prevalence studies (Hoy et al., 2012) (The full details of this tool are presented in **Supplementary Table 4**). In brief, it involves a total of 10 items that contain three domains: measurement bias, selection bias, and analysis bias. The answer to each item was, "Yes (low risk)," or

Abbreviations: CF I, Cognitive Frailty in model I; CF II, Cognitive Frailty in model II; MMSE, Mini-Mental State Examination; MoCA, Montreal Cognitive Assessment; HDS-R, Revised Hasegawa's dementia scale; CI testing, Cognitive Impairment testing; TICS-10, Telephone Interview of Cognitive Status-10 items; SPMSQ, Short Portable Mental Status Questionnaire; MiniCog, Minimal Cognition; CDR, Clinical Dementia Rating Scale.



"No (high risk)." When  $\geq 8$  items answered, "Yes (low risk)," low risk of bias was considered, a moderate risk of bias when 6 to 7 items were answered as "YES (low risk)"; and a high risk of bias when  $\leq 5$  items were answered as "YES (low risk)." Any disagreement among the reviewers was discussed with the arbitrator (Ying Yang).

#### **Strategy for Data Synthesis**

Firstly, the actual events of CF and the total number of patients in every included study were extracted to estimate the prevalence of CF. Secondly, we collected the adjusted OR (95% CI), which evaluated the associated risk factors of CF. Finally, we adopted a random-effects model if the heterogeneity test significantly detected statistical difference (I<sup>2</sup> > 50%) or otherwise used a fixed-effects model. All analyses were performed using STATA software (version 16.0, STATA Corp., College Station, TX, USA).

## RESULTS

#### **Included Studies and Demographics**

A total of 51 studies and 123,771 patients were included in our analysis (**Supplementary Table 2**), and 64,784 were observed to be female. All the patients were recruited from the community. Thirty-three among the included 51 studies were pooled by meta-analysis. Patients were included from different countries, including France, Mexico, Australia, Netherlands, Spain, Italy, England, Malaysia, Singapore, India, Thailand, Japan, Korea, China, Brazil, Canada, and the United States. Among the

included studies, 20 were considered moderate quality, which involves a moderate risk of bias, and 31 studies were considered high quality, with a lower risk of bias.

## Meta-Analysis Results

#### Prevalence of Cognitive Frailty

Our review found that the Fried criteria were most commonly used to define frailty in community residents. A total of 35 studies reported the prevalence of Fried-defined frailty. Otherwise, 5 included studies applied the FRAIL scale to define frailty, and 3 included studies applied the FI (Frailty index). The remaining evaluation tools were not very common or standardized assessment tools. Moreover, the assessment tools of cognitive function are also observed to be varied. Twentyseven studies used the MMSE (Mini-Mental State Examination) to evaluate cognition, 5 studies utilized the MoCA (Montreal Cognitive Assessment), 3 studies took advantage of the NCGG-FAT (National Center for Geriatrics and Gerontology-Functional Assessment Tool) to assess cognitive function, 2 studies applied the CDR (Clinical Dementia Rating Scale), and 2 studies used the HDS-R (Revised Hasegawa's Dementia Scale). In this case, the prevalence of CF is quite different because of the ununified assessment scale and various cutoff values, which from the lowest prevalence 0.71% (Solfrizzi et al., 2017b) to the highest prevalence 58% (Sharma et al., 2020). To minimize the heterogeneity, we combined data using the Fried-defined frailty; however, given different cutoff values, further categorization was conducted; therefore, we divided them into CF I (cutoff value > 1 in Fried

Criteria Scale) and CF II (cutoff value  $\geq$  3 in Fried Criteria Scale) to conduct our meta-analysis. We found that the estimated prevalence of CF I was 16%, 95% CI (0.13-0.19) (Figure 2), and the estimated prevalence of CF II was 6%, 95% CI (0.05-0.07) (Figure 3). There are three reasons why we divided into CF Model I and CF Model II. Firstly, CF was composed of cognitive impairment (MCI) and frailty. CF Model I included the whole population classified as MCI with frailty, and CF Model I emphasized the overall prevalence in the globally high risky population. Secondly, the CF Model II represents a more strict cutoff value, and CF Model II has excluded someone diagnosed with pre-frailty. Therefore, CF Model II could emphasize the severity of CF. Thirdly, internal inconsistency is more evident in terms of validity and credibility if we consider model III (cutoff value from 1 to 3 in Fried Criteria Scale) (Hao et al., 2018; Sharma et al., 2020). Thereby, we adopt CF Model I and CF Model II to assess the prevalence of CF.

## Associated Risk Factors of Cognitive Frailty

#### Age

Eight studies revealed that the prevalence of CF increased with age (Ma et al., 2017; Chu et al., 2019; Kim et al., 2019; Navarro-Pardo et al., 2020; Rivan et al., 2020; Ruan et al., 2020; Katayama et al., 2021; Xie et al., 2021). Among them, three studies mentioned that the prevalence of CF in elderly individuals over 80 years of age was significantly higher than in younger groups (Navarro-Pardo et al., 2020; Ruan et al., 2020; Xie et al., 2021). Notably, Ruan et al. (2020) reported that individuals aged 80 years were at a higher risk than those aged 60–69 years (OR 19.71, 95% CI 13.49-28.79). Moreover, 3 other studies reported that age per 1-year increment was an associated risk factor of CF (the pool data: I<sup>2</sup> 63%, OR 1.10, 95% CI 1.04–1.16) (Kim et al., 2019; Rivan et al., 2020; Katayama et al., 2021). However, in one study, Navarro-Pardo found that in comparison with those aged 60-64 years, age was not a risk factor for CF in those younger than 80 years of age (Figure 4; Supplementary Table 3).

#### Gender

Two of the included studies reported an association between gender and CF (Chu et al., 2019; Ruan et al., 2020). One of them reported that gender was an independent risk factor of CF (Chu et al., 2019). However, the pooled data indicated that gender was not found to be an independent risk factor for CF ( $I^2$  96.9%, OR 0.52, 95% CI 0.14–1.95) (**Figure 4; Supplementary Table 3**).

#### **Physical Activity**

Because the quantitative index of activity varied significantly between studies, we divided them into two groups: the more active group and the less active group, according to the description of the study. Two included studies addressed the relationship between activities and CF (I<sup>2</sup> 26.5%, OR 3.31, 95% CI 2.28–4.81) (Katayama et al., 2021; Xie et al., 2021). One of the studies (Katayama et al., 2021) reported that different types of activities (such as going-out activities, cognitive and physical activities, and multidomain activities) had different effects on the prevalence of CF (OR 1.76, 95% CI 1.47–2.11; OR 2.80, 95% CI 1.97-3.97; OR 3.94, 95% CI 2.58-6.03; respectively) (**Figure 4**; **Supplementary Table 3**).

#### Negative Emotional State

Results are presented in **Figure 5** and **Supplementary Table 3**. The meta-analysis of the 7 studies included suggested that negative emotion was associated with a statistically significant increased risk of the prevalence of CF ( $I^2 = 94.2\%$ , OR = 1.57, 95% CI 1.32–1.87) (Liu et al., 2018; Chu et al., 2019; Li et al., 2020; Navarro-Pardo et al., 2020; Rivan et al., 2020; Katayama et al., 2021; Xie et al., 2021). Of them, five studies revealed that patients with depression had a higher prevalence of CF (Liu et al., 2018; Navarro-Pardo et al., 2020; Rivan et al., 2020; Katayama et al., 2021; Xie et al., 2021). The pooled data showed that depression assessed by GDS was an independent risk factor of CF ( $I^2 = 92.3\%$ , OR = 1.47, 95% CI 1.09–1.97). However, Chu et al. (2019) reported that depression assessed by PHQT was not a risk factor for CF prevalence. In addition, depression with anxiety also was found to have a higher prevalence of CF (Li et al., 2020).

#### Education

Four included studies addressed the relationship between education level and CF (Chu et al., 2019; Navarro-Pardo et al., 2020; Ruan et al., 2020; Katayama et al., 2021). Due to severe heterogeneity among standards for evaluating education levels, a meta-analysis could not be performed. One included study (Chu et al., 2019) revealed that the incidence of CF was lower in those with a high school degree and higher in those with <8years of education. However, education for more than 1-4 years did not significantly reduce the prevalence of CF. Nevertheless, another included study found that people with 6-12 years of education have a lower prevalence of CF than those under 6 years of education (Ruan et al., 2020). Navarro-Pardo et al. (2020) reported that those with lower years of education had an increased risk of CF compared with those with more than 7 years. When treated as continuous data, education per 1point increment was positively associated with CF (OR 0.95, 95% CI 0.91-0.99) (Katayama et al., 2021) (Supplementary Table 3). Further original studies may focus on the relationship between education level and risk of CF, especially the dose-response relationship between CF and continuous data of education level.

#### Marital Status

One included study (Ruan et al., 2020) suggested that marital status, whether married (OR 0.995, 95% CI 0.327–3.025) or widowed (OR 1.802, 95% CI 0.564–5.757), possessed no correlation with the prevalence of CF compared with those who are single (**Supplementary Table 3**).

#### Social Participation and Sleep Problems

Xie et al. (2021) proposed that more social participation was a protective factor for CF (OR 0.61, 95% CI 0.39–0.96). The study also found that insomnia was a risk factor for CF. Moreover, daily insomnia was observed to be more harmful than occasional insomnia (OR 2.38, 95% CI 1.33–4.26; OR 1.84, 95% CI 1.07–3.17; respectively) (**Supplementary Table 3**).

Study		ES (95% CI) Prevalence	events	total
MMSE	1			
A´vila-Funes, 2009		0.07 (0.07, 0.08)	437	6030
Ahmad, 2018		0.04 (0.03, 0.05)	92	2324
Alencar, 2012		0.27 (0.21, 0.33)	56	207
Bunce, 2019		0.07 (0.06, 0.09)	64	878
Brigola, 2019		0.30 (0.27, 0.33)	200	667
Downer, 2019		0.13 (0.10, 0.15)	81	639
Feng, 2017		0.04 (0.03, 0.05)	64	1575
Macuco, 2012		0.15 (0.12, 0.19)	59	384
Yu, 2018		0.09 (0.08, 0.10)	302	3491
Total (I-squared = 97.7%, p = 0.000)	$\diamond$	0.12 (0.09, 0.15)		
Random Effects Model				
MoCA				
Gifford, 2019	_ <u>_</u>	0.17 (0.12, 0.21)	51	306
Montero-odasso, 2016		0.37 (0.31, 0.43)	94	252
Navarro-pardo, 2020		0.22 (0.17, 0.27)	62	285
Nyunt, 2017		0.04 (0.04, 0.05)	87	1938
Rivan, 2020			325	815
Total (I-squared = 99.3%, p = 0.000)		> 0.24 (0.07, 0.41)		
Random Effects Model				
Overall (I-squared = 98.6%, p = 0.000)	$\diamond$	0.16 (0.13, 0.19)		
NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis				
433	 0	.433		

#### Nutrition

Four of the included studies reported an association between nutrition and CF (Liu et al., 2018; Kim et al., 2019; Rivan et al., 2020; Katayama et al., 2021). One study (Liu et al., 2018) defined malnutrition according to the Mini-Nutritional Assessment (MNA), another one (Kim et al., 2019) evaluated nutrition by the CNAQ (Council on Nutrition Appetite Questionnaire). Finally, Katayama et al. (2021) used skeletal muscle mass index (ASM) to correlate nutritional status indirectly. These assessment tools indicated that the lower the nutritional status, the higher the prevalence of CF (OR 0.869, 95% CI 0.766-0.986; OR 0.736, 95% CI 0.628-0.863; OR 0.82, 95% CI 0.78-0.87; respectively). There are also different anthropometric results (Kim et al., 2019; Katayama et al., 2021) (calf circumference, total body fat, and body mass index) and biochemical (Rivan et al., 2020; Katayama et al., 2021) indicators (albumin and vitamin D) that may be used to reflect the nutritional status. Individuals who had a thinner calf circumference, higher total body fat, lower albumin, and lower vitamin D showed an increased CF prevalence (OR 0.748, 95% CI 0.625-0.895; OR 1.04, 95% CI 1.01-1.07; OR 0.45, 95% CI 0.34-0.59; OR 0.362, 95% CI 0.141-0.930; respectively). Body mass index was not a risk factor associated with CF (Supplementary Table 3).

#### **Sensitivity Analysis**

When calculating the prevalence of CF, a Begg's test and an Egger's test were employed, indicating some evidence for publication bias. However, we used the command to test the robustness of our results. By excluding one study at a time, our results were robust. Begg's test showed no publication bias regarding the OR for subgroup analysis of various depression assessment scales. However, Egger's test (*p*-value for Egger's test = 0.045) indicated some evidence for publication bias. Next, we performed a non-parametric trim-and-fill method to evaluate the effects of any potential missing studies on the overall results (Zhu and Carriere, 2018). We identified 4 studies, and the corresponding result was not significantly altered (OR = 1.109, 95% CI: 1.082–1.137), suggesting that our results were robust (**Figure 6**).

#### DISCUSSION

Our manuscript is the first systematic review and meta-analysis to focus on CF's prevalence and associated risk factors among community residents. Based on 51 studies with 123,771 cases, the pooled prevalence of CF in the model I was 16%, 95% CI

Study		ES (95% CI) Prevalence	events	total
MMSE				
A´vila-Funes, 2009	◆ i	0.02 (0.01, 0.02)	92	6030
Ahmad, 2018	♦ i	0.02 (0.01, 0.02)	43	2324
Alencar, 2012		0.14 (0.09, 0.18)	28	207
Bello-chavolla, 2017		0.04 (0.01, 0.07)	5	135
Bunce, 2019	▲ 1	0.03 (0.01, 0.04)	22	878
Brigola, 2019		0.13 (0.11, 0.16)	88	667
Feng, 2017		0.01 (0.00, 0.01)	12	1575
- Hoogendijk, 2014		0.02 (0.01, 0.03)	27	1205
Jing, 2020		0.07 (0.06, 0.07)	214	3242
Kim, 2019		0.02 (0.01, 0.03)	25	1192
Liu, 2017	E I 🔤	0.13 (0.11, 0.16)	90	678
Liu, 2018	in 1997 -	0.07 (0.05, 0.08)	45	690
Macuco, 2012		0.03 (0.01, 0.05)	12	384
			26	
Roppolo, 2016		0.04 (0.03, 0.06)		594
Sharma, 2020		0.58 (0.51, 0.65)	116	200
Solfrizzi, 2017		0.01 (0.00, 0.01)	17	2373
Thein, 2018	• ·	0.02 (0.02, 0.03)	64	2696
Xie, 2020	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	0.07 (0.06, 0.08)	114	1585
Total (I-squared = 97.7%, p = 0.000)	<b>Q</b>	0.06 (0.04, 0.07)		
Random Effects Model MoCA				
Montero-odasso, 2016	I	0.11 (0.07, 0.15)	27	252
Navarro-pardo, 2020	• <b>•</b> •1	0.03 (0.01, 0.05)	9	285
Nyunt, 2017	•	0.01 (0.01, 0.02)	22	1938
Total (I-squared = 92.6%, p = 0.000)	$\mathbf{k}$	0.05 (0.01, 0.09)		
Random Effects Model HDS-R				
Li, 2019		0.19 (0.18, 0.21)	341	1757
Ma, 2021		0.03 (0.02, 0.03)	42	1606
Total (I-squared = 99.6%, p = 0.000)			42	1000
		0.11 (-0.05, 0.27)		
Random Effects Model	- i			
CI test				
Chu, 2019		0.08 (0.07, 0.09)	308	3848
Total (p=not applicable)	1 <b>9</b> 1	0.08 (0.07, 0.09)		
Random Effects Model	1			
TICS-10				
Chen, 2020	▲ 1	0.02 (0.01, 0.02)	82	5113
Total (p=not applicable)		0.02 (0.01, 0.02)		
Random Effects Model				
SPMSQ				
Ge, 2020		0.03 (0.02, 0.03)	117	4103
Total (p=not applicable)		0.03 (0.02, 0.03)		
Random Effects Model		()		
MiniCog				
Winneog Wanaratna, 2019		0.02 (0.01, 0.04)	19	780
			10	100
Total (p=not applicable)	•	0.02 (0.01, 0.04)		
Random Effects Model Pfeiffer's Test	L			
Ju <sup>°</sup> rschik, 2012		0.02 (0.01, 0.03)	10	523
Total (p=not applicable)	<b>Q</b> !	0.02 (0.01, 0.03)		
Random Effects Model CDR				
Delrieu, 2016		0.22 (0.20, 0.24)	356	1617
Total (p=not applicable)	<b>O</b>	0.22 (0.20, 0.24)		
Random Effects Model		( /		
Overall (I-squared = 98.3%, p = 0.000)		0.06 (0.05, 0.07)		
	, Y	0.00 (0.00, 0.07)		
NOTE: Weights are from random effects analysis				
648	0	.648		

FIGURE 3 | The forest plot pooled the prevalence of CF II.



(0.13–0.19), and the pooled prevalence of CF in model II was 6%, 95% CI (0.05–0.07). The pooled analysis demonstrated that engagement in age, activities, negative emotional state, especially depression appeared to be independent risk factors of CF. It was unclear whether gender or marital status were independently associated with CF. Additionally, limited evidence suggested that education level, social participation, sleeping problems, calf circumference, body fat, albumin, and vitamin D may be associated with CF. However, there appears to be no direct correlation between marital status or body mass index with CF.

Multiple instruments exist to screen for frailty, but there is no unified consensus about its predictive value and no gold standard measure utilized in clinical settings currently (Walston et al., 2018; Lee H. et al., 2020). However, there are two commonly used frailty assessment tools. One is "physical frailty," which views frailty as a syndrome, such as the Fried criteria, whereas the other approach views frailty as a spectrum of aging, such as FI. The FI is known to predict death better than the frailty phenotype. Nevertheless, when constructing FI, the domain composed of a physical performance-based measure does not necessarily possess predictive power superior to self-reported items (Lee H. et al., 2020).

Similarly, various assessment tools are available for cognitive impairment. Because these tools have different sensitivity and validity values influenced by education, language, culture, and variable cutoffs, some findings highlight the lack of appropriate validated cognitive assessment tools. However, a screening tool is still crucial for cognitive recognition (Rosli et al., 2016; Ranjit et al., 2020). Among the studies we included, the two studies (Hao et al., 2018; Sharma et al., 2020) with the highest prevalence of CF were evaluated by FI and Fried criteria, respectively. The MMSE was used to evaluate cognition. Notably, though, the main reason for the high prevalence of CF was that the included population involved the most elderly. In contrast, studies that reported the lowest prevalence included relatively younger individuals and were found to lack data of the elderly over age 84 (Solfrizzi et al., 2017a). In addition, the vast majority of studies divide frailty into pre-frailty and frailty, which are two different severities and thus may cause variability in prevalence in these groups.

Frailty is a clinical syndrome driven by age-related biologic changes (Lee H. et al., 2020). Cognitive impairment represented by dementia is mainly a disease of the elderly (Scheltens et al., 2016; Ranjit et al., 2020). Among several geriatric syndromes, cognitive impairment and frailty are common problems in the elderly, and these two entities have a close relationship. The deterioration of one element can affect the other and may form a vicious cycle (Arai et al., 2018). The positive rate of Alzheimer's Disease-like CSF (Cerebrospinal Fluid) and amyloid lesion on PET-CT (Positron Emission Tomography-Computed Tomography) increase with age, which may be the basis for age-related pathological mechanisms of CF (Parnetti et al., 2019). Our results also demonstrated that age is an independent risk factor for CF, consistent with the above standpoints.

Study			OR (95% CI)	Weight %
CES-D				
Liu, 2017	•		1.08 (1.03, 1.13)	23.86
Total (p=not applicable)	0		1.08 (1.03, 1.13)	23.86
Random Effects Model GDS				
Katayama, 2020	٠		1.12 (1.09, 1.16)	24.05
Rivan, 2020			1.20 (1.05, 1.37)	21.20
Xie, 2020		•	3.88 (2.39, 6.29)	8.30
Total (I-squared = 92.3%, p = 0.000)	$\langle \rangle$		1.47 (1.09, 1.97)	53.56
Random Effcets Model PHQT				
Chu,2019			1.35 (0.81, 2.27)	7.59
Total (p =not applicable)			1.35 (0.80, 2.26)	7.59
Random Effects Model EQ-5D				
Li, 2020			- 5.63 (3.83, 8.28)	10.93
Total (p=not applicable)		$\sim$	5.63 (3.83, 8.28)	
Random Effects Model GHQ12				
Navarro-Pardo, 2020			2.94 (1.35, 6.39)	4.07
Total (p=not applicable)			2.94 (1.35, 6.40)	4.07
Random Effects Model Overall (I-squared = 94.2%, p = 0.000)	$\diamond$		1.57 (1.32, 1.87)	100.00
NOTE: Weights are from random effects ar	nalysis			
.25 .5	1 1	4 6 8	3	

FIGURE 5 | The forest plot illustrated the OR for various depression assessment scales estimating risk factor of CF.



Our study found that people who engaged in less physical activity or social participation had a higher prevalence of CF. First, sarcopenia characterized by unintentional loss of muscle mass is a critical pathophysiological component of frailty (Shen et al., 2019). Previous studies have demonstrated that a certain degree and intensity of resistance training significantly enhanced muscle strength, muscle power, muscle morphology, and functional outcomes (Dedeyne et al., 2017; Lopez et al., 2018). A meta-analysis provided evidence that physical exercise positively affects most frail older adults (De Labra et al., 2015). Second, Scheltens conducted a study that proposed that exercise also can improve cognitive reserves (Ballard et al., 2011).

Additionally, resistance training may mitigate cognitive impairment due to evidence suggesting a positive effect in verbal fluency, cognitive flexibility, and response inhibition aspects of executive function (Zhang et al., 2020). Previous studies have demonstrated that some cognitive brain networks are disrupted in aging and cognitive disorder patients, and physical exercise may remediate the function of these brain networks effectively (Huang et al., 2016). Last but not least, people with more social participation have a higher physical activity or cognitive training opportunities. One study confirmed similar positive effects of cognitive and physical activity treatments in mitigating the cognitive decline in patients diagnosed with cognitive impairment (Fonte et al., 2019).

Our study also suggests that depression is closely related to cognitive impairment and physical frailty, consistent with recent studies (Soysal et al., 2017). First, these reciprocal associations may be shared among similar risk factors, such as cerebrovascular disease, oxidative stress, chronic inflammation, and mitochondrial dysfunction (Arai et al., 2018; Silva et al., 2019). Additionally, inflammatory cytokines may play an important role, such as interleukin-6 (IL-6), which was also elevated in individuals with CF or those with moderate to severe depression (Franceschi et al., 2000; Soysal et al., 2017). These inflammatory markers are associated with muscle strength and mass and negatively affect central dopaminergic function, resulting in fatigue, motoric slowing, depressive affect, and cognitive impairment (De Labra et al., 2015; Soysal et al., 2017). Third, mitochondrial dysfunction can be identified in numerous neurodegenerative diseases and depression, which may be an essential pathway in the pathophysiology of depression and CF (Mantzavinos and Alexiou, 2017). An influential study mentioned that depression might be a potentially treatable disorder that contributes significantly to cognitive impairment (Ballard et al., 2011). Marcos mentioned that middle-aged patients with depression displayed hippocampal atrophy and Aß peptide deposition observed by PET-CT, indicating that protein metabolism may be altered in patients with depression (Silva et al., 2019). The importance of depression cannot be ignored when focusing on cognition and frailty in managing elderly individuals in the community.

When analyzing preventative measures, one element that can increase cognitive reserve involves education level (Silva et al., 2019). A study conducted by Philip et al. indicated that education could improve cognitive reserve (Ballard et al., 2011). Furthermore, Martin et al. analyzed the relationship between education level and cognition carefully, suggesting that the number of years of formal education completed by individuals was positively correlated with their cognitive function in adulthood and predicted a lower risk of dementia later in life (Lovden et al., 2020). Consensus guidelines for the intervention of frailty state that cognitive training is a fundamental part of frailty management (Marcucci et al., 2019). Therefore, providing more educational opportunities for the elderly in the community may be an effective measure for CF prevention.

Regarding gender, our review and analysis did not elucidate any significant difference in the prevalence of CF within community-dwelling residents. This finding is in congruence with recent systematic reviews. Shen found no significant gender differences regarding the prevalence of sarcopenia in nursing home residents (Shen et al., 2019). In another meta-analysis, Lucilla also mentioned that gender was not significantly associated with preclinical Alzheimer's Disease prevalence (Parnetti et al., 2019). This study also suggested that both elderly males and females in the community are at similar risk of developing CF.

The relationship between sleep deficits and cognitive function has been studied in detail. Omonigho proved that individuals with insomnia had a 1.65 times higher risk of developing cognitive impairment when compared to individuals without sleep problems. This study additionally estimated that approximately 15% of cognitive impairment might be attributed to sleeping problems, including insomnia (Sun et al., 2020). Hiroki reinforced this concept by reporting that patients with frailty often experience more inferior sleep quality (Nishikawa et al., 2020). A meta-analysis reported that interventions on circadian rhythms might have significant clinical implications in the frail elderly (Gallione et al., 2019). We implemented strategies to address sleep deficits that should be included in any CF preventative strategy.

Finally, nutritional status and its relation to the risk of developing CF is a salient point of discussion. Malnutrition and CF share some clinical features, such as fatigue and weight loss; therefore, it is clear that there is a correlation between them. As mentioned above, there is a distinct correlation between CF and aging. Aging is a physiological process known to produce changes in body composition, affecting the musculature and decreasing muscle volume and strength (Planella-Farrugia et al., 2019). In addition, resistance training and dietary guidance, especially foods with anti-inflammatory and antioxidant properties, can inhibit aging by reducing waist circumference and body fat percentage and increasing arm circumference and calf circumference (Lopes et al., 2020). Specific markers may be utilized to assess for malnutrition as such. Shen suggested that albumin and prealbumin rather than the body mass index may be beneficial for assessing malnutrition (Shen et al., 2019). Different studies have shown that cognitive impairment and frailty are affected by vitamin D levels (Zhou et al., 2016; Lee D. H. et al., 2020). Given the literature, there are reasons to suggest that thinner calf circumference, higher total body fat, and lower albumin content appear to be linked to a higher prevalence of CF. Body mass index alone may not be appropriate for estimating the occurrence of CF as well.

Besides, previous fall history is also a risk factor of CF. For instance, a Japanese cross-sectional survey in a total of 7,614 older people age > 70 years reported that falls associated with CF were (OR 1.132, 95% CI 1.002–1.280) (Kim et al., 2019). Another Chinese multiple-center study found that fall is an independent risk factor of CF (OR 6.653, 95% CI

2.651–16.697) (Ma et al., 2017). Furthermore, the adverse complication of fall indeed promoted sarcopenia because of the prolonged bed rest. On the other hand, fall also caused hospitalacquired pneumonia (HAP) because patients extended hospitalized days. As usual, the pathogenic microbes of HAP are multi-resistant pathogens and deteriorate the poor prognosis of CF.

#### LIMITATION

This review has several limitations. Firstly, we only included studies written in English, which may introduce selection bias or reporting bias to our results. Secondly, our focus was on the prevalence of CF. Our analysis of all the studies involved various assessment tools related to cognition and frailty with inconsistent cutoff values. As such, this level of heterogeneity likely affected our results. However, many of these studies did provide supporting evidence regarding the validity of such assessment tools for global use. Thirdly, due to the significant heterogeneity in study designs and lack of uniformly reported risk factors in every study (such as gender, marital status, sleeping deficits), we could not perform a conglomerate metaanalysis of all risk factors of CF. However, our sensitivity analysis demonstrated that the individual study did not significantly influence the pooled results. Finally, most of the included studies were retrospective observational studies, which cannot provide a higher strength of evidence when compared to prospective cohort studies. Therefore, there are significant opportunities to expand our understanding of CF by performing further welldesigned prospective cohort studies to search for effective and predictive diagnostic tools and to verify the risk factors of CF in the future.

#### **CONCLUSION/FUTURE DIRECTION**

CF is highly prevalent in community residents. Furthermore, different definitions of CF have different prevalence rates. A multi-modal intervention for CF, including the combination of increased exercise, nutritional support, depression prevention,

#### REFERENCES

- Arai, H., Satake, S., and Kozaki, K. (2018). Cognitive frailty in geriatrics. *Clin. Great. Med.* 34, 667–675. doi: 10.1016/j.cger.2018.06.011
- Auyeung, T. W., Lee, J. S., Kwok, T., and Woo, J. (2011). Physical frailty predicts future cognitive decline - a four-year prospective study in 2737 cognitively normal older adults. *J. Nutr. Health Aging* 15, 690–694. doi: 10.1007/s12603-011-0110-9
- Avila-Funes, J. A., Amieva, H., Barberger-Gateau, P., Le Goff, M., Raoux, N., Ritchie, K., et al. (2009). Cognitive impairment improves the predictive validity of the phenotype of frailty for adverse health outcomes: the three-city study. *J. Am. Great. Soc.* 57, 453–461. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2008.02136.x
- Ballard, C., Gauthier, S., Corbett, A., Brayne, C., Aarsland, D., and Jones, E. (2011). Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet.* 377, 1019–1031. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736 (10)61349-9
- Boyle, P. A., Buchman, A. S., Wilson, R. S., Leurgans, S. E., and Bennett, D. A. (2010). Physical frailty is associated with incident mild cognitive

sleeping disorder adjustments, increased social opportunities, and multi-component strategies, may be effective for the prevention of CF. Prospective studies of a large sample size should be conducted to establish a consensus to assess CF's various reported diagnostic criteria. Additionally, the measurement of various clinical outcomes (e.g., progression to dementia, morbidity, mortality) cannot be thoroughly conducted without such studies. More well-designed randomized controlled trials are also needed to determine the types of nutritional support, the choice of exercise methods, and the measures of emotional regulation required for community residents to prevent CF.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

YiY conceived and collected the preliminary data. TZ and YiY performed and designed the study. TZ and YR gathered and analyzed the original studies, extracted the data independently and ensured congruence with the inclusion and exclusion criteria. TZ, YR, and YiY wrote the first draft of the manuscript. TZ conceived all the figures and tables. YR and PS also independently evaluated the risk bias of all included studies. YaY completed the **Supplementary Material**. YW and ZL participated and guided in the discussion of an overall framework of the article. SJ and YiY corrected and validated the manuscript in its entirety. The manuscript has been read and approved by all authors.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnagi. 2021.755926/full#supplementary-material

impairment in community-based older persons. J. Am. Great. Soc. 58, 248–255. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2009.02671.x

- Chu, N. M., Bandeen-Roche, K., Tian, J., Kasper, J. D., Gross, A. L., Carlson, M. C., et al. (2019). Hierarchical development of frailty and cognitive impairment: clues into etiological pathways. *J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci.* 74, 1761–1770. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glz134
- Clegg, A., Young, J., Iliffe, S., Rikkert, M. O., and Rockwood, K. (2013). Frailty in elderly people. *Lancet* 381, 752–762. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736 (12) 62167-9
- De Labra, C., Guimaraes-Pinheiro, C., Maseda, A., Lorenzo, T., and Millan-Calenti, J. C. (2015). Effects of physical exercise interventions in frail older adults: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. *BMC Geriatr.* 15:154. doi: 10.1186/s12877-015-0155-4
- Dedeyne, L., Deschodt, M., Verschueren, S., Tournoy, J., and Gielen, E. (2017). Effects of multidomain interventions in (pre)frail elderly on frailty, functional, and cognitive status: a systematic review. *Clin. Interv. Aging* 12, 873–896. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S130794

- Dorner, T. E., Lackinger, C., Haider, S., Luger, E., Kapan, A., Luger, M., et al. (2013). Nutritional intervention and physical training in malnourished frail community-dwelling elderly persons carried out by trained lay "buddies": study protocol of a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Public Health* 13:1232. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-13-1232
- Feng, L., Nyunt, M. S., Gao, Q., Feng, L., Lee, T. S., Tsoi, T., et al. (2017). Physical frailty, cognitive impairment, and the risk of neurocognitive disorder in the Singapore longitudinal ageing studies. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 72, 369–375. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glw050
- Fonte, C., Smania, N., Pedrinolla, A., Munari, D., Gandolfi, M., Picelli, A., et al. (2019). Comparison between physical and cognitive treatment in patients with MCI and Alzheimer's disease. *Aging* 11, 3138–3155. doi: 10.18632/aging.101970
- Franceschi, C., Bonaf, M., Valensin, S., Olivieri, F., De Luca, M., Ottaviani, E., et al. (2000). Inflamm-aging. An evolutionary perspective on immunosenescence. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 908, 244–254. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2000.tb06651.x
- Gallione, C., Mastroianni, G., and Suardi, B. (2019). Sleep disorders and frailty status in older people: a narrative review. *Prof Inform.* 72, 13–24. doi: 10.7429/pi.2019.721013
- Hao, Q., Dong, B., Yang, M., Dong, B., and Wei, Y. (2018). Frailty and cognitive impairment in predicting mortality among oldest-old people. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 10:295. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2018.00295
- Hoy, D., Brooks, P., Woolf, A., Blyth, F., March, L., Bain, C., et al. (2012). Assessing risk of bias in prevalence studies: modification of an existing tool and evidence of interrater agreement. J. Clin. Epidemiol. 65, 934–939. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2011.11.014
- Huang, P., Fang, R., Li, B. Y., and Chen, S. D. (2016). Exercise-related changes of networks in aging and mild cognitive impairment brain. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 8:47. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2016.00047
- Katayama, O., Lee, S., Bae, S., Makino, K., Shinkai, Y., Chiba, I., et al. (2021). Lifestyle activity patterns related to physical frailty and cognitive impairment in urban community-dwelling older adults in Japan. J. Am. Med. Dir. Assoc. 22, 583–589. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2020.05.031
- Kelaiditi, E., Cesari, M., Canevelli, M., Van Kan, G. A., Ousset, P. J., Gillette-Guyonnet, S., et al. (2013). Cognitive frailty: rational and definition from an (I.A.N.A./I.A.G.G.) international consensus group. J. Nutr. Health Aging 17, 726–734. doi: 10.1007/s12603-013-0367-2
- Kim, H., Awata, S., Watanabe, Y., Kojima, N., Osuka, Y., Motokawa, K., et al. (2019). Cognitive frailty in community-dwelling older Japanese people: prevalence and its association with falls. *Geriatr. Gerontol. Int.* 19, 647–653. doi: 10.1111/ggi.13685
- Lee, D. H., Chon, J., Kim, Y., Seo, Y. K., Park, E. J., Wong, C. W., et al. (2020). Association between vitamin D deficiency and cognitive function in the elderly Korean population: a Korean frailty and aging cohort study. *Medicine* 99:e19293. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000019293
- Lee, H., Lee, E., and Jang, I. Y. (2020). Frailty and comprehensive geriatric assessment. J. Korean Med. Sci. 35:e16. doi: 10.3346/jkms.2020.35.e16
- Li, C. L., Chang, H. Y., and Stanaway, F. F. (2020). Combined effects of frailty status and cognitive impairment on health-related quality of life among community-dwelling older adults. *Arch. Gerontol. Great.* 87:103999. doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2019.103999
- Liu, L. K., Chen, C. H., Lee, W. J., Wu, Y. H., Hwang, A. C., Lin, M. H., et al. (2018). Cognitive frailty and its association with all-cause mortality among community-dwelling older adults in Taiwan: results from I-Lan longitudinal aging study. *Rejuvenation Res.* 21, 510–517. doi: 10.1089/rej.2017.2038
- Lopes, L. M. P., De Oliveira, E. C., Becker, L. K., Costa, G. P., Pinto, K. M. C., Talvani, A., et al. (2020). Resistance training associated with dietetic advice reduces inflammatory biomarkers in the elderly. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2020:7351716. doi: 10.1155/2020/7351716
- Lopez, P., Pinto, R. S., Radaelli, R., Rech, A., Grazioli, R., Izquierdo, M., et al. (2018). Benefits of resistance training in physically frail elderly: a systematic review. *Aging Clin. Exp. Res.* 30, 889–899. doi: 10.1007/s40520-017-0863-z
- Lovden, M., Fratiglioni, L., Glymour, M. M., Lindenberger, U., and Tucker-Drob, E. M. (2020). Education and cognitive functioning across the life span. *Psychol. Sci. Publ. Int.* 21, 6–41. doi: 10.1177/1529100620920576
- Ma, L., Zhang, L., Zhang, Y., Li, Y., Tang, Z., and Chan, P. (2017). Cognitive frailty in China: results from China comprehensive geriatric assessment study. *Front. Med.* 4:174. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2017.00174

- Malmstrom, T. K., and Morley, J. E. (2013). The frail brain. J. Am. Med. Dir. Assoc. 14, 453–455. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2013.04.010
- Mantzavinos, V., and Alexiou, A. (2017). Biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease diagnosis. Curr. Alzheimer Res. 14, 1149–1154. doi: 10.2174/1567205014666170203125942
- Marcucci, M., Damanti, S., Germini, F., Apostolo, J., Bobrowicz-Campos, E., Gwyther, H., et al. (2019). Interventions to prevent, delay or reverse frailty in older people: a journey towards clinical guidelines. *BMC Med.* 17:193. doi: 10.1186/s12916-019-1434-2
- Morley, J. E., Vellas, B., Van Kan, G. A., Anker, S. D., Bauer, J. M., Bernabei, R., et al. (2013). Frailty consensus: a call to action. *J. Am. Med. Dir. Assoc.* 14, 392–397. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2013.03.022
- Navarro-Pardo, E., Facal, D., Campos-Magdaleno, M., Pereiro, A. X., and Juncos-Rabadan, O. (2020). Prevalence of cognitive frailty, do psychosocial-related factors matter? *Brain Sci.* 10:968. doi: 10.3390/brainsci10120968
- Nishikawa, H., Yoh, K., Enomoto, H., Iwata, Y., Nishimura, T., Nishiguchi, S., et al. (2020). Frailty and sleep disorder in chronic liver diseases. *Life* 10:137. doi: 10.3390/life10080137
- Parnetti, L., Chipi, E., Salvadori, N., D'andrea, K., and Eusebi, P. (2019). Prevalence and risk of progression of preclinical Alzheimer's disease stages: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Alzheimers Res. Ther.* 11:7. doi: 10.1186/s13195-018-0459-7
- Planella-Farrugia, C., Comas, F., Sabater-Masdeu, M., Moreno, M., Moreno-Navarrete, J. M., Rovira, O., et al. (2019). Circulating irisin and myostatin as markers of muscle strength and physical condition in elderly subjects. *Front. Physiol.* 10:871. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.00871
- Ranjit, E., Sapra, A., Bhandari, P., Albers, C. E., and Ajmeri, M. S. (2020). Cognitive assessment of geriatric patients in primary care settings. *Cureus* 12:e10443. doi: 10.7759/cureus.10443
- Rivan, N. F. M., Shahar, S., Rajab, N. F., Singh, D. K. A., Che Din, N., Mahadzir, H., et al. (2020). Incidence and predictors of cognitive frailty among older adults: a community-based longitudinal study. *Int. J. Env. Res. Public Health* 17:1547. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17051547
- Rodríguez-Mañas, L., Féart, C., Mann, G., Viña, J., Chatterji, S., Chodzko-Zajko, W., et al. (2013). Searching for an operational definition of frailty: a Delphi method based consensus statement: the frailty operative definition-consensus conference project. J. Gerontol. A Biol. Sci. Med. Sci. 68, 62–67. doi: 10.1093/gerona/gls119
- Rosli, R., Tan, M. P., Gray, W. K., Subramanian, P., and Chin, A. V. (2016). Cognitive assessment tools in Asia: a systematic review. *Int. Psychogeriatr.* 28, 189–210. doi: 10.1017/S1041610215001635
- Ruan, Q., Xiao, F., Gong, K., Zhang, W., Zhang, M., Ruan, J., et al. (2020). Prevalence of cognitive frailty phenotypes and associated factors in a community-dwelling elderly population. J. Nutr. Health Aging 24, 172–180. doi: 10.1007/s12603-019-1286-7
- Scheltens, P., Blennow, K., Breteler, M. M. B., De Strooper, B., Frisoni, G. B., Salloway, S., et al. (2016). Alzheimer's disease. *Lancet* 388, 505–517. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736 (15)01124-1
- Sharma, P. K., Reddy, B. M., and Ganguly, E. (2020). Frailty syndrome among oldest-old individuals, aged >/=80 years: prevalence & correlates. J. Frailty Sarcopenia Falls 5, 92–101. doi: 10.22540/JFSF-05-092
- Shen, Y., Chen, J., Chen, X., Hou, L., Lin, X., and Yang, M. (2019). Prevalence and associated factors of sarcopenia in nursing home residents: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J. Am. Med. Dir. Assoc. 20, 5–13. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2018.09.012
- Shimada, H., Doi, T., Lee, S., Makizako, H., Chen, L. K., and Arai, H. (2018). Cognitive frailty predicts incident dementia among community-dwelling older people. J. Clin. Med. 7:250. doi: 10.3390/jcm7090250
- Shimada, H., Makizako, H., Doi, T., Yoshida, D., Tsutsumimoto, K., Anan, Y., et al. (2013). Combined prevalence of frailty and mild cognitive impairment in a population of elderly Japanese people. J. Am. Med. Dir. Assoc. 14, 518–524. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2013.03.010
- Silva, M. V. F., Loures, C. M. G., Alves, L. C. V., De Souza, L. C., Borges, K. B. G., and Carvalho, M. D. G. (2019). Alzheimer's disease: risk factors and potentially protective measures. *J. Biomed. Sci.* 26:33. doi: 10.1186/s12929-019-0524-y
- Solfrizzi, V., Scafato, E., Lozupone, M., Seripa, D., Giannini, M., Sardone, R., et al. (2017a). Additive role of a potentially reversible cognitive frailty model and

inflammatory state on the risk of disability: the Italian longitudinal study on aging. *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 25, 1236–1248. doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2017.05.018

- Solfrizzi, V., Scafato, E., Seripa, D., Lozupone, M., Imbimbo, B. P., D'amato, A., et al. (2017b). Reversible cognitive frailty, dementia, and all-cause mortality. The Italian longitudinal study on aging. J. Am. Med. Dir. Assoc. 18, 89.e1–89.e8. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2016.10.012
- Soysal, P., Veronese, N., Thompson, T., Kahl, K. G., Fernandes, B. S., Prina, A. M., et al. (2017). Relationship between depression and frailty in older adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ageing Res. Rev.* 36, 78–87. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2017.03.005
- Sugimoto, T., Sakurai, T., Ono, R., Kimura, A., Saji, N., Niida, S., et al. (2018). Epidemiological and clinical significance of cognitive frailty: a mini-review. *Ageing Res. Rev.* 44, 1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2018.03.002
- Sun, X. H., Ma, T., Yao, S., Chen, Z. K., Xu, W. D., Jiang, X. Y., et al. (2020). Associations of sleep quality and sleep duration with frailty and pre-frailty in an elderly population Rugao longevity and ageing study. *BMC Geriatr.* 20:9. doi: 10.1186/s12877-019-1407-5
- Walston, J., Buta, B., and Xue, Q. L. (2018). Frailty screening and interventions: considerations for clinical practice. *Clin. Great. Med.* 34, 25–38. doi: 10.1016/j.cger.2017.09.004
- Xie, B., Ma, C., Chen, Y., and Wang, J. (2021). Prevalence and risk factors of the co-occurrence of physical frailty and cognitive impairment in Chinese community-dwelling older adults. *Health Soc. Care. Comm.* 29, 294–303. doi: 10.1111/hsc.13092
- Zhang, L., Li, B., Yang, J., Wang, F., Tang, Q., and Wang, S. (2020). Meta-analysis: resistance training improves cognition in mild cognitive impairment. *Int. J. Sports Med.* 41, 815–823. doi: 10.1055/a-118 6-1272

- Zhang, X. M., Jiao, J., Zhu, C., Guo, N., Liu, Y., Lv, D., et al. (2021). Cognitive frailty and 30-day mortality in a National Cohort of Older Chinese Inpatients. *Clin. Interv. Aging* 16, 389–401. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S294106
- Zhou, J., Huang, P., Liu, P., Hao, Q., Chen, S., Dong, B., et al. (2016). Association of vitamin D deficiency and frailty: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Maturitas* 94, 70–76. doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2016.09.003
- Zhu, Q., and Carriere, K. C. (2018). Detecting and correcting for publication bias in meta-analysis - A truncated normal distribution approach. *Stat. Methods Med. Res.* 27, 2722–2741. doi: 10.1177/0962280216684671

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Zhang, Ren, Shen, Jiang, Yang, Wang, Li and Yang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




# Association of Headache Disorders and the Risk of Dementia: Meta-Analysis of Cohort Studies

Huiling Qu<sup>1</sup>, Shida Yang<sup>2</sup>, Zhicheng Yao<sup>3</sup>, Xiaoyu Sun<sup>1\*</sup> and Huisheng Chen<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Neurology, The General Hospital of Northern Theater Command, Shenyang, China, <sup>2</sup> Department of Laboratory Medicine, The People's Hospital of Liaoning Province, Shenyang, China, <sup>3</sup> Department of Neurology, The People's Hospital of Liaoning Province, Shenyang, China

**Objectives:** The purpose of this meta-analysis is to assess whether there is an association between headache disorders and all-cause dementia, Alzheimer's disease (AD), and vascular dementia (VaD).

**Methods:** PubMed, Cochrane Library, Embase, and Web of Science were searched for cohort studies published from database inception to October 8, 2021, using medical subject headings (MeSH) and keywords. All statistical analyses were performed using Stata statistical software version 14.0. If P > 0.1 and  $l^2 \le 50\%$ , a fixed-effects model was adopted. If  $l^2 > 50\%$  (which indicated great heterogeneity), a random-effects model was adopted. The funnel plot and Egger's test were used to evaluate publication bias.

## **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Omar Yaxmehen Bello-Chavolla, Instituto Nacional de Geriatría, Mexico

#### Reviewed by:

Lili Cui, University of Eastern Finland, Finland Aynur Özge, Mersin University, Turkey

#### \*Correspondence:

Xiaoyu Sun 13654902425@163.com Huisheng Chen chszh@aliyun.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurocognitive Aging and Behavior, a section of the journal Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience

> Received: 29 October 2021 Accepted: 19 January 2022 Published: 11 February 2022

#### Citation:

Qu H, Yang S, Yao Z, Sun X and Chen H (2022) Association of Headache Disorders and the Risk of Dementia: Meta-Analysis of Cohort Studies.

Front. Aging Neurosci. 14:804341. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.804341 **Results:** This meta-analysis included 12 cohort studies covering 465,358 individuals, which were published between 2001 and 2020. The pooling analysis shows that a history of any headache disorder is associated with an increased risk of all-cause dementia (OR = 1.35; 95% CI: 1.21–1.50;  $l^2$  = 81.6%, P < 0.001). The history of any headache was associated with an increased risk of AD (OR = 1.49; 95% CI: 1.08–2.05;  $l^2$  = 70.0%, P = 0.003) and VaD (OR = 1.72; 95% CI: 1.32–2.25;  $l^2 = 0\%$ , P < 0.001). In the subgroup analysis, females with a history of headache have a slightly higher risk of dementia than males (OR = 1.32; 95% CI: 1.16–1.51;  $l^2$  = 88.3%, P < 0.001) and the risk of dementia in the retrospective cohort was slightly higher than in the prospective cohort (OR = 1.38; 95% CI: 1.22–1.56;  $l^2$  = 83.4%, P < 0.001).

**Conclusions:** Our meta-analysis shows that any headache disorder increases the risk of all-cause dementia, AD, or VaD. These findings provide evidence that headache should be recognized as an independent risk factor for dementia, AD, or VaD.

Keywords: headache, dementia, Alzheimer's disease, vascular dementia, meta-analysis

# BACKGROUND

Dementia is a neurological disorder characterized by cognitive, behavioral, social, and emotional deterioration. It is a major public health problem in the world and has a high incidence rate (Van Der Steen et al., 2018). Although significant progress has been made in molecular neuroimaging, clinical pathology, and the development of biomarkers of dementia in the last decade, the results are slightly disappointing. Clinicians are still waiting for disease modification therapy of dementia

(Gale et al., 2018). Therefore, if we can identify the risk factors associated with dementia early, the development of dementia might be prevented. A previous study has explored the risk factors of dementia, including age, gender, family history, rural residents, low educational level, marital status, smoking, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, diabetes, heart disease, and cerebrovascular disease (Jia et al., 2020). The impact of headache on dementia has not been noted.

Headaches (including migraine, tension headache, and drug overuse headache) are associated with a high incidence rate, low quality of life, low productivity, and high economic costs. A global disease burden study listed headache as the second largest cause of disability in the world. Among people aged 15-49, the incidence of migraine is the third highest (Saylor and Steiner, 2018). Migraine can be regarded as a high signal of white matter-related risk factors (Kruit et al., 2004). Patients with headache are more likely to have extensive white matter hyperintensity (WMH) than patients without headache (Honningsvåg et al., 2018). White matter hyperintensity may be associated with dementia. Therefore, we speculate that headache may be associated with an increased risk of dementia, and we systematically reviewed the existing population-based longitudinal evidence to determine the association between headache disorder and the risk of all-cause dementia. Alzheimer's disease (AD), or vascular dementia (VaD).

## **METHODS**

This meta-analysis was conducted in accordance with the guidelines of the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) (Page et al., 2021). The protocol was pre-registered in the International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews (PROSPERO) platform, and the approval number is CRD42021283921.

## **Data Sources and Searches**

PubMed, Cochrane Library, Embase, and Web of Science were searched for cohort studies published from database inception to October 8, 2021. There were no language restrictions, and the search strategy combined the use of medical subject headings (MeSH) and keywords. The search terms included dementia, AD, VaD, headache, head pain, migraine, and cohort studies. The full search strategy of PubMed is included in **Supplementary Table 1.** The reference lists of included cohort studies and other published meta-analyses were also examined to identify relevant trials.

## **Eligibility Criteria**

The trials were included on the basis of the following eligibility criteria: (1) cohort studies or nested case-control studies based on cohort trials; (2) investigations of the association of headache disorders with the risk of incident all-cause dementia, AD, or VaD. In this meta-analysis, "any headache" was defined as "patients who suffered from any type of primary headache in the past." All-cause dementia was chosen as the primary outcome, AD, and VaD as the secondary outcomes.

Trials were excluded if they did not provide an odds ratio (OR) estimate with corresponding 95% confidence interval (CI).

If more than one study reported data from the same cohort, we included the study with the longest follow-up or the largest number of participants. Furthermore, the following articles were also excluded: conference abstracts, study protocols, duplicate publications, and studies with no outcomes of interest.

## **Study Selection**

Study selection was performed by two reviewers (HLQ and ZCY) who independently screened the literature based on the eligibility and exclusion criteria. Duplicate and irrelevant articles were first excluded according to their titles and abstracts. Thereafter, the full texts of the potentially eligible articles were downloaded and read to identify all eligible studies. Any disagreements were resolved by the third reviewer (SDY), who acted as an arbiter.

## **Data Extraction**

Data extraction was performed independently by the two above-mentioned reviewers (HLQ and ZCY) who consulted the guidelines on data extraction for systematic reviews and meta-analysis (Taylor et al., 2021). They used predesigned forms for extracting data including the first author, year of publication, study type, sample size, follow-up years, age, diagnosis of migraine/dementia, headache type, dementia type, and confounders adjusted. Disagreements were resolved by discussion with SDY to reach a consensus.

## **Risk of Bias Assessment**

The Newcastle-Ottawa scale (NOS) was used to assess the quality of cohort studies (Wells et al., 2014). Stars ranged from 0 to 9 points for cohort studies, four stars for selection of participants and measurement of exposure, two stars for comparability, and three stars for assessment of outcomes and adequacy of follow-up, with more stars indicating higher quality of study. Scores of 0-3, 4-6, and 7-9 were considered to indicated low, moderate, and high quality, respectively.

## **Statistical Analysis**

The adjusted OR and 95% CI from each trial were used to assess the association between headache disorders and risk of dementia, AD, or VaD. The  $\chi^2$ -test and the  $I^2$ -values were used to evaluate heterogeneity. If P > 0.1 and  $I^2 \leq 50\%$ , a fixed-effects model was adopted. If  $I^2 > 50\%$  (which indicated great heterogeneity), a random-effects model was adopted. The sensitivity analysis was performed by excluding one study each time and rerunning to verify the robustness of the overall effects. The funnel plot was visually inspected to confirm publication bias, and Egger's regression test was used to statistically assess publication bias. We conducted a subgroup analysis based on gender and research type. All statistical analyses were performed using Stata statistical software version 14.0 (Stata Corp, College Station, Texas).

# RESULTS

## **Literature Search**

The systematic search of cohort studies published before October 8, 2021, identified 1,176 results. After title and abstract screening, 20 articles were considered potentially relevant. Twelve studies (Tyas et al., 2001; Chuang et al., 2013; Hagen et al., 2014; Røttereng et al., 2015; Yang et al., 2016; Tzeng et al., 2017; Yin



et al., 2018; Kostev et al., 2019; Lee et al., 2019; Morton et al., 2019; George et al., 2020; Islamoska et al., 2020) were included after full text review, of which 11 reported the incidence of dementia or composite of AD or VaD on follow-up, and one study (Tyas et al., 2001) reported the incidence of AD only. The selection process is presented in **Figure 1**.

# **Study Characteristics**

This meta-analysis included 12 cohort studies covering 465,358 individuals, which were published between 2001 and 2020. Four studies were retrospective cohort studies, while the other eight were prospective cohort studies. All individuals in these cohorts were at least 20 years old at the beginning of follow-up, and had clear diagnostic criteria for dementia. The average follow-up time ranged from 5 to 22 years. The adjusted estimates were available for almost all studies even though the adjusted confounders are slightly different. The main characteristics of the included trials are shown in **Table 1**.

# **Quality Assessment**

According to NOS criteria, the average score was 7.67 of all included cohort studies, and the score for each trail was 7 or

above, indicating that all cohort studies were of high quality in this meta-analysis. The scores of the included studies are shown in **Table 1**.

# Any Headache Disorders and Risk of All-Cause Dementia

Eleven cohort studies (Chuang et al., 2013; Hagen et al., 2014; Røttereng et al., 2015; Yang et al., 2016; Tzeng et al., 2017; Yin et al., 2018; Kostev et al., 2019; Lee et al., 2019; Morton et al., 2019; George et al., 2020; Islamoska et al., 2020) explored the association between a history of headache and the risk of all-cause dementia. The pooling analysis shows that a history of any headache disorder is associated with an increased risk of all-cause dementia (OR = 1.35; 95% CI: 1.21–1.50;  $I^2 = 81.6\%$ , P < 0.001; **Figure 2**). Sensitivity analysis showed that none of the individual studies reversed the pooled-effect size, which means that the results are robust (**Supplementary Figure A**).

# Any Headache Disorders and Risk of AD

Seven included studies (Tyas et al., 2001; Hagen et al., 2014; Røttereng et al., 2015; Yang et al., 2016; Yin et al., 2018; Kostev et al., 2019; Morton et al., 2019) assessed the association between

 TABLE 1 | Basic characteristics of the included studies.

Author	Year	Country	Study type	Sample size	Follow-up years	Age (years)	Diagnosis of migraine/ dementia	Headache type	Dementia type	Confounders adjusted	NOS scores
George et al. (2020)	2020	USA	Prospective cohort	Total: 11,252 Migraine: 1,397, No migraine: 9,855	21 averages	51~70	ICHD-II/ICD-9	Migraine/ Severe Non-migraine Headache	All-cause dementia	Age, sex, race, center, APOE £4, income, education, BMI, smoking status, hypertension, diabetes, prevalent CHD, drinking status, HDL cholesterol, and total cholesterol	9
Islamoska et al. (2020))	2020	Denmark	Retrospective cohort	Total: 62,578 Migraine: 10857, No migraine: 51721	3.6~11.2	49 averages	ICD-8/ICD-10	Migraine	All-cause dementia	Sex, country of origin, marital status, educational level, headache diagnoses, psychiatric morbidities, and Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI)	8
Morton et al. (2019)	2019	Canada	Prospective cohort	Total: 679	5 averages	≥65	ICHD-II/DSM-IV	Migraine	All-cause dementia, Alzheimer's disease (AD), Vascular dementia (VaD)	Age and education	7
Lee et al. (2019)	2019	Korea	Retrospective cohort	Total:56,309 Migraine: 45,752, No migraine: 10,557	11 averages	≥60	ICD-10	Migraine	All-cause dementia	Age, sex, income, region of residence, hypertension, diabetes, and dyslipidemia	7
Kostev et al. (2019)	2019	Germany	Retrospective cohort	Total: 7,454 Migraine: 3,727, No migraine: 3,727	10 averages	60~80	ICD-10	Migraine	All- cause dementia, Alzheimer's disease (AD), Vascular dementia (VaD)	No report	8
Yin et al. (2018)	2018	China	Retrospective cohort	Total:6,730 PHDs:1,346, No migraine: 5,384	5 averages	47.38 averages	ICD-9	Primary headache	All-cause dementia, Alzheimer's disease (AD), Vascular dementia (VaD)	Age, sex, hypertension, DM, IHD, hyperlipidemia, AF, TUD, alcoholism, obesity, PD, CVA, depression, CKD, and CAI	8
Tzeng et al. (2017)	2016	China	Retrospective cohort	Total: 14,480 Headache: 3,620 No headache: 10,860	10 averages	≥20	ICD-9	Migraines, tension-type headaches	All-cause dementia, Alzheimer's disease (AD), Vascular dementia (VaD)	Gender, age, monthly income, urbanization level, geographic region of residence, and comorbidities	7
Yang et al. (2016)	2016	China	Retrospective cohort	Total: 69,540 TTH: 13,908 No TTH: 55,632	8.14 averages	≥20	ICD-9	Tension-type headaches	All-cause dementia, Alzheimer's disease (AD), Vascular dementia (VaD)	Age, sex, diabetes, dyslipidemias, COPD, hypertension, IHD, AF, HF, stroke, depression, head injury, Parkinson's disease, and migraine	8

(Continued)

Headache Disorders and Dementia

Author	Year	Country	Country Study type	Sample size	Follow-up years	Age (years)	Diagnosis of migraine/ dementia	Headache type	Dementia type	Confounders adjusted	NOS scores
Røttereng et al. (2015)	2015	Norway	Retrospective cohort	Norway Retrospective Total: 16,443 Any cohort headache: 8,676 No headache: 7,767	11 averages	×1 55	ICHD-I	Any headache	Any headache All-cause dementia, Alzheimer's disease (AD), Vascular dementia (VaD)	Age, gender, level of education, comorbidity, smoking, and anxiety and depression	~
Hagen et al. (2014) 2013	2013	Norway	Norway Prospective cohort	Total: 51,859 Any headache: 21,871 No headache: 29,988	15 averages	>20	ICHD-I	Any headache Migraine Non-migraine headache	All-cause dementia	Age, sex, education, total HADS score, and smoking	ω
Chuang et al. (2013)	2013	China	Retrospective Total: 167 cohort Migraine: No migraine:	Total: 167,340 Migraine: 33,468 No migraine: 133,872	12 longest	42.2 means	ICD-9	Migraine	All-cause dementia	Age, sex, diabetes, hypertension, depression, head injury, and CAD	00
Tyas et al. (2001) 2001	2001	NSA	Prospective cohort	Total: 694 Migraine: 36 No migraine: 658	5 averages	74 means	NINCDS-ADRDA Migraine	Migraine	Alzheimer's disease (AD)	Age, education, and sex, occupational exposure	~

any headache and the risk of AD. Overall, the history of any headache was associated with an increased risk of AD (OR = 1.49; 95% CI: 1.08–2.05;  $I^2 = 70.0\%$ , P = 0.003; Figure 3). Sensitivity analysis showed that none of the individual studies had reversed the pooled-effect size, which means that the results are robust (Supplementary Figure B).

### Any Headache Disorders and Risk of VaD

Five studies (Hagen et al., 2014; Røttereng et al., 2015; Yin et al., 2018; Kostev et al., 2019; Morton et al., 2019) assessed the association between a history of headache and the risk of VaD. Pooled results showed that a history of any headache disorder is associated with an increased risk of VaD (OR = 1.72; 95% CI: 1.32–2.25;  $I^2 = 0\%$ , P < 0.001; Figure 4).

#### **Subgroup Analysis**

We conducted a subgroup analysis of gender and research type, but still did not find the origin of the high heterogeneity. In the subgroup analysis, females with a history of headaches have a slightly higher risk of dementia than males; in the prospective cohort design, there is no direct relationship between the history of headaches and the increased risk of dementia. Meanwhile, a history of migraine is associated with a higher risk of dementia (OR = 1.32; 95% CI: 1.13–1.40;  $I^2 = 75.6\%$ , P < 0.001), but the risk is lower than that of non-migraine headache patients (**Table 2**).

#### Publication Bias

A visual inspection of the funnel plot showed no evidence of a significant publication bias in the outcome of any headache disorders and risk of all-cause dementia (**Figure 5**). Egger's regression test (P = 0.087) likewise indicated no publication bias in our meta-analysis.

### DISCUSSION

#### Main Findings

This meta-analysis included 12 cohort studies covering 465,358 individuals, which provided a comprehensive evaluation on the association between headache and dementia. We found a significant increase in the risk of all-cause dementia, AD, or VaD among individuals with headache, with an overall 1.35-fold, 1.49-fold, or 1.72-fold increase in risk, respectively, compared with non-headache controls. This indicates that headache might be an independent risk factor for dementia.

### Interpretation of Findings

A previous review investigated the relationship between headache and dementia (Wang et al., 2018). The results showed that any headache increased the risk of all-cause dementia. However, it does not mean that headache is associated with an increased risk of all types of dementia. Moreover, it did not find a relationship between any headache and AD. In contrast, in the current analysis, we added more recent studies and analyzed the data according to the type and subgroup of dementia, so as to provide strong evidence for the association between headache and all-cause dementia, AD, or VaD. Another meta-analysis

TABLE 1 | Continued



FIGURE 2 | Meta-analysis of the risk of all-cause dementia caused by any headache.

revealed that migraine is a potential risk indicator for AD and all-cause dementia (Wang et al., 2021). However, they did not find any association between migraine and the risk of VaD, which may be reasonably associated with the low number of studies included in their meta-analysis. Only five published cohort studies were identified in the review mentioned above. So, we re-analyzed the relationship between any type of headache and all-cause dementia, AD, or VaD. Our study found that any type of headache increases the risk of all-cause dementia, AD, or VaD, and the previous meta-analysis did not show these meaningful conclusions.

So far, there are few studies on the pathophysiological mechanism of the association between headache and dementia. Several brain structures involved in the pain network, such as the thalamus, insula, anterior cingulate gyrus, amygdala, and temporal cortex, also play an important role in the memory network (Apkarian et al., 2005; Svoboda et al., 2006). The overlap of the pain and memory network regions explains the potential correlation between chronic pain and memory impairment in patients with headache. The changes of hippocampal function and structure may play an important role in the pathophysiology of migraine (Maleki et al., 2013). The hippocampus is involved in memory consolidation, spatial navigation, and the stress response. Migraine is a paroxysmal disease. Each attack is

accompanied by or causes many physiological and emotional stressors. Therefore, migraine attack can be regarded as a repeated stressor, causing changes in hippocampal structure and function. Some research showed that WMH is associated with an increased risk of all-cause dementia and AD (Godin et al., 2008; Bos et al., 2018; Garnier-Crussard et al., 2020). However, only a few studies have investigated the changes of the white matter microstructure and structural connectivity in migraine patients. The pathophysiology of migraine-related WMH is still poorly understood. In the current study, chronic headache may change the network of white matter by changing the mode and number of connections, resulting in the destruction of network topology. Therefore, the brain structural network of migraine patients shows abnormal overall integration between different migraine-related brain circuits adapted to long-term pain (Liu et al., 2013). Therefore, the white matter fibers of migraine patients will have abnormal changes, which may be related to the occurrence of dementia. Migraine is an independent risk factor for ischemic stroke, which may be related to the pathogenesis of VaD (Paemeleire, 2009). Migraine patients are more likely to develop psychiatric diseases, such as depression (Breslau et al., 1994; Chen et al., 2012; Rammohan et al., 2019). In particular, early depression (or depressive symptoms) has been associated with a more than two-fold increase in the risk of dementia



FIGURE 3 | Meta-analysis of the risk of Alzheimer's disease caused by any headache.



	studies	(95% CI)	Heterogeneity	
			l <sup>2</sup> (%)	P-values
Sex				
Female	7	1.32 (1.16–1.51)	88.3	0.000
Male	9	1.28 (1.09–1.50)	80.5	0.000
Study type				
Retrospective cohort	8	1.38 (1.22–1.56)	83.4	0.000
Prospective cohort	3	1.28 (0.94–1.76)	75.5	0.017
Headache type				
Migraine	7	1.26 (1.13–1.40)	75.6	0.000
Non-migraine	4	1.50(1.15–1.95)	83.1	0.003



(Katon et al., 2015; Lin et al., 2017). The possible biological mechanisms linking depression with dementia include vascular disease, changes in glucocorticoid levels, hippocampal atrophy, increased amyloid  $\beta$  plaque deposition, inflammatory changes, and nerve growth factor deficiency (Byers and Yaffe, 2011). In other words, patients with depression have a higher risk of dementia (Rapp et al., 2006; Wint, 2011). The number of neuritic plaques and neurofibrillary tangles in the hippocampus of AD patients with major depressive disorder confirmed by neuropathology is higher than that of AD patients who have never had a major depressive disorder in their life (Ringman et al., 2008).

In the subgroup analysis, females with a history of headaches have a slightly higher risk of dementia than males. Female are significantly more susceptible to migraine. The role of sex hormone fluctuations in promoting migraine attacks is wellknown. This may be related to female sex hormones and their physiological fluctuations, which may play a role in women's susceptibility to pain hypersensitivity (Gazerani et al., 2005). In most clinical studies, migraine patients show impaired cognitive function during the interictal period (Cady and Farmer, 2013). An apolipoprotein E (ApoE) genotype is equally common in men and women, but plays a stronger role in women (Rocca et al., 2014). Apolipoprotein E is positively correlated with headache (Miao et al., 2015), which may explain why females with a history of headaches have a slightly higher risk of dementia than males.

## **Implications and Limitations**

Our meta-analysis summarizes the existing evidence of the association between a history of headache and the risk of allcause dementia and shows that any headache is a risk factor for all-cause dementia. It suggests that we need to pay more attention to the dementia risk of headache patients, which is also conducive to the early identification of high-risk groups of dementia. Meanwhile, this study also has certain limitations. We only included cohort studies. This controls many confounders and hence the conclusion is reliable. Future studies can consider including case-control studies and cross-sectional studies to enrich the research types. Moreover, we did not include covariate analysis in this meta-analysis. However, the included cohort studies have controlled the adjusted confounders and thus have a well-controlled confounding bias, making the conclusions of this study reliable and facilitating translation to the clinic.

## CONCLUSIONS

This meta-analysis suggests that any headache disorder increases the risk of all-cause dementia, AD, or VaD. However, more studies are still needed to confirm the pathophysiological mechanisms underlying this phenomenon. The results of our meta-analysis can be very useful in the development of new dementia prevention and treatment strategies.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found in the article/ **Supplementary Material**.

# AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XS and HC conceived the study. HQ and ZY collected the data and drafted the manuscript. SY revised the manuscript and language. HQ conducted the subgroup analysis. All authors have read and approved the manuscript.

## FUNDING

This study was supported by the Doctoral Research Start-Up Fund Project of Liaoning (No. 2019-BS-234) and the Young and Middle-Aged Scientific and Technological Innovation Talents Support Program of Shenyang (No. RC210374).

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnagi. 2022.804341/full#supplementary-material

# REFERENCES

- Apkarian, A. V., Bushnell, M. C., Treede, R. D., and Zubieta, J. K. (2005). Human brain mechanisms of pain perception and regulation in health and disease. *Eur. J. Pain* 9, 463–484. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpain.2004.11.001
- Bos, D., Wolters, F. J., Darweesh, S. K., Vernooij, M. W., de Wolf, F., Ikram, M. A., et al. (2018). Cerebral small vessel disease and the risk of dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis of population-based evidence. *Alzheimers Dement*. 14, 1482–1492. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2018.04.007
- Breslau, N., Davis, G. C., Schultz, L. R., and Paterson, E. L. (1994). Migraine and major depression: a longitudinal study. *Headache* 34, 387–393. doi: 10.1111/j.1526-4610.1994.hed3407387.x
- Byers, A. L., and Yaffe, K. (2011). Depression and risk of developing dementia. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 7, 323–331. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2011.60
- Cady, R., and Farmer, K. (2013). Migraine and cognition. *Headache* 53, 587–588. doi: 10.1111/head.12059
- Chen, Y. C., Tang, C. H., Ng, K., and Wang, S. J. (2012). Comorbidity profiles of chronic migraine sufferers in a national database in Taiwan. *J. Head. Pain* 13, 311–319. doi: 10.1007/s10194-012-0447-4
- Chuang, C. S., Lin, C. L., Lin, M. C., Sung, F. C., and Kao, C. H. (2013). Migraine and risk of dementia: a nationwide retrospective cohort study. *Neuroepidemiology* 41, 139–145. doi: 10.1159/000353559
- Gale, S., Acar, D., and Daffner, K. (2018). Dementia. Am. J. Med. 131, 1161–1169. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2018.01.022
- Garnier-Crussard, A., Desestret, V., Cotton, F., Chetelat, G., and Krolak-Salmon, P. (2020). White matter hyperintensities in ageing: pathophysiology, associated cognitive disorders and prevention. *Rev. Med. Int.* 41, 475–484. doi: 10.1016/j.revmed.2020.02.009
- Gazerani, P., Andersen, O. K., and Arendt-Nielsen, L. (2005). A human experimental capsaicin model for trigeminal sensitization. Gender-specific differences. *Pain* 118, 155–163. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2005.08.009
- George, K. M., Folsom, A. R., Sharrett, A. R., Mosley, T. H., Gottesman, R. F., Hamedani, A. G., et al. (2020). Migraine headache and risk of dementia in the atherosclerosis risk in communities neurocognitive study. *Headache* 60, 946–953. doi: 10.1111/head.13794
- Godin, O., Dufouil, C., Maillard, P., Delcroix, N., Mazoyer, B., Crivello, F., et al. (2008). White matter lesions as a predictor of depression in the elderly: the 3C-Dijon study. *Biol. Psychiatry*. 63, 663–669. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.09.006
- Hagen, K., Stordal, E., Linde, M., Steiner, T. J., Zwart, J.-A., and Stovner, L. J. (2014). Headache as a risk factor for dementia: a prospective population-based study. *Cephalalgia* 34, 327–335. doi: 10.1177/0333102413513181
- Honningsvåg, L.-M., Håberg, A. K., Hagen, K., Kvistad, K. A., Stovner, L. J., and Linde, M. (2018). White matter hyperintensities and headache: a population-based imaging study (HUNT MRI). *Cephalalgia* 38, 1927–1939. doi: 10.1177/0333102418764891
- Islamoska, S., Hansen, Å. M., Wang, H.-X., Garde, A. H., Andersen, P. K., Garde, E., et al. (2020). Mid-to late-life migraine diagnoses and risk of dementia: a national register-based follow-up study. *J. Head. Pain* 21, 1–12. doi: 10.1186/s10194-020-01166-7
- Jia, L., Du, Y., Chu, L., Zhang, Z., Li, F., Lyu, D., et al. (2020). Prevalence, risk factors, and management of dementia and mild cognitive impairment in adults aged 60 years or older in China: a cross-sectional study. *Lancet Public Health* 5, e661–e671. doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(20)30185-7
- Katon, W., Pedersen, H. S., Ribe, A. R., Fenger-Grøn, M., Davydow, D., Waldorff, F. B., et al. (2015). Effect of depression and diabetes mellitus on the risk for dementia: a national population-based cohort study. *JAMA Psych.* 72, 612–619. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.0082
- Kostev, K., Bohlken, J., and Jacob, L. (2019). Association between migraine headaches and dementia in more than 7,400 patients followed in general practices in the United Kingdom. J. Alzheimers. Dis. 71, 353–360. doi: 10.3233/JAD-190581
- Kruit, M. C., van Buchem, M. A., Hofman, P. A., Bakkers, J. T., Terwindt, G. M., Ferrari, M. D., et al. (2004). Migraine as a risk factor for subclinical brain lesions. *JAMA* 291, 427–434. doi: 10.1001/jama.291.4.427
- Lee, S. Y., Lim, J. S., Oh, D. J., Kong, I. G., and Choi, H. G. (2019). Increased risk of neurodegenerative dementia in women with migraines: a nested case-control study using a national sample cohort. *Medicine* 98, e14467. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000014467

- Lin, W. C., Hu, L. Y., Tsai, S. J., Yang, A. C., and Shen, C. C. (2017). Depression and the risk of vascular dementia: a population-based retrospective cohort study. *Int. J. Geriatr. Psych.* 32, 556–563. doi: 10.1002/gps.4493
- Liu, J., Zhao, L., Nan, J., Li, G., Xiong, S., von Deneen, K. M., et al. (2013). The trade-off between wiring cost and network topology in white matter structural networks in health and migraine. *Exp. Neurol.* 248, 196–204. doi: 10.1016/j.expneurol.2013.04.012
- Maleki, N., Becerra, L., Brawn, J., McEwen, B., Burstein, R., and Borsook, D. (2013). Common hippocampal structural and functional changes in migraine. *Brain Struct. Funct.* 218, 903–912. doi: 10.1007/s00429-012-0437-y
- Miao, J., Wang, F., Zheng, W., and Zhuang, X. (2015). Association of the Apolipoprotein E polymorphism with migraine: a meta-analysis. *BMC Neurol.* 15, 1–5. doi: 10.1186/s12883-015-0385-2
- Morton, R. E., St. John, P. D., and Tyas, S. L. (2019). Migraine and the risk of all-cause dementia, Alzheimer's disease, and vascular dementia: a prospective cohort study in community-dwelling older adults. *Int. J. Geriatr. Psychol.* 34, 1667–1676. doi: 10.1002/gps.5180
- Paemeleire, K. (2009). Brain lesions and cerebral functional impairment in migraine patients. J. Neurol. Sci. 283, 134–136. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2009.02.333
- Page, M. J., McKenzie, J. E., Bossuyt, P. M., Boutron, I., Hoffmann, T. C., Mulrow, C. D., et al. (2021). The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ* 372, n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71
- Rammohan, K., Mundayadan, S. M., Das, S., and Shaji, C. V. (2019). Migraine and mood disorders: prevalence, clinical correlations and disability. J. Neurosci. Rural Pract. 10, 28–33. doi: 10.4103/jnrp.jnrp\_146\_18
- Rapp, M. A., Schnaider-Beeri, M., Grossman, H. T., Sano, M., Perl, D. P., Purohit, D. P., et al. (2006). Increased hippocampal plaques and tangles in patients with Alzheimer disease with a lifetime history of major depression. *Arch. Gener. Psych.* 63, 161–167. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.63.2.161
- Ringman, J. M., Romano, J. D., Medina, L. D., Rodriguez-Agudelo, Y., Schaffer, B., Varpetian, A., et al. (2008). Increased prevalence of significant recurrent headache in preclinical familial Alzheimer's disease mutation carriers. *Dement. Geriatr. Cogn. Disord.* 25, 380–384. doi: 10.1159/000121986
- Rocca, W. A., Mielke, M. M., Vemuri, P., and Miller, V. M. (2014). Sex and gender differences in the causes of dementia: a narrative review. *Maturitas* 79, 196–201. doi: 10.1016/j.maturitas.2014.05.008
- Røttereng, A. K. S., Bosnes, O., Stordal, E., Zwart, J.-A., Linde, M., Stovner, L. J., et al. (2015). Headache as a predictor for dementia: the HUNT Study. *J. Head. Pain* 16, 1–7. doi: 10.1186/s10194-015-0573-x
- Saylor, D., and Steiner, T. J. (2018). The global burden of headache. *Semin. Neurol.* 38, 182–190. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1646946
- Svoboda, E., McKinnon, M. C., and Levine, B. (2006). The functional neuroanatomy of autobiographical memory: a meta-analysis. *Neuropsychologia* 44, 2189–2208. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2006.05.023
- Taylor, K. S., Mahtani, K. R., and Aronson, J. K. (2021). Summarising good practice guidelines for data extraction for systematic reviews and meta-analysis. *BMJ Evid. Based Med.* 26, 88–90. doi: 10.1136/bmjebm-2020-111651
- Tyas, S. L., Manfreda, J., Strain, L. A., and Montgomery, P. R. (2001). Risk factors for Alzheimer's disease: a population-based, longitudinal study in Manitoba, Canada. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 30, 590–597. doi: 10.1093/ije/30.3.590
- Tzeng, N. S., Chung, C. H., Lin, F. H., Yeh, C. B., Huang, S. Y., Lu, R. B., et al. (2017). Headaches and risk of dementia. Am. J. Med. Sci. 353, 197–206. doi: 10.1016/j.amjms.2016.12.014
- Van Der Steen, J. T., Smaling, H. J., Van Der Wouden, J. C., Bruinsma, M. S., Scholten, R. J., and Vink, A. C. (2018). Music-based therapeutic interventions for people with dementia. *Cochrane Database. Syst. Rev.* 5, CD003477. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD003477.pub4
- Wang, J., Xu, W., Sun, S., Yu, S., and Fan, L. (2018). Headache disorder and the risk of dementia: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *J. Head. Pain* 19, 1–8. doi: 10.1186/s10194-018-0925-4
- Wang, L., Wu, J. C., Wang, F. Y., Chen, X., and Wang, Y. (2021). Meta-analysis of association between migraine and risk of dementia. *Acta Neurol. Scand.* 145, 87–93. doi: 10.1111/ane.13528
- Wells, G. A., Shea, B., O'Connell, D., Peterson, J., Welch, V., Losos, M., et al. (2014). The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for Assessing the Quality of Nonrandomised Studies in Meta-Analyses. Oxford. Available online at: http:// www.evidencebasedpublichealth.de/download/Newcastle\_Ottowa\_Scale\_ Pope\_Bruce.pdf (accessed October 16, 2021).

- Wint, D. (2011). Depression: a shared risk factor for cardiovascular and Alzheimer disease. Clevel. Clin. J. Med. 78, S44–46. doi: 10.3949/ccjm.78.s1.07
- Yang, F. C., Lin, T. Y., Chen, H. J., Lee, J. T., Lin, C. C., and Kao, C. H. (2016). Increased risk of dementia in patients with tension-type headache: a nationwide retrospective population-based cohort study. *PLoS ONE* 11, e0156097. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0156097
- Yin, J. H., Tsai, C. L., Lee, P. J., Chou, C. H., Chen, S. Y., Chung, C. H., et al. (2018). Age-specific and gender-dependent impact of primary headache disorders on dementia risk: population-based longitudinal study. *Medicine* 97, e13789. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000013789

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Qu, Yang, Yao, Sun and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Association Between Antibiotic Treatment of Leptospirosis Infections and Reduced Risk of Dementia: A Nationwide, Cohort Study in Taiwan

Pei-Chun Chao<sup>1,2</sup>, Wu-Chien Chien<sup>3,4,5,6</sup>, Chi-Hsiang Chung<sup>3,4,6</sup>, Chih-Kang Huang<sup>7</sup>, Hao-Ming Li<sup>8</sup> and Nian-Sheng Tzeng<sup>1,9\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Tri-Service General Hospital, School of Medicine, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei, Taiwan, <sup>2</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Tri-Service General Hospital, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei, Taiwan, <sup>3</sup> Department of Medical Research, Tri-Service General Hospital, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei, Taiwan, <sup>4</sup> School of Public Health, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei, Taiwan, <sup>5</sup> Graduate Institute of Life Sciences, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei, Taiwan, <sup>6</sup> Taiwanese Injury Prevention and Safety Promotion Association, Taipei, Taiwan, <sup>7</sup> Department of Emergency Medicine, Tri-Service General Hospital, School of Medicine, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei, Taiwan, <sup>8</sup> Department of General Surgery, Tri-Service General Hospital, School of Medicine, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei, Taiwan, <sup>9</sup> Student Counseling Center, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei, Taiwan, <sup>9</sup> Student Counseling Center, National Defense Medical Center, Taipei, Taiwan

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Omar Yaxmehen Bello-Chavolla, Instituto Nacional de Geriatría, Mexico

### Reviewed by:

Chia-Fen Tsai, Taipei Veterans General Hospital, Taiwan Lay Khoon Too, The University of Sydney, Australia David Wang, National Institutes of Health (NIH), United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Nian-Sheng Tzeng pierrens@mail.ndmctsgh.edu.tw

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Alzheimer's Disease and Related Dementias, a section of the journal Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience

Received: 06 September 2021 Accepted: 14 February 2022 Published: 23 March 2022

#### Citation:

Chao P-C, Chien W-C, Chung C-H, Huang C-K, Li H-M and Tzeng N-S (2022) Association Between Antibiotic Treatment of Leptospirosis Infections and Reduced Risk of Dementia: A Nationwide, Cohort Study in Taiwan. Front. Aging Neurosci. 14:771486. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.771486 **Background:** To explore the association between leptospirosis, the risk of dementia, and the potential protective role of antibiotic treatment.

**Methods:** We conducted a retrospective cohort nationwide, population-based study, from Taiwan's National Health Insurance Research Database (NHIRD). We enrolled 1,428 subjects aged 50 years or above, in the index year of 2000, which included those retrieved from the NHIRD record. Dementia diagnosis and incidence over 16 years follow-up was retrieved from the NHIRD records. The Fine and Gray survival analysis was used to determine the risk of dementia, and the results were presented as a sub-distribution hazard ratio (SHR) with a 95% confidence interval.

**Results:** In the study period, 43 of the 357 leptospirosis patients developed dementia, as compared to 103 of the control group (930.90 vs. 732.49 per  $10^5$  person-years). By the Fine and Gray survival analysis, the leptospirosis was associated with the risk of dementia, and the adjusted SHR was 1.357 (95% confidence interval [CI]: 1.213–1.519, P < 0.001), across 16-year of the follow-up period. To exclude the protopathic bias, the sensitivity analysis was conducted. This analysis revealed that the leptospirosis was associated with the increased risk of dementia, even after excluding the dementia diagnosis within the first year (adjusted SHR = 1.246, 95%CI: 1.114–1.395, P < 0.001) or within the first 5 years (adjusted SHR = 1.079, 95%CI: 1.023–1.152, P = 0.028), antibiotic treatment for leptospirosis was associated with the reduced risk of dementia (P = 0.001).

**Conclusion:** Leptospirosis was associated with an increased risk for dementia, and antibiotic treatment was associated with a reduced risk. Further research will be necessary to explore the underlying mechanisms of this association.

Keywords: leptospirosis, antibiotic, dementia, time-dependent, risk

# INTRODUCTION

In Taiwan, 4–8% of those aged 65 years or over have dementia (Sun et al., 2014), which is a heavy burden for the patients, their caregivers, and the community. Alzheimer's dementia (AD) is the most common type of dementia, which is a progressive condition that principally affects the elderly. Even though the underlying etiology of AD is not known, there are extensive beta-amyloid (A $\beta$ ) deposits in the brain of individuals with no signs of cognitive impairment (Rodrigue et al., 2009). In addition, A $\beta$  may play a role in response to several types of infection (Soscia et al., 2010; Moir et al., 2018). Several recent studies have focused on the possibility that infectious agents might be predisposed to the AD development (Itzhaki et al., 2016). Research has focused on pathogens, such as herpes viruses, yeasts, or bacteria, notably including spirochetes (Miklossy, 2011).

The spirochetes pathogens are generally acquired by the exposure to wild animal secretions or arthropod bites, which are the most prevalent spirochetosis worldwide, particularly in wet tropical and subtropical regions (Levett, 2001). A broad spectrum of clinical manifestations may occur in humans, ranging from subclinical infections and self-limited anicteric febrile illnesses to the severe and potentially fatal icteric disease including Weil's disease. Antibiotics, especially penicillin, are the mainstay of treatment for suspected or confirmed cases of leptospirosis, and treatment with the appropriate antibiotics should be initiated immediately (Center for Disease Control and Prevention [CDCP], 2018). Although some infected individuals display fulminant disease, it is suspected that the chronic carriage in others can remain subclinical. The treatment of leptospirosis differs depending on the severity and duration of the symptoms at the time of presentation, and patients with mild, flu-like symptoms may require only symptomatic treatment.

A possible relationship between Leptospira infection and neuropsychiatric disorders has been previously discussed, including dementia, depression, mania, and psychosis (Marshall and Scrimgeour, 1978; Semiz et al., 2005; Chiu et al., 2019). Importantly, it was recently reported that patients with a history of leptospirosis were at a moderately increased risk of developing dementia (Chiu et al., 2019). In addition, since the allelic variants of Apolipoprotein E4 (APOE4) allele are a risk factor not only for AD (Strittmatter et al., 1993) but also for a disease caused by the herpes simplex virus (HSV)-1 (Burgos et al., 2006), human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-1 (Burt et al., 2008), and bacteria including Chlamydia pneumoniae (Gerard et al., 2005), we hypothesize that there might be a link between leptospirosis infections and dementia. For this reason, we have conducted a retrospective cohort study so as to investigate the association between leptospirosis and dementia, and the role of the antibiotic treatment in the risk of dementia in the leptospirosis group.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Data Sources**

The National Health Insurance (NHI) Program was launched in Taiwan in 1995, and as of June 2009, includes contracts with 97% of medical providers, up to 23 million beneficiaries, and covers more than 99% of the entire population (Ho Chan, 2010). Several previous studies have documented the details of this program (Chen et al., 2020; Tzeng et al., 2020; Wan et al., 2020). We used the Taiwan NHI Research Database (NHIRD) to investigate the association between leptospirosis diagnosis and dementia over a 16-year period (2000–2015) for all outpatients and hospitalizations recorded in the NHIRD.

Diagnosis of leptospirosis was performed according to the International Classification of Diseases, 9th Revision, Clinical Modification (ICD-9-CM) (Chinese Hospital Association [CHA], 2000). Typical clinical findings indicative of leptospirosis were confirmed in all cases by a culture of Leptospira spp. and/or serology (Chiu et al., 2019). For the culture, blood and urine collected during the first 10 days of the disease were sent for microbiological analysis. For the serological diagnosis, paired acute and convalescent sera were analyzed by a microscopic agglutination test (MAT). The MAT titer is obtained by incubating serial dilutions of a patient's serum with different Leptospira serovars; the serovar that reacts most strongly is suggested to be the infecting serovar. A positive laboratory diagnosis of leptospirosis required one of the following two criteria: (i) positive culture isolation, and/or (ii) a fourfold rise in MAT titer between the acute phase and the convalescent phase and a titer  $\geq$ 1:400 in a single serum. Laboratory studies were performed at the Taiwan Centers for Disease Control [TCDC] (2017).

Dementia diagnosis was performed by board-certified neurologists or psychiatrists according to the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th Edition and its textrevised edition (American Psychiatric Association [APA], 1994, 2000). Licensed medical records technicians review and verify the diagnostic coding before claiming reimbursements (Chen et al., 1995). The NHI Administration randomly reviews the records of 1 in 100 ambulatory care visits and 1 in 20 in-patient claims to verify the accuracy of the diagnoses (Ministry of Justice, 2019). Several studies have demonstrated the accuracy and validity of the diagnoses in the NHIRD (Cheng et al., 2011; Liang et al., 2011; Chou et al., 2013).

## **Study Design and Sampled Participants**

This study was of a retrospective matched-cohort design. Patients with a history of leptospirosis, spirochetal disease, or syphilis, dementia diagnosis before the index date, who were aged <50 years, or where relevant information was missing were excluded from this study. Patients with leptospirosis were selected from January 1 to December 31, 2000, according to ICD-9-CM code 100 (100.0, 100.8, or 100.9). This included 357 patients first diagnosed with leptospirosis during the index year. A control group (n = 1038) matched for age and sex with no diagnosis of leptospirosis was also selected for study (**Figure 1**).

Covariates included gender, age group (50–64,  $\geq$ 65 years), marital status, years of education, geographical area of residence (north, center, south, and east of Taiwan), urbanization level of residence area (levels 1 to 4), level of hospital as medical centers, regional and local hospitals, and insurance premiums (in New Taiwan Dollars [NT\$]; <18 000, 18 000–34 999,  $\geq$ 35



000). The urbanization level of residence was defined according to the total population and indicators of the level of development (Chiu et al., 2014). The comorbidities included diabetes mellitus, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, coronary artery disease, obesity, cancer, depressive disorder, bipolar disorder, anxiety disorder, alcohol usage disorder, substance usage disorder, sleep disorder, septicemia (ICD-9-CM codes listed in **Supplementary Table 1**). We also used the Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI, scores of 0, 1, 2, 3,  $\geq 4$ ), which is the most widely used comorbidity index in the literature (Charlson et al., 1987; de Groot et al., 2003).

The antibiotics used in the treatment for the leptospirosis include $\beta$ -lactams, cephalosporins, and doxycycline, and the data on the usage of these antibiotics were collected. The data of the defined daily dose (DDD) were obtained from the WHO Collaborating Centre for Drug Statistics Methodology<sup>1</sup>, and the duration of the usage of antibiotics was calculated by dividing the cumulative dosages by the DDD of the antibiotics. The duration of the antibiotic treatment is usually 7 days (Charan et al., 2013; Day, 2021), therefore, we divided the treatment durations as 7, 8–14, 15–21, 22–28, and >28 days, respectively.

## **Outcome Measures**

All the study participants were followed from the index date until the onset of dementia including Alzheimer's dementia, vascular dementia, and other degenerative dementias, withdrawal from the NHI program, or the end of 2015. To ensure accuracy, each patient diagnosed with dementia was required to have made at least three outpatient visits during 1 year within the study period (Chiu et al., 2018).

## Statistical Analysis

All analyses were performed using the SPSS software version 22 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, United States).  $\chi^2$  and *t*-tests were used to evaluate the distributions of the categorical and continuous variables, respectively. The Fisher exact test for categorical variables was used to statistically examine the differences between the two cohorts. The Fine and Gray survival analysis was used to determine the risk of dementia, and the results were presented as a sub-distribution hazard ratio (SHR) with a 95% confidence interval (CI). The difference in the incidence of dementia between the study and control groups was estimated using the Kaplan-Meier method with log-rank test. A two-tailed *P*-value of <0.05 was considered so as to indicate the statistical significance.

# RESULTS

## **Sample Characteristics**

The flowchart for enrollment of the leptospirosis patients and the controls is as presented in **Figure 1**. A total of 1428 patients

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://www.whocc.no/

TABLE 1   Characteristics	of study at the baseline.
---------------------------	---------------------------

Leptospirosis infections		With	Wit	Р	
Variables	n	%	n	%	
Total	357	25.00	1,071	75.00	
Gender					0.999
Male	249	69.75	747	69.75	
Female	108	30.25	324	30.25	
Age (years)	63.35	$\pm 8.68$	$63.68 \pm$	8.67	0.532
Age groups (years)					0.999
50–64	220	61.62	660	61.62	
≧65	137	38.38	411	38.38	
Marital status					0.927
Without	159	44.54	480	44.82	
With	198	55.46	591	55.18	
Education (years)					0.903
<12	183	51.26	545	50.89	
≧12	174	48.74	526	49.11	
- Insured premium (NT\$)					0.005
<18,000	348	97.48	1,063	99.25	
18,000–34,999	9	2.52	6	0.56	
≥35,000	0	0.00	2	0.19	
Diabetes mellitus	54	15.13	149	13.91	0.600
Hypertension	57	15.97	216	20.17	0.087
Hyperlipidemia	8	2.24	38	3.55	0.298
Coronary artery disease	20	5.60	109	10.18	0.008
Obesity	2	0.56	0	0.00	0.062
Cancer	18	5.04	101	9.43	0.008
Depressive disorder	2	0.56	3	0.28	0.604
Bipolar disorder	0	0.00	2	0.19	0.414
Anxiety disorder	131	36.69	251	23.44	< 0.00
Alcohol use disorder	0	0.00	6	0.56	0.346
Substance use disorder	0	0.00	2	0.19	0.414
Sleep disorder	4	1.12	4	0.37	0.113
Septicemia	51	14.29	28	2.61	< 0.00
CCI_R					0.002
0	272	76.19	703	65.64	0.002
1	67	18.77	258	24.09	
2	10	2.80	62	5.79	
3	6	1.68	27	2.52	
≧4	2	0.56	21	1.96	
=- Season	2	0.00	21	1.00	<0.00
Spring (Mar–May)	85	23.81	291	27.17	<0.00
Summer (Jun–Aug)	133	37.25	246	22.97	
Autumn (Sep–Nov)	78	21.85	240	20.54	
Winter (Dec–Feb)	61	17.09	314	20.34	
Location	01	17.09	514	29.02	<0.00
Northern Taiwan	89	24.93	439	40.99	.0.00
Middle Taiwan	59	16.53	280	26.14	
Southern Taiwan	43	12.04	284	26.52	
Eastern Taiwan	166	46.50	65	6.07	
Outlets islands	0	0.00	3	0.28	
Urbanization level	5	0.00	0	0.20	<0.00
1 (The highest)	81	22.69	404	37.72	~0.00
2	240	67.23	404	40.80	
	240	01.20	101	-0.00	

(Continued)

#### TABLE 1 | (Continued)

Leptospirosis infections	With		Wi	Р	
Variables	n	%	n	%	
3	13	3.64	68	6.35	
4 (The lowest)	23	6.44	162	15.13	
Level of care					< 0.00
Medical center	257	71.99	396	36.97	
Regional hospital	96	26.89	380	35.48	
Local hospital	4	1.12	295	27.54	

P: Chi-square/Fisher exact test on category variables and t-test on continue variables; NT\$, New Taiwan Dollars; CCI\_R, Charlson Comorbidity Index, dementia removed.

were enrolled including 357 subjects with leptospirosis and 1071 controls without leptospirosis. The ratio of leptospirosis cohort and the control cohort was 1:3. These two cohorts were matched for age, sex, and index year (**Figure 1** and **Table 1**). The prevalence of leptospirosis was 18.44 per  $10^5$  (357 from an eligible population of 1 936 512) during the 16 years of follow-up; none of the control group received a diagnosis of leptospirosis during the study period. There were no differences between the groups in sex, age, marital status, or insurance premiums. In the leptospirosis cohort, there was a higher percentage of anxiety and septicemia and a lower percentage of coronary artery disease and cancer.

# Kaplan–Meier Model for the Cumulative Incidence of Dementia

In the overall study period, 43 of the 357 leptospirosis patients (930.90 per  $10^5$  person-years) developed dementia as compared to 103 of the control group (n = 1071, 732.49 per  $10^5$  person-years); the Kaplan–Meier analysis indicated that the difference was statistically significant (log-rank, P < 0.001, **Figure 2**).

# Hazard Ratio Analysis of Dementia in Patients With Leptospirosis

Fine and Gray's competing risk model analysis revealed that the leptospirosis group was more likely to develop dementia (crude SHR = 1.350; 95% CI 1.211–1.496; P < 0.001). After adjustment for sex, age, monthly insurance premiums, urbanization level, geographic region, and comorbidities, the adjusted SHR over the 16-year period was 1.357 (95% CI 1.213–1.519; P < 0.001) (**Table 2**).

## The Risk and Sensitivity Analysis of Different Types of Dementia After Leptospirosis

As shown in **Table 3**, leptospirosis was associated with different types of dementia, including AD (adjusted SHR = 1.300 [95% CI: 1.162–1.455, P < 0.001]), VaD (adjusted SHR = 1.243 [95% CI: 1.111–1.391, P < 0.001]), or other degenerative dementia (adjusted SHR = 1.459 [95% CI: 1.305–1.634, P < 0.001]), respectively.



To exclude the protopathic bias, the sensitivity analysis was conducted. This analysis revealed that the leptospirosis was associated with the increased risk of dementia, even after

**TABLE 2** | Antibiotics usage and the risk of dementia by using Fine and Gray's competing risk model.

	Competing risk in the model					
Variables	Adjusted SHR	95% CI	95% CI	Р		
Leptospirosis infections (reference: without)	1.357	1.213	1.519	<0.001		
Severe infections	1.400	1.257	1.598	< 0.001		
Non-severe infections	1.326	1.202	1.483	< 0.001		
$CCI_R = 1$ (reference: $CCI_R = 0$ )	3.098	1.124	8.012	0.003		
$CCI_R = 2$ (reference: $CCI_R = 0$ )	4.501	1.188	14.562	0.001		
Winter (reference: spring)	6.532	1.397	33.012	0.001		

P: Chi-square/Fisher exact test on category variables and t-test on continue variables; SHR, sub-distribution hazard ratio; CI, confidence interval; Adjusted SHR, Adjusted variables listed in **Table 1**; CCI\_R, Charlson Comorbidity Index, dementia removed.

excluding dementia diagnosis within the first year (adjusted SHR = 1.246, 95% CI: 1.114–1.395, P < 0.001) or within the first 5 years (adjusted SHR = 1.079, 95% CI: 1.023–1.152, P = 0.028). However, after excluding the diagnosis within the first and first 5 years, leptospirosis was associated with AD and other degenerative dementia, but not VaD.

# Subgroup Analysis for the Risk of Dementia After Leptospirosis

As shown in **Table 4**, the subgroup analysis revealed that the differential risk stratified by sex, age, marital status, educational level, monthly insurance premiums, comorbidities, urbanization and region of residence, CCI score, season, and level of medical care (possible exceptions include higher insured premiums). The subgroup analysis found that the leptospirosis patients with nearly all the covariates were associated with a higher risk of dementia, with the exceptions of insured premium of NT\$18,000–34,999 and NT\$  $\geq$ 35,000. In addition, the patients with or without most of these comorbidities were associated with a higher risk of dementia, with the exceptions of obesity, depression, bipolar disorder, alcohol usage disorder, other substance usage disorder, sleep disorder, and CCI as 3 and  $\geq$ 4.

<b>TABLE 3</b>   Dementia types and sensitivity analysis using Fine and Gray's
competing risk model.

	Leptospirosis infections	Competing risk in the model				
Sensitivity test	Dementia subgroup	Adjusted SHR	95% CI	95% CI	P	
Overall	Overall	1.357	1.213	1.519	< 0.001	
	AD	1.300	1.162	1.455	< 0.001	
	VaD	1.243	1.111	1.391	< 0.001	
	Other degenerative dementia	1.459	1.305	1.634	<0.001	
In the first 1 year	Overall	1.246	1.114	1.395	< 0.001	
excluded	AD	1.220	1.091	1.366	0.001	
	VaD	1.104	0.987	1.236	0.180	
	Other degenerative dementia	1.352	1.208	1.513	<0.001	
In the first 5 years	Overall	1.079	1.023	1.152	0.028	
excluded	AD	1.117	1.058	1.195	0.009	
	VaD	0.938	0.881	1.041	0.334	
	Other degenerative dementia	1.142	1.076	1.222	0.002	

P: Chi-square/Fisher exact test on category variables and t-test on continue variables; PYs, Person-years; Adjusted SHR, Adjusted sub-distribution Hazard ratio: Adjusted for the variables listed in this table. Cl, confidence interval; AD, Alzheimer's dementia; VaD, vascular dementia.

# Effect of Leptospirosis Antibiotic Treatment and Risk of Dementia

Although the majority of patients diagnosed with leptospirosis were recorded as having received antibiotic treatment ( $\beta$ -lactams, cephalosporins, and doxycycline), a small number were not treated. **Figure 3** shows the flowchart of the study sample selection with or without antibiotic treatment. These subgroups differed in their risk of developing dementia. Of the leptospirosis patients with antibiotic treatment, 36 of 321 (916.52 per 10<sup>5</sup> person-years) developed dementia compared to seven of 36 (938.04 per 10<sup>5</sup> person-years) patients without antibiotic treatment; the difference was statistically significant in the Kaplan–Meier analysis (log-rank, *P* < 0.001; **Figure 4**). The risk of dementia development was lower in patients treated for a longer time or with higher antibiotic dosages (adjusted SHR = 0.685, 95%CI: 0.534–0.950, *P* = 0.001, **Table 5**).

# Time-Dependence of Risk of Dementia Development

Patients with a diagnosis of leptospirosis showed an overall increased risk of dementia development over the 16-year followup period (adjusted SHR = 1.357). However, the SHR evolved with time. The greatest differential was in the years immediately following the leptospirosis development, and the cumulative unnormalized relative incidences of dementia development were 3.96 at 6 years, 2.61 at 11 years, and 1.25 at 16 years. Cumulative SHR values adjusted for sex, age, monthly insurance premium, urbanization level, geographic region, and comorbidity were 1.296 at 6 years, to 1.331 at 11 years, to 1.357 at 16 years. Linear regression predicts that the SHR for dementia development between the two groups declines to 1.0 at 18–19 years following the leptospirosis development (**Table 6**).

## The Interaction Term Analysis Between Anxiety and Leptospirosis

**Table 7** shows the subgroup analysis for the factors of dementia using the Fine and Gray's competing risk model. The adjusted SHR of leptospirosis with anxiety was 2.806 (95% CI: 2.407–3.305, P < 0.001) and the adjusted SHR of leptospirosis without anxiety was 1.237 (95% CI: 1.095–1.386, P < 00.001) The *P*-values of the interaction term analysis of anxiety × leptospirosis was 0.001 in the non-competing risk model and <0.001 in the competing risk model.

# DISCUSSION

## Association Between Leptospirosis, Antibiotic Treatment, and the Risk of Dementia

We have reported that the individuals with a previous diagnosis of leptospirosis had an increased risk of developing any type of dementia, including AD and VaD (P < 0.001). When individuals with a diagnosis of dementia within the first year or the first 5 years were excluded, the leptospirosis patients were still associated with an increased risk of AD and related dementias. The results of our study (adjusted SHR = 1.357; 95% CI 1.213–1.519; P < 0.001; 16 years follow-up) are comparable to the conclusions of an earlier study on leptospirosis patients (adjusted SHR = 1.89; 95% CI 1.72-2.08; 10 years follow-up) (Chiu et al., 2019). In addition, leptospirosis was associated with AD, VaD, and other degenerative dementia. We also reported that treatment of the leptospirosis patients with antibiotic medications, such as  $\beta$ -lactams, cephalosporin, and doxycycline, for the first time, was associated with a reduced risk of dementia (adjusted SHR = 0.685) in a dose-dependent manner (P = 0.001).

The adjusted SHR increased from the sixth year and, as the Linear regression predicts, declined after the 16-years of followup (**Table 6**). This finding might hint that the risk of dementia would be higher between six and 16 years after the leptospirosis.

In the leptospirosis groups, there was a significant higher incidence of anxiety disorders (N = 131, 36.69%) as compared to the control group (N = 251, 23.44%). As previously reported, anxiety has been associated with all types of dementia (Santabarbara et al., 2020). Thus, we have conducted an interaction term analysis, which revealed an interaction between anxiety and leptospirosis in the contribution of the risk of dementia (**Table 7**).

# Possible Mechanisms of Association Between Leptospirosis and the Risk of Dementia

The underlying mechanisms of the association between leptospirosis infections and dementia remain unclear.

**TABLE 4** | Subgroup analysis stratified by variables listed in the table by using
 Fine and Gray's competing risk model.

Leptospirosis infections	Competing risk in the model					
Stratified	Adjusted SHR	95% CI	95% CI	Р		
Total	1.357	1.213	1.519	< 0.001		
Male	1.429	1.278	1.600	< 0.001		
Female	1.219	1.089	1.364	< 0.001		
Age 50–64	1.266	1.131	1.417	<0.001		
Age group≧65	1.464	1.308	1.638	< 0.001		
Married	1.332	1.190	1.491	<0.001		
Not married	1.102	0.985	1.233	0.121		
Education (years) < 12	1.328	1.187	1.487	< 0.001		
Education (years)≧12	1.507	1.347	1.687	<0.001		
Insured premium (NT\$) < 18,000	1.357	1.213	1.519	< 0.001		
Insured premium (NT\$) 18,000–34,999	_	_	_	_		
Insured premium (NT\$) 35,000	_	_	_	_		
Without DM	1.212	1.084	1.357	< 0.001		
With DM	1.664	1.487	1.862	<0.001		
Without HTN	1.309	1.170	1.466	< 0.001		
With HTN	1.468	1.312	1.643	<0.001		
Without Hyperlipidemia	1.357	1.213	1.519	<0.001		
With Hyperlipidemia	_	_	_	_		
Without CAD	1.285	1.148	1.438	<0.001		
With CAD	1.883	1.683	2.107	<0.001		
Without Obesity	1.357	1.213	1.519	<0.001		
With Obesity	_	_	_	_		
Without Cancer	1.246	1.114	1.394	<0.001		
With Cancer	3.154	2.819	3.530	< 0.001		
Without Depression	1.357	1.213	1.519	<0.001		
With Depression	_	_	_	_		
Without Bipolar	1.357	1.213	1.519	<0.001		
With Bipolar	_	_	_	_		
Without Anxiety	1.246	1.114	1.395	< 0.001		
With Anxiety	1.459	1.305	1.634	< 0.001		
Without Alcohol use disorder	1.357	1.213	1.519	< 0.001		
With Alcohol use disorder	_	_	_	_		
Without other substance use disorder	1.357	1.213	1.519	< 0.001		
With other substance use disorder	_	_	_	_		
Without Sleep disorder	1.540	1.377	1.724	<0.001		
With Sleep disorder	0.000	_	_	0.885		
Without Septicemia	1.189	1.063	1.331	< 0.001		
With Septicemia	2.361	2.111	2.643	<0.001		
CCI_R 0	1.183	1.057	1.324	<0.001		
CCI_R 1	1.431	1.279	1.602	<0.001		
CCI_R 2	3.438	3.073	3.848	<0.001		
CCI_R 3	_	_	_	_		
CCI_R≧4	_	_	_	_		
Spring	1.141	1.020	1.277	0.030		
Summer	1.226	1.096	1.372	<0.001		
Autumn	1.490	1.332	1.668	<0.001		
Winter	2.182	1.950	2.443	<0.001		
Urbanization level						
Line primation lovel 1 (the bigh act)	1.208	1.080	1.352	<0.001		
Urbanization level 1 (the highest)						

#### TABLE 4 | (Continued)

Leptospirosis infections	Competing risk in the model						
Stratified	Adjusted SHR	95% CI	95% CI	Ρ			
Urbanization level 3	_	_	_	_			
Urbanization level 4 (the lowest)	1.704	1.524	1.908	< 0.001			
Level of care Hospital center	1.454	1.299	1.627	< 0.001			
Level of care Regional hospital	1.274	1.139	1.426	< 0.001			
Level of care Local hospital	1.144	1.023	1.281	0.029			

P: Chi-square/Fisher exact test on category variables and t-test on continue variables; PYs, Person-years; Adjusted HR, Adjusted sub-distribution Hazard ratio: Adjusted for the variables listed in **Table 1**; Cl, confidence interval; NT\$, New Taiwan Dollars; CCI\_R, Charlson Comorbidity Index, dementia removed.

Nonetheless, inflammatory changes in the brain have been reported in studies on the pathogenesis of dementia (Daulatzai, 2016; Stefaniak and O'Brien, 2016). Previous researchers have found that infectious diseases, such as hepatitis C, viral infection, Helicobacter pylori infection, cytomegalovirus infections, chronic osteomyelitis, or even sepsis, were associated with an increased risk of dementia (Barnes et al., 2015; Kao et al., 2015). Other antibioticsusceptible bacterial species were widely present in both the control and AD brain (Branton et al., 2013; Emery et al., 2017). In 2019, Chiu first reported that patients with leptospirosis were associated with higher risks of dementia, pointing out the role of endothelial damage and vascular hypo-perfusion in subsequent chronic diseases such as dementia (Chiu et al., 2019).

Leptospira may cause cytokine storm, endothelial damage, vascular hypo-perfusion, and subsequent organ failure (Cagliero et al., 2018). AD is the most common cause of dementia. The major hypothesis on the etiology of AD is the amyloid cascade hypothesis (Barage and Sonawane, 2015). In addition, there is also growing evidence indicating that vascular dysfunction plays a pivotal role in the development of AD, and several vascular risk factors, such as hypertension, atherosclerosis, hyperlipidemia, and stroke, are associated with AD-type dementia (Launer et al., 2000; Fratiglioni et al., 2007). The significant association between vascular diseases and AD suggests that dementia associated with AD may be caused by vascular mechanisms.

However, the specific role of spirochetes is uncertain. For *Leptospira* spp., only 1.4% of United States army soldiers deployed in disease-endemic countries, and 2.5% of United States veterinarians, were reported to be seropositive (Lettieri et al., 2004; Whitney et al., 2009). In the United Kingdom, fewer than 100 cases of acute leptospirosis were recorded each year (Forbes et al., 2012). In addition, serological testing may not detect many individuals infected with *Borrelia* spp. (Lloyd and Hawkins, 2018). Several studies have found that, in the countries closer to 40% (Gonwong et al., 2017; Garba et al., 2018; Sohail et al., 2018). Therefore, the role of the difference of seroprevalence of the *Leptospira* spp. in different countries might well need to be further studied.





TABLE 5 | Percentage, duration, percentage of decrease of risk by days, and adjusted sub-distribution hazard ratios of antibiotic among *Leptospirosis* infections patients.

Antibiotic					With vs. without antibiotic (Reference)					
Туре	n	%	Duration (days)		Competing risk in the model					
			Mean	SD	n% decrease of risk by day	Adjusted SHR (95% CI)	Р			
Overall	321		25.33	22.20	1.24	0.685 (0.534–0.950)	0.001			
Beta-lactam	113	35.20	26.71	23.89	1.16	0.689 (0.542–0.962)	0.009			
7 days	11	3.43	7.00	0.00	3.01	0.789 (0.604–1.102)	0.152			
8–14 days	19	5.92	12.12	10.34	1.45	0.824 (0.608–1.189)	0.288			
15–21 days	23	7.17	18.65	15.25	1.47	0.725 (0.592–0.978)	0.024			
22–28 days	29	9.03	25.27	23.21	1.44	0.635 (0.489–0.929)	< 0.001			
>28 days	31	9.66	49.98	47.72	0.83	0.584 (0.415–0.827)	<0.001			
Cephalosporin	130	40.50	24.73	21.17	1.33	0.672 (0.513–0.955)	0.001			
7 days	21	6.54	7.00	0.00	3.54	0.752 (0.586–1.067)	0.134			
8–14 days	18	5.61	12.35	10.25	1.34	0.835 (0.712-1.234)	0.294			
15–21 days	30	9.35	18.51	15.11	1.63	0.698 (0.526–0.959)	0.007			
22–28 days	25	7.79	25.98	23.72	1.38	0.641 (0.502–0.952)	0.001			
>28 days	36	11.21	45.58	42.25	0.88	0.599 (0.442–0.863)	< 0.001			
Doxycycline	119	37.07	24.67	21.71	1.29	0.681 (0.494–0.938)	< 0.001			
7 days	20	6.23	7.00	0.00	3.26	0.772 (0.594–1.083)	0.148			
8–14 days	18	5.61	12.13	10.98	1.31	0.841 (0.726-1.248)	0.304			
15–21 days	25	7.79	18.72	15.34	1.51	0.718 (0.555–0.964)	0.012			
22–28 days	25	7.79	25.19	23.08	1.47	0.629 (0.472–0.915)	< 0.001			
>28 days	31	9.66	47.72	45.97	0.86	0.588 (0.421-0.834)	< 0.001			

P: Chi-square/Fisher exact test on category variables and t-test on continue variables; Adjusted SHR, Adjusted sub-distribution Hazard ratio: Adjusted for the variables listed in **Table 1**; Cl, confidence interval; NT\$, New Taiwan Dollars.

TABLE 6 | Factors of dementia by using Fine and Gray's competing risk model.

	Leptospirosis infections (reference: without)								
Tracking period	Crude SHR	95% CI	95% CI	Р	Adjusted SHR	95% CI	95% CI	Р	
Overall (In 16-year tracking)	1.647	1.315	2.103	<0.001	1.357	1.213	1.519	<0.001	
In 1-year tracking	1.486	0.867	2.085	0.106	1.225	0.645	1.402	0.267	
In 6-year tracking	1.569	1.047	2.117	0.002	1.296	1.030	1.426	0.009	
In 11-year tracking	1.629	1.211	1.997	< 0.001	1.331	1.176	1.798	<0.001	

P: Chi-square/Fisher exact test on category variables and t-test on continue variables; Adjusted HR, Adjusted sub-distribution Hazard ratio: Adjusted for the variables listed in **Table 1**; Cl, confidence interval.

## Possible Mechanisms of Association Between Antibiotics and the Lower Risk of Dementia in Patients With Leptospirosis

We also found that the antibiotic treatment was associated with a lower risk of dementia in patients with leptospirosis infections, and the adjusted SHR was 0.685. The leptospirosisinfected subjects treated with the antibiotics of beta-lactam, cephalosporin, and doxycycline showed a decreased risk of dementia, when compared to the group without antibiotic medications. Moreover, once the treatment duration was more than 14 days, the risk of dementia decreased subsequently with the treatment duration prolonged.

The role of the antibiotic treatment of leptospirosis infections for the prevention of dementia has not, as yet, been studied. The association between antibiotic usage and Alzheimer's disease had only been studied in animal models before. Ceftriaxone may restore the glial glutamate transporter and further ameliorate tau pathology, and the cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease (Zumkehr et al., 2015). Neuroinflammation is a chronic event whose perpetuation leads to the continuous

 TABLE 7 | The interaction between Leptospirosis infections and anxiety for the risk of dementia.

Leptospirosis infections	Anxiety	Adjusted SHR	95% CI	95% CI	Р
Without	Without	Reference			
Without	With	1.354	1.288	1.518	< 0.001
With	Without	1.237	1.095	1.386	< 0.001
With	With	2.806	2.407	3.305	< 0.001

Adjusted SHR, Adjusted sub-distribution hazard ratio: Adjusted for the variables listed in **Table 1**; CI, confidence interval.

Interaction term (Joint Effect): Leptospirosis infections × Anxiety, P < 0.001.

release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, promoting neuronal cell death and gross brain atrophy. Doxycycline emerged as a promising preventive strategy in prion diseases and gave compelling pre-clinical results in mouse models of AD against A $\beta$  oligomers and neuroinflammation (Balducci and Forloni, 2019). Our present study might be the first to report on the role of antibiotic medication treatment in attenuating the risk of developing dementia for patients with leptospirosis infections in a nationwide, population-based study. However, in the leptospirosis group, only 10.1% (36 in 357) did not receive antibiotic treatment. This suggests that further study is needed so as to clarify whether antibiotic usage plays a role in reducing the risk of dementia for leptospirosis-infected patients.

## **Strengths of This Study**

The present study has several strengths: First, we used Taiwan's NHIRD, which is a valuable resource to cover a nationwide population, to address this issue. Second, one previous study has demonstrated the accuracy and validity of several diagnoses of psychiatric disorders in the NHIRD, including major depressive disorder, schizophrenia, and dementia (Wu et al., 2020). Besides, the in-hospital licensed medical records technicians and NHI Administration would have verified the diagnoses in the claims dataset (Hsieh et al., 2019; Ministry of Justice, 2019), for the diagnosis. Third, previous studies have also demonstrated the concordance between Taiwan's National Health Survey and the NHIRD on a variety of diagnoses (Wu et al., 2014), medication usage (Wu et al., 2014), and health system utilization (Yu et al., 2009; Wu et al., 2014).

## Limitations of This Study

This study has several limitations. First, regarding the antibiotic treatment, only 10.1% (36 of 357) of the leptospirosis group did not receive antibiotic treatment, and of these only seven went on to develop dementia. Although our results point to statistical significance, further investigations with a larger number of subjects will be essential to clarify whether the antibiotic treatment truly plays a role in reducing the risk of dementia for the leptospirosis-infected patients. Second, patients with dementia were identified using the insurance claims data, but data on severity or stage were not available, and we could only estimate the treatment durations of each antibiotic medication by dividing the cumulative doses of individual medications by the defined daily dose. Third, other confounding factors such as genetics and dietary factors are also not included in the NHIRD. Because no imaging findings or other laboratory data are included in the NHIRD, we relied on the professional diagnosis of dementia by board-certified psychiatrists or neurologists according to the ICD-9-CM codes from the NHIRD, and the leptospirosis cases that were presented as mild symptoms may not have been recorded and were thus not enrolled in this study. Nevertheless, because our analysis is based on a large cohort of patients (1428 subjects: 357 leptospirosis and 1071 controls) as well as internationally recognized diagnostic codes, and furthermore corroborates previous work on leptospirosis and AD risk (Chiu et al., 2019), our central results may be reliable - and raise three important issues concerning causation and the pathogen(s) that might be involved.

# CONCLUSION

Patients with leptospirosis infections have an increased risk of developing dementia, and the antibiotic treatment was associated with a diminished risk of dementia. These findings might well be considered as an indicator to clinicians caring for patients with leptospirosis infections. Further research will be necessary so as to explore the underlying mechanism(s) of this association.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets on the study population that were obtained from the NHIRD (http://nhird.nhri.org.tw/en/index.html) are maintained in the NHIRD (http://nhird.nhri.org.tw/). The National Health Research Institutes (NHRI) is a nonprofit foundation established by the government. Only citizens of Taiwan who fulfill the requirements for conducting research projects are eligible to apply for the NHIRD. The use of the NHIRD is limited to research purposes only. Applicants must follow the Computer-Processed Personal Data Protection Act (https://dep.mohw.gov. tw/dos/lp-2506-113.html) and the related regulations of the National Health Insurance Administration and NHRI, and an agreement must be signed by the applicant are reviewed for approval of data release.

# ETHICS STATEMENT

Since the identifiable database of individuals included in the NHIRD were all encrypted in order to protect individual privacy, the NHI Administration has given general approval for their data to be used in this research. Because the NHIRD has the advantage of providing a large-scale, longitudinal, reliable dataset, leading to extensive use for population-based researches in Taiwan, the Institutional Review Board of Tri-Service General Hospital was aware of this and approved the research to proceed, and also agreed that the benefit justified waiving the need for individual written informed consent in such a study (IRB No. 1-106-05-169).

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

P-CC and N-ST contributed to the study concept and design. W-CC, C-HC, and N-ST contributed to the acquisition of data. W-CC, C-HC, C-KH, H-ML, P-CC, and N-ST contributed to the analysis and interpretation of data. P-CC contributed to the drafting of the manuscript. N-ST contributed to the critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

This work was supported by the Medical Affairs Bureau, the Ministry of Defense of Taiwan (MAB-107-084 and MND-MAB-D-111-075), the Tri-Service General Hospital Research

Foundation (TSGH-C108-003, TSGHC108-027, TSGH-C108-151, TSGH-B-109-010, TSGH-B-111-018, and TSGH-D-111-121), and the Taoyuan Armed Forces General Hospital (TYAFGH-A-110-020).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We appreciate Taiwan's Health and Welfare Data Science Center and Ministry of Health and Welfare (HWDC, MOHW)

## REFERENCES

- American Psychiatric Association [APA] (1994). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual* of Mental Disorders, (DSM-IV), 4th Edn. Virginia, VA: American Psychiatric Association.
- American Psychiatric Association [APA] (2000). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Text Revision (DSM-IV-TR), 4th Edn. Virginia, VA: American Psychiatric Association.
- Balducci, C., and Forloni, G. (2019). Doxycycline for Alzheimer's Disease: fighting β-Amyloid oligomers and neuroinflammation. *Front. Pharmacol.* 10:738. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2019.00738
- Barage, S. H., and Sonawane, K. D. (2015). Amyloid cascade hypothesis: pathogenesis and therapeutic strategies in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropeptides* 52, 1–18. doi: 10.1016/j.npep.2015.06.008
- Barnes, L. L., Capuano, A. W., Aiello, A. E., Turner, A. D., Yolken, R. H., Torrey, E. F., et al. (2015). Cytomegalovirus infection and risk of Alzheimer disease in older black and white individuals. *J. Infect. Dis.* 211, 230–237. doi: 10.1093/ infdis/jiu437
- Branton, W. G., Ellestad, K. K., Maingat, F., Wheatley, B. M., Rud, E., Warren, R. L., et al. (2013). Brain microbial populations in HIV/AIDS: alpha-proteobacteria predominate independent of host immune status. *PLoS One* 8:e54673. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0054673
- Burgos, J. S., Ramirez, C., Sastre, I., and Valdivieso, F. (2006). Effect of apolipoprotein E on the cerebral load of latent herpes simplex virus type 1 DNA. *J. Virol.* 80, 5383–5387. doi: 10.1128/jvi.00006-06
- Burt, T. D., Agan, B. K., Marconi, V. C., He, W., Kulkarni, H., Mold, J. E., et al. (2008). Apolipoprotein (apo) E4 enhances HIV-1 cell entry in vitro, and the APOE epsilon4/epsilon4 genotype accelerates HIV disease progression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 8718–8723. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0803526105
- Cagliero, J., Villanueva, S., and Matsui, M. (2018). Leptospirosis pathophysiology: into the storm of cytokines. *Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol.* 8:204. doi: 10.3389/ fcimb.2018.00204
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention [CDCP] (2018). *Leptospirosis Fact Sheet for Clinicians [Online]*. Available online at: https://www.cdc.gov/ leptospirosis/pdf/fs-leptospirosis-clinicians-eng-508.pdf (accessed January 10, 2022).
- Charan, J., Saxena, D., Mulla, S., and Yadav, P. (2013). Antibiotics for the treatment of leptospirosis: systematic review and meta-analysis of controlled trials. *Int. J. Prev. Med.* 4, 501–510.
- Charlson, M. E., Pompei, P., Ales, K. L., and MacKenzie, C. R. (1987). A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. J. Chronic Dis. 40, 373–383.
- Chen, H. L., Lea, Y. P., Young, S. C., and Wu, C. Y. (1995). A summary report of concurrent peer review of inpatient medical records in a medical center. *Taiwan J. Public Health* 14, 103–110.
- Chen, T. Y., Huang, C. H., Chung, C. H., Mao, W. C., Yeh, C. B., Yang, C. C. H., et al. (2020). Sex and age differences in the association between anxiety disorders and narcolepsy: a nationwide population-based case control study. J. Affect. Disord. 264, 130–137. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.12.010
- Cheng, C. L., Kao, Y. H., Lin, S. J., Lee, C. H., and Lai, M. L. (2011). Validation of the National Health Insurance Research Database with ischemic stroke cases in Taiwan. *Pharmacoepidemiol. Drug Saf.* 20, 236–242. doi: 10.1002/pds. 2087
- Chinese Hospital Association [CHA] (2000). *ICD-9-CM English-Chinese Dictionary*. Taipei: Chinese Hospital Association Press.

for providing the National Health Research Database. We also appreciate Richard Lathe for his help in the writing of this article.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnagi. 2022.771486/full#supplementary-material

- Chiu, C. H., Chen, P. C., Wang, Y. C., Lin, C. L., Lee, F. Y., Wu, C. C., et al. (2019). Risk of dementia in patients with leptospirosis: a nationwide cohort analysis. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 16:3168. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16173168
- Chiu, M. L., Cheng, C. F., Liang, W. M., Lin, P. T., Wu, T. N., and Chen, C. Y. (2018). The temporal relationship between selected mental disorders and substance-related disorders: a nationwide population-based cohort study. *Psychiatry J.* 2018:5697103. doi: 10.1155/2018/5697103
- Chiu, W. C., Tsan, Y. T., Tsai, S. L., Chang, C. J., Wang, J. D., Chen, P. C., et al. (2014). Hepatitis C viral infection and the risk of dementia. *Eur. J. Neurol.* 21, 1068–e1059. doi: 10.1111/ene.12317
- Chou, I. C., Lin, H. C., Lin, C. C., Sung, F. C., and Kao, C. H. (2013). Tourette syndrome and risk of depression: a population-based cohort study in Taiwan. *J. Dev. Behav. Pediatr.* 34, 181–185. doi: 10.1097/DBP.0b013e3182829f2b
- Daulatzai, M. A. (2016). Fundamental role of pan-inflammation and oxidativenitrosative pathways in neuropathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease. Am. J. Neurodegener. Dis. 5, 1–28.
- Day, N. (2021). Up to Date: Leptospirosis: Treatment and Prevention-Antimicrobial Therapy [Online]. Available online at: https://www.uptodate.com/contents/ leptospirosis-treatment-and-prevention#H7863015 (accessed January 12, 2022).
- de Groot, V., Beckerman, H., Lankhorst, G. J., and Bouter, L. M. (2003). How to measure comorbidity. a critical review of available methods. *J. Clin. Epidemiol.* 56, 221–229.
- Emery, D. C., Shoemark, D. K., Batstone, T. E., Waterfall, C. M., Coghill, J. A., Cerajewska, T. L., et al. (2017). 16S rRNA next generation sequencing analysis shows bacteria in Alzheimer's post-mortem brain. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 9:195. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2017.00195
- Forbes, A. E., Zochowski, W. J., Dubrey, S. W., and Sivaprakasam, V. (2012). Leptospirosis and Weil's disease in the UK. QJM 105, 1151–1162. doi: 10.1093/ gjmed/hcs145
- Fratiglioni, L., Winblad, B., and von Strauss, E. (2007). Prevention of Alzheimer's disease and dementia. Major findings from the Kungsholmen Project. *Physiol. Behav.* 92, 98–104. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.05.059
- Garba, B., Bahaman, A. R., Bejo, S. K., Zakaria, Z., Mutalib, A. R., and Bande, F. (2018). Major epidemiological factors associated with leptospirosis in Malaysia. *Acta Trop.* 178, 242–247. doi: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2017.12.010
- Gerard, H. C., Wildt, K. L., Whittum-Hudson, J. A., Lai, Z., Ager, J., and Hudson, A. P. (2005). The load of Chlamydia pneumoniae in the Alzheimer's brain varies with APOE genotype. *Microb. Pathog.* 39, 19–26. doi: 10.1016/j.micpath.2005. 05.002
- Gonwong, S., Chuenchitra, T., Khantapura, P., Islam, D., Ruamsap, N., Swierczewski, B. E., et al. (2017). Nationwide seroprevalence of leptospirosis among young Thai Men, 2007-2008. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 97, 1682–1685. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.17-0163
- Ho Chan, W. S. (2010). Taiwan's healthcare report 2010. Epma J. 1, 563–585. doi: 10.1007/s13167-010-0056-8
- Hsieh, C. Y., Su, C. C., Shao, S. C., Sung, S. F., Lin, S. J., Kao Yang, Y. H., et al. (2019). Taiwan's national health insurance research database: past and future. *Clin. Epidemiol.* 11, 349–358. doi: 10.2147/clep.S196293
- Itzhaki, R. F., Lathe, R., Balin, B. J., Ball, M. J., Bearer, E. L., Braak, H., et al. (2016). Microbes and Alzheimer's disease. J. Alzheimers Dis. 51, 979–984. doi: 10.3233/jad-160152
- Kao, L. T., Sheu, J. J., Lin, H. C., Tsai, M. C., and Chung, S. D. (2015). Association between sepsis and dementia. *J. Clin. Neurosci.* 22, 1430–1433. doi: 10.1016/j. jocn.2015.02.035

- Launer, L. J., Ross, G. W., Petrovitch, H., Masaki, K., Foley, D., White, L. R., et al. (2000). Midlife blood pressure and dementia: the Honolulu–Asia aging study. *Neurobiol. Aging* 21, 49–55. doi: 10.1016/s0197-4580(00)00096-8
- Lettieri, C., Moon, J., Hickey, P., Gray, M., Berg, B., and Hospenthal, D. (2004). Prevalence of leptospira antibodies in U.S. Army blood bank donors in Hawaii. *Mil. Med.* 169, 687–690. doi: 10.7205/milmed.169.9.687
- Levett, P. N. (2001). Leptospirosis. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 14, 296–326. doi: 10.1128/ cmr.14.2.296-326.2001
- Liang, J. A., Sun, L. M., Muo, C. H., Sung, F. C., Chang, S. N., and Kao, C. H. (2011). The analysis of depression and subsequent cancer risk in Taiwan. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev.* 20, 473–475. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.epi-10-1280
- Lloyd, V. K., and Hawkins, R. G. (2018). Under-detection of Lyme disease in Canada. *Healthcare (Basel)* 6:125. doi: 10.3390/healthcare6040125
- Marshall, R. B., and Scrimgeour, G. (1978). Schizophreniform psychosis associated with leptospirosis. N. Z. Med. J. 88, 212–213.
- Miklossy, J. (2011). Alzheimer's disease a neurospirochetosis. Analysis of the evidence following Koch's and Hill's criteria. *J. Neuroinflamm.* 8:90. doi: 10. 1186/1742-2094-8-90
- Ministry of Justice (2019). National Health Insurance Reimbursement Regulations [Online]. Available online at: https://law.moj.gov.tw/LawClass/LawAll.aspx? pcode=L0060035 (accessed December 18, 2019).
- Moir, R. D., Lathe, R., and Tanzi, R. E. (2018). The antimicrobial protection hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement* 14, 1602–1614. doi: 10. 1016/j.jalz.2018.06.3040
- Rodrigue, K. M., Kennedy, K. M., and Park, D. C. (2009). Beta-amyloid deposition and the aging brain. *Neuropsychol. Rev.* 19, 436–450. doi: 10.1007/s11065-009-9118-x
- Santabarbara, J., Lipnicki, D. M., Olaya, B., Villagrasa, B., Bueno-Notivol, J., Nuez, L., et al. (2020). Does anxiety increase the risk of all-cause Dementia? An updated meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. J. Clin. Med. 9:1791. doi: 10.3390/jcm9061791
- Semiz, U. B., Turhan, V., Basoglu, C., Oner, O., Ebrinc, S., and Cetin, M. (2005). Leptospirosis presenting with mania and psychosis: four consecutive cases seen in a military hospital in Turkey. *Int. J. Psychiatry Med.* 35, 299–305. doi: 10. 2190/0kux-je1j-hv6k-3r9j
- Sohail, M. L., Khan, M. S., Ijaz, M., Naseer, O., Fatima, Z., Ahmad, A. S., et al. (2018). Seroprevalence and risk factor analysis of human leptospirosis in distinct climatic regions of Pakistan. *Acta Trop.* 181, 79–83. doi: 10.1016/j. actatropica.2018.01.021
- Soscia, S. J., Kirby, J. E., Washicosky, K. J., Tucker, S. M., Ingelsson, M., Hyman, B., et al. (2010). The Alzheimer's disease-associated amyloid beta-protein is an antimicrobial peptide. *PLoS One* 5:e9505. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009505
- Stefaniak, J., and O'Brien, J. (2016). Imaging of neuroinflammation in dementia: a review. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 87, 21–28. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2015-311336
- Strittmatter, W. J., Saunders, A. M., Schmechel, D., Pericak-Vance, M., Enghild, J., Salvesen, G. S., et al. (1993). Apolipoprotein E: high-avidity binding to betaamyloid and increased frequency of type 4 allele in late-onset familial Alzheimer disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 90, 1977–1981. doi: 10.1073/pnas.90.5.1977
- Sun, Y., Lee, H. J., Yang, S. C., Chen, T. F., Lin, K. N., Lin, C. C., et al. (2014). A nationwide survey of mild cognitive impairment and dementia, including

very mild dementia, in Taiwan. *PLoS One* 9:e100303. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0100303

- Taiwan Centers for Disease Control [TCDC] (2017). *Leptospirosis [Online]*. Available online at: https://www.cdc.gov.tw/En/Category/ListContent/bg0g\_ VU\_Ysrgkes\_KRUDgQ?uaid=CCSE04tqavhEr7r7mVUj6Q (accessed January 12, 2022).
- Tzeng, N. S., Chien, W. C., Chung, C. H., Chang, H. A., Kao, L. C., and Liu, Y. P. (2020). Association between amphetamine-related disorders and Dementia-A nationwide cohort study in Taiwan. *Ann. Clin. Transl. Neurol.* 7, 1284–1295.
- Wan, F. J., Chien, W. C., Chung, C. H., Yang, Y. J., and Tzeng, N. S. (2020). Association between traumatic spinal cord injury and affective and other psychiatric disorders-A nationwide cohort study and effects of rehabilitation therapies. J. Affect. Disord. 265, 381–388. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.01.063
- Whitney, E. A., Ailes, E., Myers, L. M., Saliki, J. T., and Berkelman, R. L. (2009). Prevalence of and risk factors for serum antibodies against Leptospira serovars in US veterinarians. J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc. 234, 938–944. doi: 10.2460/javma. 234.7.938
- Wu, C. S., Kuo, C. J., Su, C. H., Wang, S. H., and Dai, H. J. (2020). Using text mining to extract depressive symptoms and to validate the diagnosis of major depressive disorder from electronic health records. J. Affect. Disord. 260, 617–623. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.09.044
- Wu, C. S., Lai, M. S., Gau, S. S., Wang, S. C., and Tsai, H. J. (2014). Concordance between patient self-reports and claims data on clinical diagnoses, medication use, and health system utilization in Taiwan. *PLoS One* 9:e112257. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0112257
- Yu, S. T., Chang, H. Y., Lin, M. C., and Lin, Y. H. (2009). Agreement between selfreported and health insurance claims on utilization of health care: a population study. *J. Clin. Epidemiol.* 62, 1316–1322. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2009.01. 016
- Zumkehr, J., Rodriguez-Ortiz, C. J., Cheng, D., Kieu, Z., Wai, T., Hawkins, C., et al. (2015). Ceftriaxone ameliorates tau pathology and cognitive decline via restoration of glial glutamate transporter in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 36, 2260–2271. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2015. 04.005

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Chao, Chien, Chung, Huang, Li and Tzeng. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# The Relative Importance of Vascular Risk Factors on Early Cognitive Aging Varies Only Slightly Between Men and Women

#### Nadine Bonberg\*, Niklas Wulms, Klaus Berger and Heike Minnerup

Institute of Epidemiology and Social Medicine, University of Münster, Münster, Germany

**Objective:** To investigate the sex-specific course and impact of vascular risk factors on cognitive aging in a rather young and healthy community-dwelling cohort.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Susanne Röhr, University Hospital Leipzig, Germany

#### Reviewed by:

Chuanhui Dong, University of Miami, United States Darren Michael Lipnicki, University of New South Wales, Australia

\*Correspondence:

Nadine Bonberg bonberg@uni-muenster.de

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurocognitive Aging and Behavior, a section of the journal Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience

> Received: 29 October 2021 Accepted: 16 February 2022 Published: 28 March 2022

#### Citation:

Bonberg N, Wulms N, Berger K and Minnerup H (2022) The Relative Importance of Vascular Risk Factors on Early Cognitive Aging Varies Only Slightly Between Men and Women. Front. Aging Neurosci. 14:804842. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.804842 **Methods:** We used data from a population-based cohort study, collected three times during 6 years, comprising 1,911 examinations from 798 participants aged 35–66 years at baseline. Cognitive performance on the Color-Word-Interference-Test, the Trail Making Tests (TMT) A&B, the Word Fluency Test, a 12-item word list, the Purdue Pegboard Test and a principal component global score were used as outcomes in linear mixed models. We evaluated (1) sex differences in cognitive trajectories, (2) the mediating role of hypertension, diabetes, smoking and obesity [body mass index (BMI) > 30] on sex differences and (3) in sex-stratified analyses, potential sex-specific effects of these risk factors on cognition.

**Results:** For all cognitive tests, we observed cognitive decline with age. Rates of decline slightly differed across sexes, showing a later but steeper decline for women in tests of memory (word list) and word fluency, but a steeper decline for men in tests of psychomotor speed and mental set shifting (TMT A&B) in older age. Women generally scored better on cognitive tests, but the slightly higher prevalence of classical vascular risks factors in men in our cohort could not explain these sex differences. Sex-stratified analyses revealed a generally small, concordantly negative, but quantitatively slightly different impact of diabetes, smoking and obesity on cognitive functions but mixed effects for arterial hypertension, depending on the blood pressure values, the treatment status and the duration of arterial hypertension.

**Conclusion:** Cognitive sex differences in this rather young and healthy cohort could not be explained by a differing prevalence of vascular risks factors across sexes. The association of cardiovascular risk factors with cognition, however, slightly differed between men and women, whereby effects were generally small. Whereas longtime diabetes, obesity and smoking had a sex-specific, but concordantly negative impact on

130

psychomotor speed, executive and motor functions, we found some opposing effects for arterial hypertension. Our results can help to identify sex-specific susceptibilities to modifiable risk factors, to attract attention to potential information bias and to stimulate further research into alternative causes and mechanism of sex differences in cognitive aging.

Keywords: sex, cognitive aging, cardiovascular risk factors, bias, susceptibility

## INTRODUCTION

Sex differences in cognition have been observed over many domains and populations (McCarrey et al., 2016; Reas et al., 2017; Fu et al., 2020; Levine et al., 2021; Nichols et al., 2021). Most studies in high-income countries show that men outperform women in some spatial tasks, while women usually outperform men in most other domains, particularly verbal tasks (McCarrey et al., 2016; Reas et al., 2017). However, the causes for this sex difference are not fully revealed yet and are presumably multifactorial (Levine et al., 2021; Nichols et al., 2021). Besides biological reasons, such as differences in brain reserve, hormone profiles and the prevalence of potentially braindamaging risk factors, several environmental (e.g., education and socioeconomic factors) as well methodological factors (e.g., age and selection of the population), have to be acknowledged in the analysis and interpretation of cognitive sex differences (Reas et al., 2017; Volgman et al., 2019; Bloomberg et al., 2021; Nichols et al., 2021; van Zutphen et al., 2021). When examining cognitive aging, i.e., the trajectories of cognitive performance over time, even more challenges arise, such as selective attrition and test-retest effects (Salthouse, 2019; Rouanet et al., 2021).

Regarding modifiable risk factors, it is established that cardiovascular risk factors are associated with vascular and degenerative brain damage and an increased risk of cognitive decline and dementia (Debette et al., 2011; Gorelick et al., 2011; Gottesman et al., 2017; Boots et al., 2019; Livingston et al., 2020). Arterial hypertension and diabetes mellitus, particularly when acquired in midlife, are probably the single most important adversaries of cognitive aging, having been consistently associated with declines in executive functions, attention, memory as well as processing and motor speed (Biessels et al., 2008; Monette et al., 2014; Gottesman et al., 2017; Biessels and Despa, 2018; Iadecola and Gottesman, 2019). Besides, systemic low-grade inflammation, obesity and smoking have been identified as risk factors for cognitive decline, though the evidence is less consistent (Beeri et al., 2009; Hajjar et al., 2018; Zheng and Xie, 2018; Vintimilla et al., 2019; Walker et al., 2019).

The question that arises from this evidence on sex differences on the one hand, and vascular risk factors, on the other hand, is, whether the former can at least partially be explained by the latter in the context of cognitive aging. It is known that men and women have different vascular risk profiles. For example, the midlife prevalence of classical vascular risk factors in women is generally lower compared to men of the same age and socioeconomic background (Lerner and Kannel, 1986), and women differ from men with regard to hormonal and inflammatory status (Khera et al., 2005; Lakoski et al., 2006). Besides differences in the prevalence of vascular and metabolic risk factors, men and women might differ regarding the susceptibility to the damage these risk factors potentially cause in the brain. Studies on this aspect are rather rare, but there is recent evidence that suggests that specific risk factors, such as smoking and diabetes, might have a differential impact on men and women and thus might further explain some of the sex differences in cognitive aging (Appelman et al., 2015; Biessels and Despa, 2018; van Zutphen et al., 2021).

Based on 6-year longitudinal data from the population-based cohort of the BiDirect Study, the goal of the current analysis was to reveal sex-specific cognitive trajectories for a variety of distinct neuropsychological tests and to evaluate the role of cardiovascular risk factors on the specific test performances. We also examined the effect of potential biases, such as test-retest effects and selective attrition, in the association between risk factors and cognitive aging.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

### **Study Population**

The BiDirect Study is a cohort study conducted in Münster, Germany (Teismann et al., 2014). The primary aim of the study is to investigate the bidirectional relationship between depression and (subclinical) atherosclerosis. It is based on the examination of three distinct cohorts comprising (1) patients with an acute episode of depression, (2) patients with a recent cardiovascular event and (3) population-based controls, who had been randomly recruited by use of the population register of the city of Münster. In the current analysis, three examinations of the populationbased control participants were used. The baseline examination of 911 population-based controls aged 35-66 years took place between 2010 and 2013, 800 participants returned for a second examination between 2013 and 2016 after a mean follow-up time of 2.7 years and 680 for the third examination between 2016 and 2018 after a mean follow-up time of another 2.7 years. At all examinations, participants underwent a computerguided interview, self-administered questionnaires, sensory and neuropsychological assessments, clinical examinations (e.g., anthropometry, vascular status and blood sampling), as well as magnetic resonance imaging of the brain (Teismann et al., 2014; Teuber et al., 2017). The data acquisition was conducted by a trained study team. For the current analyses, we applied several exclusion criteria. We excluded participants with neurological disorders and limited German language skills, as well participants with missing or invalid neuropsychological test results resulting in a total of 798 out of 911 participants in our analysis. This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the University of Münster and the Westphalian Chamber of Physicians in Münster, North-Rhine-Westphalia, Germany. All participants gave their written informed consent for study participation.

# Assessment of Sociodemographic and Health Status

Smoking status, socio-demographic characteristics and data on participants' health status and histories, such as physician's diagnosis of diabetes and hypertension, were assessed in a personal interview at baseline and follow-ups. Education was documented in the four categories (1) primary or general secondary school, (2) intermediate secondary school, (3) high school and (4) university graduates. Current medications were denoted and blood pressure as well as body weight and height were measured in a standardized way (Teismann et al., 2014). For analysis, a categorical variable "arterial hypertension" was defined as a combination of current hypertensive treatment (yes/no) and measured blood pressure (controlled/uncontrolled) and therefore labeled as (1) untreated, controlled, (2) untreated, uncontrolled, (3) treated, controlled and (4) treated, uncontrolled blood pressure. Uncontrolled blood pressure was defined as a systolic blood pressure of at least 140 mmHg and/or a diastolic blood pressure of at least 90 mmHg. For sensitivity analysis, we used another definition of hypertension given as physician's diagnosis (no diagnosis, diagnosed  $\leq$  10 years, diagnosed > 10 years). A history of diabetes was classified into "no physician diagnosis," "diagnosed  $\leq$  7 years" and "diagnosed > 7 years." Body mass index (BMI) was calculated from measured weight and height (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and categorized into no obesity (BMI < 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and obesity (BMI  $\geq$  30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>). Smoking status was defined categorically as never vs. former vs. current smoking. Self-reported depressive symptoms were assessed by the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression-Scale (CES-D) at baseline and follow-up examinations (Teismann et al., 2014). A CES-D score  $\geq$  16 was used to define clinically relevant depressive symptoms (Radloff, 1977).

### **Neuropsychological Assessment**

Five validated tests were administered to all study participants at BiDirect baseline and follow-ups (Teismann et al., 2014).

(1) Color-Word Interference Test (CWIT): Participants performed a paper-pencil version with three task sets (words, color, color-word) with 36 items each. The reaction time was measured for each task set (Stroop, 1935). We focused on the second and third condition (color and color-word) and calculated the time difference of these conditions (interference time) to measure interference control, a measure of working memory capacity.

(2) *Trail Making Test (TMT) A&B*: In TMT A participants were asked to connect consecutive numbers from 1 to 25 as fast as possible to measure attention and psychomotor speed. In TMT B, they have to connect consecutive numbers and letters in an alternating sequence (1-A-2-B-3-C, etc.) to measure working

memory and mental set shifting (Reitan, 1992). The time needed to complete each part was recorded.

(3) Regensburg Word Fluency Test ("animal naming test"): Participants were asked to name as many animals as possible within 60 s to measure categorical association (semantic) fluency as a measure or executive function (Morris et al., 1989; Tombaugh et al., 1999).

(4) *Word List*: To measure verbal retentiveness and memory, a recorded 12-item emotional word memory list was presented via loudspeaker to the participants (Kissler et al., 2006). After the presentation of the word list, the participants were asked to reproduce as many words as possible. A second presentation of the word list with immediate recall followed. After these two presentations, a third free recall followed after an interval of 15 min.

(5) *Purdue Pegboard Test*: Participants were asked to place as many pegs as possible into a wooden board within 30 s, first with the right hand, followed by the left hand, to measure fine motor skills (Tiffin and Asher, 1948).

We calculated a Z-score for each test or subtest result using the respective test mean and standard deviation (*SD*) of the female baseline control group for standardization. Test results from TMT A and B as well as the reaction times and the interference time from CWIT were log-transformed before standardization. All Z-scores were scaled in a way, that higher values represent better results. Afterwards, we averaged the scores for the three runs of the word list and the scores for the right and left hand from the Purdue Pegboard Test.

### Assessment of a Global Cognitive Score

We made a principal component analysis with baseline data (Z-scores from word list, Pegboard, interference time from CWIT, TMT A&B, word fluency test) by using the R-package "psych" [function principal ()] (Revelle, 2021) and extracted one component as a global score. Based on the estimates of this analysis, we calculated the global score for the follow-ups and standardized the score with the mean and SD of the female baseline values.

### **Statistical Analyses**

We first present the cognitive trajectories for men and women. After these descriptive analyses, we test for a mediating role of cardiovascular risk factors in the association between sex and cognitive performance. Finally, using sex-stratified analyses we estimate the individual effects of several vascular risk factors on cognition for men and women separately. All statistical analyses were performed with R 4.1.0 (R Core Team, 2021) and RStudio Version 1.4.1717 (RStudio Team, 2021). We used the Imer function from the R-package Ime4 (Bates et al., 2015) for linear mixed models and produced plots with the R-package interactions (Long, 2019). Analyses were conducted with a 2-tailed alpha of 0.05 referred as a statistically significant level.

# Trajectories of Standardized Neuropsychological Test Results

We assessed trajectories for the different standardized neuropsychological test results using linear mixed models

with random intercepts. In each model, age at study participation was used as a time variable. To account for possible nonlinear trends, we included age as a natural spline with two degrees of freedom (df) in our models. Additionally, sex and interaction of sex and age (as spline) were included, because we expected different slopes for men and women. Furthermore, we added the "number of study participations" to account for possible practice effects. In the model for memory (word list), we included the interaction of age (as spline) and the number of study participations to allow for a variation of the practice effect with age. All models were adjusted for potential selective attrition (see below).

### Adjustment for Selective Attrition

To account for potential sex differences in outcome-related dropouts (i.e., study dropouts due to impaired cognition) we used inverse probability weighting (IPW) in our models (Rouanet et al., 2021). We calculated probabilities for study participation at the two follow-ups with logistic regression models. These logistic regression models comprise age, sex, sociodemographic variables, distance to study center and variables describing the health condition in prior surveys, including the most recent cognitive global score. The inverse values of these probabilities were used as weights in the mixed models described above. Further information on IPW can be found here (Seaman and White, 2013; Hernán and Robins, 2020). As sensitivity analyses, we re-analyzed all models using the same cohort without IPW.

### The Mediating Role of Cardiovascular Risk Factors in the Association Between Sex and Cognitive Performance

Weighted linear mixed models were used to assess the association of sex with standardized neuropsychological test results. We performed two models with different adjustments for every neuropsychological test. In addition to sex, models of type one comprise age (spline, 2 df), number of study participations and education. Models of type two were additionally adjusted for hypertension, diabetes, CES-D score, smoking status and obesity. Models for memory (word list) additionally include the interaction of age and number of study participations, and models for the Purdue Pegboard Test include body height as a proxy for hand size. IPW was used to account for potential selective attrition (see above).

### Sex-Specific Effects of Risk Factors on Cognition

We built weighted linear mixed regression models with IPW for the standardized neuropsychological test results stratified by sex and added age (spline, 2 df), education and the number of study participations (and for memory the interaction of these), diabetes, CES-D score, obesity, smoking status and hypertension as explaining variables. In the models for the Purdue Pegboard Test, we also added body height as a proxy for hand size.

# RESULTS

We used longitudinal data (baseline and two follow-ups) consisting of 1,911 examinations from 798 participants of the

BiDirect study for analysis. **Table 1** shows the characteristics of the study population at baseline and follow-ups. At baseline, 47% of participants were male. Median age at baseline was 53 years (range: 35–66 years), at first follow-up 57 years (range: 37–69) and at second follow-up 60 years (range: 40–71 years). In all, 76 (22%) men and 82 (21%) women were current smokers at baseline and 137 men (39%) and 218 women (55%) had untreated and controlled blood pressure, while 115 men (33%) and 88 women (22%) had an untreated and uncontrolled, 31 (9%) men and 38 (10%) women a treated and controlled and 66 (19%) men and 50 (13%) women a treated and uncontrolled blood pressure. A CES-D score of at least 16 was documented for 47 (13%) men and 84 (21%) women at baseline.

## **Trajectories of Standardized Neuropsychological Test Results**

**Figure 1** shows trajectories for the standardized cognitive test results at first study participation as results of weighted linear mixed regression models. For all cognitive tests, we observed a cognitive decline with age. Descriptively viewed, women, on average, outperformed men, especially in memory (word list), the Pegboard Test, the Word Fluency Test (at least in some age regions) and the global score. Trajectories for the different conditions of the CWIT showed a lesser superiority of women and the TMTs showed only a slight superiority of women at later ages. Also descriptively, the trajectories for memory (word list), word fluency and the global score, but steeper declines for men in tests of psychomotor speed and mental set shifting (TMT A&B) in older age.

## The Mediating Role of Cardiovascular Risk Factors in the Association Between Sex and Cognitive Performance

Significant sex differences were found before and after further adjustments for vascular risk factors (**Table 2**). Adjusted for education, number of study participations and age, female sex was positively associated with memory [ $\hat{\beta} = 0.57, 95\%$  CI = (0.47, 0.67)], Pegboard [0.39, (0.24, 0.54)], interference time of CWIT [0.18, (0.07, 0.30)], TMT B [0.20, (0.08, 0.32)], Word Fluency Test [0.21, (0.09, 0.33)] and the global score [0.48, (0.36, 0.59)]. Additional adjustments for smoking status, obesity, hypertension, CES-D score and diabetes resulted in significant positive and only slightly lower associations of female sex with the cognitive test results (**Table 2**).

# **Practice Effects**

Sex-specific trajectories for memory (word list) at all three study participations are shown in **Figure 2**. A decline with age can be observed for men and women for all participations, as well as a distinct practice effect, that slightly decreases with age. Smaller practice effects could be also observed for the interference time of CWIT, TMT A, TMT B (women), Word Fluency Test (women) and the global score (**Table 3B**).

#### TABLE 1 | Study population at baseline and two follow-ups.

	Ba	seline	First	First follow-up		Second follow-up	
	Men <i>N</i> = 349	Women <i>N</i> = 394	Men <i>N</i> = 311	Women <i>N</i> = 361	Men <i>N</i> = 228	Women <i>N</i> = 268	
Age (years)							
(Median, range)	53 (35–66)	54 (35–66)	56 (38–69)	57 (37–69)	59 (40–71)	61 (40–71)	
Education, N (%)							
Primary or general secondary school	74 (21%)	68 (17%)	62 (20%)	61 (17%)	37 (16%)	48 (18%)	
Intermediate secondary school	48 (14%)	112 (28%)	40 (13%)	98 (27%)	32 (14%)	63 (24%)	
High school	63 (18%)	75 (19%)	51 (16%)	71 (20%)	36 (16%)	53 (20%)	
University graduates	164 (47%)	139 (35%)	158 (51%)	131 (36%)	123 (54%)	104 (39%)	
Diabetes, N (%)							
No	335 (96%)	380 (96%)	292 (94%)	346 (96%)	216 (95%)	259 (97%)	
0-7 years	7 (2%)	7 (2%)	11 (4%)	9 (2%)	4 (2%)	5 (2%)	
> 7 years	7 (2%)	7 (2%)	8 (3%)	6 (2%)	8 (4%)	4 (1%)	
Hypertension, N (%)							
Untreated, controlled	137 (39%)	218 (55%)	121 (39%)	198 (55%)	93 (41%)	148 (55%)	
Untreated, uncontrolled	115 (33%)	88 (22%)	88 (28%)	73 (20%)	45 (20%)	50 (19%)	
Treated, controlled	31 (9%)	38 (10%)	48 (15%)	43 (12%)	57 (25%)	40 (15%)	
Treated, uncontrolled	66 (19%)	50 (13%)	54 (17%)	47 (13%)	33 (14%)	30 (11%)	
CES-D score, N (%)							
< 16	302 (87%)	310 (79%)	279 (90%)	294 (81%)	207 (91%)	229 (85%)	
≥ 16	47 (13%)	84 (21%)	32 (10%)	67 (19%)	21 (9%)	39 (15%)	
Smoking status, <i>N</i> (%)							
Never	140 (40%)	164 (42%)	116 (37%)	146 (40%)	79 (35%)	114 (43%)	
Former	133 (38%)	148 (38%)	131 (42%)	153 (42%)	106 (46%)	117 (44%)	
Current	76 (22%)	82 (21%)	64 (21%)	62 (17%)	43 (19%)	37 (14%)	
Obesity, N (%)							
No (BMI $< 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ )	270 (77%)	315 (80%)	243 (78%)	297 (82%)	176 (78%)	220 (82%)	
Yes (BMI $\geq$ 30 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	79 (23%)	79 (20%)	68 (22%)	64 (18%)	52 (22%)	48 (18%)	

# Sex-Specific Effects of Risk Factors on Cognition

The sex-specific impact of vascular risk factors on standardized cognitive test results are shown in Tables 3A, 3B. Diabetes < 7years was negatively associated with TMT A in men [-0.46](-0.86, -0.06)]. Diabetes > 7 years was negatively associated with Pegboard in men (-0.91 [-1.34, -0.48]), interference time of CWIT in men [-0.73, (-1.20, -0.25)], TMT A in men [-0.67, (-1.25, -0.20)] and the global score in men [-0.76, (-1.17, -0.35)]. A treated and controlled blood pressure was positively associated with Pegboard in men [0.18, (0.004, (0.36)] and negatively associated with TMT B in women (-0.25, [-0.43, -0.07]). As a sensitivity analysis, we performed the same analysis but used the physician's diagnosis to define hypertension (Supplementary Tables 1A,B). A diagnosis of hypertension > 10 years was positively associated with Pegboard in men [0.26, (0.05, 0.47)]. No further significant results for this definition of hypertension were found. Smoking was negatively associated with Pegboard in men [former: -0.19, (-0.35, -0.03), current: -0.36, (-0.55, -0.18)] and women [former: -0.22, (-0.36, -0.08), current: -0.30, (-0.48, -0.12)], the interference time of CWIT in women [current: -0.19, (-0.38, -0.001)] and with the global score in women [current: -0.21, (-0.37, -0.04)]. Obesity was negatively associated with

the global score in women [-0.15, (-0.29, -0.01)]. Of the potential confounding variables, higher education was positively associated with all cognitive tests apart from Pegboard (women) where no significant association was found. Moreover, a CES-D score  $\geq 16$  was negatively associated with Pegboard in men [-0.17, (-0.33, -0.02)] and women [-0.16, (-0.29, -0.04)], TMT A in women [-0.22, (-0.36, -0.08)] and TMT B in men [-0.29, (-0.46, -0.11)].

### Sensitivity Analyses

For all above-mentioned analyses, the re-analyses on the unweighted data showed similar results (data not shown).

## DISCUSSION

The presented work investigated sex differences in early cognitive aging from multiple perspectives. First, a descriptive approach presents sex-specific trajectories for various cognitive functions. Second, the influence of vascular risk factors on cognitive sex differences is elucidated by investigating their mediating role as well as differing susceptibilities across men and women. Third, the role of selective attrition and information bias is investigated.



## **Cognitive Trajectories**

Using a large population-based cohort, we were able to show sex-specific trajectories for a large battery of neuropsychological tests reflecting a broad spectrum of cognitive abilities. As expected, and adding to the growing body of evidence, we generally found cognitive decline with age in our cohort (Reas et al., 2017; van Zutphen et al., 2021). We also observed that women, except for the TMT A, outperformed men for most age ranges. We observed the most pronounced effect of sex in the reproduction of the 12-item word list (short-term memory) with an effect size of  $\beta = 0.57$  (adjusted for age, education and study participation). Our findings here corroborate and expand prior work on mostly older cohorts that also reported sex differences in tasks of memory, executive function and attention (Van der Elst et al., 2006; McCarrey et al., 2016; Reas et al., 2017; Luck et al., 2018; Fu et al., 2020; Levine et al., 2021; Nichols et al., 2021; van Zutphen et al., 2021). Regarding sex differences of the Purdue Pegboard Test in a normal aging population, there are only few and conflicting reports (Peters et al., 1990;

#### TABLE 2 Association of sex with neuropsychological test results (z-scores) with and without adjustment for cardiovascular risk factors.

	Word list <sup>c</sup>	Pegboard <sup>d</sup>	CWIT (interference time)	TMT A	TMT B	Word fluency test	Global score
	$\widehat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}$ (95% Cl)	$\widehat{eta}$ (95% Cl)	$\widehat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}$ (95% CI)	$\widehat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}$ (95% CI)	$\widehat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}$ (95% CI)	$\widehat{eta}$ (95% CI)	$\widehat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}$ (95% CI)
Models 1 <sup>a</sup>							
Sex (Ref.: male)							
Female	0.57***	0.39***	0.18**	0.10	0.20***	0.21***	0.48***
	(0.47, 0.67)	(0.24, 0.54)	(0.07, 0.30)	(-0.01, 0.22)	(0.08, 0.32)	(0.09, 0.33)	(0.36, 0.59)
Models 2 <sup>b</sup>							
Sex (Ref.: male)							
Female	0.56***	0.37***	0.16**	0.11	0.20**	0.20**	0.46***
	(0.46, 0.66)	(0.22, 0.52)	(0.05, 0.28)	(-0.01, 0.22)	(0.08, 0.31)	(0.08, 0.33)	(0.35, 0.57)
Diabetes (Ref: no)							
0-7 years	0.07	-0.09	-0.10	-0.20	-0.01	-0.03	-0.04
	(-0.16, 0.29)	(-0.33, 0.16)	(-0.37, 0.17)	(-0.48, 0.08)	(-0.27, 0.24)	(-0.32, 0.25)	(-0.25, 0.17)
> 7 years	0.02	-0.61***	-0.54**	-0.37*	-0.42*	-0.32	-0.53***
	(-0.26, 0.30)	(-0.91, -0.30)	(-0.87, -0.21)	(-0.70, -0.03)	(-0.75, -0.10)	(-0.67, 0.04)	(-0.81, -0.25)
Hypertension (Ref: untreated, controlled)							
Untreated, uncontrolled	-0.05	0.02	-0.11*	-0.001	-0.04	0.01	-0.05
	(-0.13, 0.03)	(-0.07, 0.11)	(-0.21, -0.01)	(-0.10, 0.10)	(-0.13, 0.05)	(-0.09, 0.12)	(-0.12, 0.02)
Treated, controlled	-0.05	0.08	-0.02	0.003	-0.12	0.06	-0.04
	(-0.16, 0.07)	(-0.04, 0.21)	(-0.15, 0.12)	(-0.14, 0.14)	(-0.25, 0.01)	(-0.08, 0.20)	(-0.14, 0.07)
Treated, uncontrolled	-0.07	-0.01	0.01	-0.001	0.003	-0.09	-0.05
	(-0.19, 0.04)	(-0.14, 0.11)	(-0.13, 0.14)	(-0.14, 0.14)	(-0.13, 0.14)	(-0.23, 0.06)	(-0.16, 0.06)
Smoking (Ref.: never)							
Former	-0.02	-0.22***	-0.09	-0.03	-0.04	-0.01	-0.11*
	(-0.12, 0.07)	(-0.33, -0.12)	(-0.21, 0.02)	(-0.14, 0.09)	(-0.16, 0.07)	(-0.14, 0.11)	(-0.21, -0.01)
Current	-0.07	-0.35***	-0.07	-0.12	-0.18*	-0.12	-0.20**
	(-0.19, 0.05)	(-0.48, -0.22)	(-0.21, 0.07)	(-0.26, 0.02)	(-0.32, -0.04)	(-0.27, 0.03)	(-0.32, -0.07)
Obesity (Ref: no)							
Yes	-0.06	-0.10	-0.13*	-0.04	-0.10	-0.07	-0.13**
	(-0.16, 0.04)	(-0.21, 0.01)	(-0.25, -0.004)	(-0.17, 0.08)	(-0.21, 0.02)	(-0.20, 0.06)	(-0.24, -0.03)
Marginal R-squared models 2	0.30	0.28	0.19	0.15	0.20	0.12	0.40
Conditional R-squared models 2	0.71	0.69	0.62	0.58	0.68	0.62	0.85

p < 0.05, p < 0.01, p < 0.001

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted for age (spline, 2 df), number of study participations and education.

<sup>b</sup>Adjusted for age (spline, 2 df), number of study participations, education and CES-D score.

<sup>c</sup>Word List: averaged z-scores for the three runs of the Word List. Results are additionally adjusted for the interaction of age and number of study participations.

<sup>d</sup> Pegboard: averaged z-scores for the right and left hand from Purdue Pegboard Test. Results are additionally adjusted for body height.

Results from weighted linear mixed models with 1,911 examinations from 798 participants.

Schmidt et al., 2000; Sivagnanasunderam et al., 2015). Though motors skills are known to diminish with age and correlate with cognitive decline (Kluger et al., 1997; Hamilton et al., 2017), to our knowledge this is the first study to show persistent sex differences in a prospective population-based study.

Though not statistically tested for, we also observed sex differences in the longitudinal rates of change, with women showing steeper declines for memory, verbal fluency and fine motor skills, beginning at the age of around 55 years (**Figure 1**). On tests of psychomotor speed in contrast (TMT A and B, CWIT color task), men declined faster beginning at 50 years. The evidence so far is rather inconsistent with reports of later and steeper declines in men or women (McCarrey et al., 2016; Reas et al., 2017; Bloomberg et al., 2021; Levine et al., 2021; van Zutphen et al., 2021). Reasons for these

inconsistencies might lay in the use of different tests, but also in differing age periods and age cohorts under study, as well as in methodological differences regarding the modeling of cognitive decline. In general, comparable to our findings, reported sex differences in the rates of cognitive decline were generally small in other studies and mostly affected only some cognitive domains (McCarrey et al., 2016; Reas et al., 2017; Bloomberg et al., 2021; Levine et al., 2021; van Zutphen et al., 2021).

## **Comparison of Risk Factor Profiles**

Men, on average, were slightly better educated, showing a higher proportion of university graduates. Regarding cardiovascular risk factors, we did not observe large sex differences. Men more often reported to be active smokers, particularly during



follow-up examinations. Moreover, men more often showed uncontrolled blood pressures, though the absolute percentage and the sex discrepancy diminished during follow-up. The prevalence of obesity was comparable across sexes, as was diabetes. Self-reported depressive symptoms were more pronounced in women.

Taken together, our cohort represents a rather welleducated and healthy population (Teismann et al., 2014; Schneider et al., 2021) with only small sex discrepancies in the prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors. Nevertheless, as expected and generally observed in populations from high-income countries, men showed a slightly worse cardiovascular risk factor profile, whereas women reported more depressive symptoms (Lerner and Kannel, 1986; Seedat et al., 2009). Moreover, we observed a decline in the prevalence of risk factors and depressive symptoms over time, which might be due to selective attrition (healthy study adherer). We thus used IPW to account for differential loss-to-follow-up.

# The Role of Risk Factors in the Association of Sex and Cognition

The examined risk factors explained next to nothing of the variation in cognition across sexes, as similar effect sizes of sex on cognitive performances were seen before and after adjustment in the linear mixed models (**Table 2**). The mere difference in the prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors across sexes thus did not explain the observed sex differences in cognition. This was expected in our cohort of relatively young and healthy participants, as there was hardly any sex difference in the distribution of vascular risk factors. Nevertheless, these findings corroborate earlier work in mainly older cohorts, that also found only small mediating effects of cardiovascular risk factors on the association between sex and cognition, suggesting that alternative biological mechanisms play a role in cognitive sex differences (Levine et al., 2021; van Zutphen et al., 2021).

Looking at the sex-stratified analyses and thus the impact of the different risk factors on cognitive test results in men and women separately, we found evidence of a slight sexspecific susceptibility: tough most of the risk factors showed a concordantly negative impact on cognitive test performance, the size of the effects slightly differed across sexes. Longtime diabetes was associated with worse performance in many cognitive processes, such as psychomotor speed and mental set switching (TMT A & B), interference control (CWIT) and fine motor functions (Pegboard), however, only in men. This agrees with findings from van Zutphen et al. (2021) who reported sex differences in the impact of diabetes on processing speed. No clear sex discrepancies emerged for former and current smoking, which were about equally associated with worse performances in the Pegboard Test, whereas there was a slightly stronger association of current smoking with the global score and the CWIT in women and the word fluency test in men. For obesity, we found an association with the global score in women only. Taken together, effect sizes differed between men and women, but they were generally small and there is no clear preference of one sex over the other sex. One can assume multiple reasons for varying susceptibilities across men and women, such as differing genetic profiles with varying gene-environment interactions or differences in structural and functional brain reserve (Marrocco and McEwen, 2016;

	Word	l list <sup>a</sup>	Pegboard <sup>b</sup>			
	Men	Women	Men	Women		
	$\widehat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}$ (95% Cl)	$\widehat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}$ (95% Cl)	$\widehat{\beta}$ (95% Cl)	$\widehat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}$ (95% CI)		
Diabetes (Ref: no)						
0-7 years	0.09	-0.004	-0.27	0.05		
	(-0.24, 0.43)	(-0.31, 0.30)	(-0.63, 0.09)	(-0.29, 0.39)		
> 7 years	-0.01	0.04	-0.91***	-0.28		
	(-0.41, 0.40)	(-0.35, 0.43)	(-1.34, -0.48)	(-0.71, 0.14)		
Hypertension (Ref:	untreated, co	ontrolled)				
Untreated,	-0.07	-0.04	0.03	-0.01		
uncontrolled	(-0.19, 0.04)	(-0.16, 0.07)	(-0.09, 0.16)	(-0.14, 0.11)		
Treated,	0.04	-0.13	0.18*	-0.01		
controlled	(-0.13, 0.21)	(-0.28, 0.02)	(0.004, 0.36)	(-0.18, 0.15)		
Treated,	-0.09	-0.05	0.04	-0.09		
uncontrolled	(-0.26, 0.07)	(-0.21, 0.12)	(-0.13, 0.22)	(-0.27, 0.09)		
Smoking (Ref.: nev	ver)					
Former	-0.09	0.05	-0.19*	-0.22**		
	(-0.25, 0.06)	(-0.08, 0.18)	(-0.35, -0.03)	(-0.36, -0.08)		
Current	-0.11	-0.02	-0.36***	-0.30***		
	(-0.29, 0.07)	(-0.18, 0.14)	(-0.55, -0.18)	(-0.48, -0.12)		
Obesity (Ref: no)						
Yes	-0.04	-0.07	-0.07	-0.11		
	(-0.18, 0.11)	(-0.21, 0.07)	(-0.22, 0.09)	(-0.26, 0.05)		
Marginal R-squared	0.26	0.26	0.28	0.24		
Conditional R-squared	0.71	0.66	0.69	0.65		

**TABLE 3A |** Sex-specific effects of potential risk factors on standardized test

 results from the word list and Purdue pegboard test.

p < 0.05, p < 0.01, m < 0.001

Weighted linear mixed models with 888 examinations from 373 men and 1,023 examinations from 425 women, respectively, adjusted for education, CES-D score, age (natural spline, df = 2), number of study participations, the interaction of age and number of study participations (word list), and body height (pegboard). <sup>a</sup> Averaged z-scores for the three runs of the Word List Test.

<sup>b</sup>Averaged z-scores for the right and left hand from Purdue Pegboard Test. Results from linear mixed models stratified by sex.

McEwen and Milner, 2017; Levine et al., 2021). However, this is by now highly speculative and should stimulate further studies including brain imaging, hormone measurements and genetic data.

Most interestingly, for arterial hypertension we observed mixed effects on cognition for men and women. Treated and controlled arterial hypertension showed a positive association with fine motor skills in men and a negative association with TMT B in women - both compared to participants without hypertension. The exposure "arterial hypertension" is prone to misclassification due, for example, to unknown periods of undiagnosed hypertension, the impact of treatment, the age at onset, and the type of hypertension (systolic vs. diastolic). We have included the treatment status as well as the actual blood pressure in our primary definition. We also used an alternative definition defining arterial hypertension as a known physician's diagnosis and additionally accounting for the period of known hypertension. Here again, we found a diagnosis of hypertension > 10 years to be positively associated with the Pegboard Test in men. So taken together, a long-lasting and adequately treated arterial hypertension, respectively, is associated with better motor performance even compared to normotensive men and non-diagnosed men, respectively. One potential explanation might be that this group presents a highly health-conscious sample with early and optimal interventions of not only hypertension but several vascular risk factors. Interestingly, other studies also reported positive effects of hypertension on cognition (Forte et al., 2019; van Zutphen et al., 2021), but our study also found sex differences in this association. Effects were opposite in women showing worse performance in the TMT B in women with treated and controlled arterial hypertension. There are several potential explanations for these contrasting findings across sexes, such as sex disparities in the initiation, vigor or response to antihypertensive treatment (Lefort et al., 2018; Iadecola and Gottesman, 2019; Kalibala et al., 2020), or an interaction of blood pressure or treatment with sex hormones, especially around the time of menopause (Volgman et al., 2019). All these mechanisms should be further elucidated in future studies.

## **Strengths and Limitations**

Several limitations must be considered in the interpretation of our data. Although we analyzed nearly 800 participants in a longitudinal design, the number of participants with risk factors, particularly diabetes was relatively low. Given the small effect of vascular risk factors and the only minor sex differences in this relatively young and healthy cohort our analyses from a post hoc view were probably underpowered to detect some statistically significant sex differences. Nevertheless, focusing on the effect sizes this does not considerably affect the interpretation that the estimates slightly varied across sexes and that a major proportion of sex differences in cognitive aging is not explained by cardiovascular risk factors in this population. As methodological challenges, we focused on potential biases like selective attrition and information bias. In this study population, not every participant participated in all surveys. That could lead to biased results due to selective loss to follow-up, particularly when dropout due to cognitive decline is different across sexes. To reduce this selection bias, we calculated models with IPW. We also performed sensitivity analyses with unweighted models and observed stable results. Thus, we can assume that selective attrition is very low in this study. Another problem was the definition of hypertension. The exposure "arterial hypertension" is generally prone to misclassification due to unknown periods of undiagnosed hypertension, the impact of treatment, the age at onset, the type of hypertension (systolic vs. diastolic) etc. We have included the treatment status as well as the actual blood pressure and additionally used a second definition using the physician's diagnosis to define hypertension as accurate as possible. The longitudinal design by itself is a clear strength, but we had to deal with strong practice effects especially in the analysis for memory, that even dominated the age-related decline leading to successive improvements of memory performance over time.

	CWIT (inter	CWIT (interference time)		ГА	TMT B	
	Men $\widehat{eta}$ (95% Cl)	Women $\widehat{\beta}$ (95% CI)	Men $\widehat{\beta}$ (95% Cl)	Women $\widehat{\boldsymbol{\beta}}$ (95% Cl)	Men $\widehat{eta}$ (95% Cl)	Women $\widehat{\beta}$ (95% CI)
Study participat	tion (Ref: first)					
Second	0.26***	0.17***	0.01	0.05	0.02	0.08
	(0.16, 0.36)	(0.08, 0.27)	(-0.09, 0.11)	(-0.05, 0.14)	(-0.07, 0.11)	(-0.01, 0.17)
Third	0.36***	0.37***	0.14*	0.14*	0.05	0.14*
	(0.24, 0.48)	(0.25, 0.48)	(0.01, 0.27)	(0.03, 0.26)	(-0.07, 0.16)	(0.03, 0.24)
Diabetes (Ref: r	10)					
0–7 years	-0.09	-0.12	-0.46*	0.07	-0.07	0.02
	(-0.48, 0.31)	(-0.50, 0.25)	(-0.86, -0.06)	(-0.31, 0.46)	(-0.45, 0.30)	(-0.34, 0.38)
> 7 years	-0.73**	-0.27	-0.67**	-0.05	-0.41	-0.43
	(-1.20, -0.25)	(-0.74, 0.20)	(-1.15, -0.20)	(-0.53, 0.43)	(-0.87, 0.04)	(-0.89, 0.03)
Hypertension (F	Ref: untreated, contr	olled)				
Untreated,	-0.13	-0.10	-0.04	0.02	0.002	-0.08
uncontrolled	(-0.27, 0.004)	(-0.23, 0.04)	(-0.18, 0.10)	(-0.13, 0.16)	(-0.13, 0.13)	(-0.21, 0.05)
Treated,	-0.11	0.08	0.11	-0.09	0.03	-0.25**
controlled	(-0.30, 0.09)	(-0.11, 0.26)	(-0.09, 0.32)	(-0.28, 0.10)	(-0.15, 0.22)	(-0.43, -0.07)
Treated,	-0.04	0.07	-0.01	0.01	0.10	-0.07
uncontrolled	(-0.23, 0.16)	(-0.13, 0.27)	(-0.21, 0.19)	(-0.20, 0.22)	(-0.09, 0.28)	(-0.27, 0.12)
Smoking (Ref.:	never)					
Former	-0.09	-0.08	-0.02	-0.01	-0.10	0.02
	(-0.26, 0.09)	(-0.23, 0.07)	(-0.19, 0.16)	(-0.17, 0.15)	(-0.27, 0.07)	(-0.14, 0.17)
Current	0.05	-0.19*	-0.08	-0.14	-0.19	-0.15
	(-0.15, 0.26)	(-0.38, -0.001)	(-0.28, 0.13)	(-0.34, 0.06)	(-0.39, 0.01)	(-0.35, 0.04)
Obesity (Ref: no	)					
Yes	-0.08	-0.16	-0.06	-0.04	-0.15	-0.03

TABLE 3B | Sex-specific effects of risk factors on standardized test results of Color-Word Interference Test (CWIT, interference time), Trail Making Test (TMT) A, TMT B, Word Fluency and the PCA-derived global score.

Word fluency test

Women

β (95% CI)

0.19\*\*\*

(0.09, 0.29)

Men

β (95% CI)

0.04

(-0.06, 0.14)

Global score

Women

β (95% CI)

0.22\*\*\*

(0.15, 0.28)

Men

β (95% CI)

0.16\*\*\*

(0.09, 0.23)

Sex-Specific	
Cognitive	
Aging	

139

0.14\* -0.02 0.24\*\*\* 0.23\*\*\* 0.38\*\*\* .03, 0.24) (-0.14, 0.11)(0.12, 0.36) (0.13, 0.32) (0.29, 0.46) 0.02 -0.22 0.08 -0.27 0.14 0.34, 0.38) (-0.63, 0.19)(-0.31, 0.47)(-0.58, 0.04)(-0.14, 0.42)-0.43 -0.49 -0.23 -0.76\*\*\* -0.32 (-0.99, 0.01) (-0.70, 0.06) 0.89, 0.03) (-0.73, 0.27)(-1.17, -0.35)-0.08 -0.03 0.07 -0.08 -0.03 0.21, 0.05) (-0.18, 0.11) (-0.08, 0.21)(-0.18, 0.02)(-0.13, 0.07)-0.25\*\* -0.12 0.16 -0.01 0.07 .43, -0.07) (-0.05, 0.36)(-0.20, 0.19)(-0.08, 0.23)(-0.26, 0.02)-0.07 -0.08 -0.07 -0.04 -0.05 0.27, 0.12) (-0.28, 0.13)(-0.28, 0.14)(-0.19, 0.11)(-0.21, 0.10)0.02 -0.070.02 -0.11 -0.07 0.14, 0.17) (-0.25, 0.12)(-0.15, 0.18)(-0.26, 0.04)(-0.21, 0.06)-0.15 -0.22 -0.04 -0.21\* -0.16 0.35, 0.04) (-0.43, 0.001)(-0.25, 0.16) (-0.33, 0.02)(-0.37, -0.04)-0.03 -0.03 -0.11 -0.15\* -0.11 (-0.26, 0.09)(-0.33, 0.01)(-0.23, 0.12)(-0.22, 0.13)(-0.32, 0.01)(-0.19, 0.14)(-0.21, 0.16)(-0.29, 0.07)(-0.25, 0.04)(-0.29, -0.01) Marginal 0.20 0.19 0.19 0.13 0.22 0.18 0.09 0.15 0.38 0.39 R-squared Conditional 0.66 0.58 0.62 0.56 0.70 0.67 0.64 0.60 0.86 0.83 R-squared

\*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001.

Weighted linear mixed models with 888 examinations from 373 men and 1,023 examinations from 425 women, respectively, adjusted for age (natural spline, df = 2), education and CES-D score. PCA, principal component analysis.

Results from linear mixed models stratified by sex.

This discrepancy between cross-sectional and longitudinal agecognition relations, especially for the cognitive domain of memory, and the inherent difficulty of avoiding or eliminating the practice effect, was also described by others (Salthouse, 2019). Other strengths of this study are the repeated risk factor and neuropsychological assessment allowing for time-dependent modeling, as well as the relatively young cohort and the use of the Pegboard Test.

## CONCLUSION

In conclusion, cognitive trajectories differ between men and women. However, cardiovascular risk factors seem to play only a minor role in the explanation of these sex differences in this cohort of rather healthy younger to middle-aged men and women. Whereas diabetes, smoking and obesity had a negative but quantitatively slightly different impact on psychomotor speed, executive and motor functions across sexes, we found no adverse effects of any of the risk factors on memory. For arterial hypertension, we found opposing effects on mental set shifting and motor skills across sexes. Corroborating other work, we also found significant and persistent sex differences for most cognitive tests, that could not be explained by differing risk factor profiles, which should stimulate further investigations into the development and maintenance of the brain and cognitive reserve in even younger adults or adolescents. Our results might help to classify cognitive test results and identify sex-specific susceptibilities to modifiable risk factors. On the methodological side, they might stimulate deeper investigations into the assessment and definition of risk factors, and the development of strategies to avoid or overcome the practice effects in repeated test situations.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because investigators must submit an application to access BiDirect data. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to the Institute of Epidemiology and Social Medicine, University of Münster, Germany.

## REFERENCES

- Appelman, Y., van Rijn, B. B., Ten Haaf, M. E., Boersma, E., and Peters, S. A. E. (2015). Sex differences in cardiovascular risk factors and disease prevention. *Atherosclerosis* 241, 211–218. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2015. 01.027
- Bates, D., M\u00e4chler, M., Bolker, B., and Walker, S. (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. J. Stat. Softw. 67, 1–48. doi: 10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Beeri, M. S., Ravona-Springer, R., Silverman, J. M., and Haroutunian, V. (2009). The effects of cardiovascular risk factors on cognitive compromise. *Dialogues Clin. Neurosci.* 11, 201–212. doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2009.11.2/msbeeri
- Biessels, G. J., and Despa, F. (2018). Cognitive decline and dementia in diabetes mellitus: mechanisms and clinical implications. *Nat. Rev. Endocrinol.* 14, 591– 604. doi: 10.1038/s41574-018-0048-7

## ETHICS STATEMENT

The study involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of the University of Münster and the Westphalian Chamber of Physicians in Münster, North-Rhine-Westphalia, Germany. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

NB drafted the manuscript, conducted, and programmed all statistical analyses. HM came up with the research question, supervised the analyses, and supported the drafting of the manuscript. KB and NW made substantial contributions to the data acquisition and revised the manuscript for intellectual content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This study was supported by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF grants 01ER1205, 01ER0816, and 01ER1506). The funding source was not involved in the writing of the manuscript or in the decision to submit it for publication.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank everybody involved in the BiDirect study, particularly the study nurses doing the data acquisition and the data managers importing and cleaning the data. Most important, we want to thank the BiDirect participants who made this research possible.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnagi. 2022.804842/full#supplementary-material

- Biessels, G. J., Deary, I. J., and Ryan, C. M. (2008). Cognition and diabetes: a lifespan perspective. *Lancet Neurol.* 7, 184–190. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(08)70021-8
- Bloomberg, M., Dugravot, A., Dumurgier, J., Kivimaki, M., Fayosse, A., Steptoe, A., et al. (2021). Sex differences and the role of education in cognitive ageing: analysis of two UK-based prospective cohort studies. *Lancet Public Health* 6, e106–e115. doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(20)30258-9
- Boots, E. A., Zhan, L., Dion, C., Karstens, A. J., Peven, J. C., Ajilore, O., et al. (2019). Cardiovascular disease risk factors, tract-based structural connectomics, and cognition in older adults. *NeuroImage* 196, 152–160. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage. 2019.04.024
- Debette, S., Seshadri, S., Beiser, A., Au, R., Himali, J. J., Palumbo, C., et al. (2011). Midlife vascular risk factor exposure accelerates structural brain aging and cognitive decline. *Neurology* 77, 461–468. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 0b013e318227b227

- Forte, G., De Pascalis, V., Favieri, F., and Casagrande, M. (2019). Effects of blood pressure on cognitive performance: a systematic review. J. Clin. Med. 9:34. doi: 10.3390/jcm9010034
- Fu, J., Liu, Q., Du, Y., Zhu, Y., Sun, C., Lin, H., et al. (2020). Age- and sex-specific prevalence and modifiable risk factors of mild cognitive impairment among older adults in China: a population-based observational study. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 12:578742. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2020.578742
- Gorelick, P. B., Scuteri, A., Black, S. E., Decarli, C., Greenberg, S. M., Iadecola, C., et al. (2011). Vascular contributions to cognitive impairment and dementia: a statement for healthcare professionals from the American heart association/American stroke association. *Stroke* 42, 2672–2713. doi: 10.1161/ STR.0b013e3182299496
- Gottesman, R. F., Albert, M. S., Alonso, A., Coker, L. H., Coresh, J., Davis, S. M., et al. (2017). Associations between midlife vascular risk factors and 25-year incident dementia in the atherosclerosis risk in communities (ARIC) cohort. *JAMA Neurol.* 74, 1246–1254. doi: 10.1001/jamaneurol.2017.1658
- Hajjar, I., Hayek, S. S., Goldstein, F. C., Martin, G., Jones, D. P., and Quyyumi, A. (2018). Oxidative stress predicts cognitive decline with aging in healthy adults: an observational study. *J. Neuroinflammation* 15:17. doi: 10.1186/s12974-017-1026-z
- Hamilton, L. D., Thomas, E., Almuklass, A. M., and Enoka, R. M. (2017). A framework for identifying the adaptations responsible for differences in pegboard times between middle-aged and older adults. *Exp. Gerontol.* 97, 9–16. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2017.07.003
- Hernán, M. A., and Robins, J. M. (2020). Causal Inference: What If. Boca Raton, FL: Chapman & Hall/CRC.
- Iadecola, C., and Gottesman, R. F. (2019). Neurovascular and cognitive dysfunction in hypertension: epidemiology, pathobiology, and treatment. *Circ. Res.* 124, 1025–1044. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.118.313260
- Kalibala, J., Pechère-Bertschi, A., and Desmeules, J. (2020). Gender differences in cardiovascular pharmacotherapy—the example of hypertension: a mini review. *Front. Pharmacol.* 11:564. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2020.00564
- Khera, A., McGuire, D. K., Murphy, S. A., Stanek, H. G., Das, S. R., Vongpatanasin, W., et al. (2005). Race and gender differences in C-reactive protein levels. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 46, 464–469. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2005.04.051
- Kissler, J., Assadollahi, R., and Herbert, C. (2006). Emotional and semantic networks in visual word processing: insights from ERP studies. *Prog. Brain Res.* 156, 147–183. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(06)56008-X
- Kluger, A., Gianutsos, J. G., Golomb, J., Ferris, S. H., George, A. E., Franssen, E., et al. (1997). Patterns of motor impairment in normal aging, mild cognitive decline, and early Alzheimer' disease. *J. Gerontol. Ser. B* 52B, 28–39. doi: 10. 1093/geronb/52B.1.P28
- Lakoski, S. G., Cushman, M., Criqui, M., Rundek, T., Blumenthal, R. S., D'Agostino, R. B., et al. (2006). Gender and C-reactive protein: data from the Multiethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA) cohort. *Am. Heart J.* 152, 593–598. doi: 10. 1016/j.ahj.2006.02.015
- Lefort, M., Neufcourt, L., Pannier, B., Vaïsse, B., Bayat, S., Grimaud, O., et al. (2018). Sex differences in adherence to antihypertensive treatment in patients aged above 55: the French League Against Hypertension Survey (FLAHS). J. Clin. Hypertens. Greenwich Conn 20, 1496–1503. doi: 10.1111/jch.13387
- Lerner, D. J., and Kannel, W. B. (1986). Patterns of coronary heart disease morbidity and mortality in the sexes: a 26-year follow-up of the Framingham population. Am. Heart J. 111, 383–390. doi: 10.1016/0002-8703(86)90155-9
- Levine, D. A., Gross, A. L., Briceño, E. M., Tilton, N., Giordani, B. J., Sussman, J. B., et al. (2021). Sex differences in cognitive decline among US adults. *JAMA Netw. Open* 4:e210169. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.0169
- Livingston, G., Huntley, J., Sommerlad, A., Ames, D., Ballard, C., Banerjee, S., et al. (2020). Dementia prevention, intervention, and care: 2020 report of the Lancet Commission. *Lancet Lond. Engl.* 396, 413–446. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20) 30367-6
- Long, J. A. (2019). interactions: Comprehensive, User-Friendly Toolkit for Probing Interactions. R package version 1.1.0. Available online at: https://cran.r-project. org/package=interactions
- Luck, T., Pabst, A., Rodriguez, F. S., Schroeter, M. L., Witte, V., Hinz, A., et al. (2018). Age-, sex-, and education-specific norms for an extended CERAD Neuropsychological Assessment Battery—Results from the population-based LIFE-Adult-Study. *Neuropsychology* 32, 461–475. doi: 10.1037/neu0000440

- Marrocco, J., and McEwen, B. S. (2016). Sex in the brain: hormones and sex differences. *Dialogues Clin. Neurosci.* 18, 373–383. doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2016. 18.4/jmarrocco
- McCarrey, A. C., An, Y., Kitner-Triolo, M. H., Ferrucci, L., and Resnick, S. M. (2016). Sex differences in cognitive trajectories in clinically normal older adults. *Psychol. Aging* 31, 166–175. doi: 10.1037/pag0000070
- McEwen, B. S., and Milner, T. A. (2017). Understanding the broad influence of sex hormones and sex differences in the brain. J. Neurosci. Res. 95, 24–39. doi: 10.1002/jnr.23809
- Monette, M. C. E., Baird, A., and Jackson, D. L. (2014). A meta-analysis of cognitive functioning in nondemented adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Can. J. Diabetes* 38, 401–408. doi: 10.1016/j.jcjd.2014.01.014
- Morris, J. C., Heyman, A., Mohs, R. C., Hughes, J. P., van Belle, G., Fillenbaum, G., et al. (1989). The consortium to establish a registry for Alzheimer's Disease (CERAD). Part I. Clinical and neuropsychological assessment of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology* 39, 1159–1165. doi: 10.1212/wnl.39.9.1159
- Nichols, E. S., Wild, C. J., Owen, A. M., and Soddu, A. (2021). Cognition across the lifespan: investigating age, sex, and other sociodemographic influences. *Behav. Sci.* 11:51. doi: 10.3390/bs11040051
- Peters, M., Servos, P., and Day, R. (1990). Marked sex differences on a fine motor skill task disappear when finger size is used as covariate. J. Appl. Psychol. 75, 87–90. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.75.1.87
- R Core Team (2021). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Radloff, L. S. (1977). The CES-D scale: a self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Appl. Psychol. Meas.* 1, 385–401. doi: 10.1177/ 014662167700100306
- Reas, E. T., Laughlin, G. A., Bergstrom, J., Kritz-Silverstein, D., Barrett-Connor, E., and McEvoy, L. K. (2017). Effects of sex and education on cognitive change over a 27-year period in older adults: the rancho Bernardo study. Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry 25, 889–899. doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2017.03.008
- Reitan, R. M. (1992). *Trail Making Test: Manual for Administration and Scoring*. Tucson, AZ: Reitan Neuropsychology Laboratory.
- Revelle, W. (2021). psych: Procedures for Psychological, Psychometric, and Personality Research. Evanston, IL: Northwestern University.
- Rouanet, A., Avila-Rieger, J., Dugravot, A., Lespinasse, J., Stuckwisch, R., Merrick, R., et al. (2021). How selection over time contributes to the inconsistency of the association between sex/gender and cognitive decline across cognitive aging cohorts. Am. J. Epidemiol. 191, 441–452. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwab227
- RStudio Team (2021). RStudio: Integrated Development Environment for R. Boston, MA: RStudio, PBC.
- Salthouse, T. A. (2019). Trajectories of normal cognitive aging. Psychol. Aging 34, 17–24. doi: 10.1037/pag0000288
- Schmidt, S. L., Oliveira, R. M., Rocha, F. R., and Abreu-Villaca, Y. (2000). Influences of handedness and gender on the grooved pegboard test. *Brain Cogn.* 44, 445–454. doi: 10.1006/brcg.1999.1204
- Schneider, G., Köhnke, C., Teismann, H., and Berger, K. (2021). Childhood trauma and personality explain more variance in depression scores than sociodemographic and lifestyle factors - Results from the BiDirect Study. *J. Psychosom. Res.* 147:110513. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2021.110513
- Seaman, S. R., and White, I. R. (2013). Review of inverse probability weighting for dealing with missing data. *Stat. Methods Med. Res.* 22, 278–295. doi: 10.1177/ 0962280210395740
- Seedat, S., Scott, K. M., Angermeyer, M. C., Berglund, P., Bromet, E. J., Brugha, T. S., et al. (2009). Cross-national associations between gender and mental disorders in the World Health Organization World Mental Health Surveys. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatry* 66, 785–795. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.36
- Sivagnanasunderam, M., Gonzalez, D. A., Bryden, P. J., Young, G., Forsyth, A., and Roy, E. A. (2015). Handedness throughout the lifespan: cross-sectional view on sex differences as asymmetries change. *Front. Psychol.* 5:1556. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01556
- Stroop, J. R. (1935). Studies of interference in serial verbal reactions. J. Exp. Psychol. 18:643. doi: 10.1037/h0054651
- Teismann, H., Wersching, H., Nagel, M., Arolt, V., Heindel, W., Baune, B. T., et al. (2014). Establishing the bidirectional relationship between depression and subclinical arteriosclerosis–rationale, design, and characteristics of the BiDirect Study. *BMC Psychiatry* 14:174. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-14-174

- Teuber, A., Sundermann, B., Kugel, H., Schwindt, W., Heindel, W., Minnerup, J., et al. (2017). MR imaging of the brain in large cohort studies: feasibility report of the population- and patient-based BiDirect study. *Eur. Radiol.* 27, 231–238. doi: 10.1007/s00330-016-4303-9
- Tiffin, J., and Asher, E. J. (1948). The Purdue pegboard; norms and studies of reliability and validity. J. Appl. Psychol. 32, 234–247. doi: 10.1037/h0061266
- Tombaugh, T. N., Kozak, J., and Rees, L. (1999). Normative data stratified by age and education for two measures of verbal fluency: FAS and animal naming. *Arch. Clin. Neuropsychol. Off. J. Natl. Acad. Neuropsychol.* 14, 167–177.
- Van der Elst, W., Van Boxtel, M. P. J., Van Breukelen, G. J. P., and Jolles, J. (2006). The stroop color-word test: influence of age, sex, and education; and normative data for a large sample across the adult age range. *Assessment* 13, 62–79. doi: 10.1177/1073191105283427
- van Zutphen, E. M., Rijnhart, J. J. M., Rhebergen, D., Muller, M., Huisman, M., Beekman, A., et al. (2021). Do cardiovascular risk factors and cardiovascular disease explain sex differences in cognitive functioning in old age? *J. Alzheimers Dis.* 80, 1643–1655. doi: 10.3233/JAD-201173
- Vintimilla, R., Hall, J., Johnson, L., and O'Bryant, S. (2019). The relationship of CRP and cognition in cognitively normal older Mexican Americans: a cross-sectional study of the HABLE cohort. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 98:e15605.
- Volgman, A. S., Bairey Merz, C. N., Aggarwal, N. T., Bittner, V., Bunch, T. J., Gorelick, P. B., et al. (2019). Sex differences in cardiovascular disease and cognitive impairment: another health disparity for women? *J. Am. Heart Assoc.* 8:e013154. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.119.013154

- Walker, K. A., Gottesman, R. F., Wu, A., Knopman, D. S., Gross, A. L., Mosley, T. H., et al. (2019). Systemic inflammation during midlife and cognitive change over 20 years. *Neurology* 92, e1256–e1267. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 0000000000007094
- Zheng, F., and Xie, W. (2018). High-sensitivity C-reactive protein and cognitive decline: the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. *Psychol. Med.* 48, 1381–1389. doi: 10.1017/S0033291717003130

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Bonberg, Wulms, Berger and Minnerup. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# Sex-Specific Causes and Consequences of White Matter Damage in a Middle-Aged Cohort

Nadine Bonberg<sup>1†</sup>, Niklas Wulms<sup>1†</sup>, Mahboobeh Dehghan-Nayyeri<sup>2,3</sup>, Klaus Berger<sup>1</sup> and Heike Minnerup<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Institute of Epidemiology and Social Medicine, University of Münster, Münster, Germany, <sup>2</sup> Clinic of Radiology, Medical Faculty, University Hospital Münster, University of Münster, Münster, Germany, <sup>3</sup> Department of Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy, LVR Clinic, Medical Faculty of the Heinrich-Heine-University Düsseldorf, Düsseldorf, Germany

### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Frauke Beyer, Max Planck Institute for Human Cognitive and Brain Sciences, Germany

#### Reviewed by:

Carme Uribe, University of Toronto, Canada Katharina Wittfeld, German Center for Neurodegenerative Diseases, Helmholtz Association of German Research Centres (HZ), Germany

#### \*Correspondence:

Heike Minnerup h.minnerup@uni-muenster.de <sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurocognitive Aging and Behavior, a section of the journal Frontiers in Aging Neuroscience

> Received: 06 November 2021 Accepted: 14 March 2022 Published: 11 May 2022

#### Citation:

Bonberg N, Wulms N, Dehghan-Nayyeri M, Berger K and Minnerup H (2022) Sex-Specific Causes and Consequences of White Matter Damage in a Middle-Aged Cohort. Front. Aging Neurosci. 14:810296. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2022.810296 **Objective:** To evaluate potential sex-specific effects of multiple cardiovascular risk factors on white matter pathology in normal aging men and women, as well as potential sex-differences in the association of white matter pathology and cognitive functions.

**Methods:** We analyzed cross-sectional data of 581 participants (median age: 53 years, 54% women) of the population-based cohort of the BiDirect Study who completed clinical examinations, five neuropsychological tests, and an 3T MRI examination. White matter pathology was determined by the extent of white matter hyperintensities (WMH) on FLAIR images as well as the magnitude of global fractional anisotropy (FA) based on diffusion tensor imaging. Main effects, interaction as well as sex-stratified generalized linear regression models were used to evaluate the moderating effect of sex on the association of hypertension, diabetes mellitus, smoking, and obesity with WMH and FA, respectively. Associations of imaging markers with cognitive test results were determined with linear regression models.

**Results:** Hypertension showed stronger associations with more extensive WMH and less FA in women compared to men. Current smoking was associated with more severe WMH in women only. Adjusted for age and education, WMH were not significantly associated with cognitive tests, but higher FA was associated with better performance in motor function in both sexes and with executive functions in men, even after adjustment for cardiovascular risk factors.

**Conclusion:** We observed a stronger association of hypertension and smoking with white matter damage in women, suggesting a higher susceptibility for vascular pathology in women. However, there was no association of WMH with cognition, and FA was associated with executive function tests only in men, suggesting a higher cognitive reserve in women.

Keywords: sex, white matter damage, white matter hyperintensities (WMH), fractional anisotropy, vascular risk factors, cognition, cognitive reserve
## INTRODUCTION

White matter hyperintensities (WMH) on T2-weighted magnetic resonance images (MRI) are common in elderly people (Wen and Sachdev, 2004). Being strongly associated with vascular risk factors they are recognized as a marker of cerebral small vessel disease and as such with an increased risk of cognitive decline and dementia (Debette and Markus, 2010; Wardlaw et al., 2013; Kloppenborg et al., 2014).

Nevertheless, the etiology and pathogenesis of WMH is not well understood and most probably encompasses genetic as well as environmental factors (Gouw et al., 2011). Of those, sex seems one obvious factor as sex differences are known in the etiology of vascular disease (Förster et al., 2009; Fatemi et al., 2018) as well as in normal cognitive aging (McCarrey et al., 2016) and the development of pathological cognitive decline (Li et al., 2014). Men usually show a higher prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors (Fatemi et al., 2018), whereas there is increasing evidence that women have higher WMH volumes (Leeuw et al., 2002; van den Heuvel et al., 2004; Wen and Sachdev, 2004; Sachdev et al., 2009; Fatemi et al., 2018), and sex differences in cognition generally tend toward a better cognitive performance in women (McCarrey et al., 2016; Reas et al., 2017; Levine et al., 2021; Nichols et al., 2021). Given that WMH are presumed to mediate part of the association between cardiovascular risk factors and cognitive performance (Chen et al., 2021), a lower prevalence of vascular risk factors in women contrasting a higher burden of WMH suggests a higher susceptibility to white matter damage in women. Moreover, better cognitive performance despite a higher lesion load calls for investigations into sex-differences in cognitive and brain reserve (O'Dwyer et al., 2012; Stern et al., 2020; Levine et al., 2021; Subramaniapillai et al., 2021). Another approach to solving this apparent paradox might be the evaluation of alternative or more subtle markers of white matter damage. Diffusion tensor based measures, such as fractional anisotropy (FA) have been established as sensitive markers of brain and cognitive aging (Salat et al., 2005; Zavaliangos-Petropulu et al., 2019; Veldsman et al., 2020). Whereas WMH are defined by their macroscopic appearance on FLAIR-images and are highly heterogeneous regarding their underlying pathophysiology, FA reflects the microstructural integrity of the white matter (Le Bihan and Johansen-Berg, 2012) and might therefore be a more sensitive surrogate of risk-factor-associated damage (Wassenaar et al., 2019; Williams et al., 2019; Veldsman et al., 2020). Studies regarding sex-differences in diffusion tensor imaging (DTI) measures are inconsistent, mainly reporting higher FA in men (Inano et al., 2011; Kanaan et al., 2014; Takao et al., 2014).

Taken together, the moderating effect of sex in the association between modifiable risk factors and cognition is increasingly investigated. However, to our knowledge, there is only one study, that investigated sex-differences in cardiovascular risk factors, WMH and cognition simultaneously in a rather small crosssectional study (Sachdev et al., 2009). The authors found different causes and consequences of white matter hyperintensities across sexes (Sachdev et al., 2009). We expand this multidimensional evidence by a larger cohort with additional evaluation of fractional anisotropy, and a broad battery of neuropsychological tests. The present study thus offers a broad perspective on sex-differences in white matter pathology based on a large community-dwelling cohort. First, the influence of multiple vascular risk factors on WMH and global FA is evaluated for middle-aged men and women. Second, the sex-specific impact of white matter pathology on several cognitive functions is analyzed, while considering potential mediating effects of vascular risk factors.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Subjects**

We analyzed baseline data from 581 community-dwelling participants of the longitudinal BiDirect Study in Münster, Germany. All participants underwent a computer-guided interview, self-administered questionnaires, sensory and neuropsychological assessments, clinical examinations (e.g., anthropometry, vascular status, and blood sampling), as well as magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the brain (Teismann et al., 2014; Teuber et al., 2017). The data acquisition was conducted by a trained study team. For the present analysis, we applied several exclusion criteria. We excluded participants with clinical or imaging evidence of severe neurological disorders (stroke, Parkinson's Disease, epilepsy, and multiple sclerosis), missing or invalid neuropsychological data including reduced German language skills, and missing or invalid MRI data, respectively. The BiDirect study was approved by the ethics committee of the University of Münster and the Westphalian Chamber of Physicians in Münster, North Rhine-Westphalia, Germany. All participants gave their written informed consent for study participation.

## Assessment of Education, Cardiovascular Risk Factors, and Depression

In personal interviews we assessed socio-demographic characteristics, participants' smoking status, and participants' health status and history. Education was documented in the four categories (1) primary or general secondary school, (2) intermediate secondary school, (3) high school and (4) university graduates. Current medications (e.g., hypertensive treatments) were recorded and body size and height as well as blood pressure were measured in a standardized way (Teismann et al., 2014). For analysis, uncontrolled blood pressure was defined as a systolic blood pressure ≥140 mmHg and/or a diastolic blood pressure  $\geq$ 90 mmHg. A combination of current hypertensive treatment (yes/no) and measured blood pressure (controlled/uncontrolled) was used to define the categorical variable "arterial hypertension." A history of diabetes was classified into "no physician diagnosis," "diagnosed  $\leq 7$  years," and "diagnosed >7 years". Body mass index (BMI) was calculated from measured weight and height (kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and categorized into obesity (BMI  $\geq$  30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and no obesity (BMI  $< 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ) according to the definition from the World Health Organization. The self-reported presence of depressive symptoms was measured by the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression-Scale (CES-D) (Teismann et al., 2014) and categorized into CES-D score <16 (no clinically relevant depressive symptoms) and  $\geq$ 16 (clinically relevant depressive symptoms) (Radloff, 1977). Smoking status was defined categorically as never vs. former vs. current smoking.

## **Neuropsychological Assessment**

The following five validated neuropsychological tests were administered to all participants:

- (1) *Color-Word-Interference-Test (CWIT)*: A paper-pencil version with three task sets (words, color, and color-word) consisting of 36 items each, was administered to the participants and the reaction time was measured for each task set (Stroop, 1935). To measure interference control, a measure of working memory capacity, we calculated the interference time as the time difference of the second (color) and third (color-word) task set of the CWIT test.
- (2) Trail Making Test (TMT) A and B: In TMT A, the time that was needed to connect consecutive numbers from 1 to 25 was recorded to measure attention and psychomotor speed. In TMT B, the time that was needed to connect consecutive numbers and letters in an alternating sequence (1-A-2-B-3-C, etc.) was recorded to measure working memory and mental set shifting (Reitan, 1992).
- (3) Regensburg Word Fluency Test ("animal naming test"): The number of animals that were named by the participants in 60 s were denoted to measure categorical association (semantic) fluency as a measure of executive function (Morris et al., 1989; Tombaugh et al., 1999).
- (4) Word List: A recorded 12-item emotional word list was presented via loudspeaker two times to the participants. After each of the two presentations the participants were asked to reproduce as many words as possible. A third free recall followed after an interval of 15 min. This test was used to measure verbal retentiveness and memory (Kissler et al., 2006).
- (5) *Purdue Pegboard Test*: The number of pegs that were placed by the participants in a wooden board within 30 s, first with the right hand, followed by the left hand, were used to measure fine motor skills (Tiffin and Asher, 1948).

A Z-score was calculated for each test or subtest using the respective test mean and standard deviation of the female subgroup for standardization. Test results from TMT A and B and the interference time from CWIT were log-transformed before standardization. All Z-scores were scaled, so that higher values represent better test results. Afterward, the scores for the three runs of the word list and the scores for the right and left hand from the Purdue Pegboard Test were averaged for analysis.

## Magnetic Resonance Imaging Acquisition

Magnetic resonance imaging was performed with the following protocol (Teuber et al., 2017) on the same 3.0 T MRI

scanner (Intera with Achieva update; Philips Medical Systems, Best, Netherlands). The structural MRI protocol included a T1-weighted 3D TFE sequence with preceding inversion pulse, a T2 weighted FFE sequence, a TSE-FLAIR sequence, and a diffusion weighted sequence. The T1-weighted images were acquired in sagittal orientation with the following parameters: repetition time (TR)/echo time (TE) of 7.26/3.56 ms; flip angle of 9°; matrix size of 256  $\times$  256; field of view (FOV) of 256 mm × 256 mm; reconstructed to pixel size of 1.00 mm  $\times$  1.00 mm; 160 slices with slice thickness of 2.0 mm with no gap between slices. The FLAIR images were acquired in axial orientation with TR/TE/TI of 11,000/120/2,600 ms; flip angle of 90°; matrix size of  $352 \times 206$ ; FOV of 230 mm  $\times 186$  mm; reconstructed to pixel size of 0.45 mm  $\times$  0.45 mm; 27 slices with slice thickness of 4.0 mm with 1.0 mm gap. The diffusion weighted images were acquired with echo planar imaging (Single Shot SE-EPI, TR/TE = 5,900/95 ms); 36 slices with slice thickness of 3.6 mm with no gap, FOV of 240 mm × 240 mm, reconstructed to pixel size of 0.94 mm  $\times$  0.94 mm. Diffusion gradients were applied along 20 non-collinear directions at a b value of 1,000 s/mm<sup>2</sup> and an additional undirected b0 image with  $0 \text{ s/mm}^2$ .

## **Image Analysis**

Diffusion tensor imaging data were processed using the FSL v6.0.3 (Jenkinson et al., 2012) software library developed at the Oxford Centre for Functional MRI of the Brain (FMRIB). The pipeline of the PSMD marker tool provided at http://www.psmdmarker.com was used to process all images (Baykara et al., 2016). First, eddy current-induced distortion and motion artifacts in the DTI dataset were corrected using eddy tool in FSL. After skull-stripping using the Brain Extraction Tool (BET), a diffusion tensor model for each subject was fitted to the data by calculating diffusion tensor parameters using the FMRIB Diffusion Toolbox (FDT). The tract-based spatial statistics (TBSS) tool available in FSL [described in detail previously (Smith et al., 2006)] was used separately on each time point for the complete cohort to calculate the skeletonized mean FA images. First, FA images were normalized using the nonlinear registration algorithm in FSL. The individual normalized FA masks for each subject were then projected onto the TBSS skeleton of the PSMD marker tool to derive the individual skeletonized FA masks. These were then used to extract the mean wholebrain skeletonized FA value of each participant (excluding the cerebellum). FA is dimensionless and assumes values between 0 and 1. Higher FA values indicate higher anisotropy reflecting a higher structural integrity of white matter. The workflow described here was wrapped with R 4.1.1 (R Core Team, 2021).

Volumes of white matter hyperintensities were calculated using BIANCA which is implemented in FSL (Griffanti et al., 2016). We used 121 manually delineated FLAIR images and a training sample of 40 subjects for the training of BIANCA to adapt the program to the challenge of low volume extraction (Wulms et al., 2022). The WMH volume was extracted choosing a threshold of 0.8.

### **Statistical Analyses**

Relative WMH values were calculated by dividing the WMH volume by white matter (WM) volume. Categorical variables used in the regression analyses described below were included in the models as factors and reference categories were revealed in the corresponding tables. As statistical significance level we used a two-tailed alpha of 0.05.

All statistical analyses were performed with R 4.1.0 (R Core Team, 2021) and RStudio Version 1.4.1717 (RStudio Team, 2021).

#### Association of Sex With White Matter Pathology

The logarithm of relative and absolute WMH values approximately followed a normal distribution. We therefore used a generalized linear model with Gamma distribution and log-link function to assess the age-adjusted association of sex with WMH volumes. Ordinary least squares (OLS) regressions were conducted to obtain the age-adjusted association of sex with FA. Age was included linearly in the models.

## Association of Vascular Risk Factors With Markers of White Matter Pathology

To examine the association of potential risk factors and markers of white matter pathology (absolute WMH, rel. WMH, and FA, respectively), main effects models, including sex, age (linear, in years), education, smoking, hypertension, diabetes, and obesity, were built. The model for absolute WMH was additionally adjusted for intracranial volume (ICV). To identify the moderation effect of sex, interaction models were conducted separately for each risk factor by including an interaction term between sex and each risk factor. These analyses were controlled for all other risk factors listened above. Additionally, sexstratified regression models were built. Since WMH volumes approximately showed a log-normal distribution, generalized linear models with Gamma distribution and log-link function were used. For FA, an OLS regression analysis was performed.

#### Association of Magnetic Resonance Imaging Markers With Cognitive Functions

To examine the association of markers of white matter pathology with cognitive functions, sex-stratified OLS regression analyses were performed for every cognitive test (*Z*-Score). Analyses were adjusted for age (natural spline with 2 df) and education. Analyses were repeated and adjusted for age (natural spline with 2 df), education, smoking, hypertension, diabetes, obesity, and CES-D score ( $</\geq 16$ ).

## RESULTS

**Table 1** shows the characteristics of our study population. In all, 265 men and 316 women aged 35–66 years were included (**Figure 1**). From these participants, 92 men (35%) and 71 women (22%) had an untreated and uncontrolled hypertension and 11 (4%) men, and 11 women (3%) had a diagnosed diabetes mellitus. A high CES-D score  $\geq$ 16 could be observed in 33 men (12%) and 65 women (21%) and obesity in 55 men (21%) and 68 women

(22%). Additionally, 53 (20%) men and 63 (20%) women were current smokers.

## Sex-Differences in Markers of White Matter Pathology

Distributions of MRI markers are shown in **Figure 2** and **Table 1**. The age-adjusted associations of sex with MRI markers are shown in **Table 2**. Absolute WMH volumes showed a geometric mean of 0.682 ml (range: 0.029–22.442 ml) for men and geometric mean of 0.668 ml (range: 0.011–26.406 ml) for women. The age adjusted association of sex with absolute WMH values was not statistically significant ( $\hat{\beta}$  for female sex = 0.025, *p* = 0.824). Relative WMH volumes were lower in men (geometric mean: 0.124% of WM volume) than in women (geometric mean: 0.138% of WM volume), with an age-adjusted association of  $\hat{\beta}$  (women) = 0.151 and *p* = 0.171. For FA, a mean value of 0.358 (range: 0.275–0.417) for men and 0.360 (range: 0.292–0.409) for women could be observed. Adjusted for age, female sex was associated with higher FA values ( $\hat{\beta}$  = 0.003, *p* = 0.061).

## Association of Risk Factors With Markers of White Matter Pathology

The main effects models (**Table 2**) showed significant positive associations of age with WMH (rel. WMH:  $\hat{\beta} = 0.050$ , p = 1.53e-13, abs. WMH:  $\hat{\beta} = 0.048$ , p = 3.06e-12) and a negative association with FA ( $\hat{\beta} = -0.001 \ p = 8.03e$ -16). Additionally, hypertension was positively associated with rel. WMH (treated, controlled:  $\hat{\beta} = 0.371$ , p = 0.049; treated, uncontrolled:  $\hat{\beta} = 0.419$ , p = 7.71e-3), abs. WMH (treated, controlled:  $\hat{\beta} = 0.401$ , p = 0.037; treated, uncontrolled:  $\hat{\beta} = 0.434$ , p = 6.56e-3) and negatively associated with FA (treated, controlled:  $\hat{\beta} = -0.006$ , p = 0.030; treated, uncontrolled:  $\hat{\beta} = -0.008$ , p = 3.86e-4). Current smoking was negatively associated with FA ( $\hat{\beta} = -0.005$ , p = 0.014).

**Table 3** shows the moderation effect of sex. For relative WMH the interaction of female sex with former smoking was  $\hat{\beta} = 0.426$  (p = 0.039) and with current smoking  $\hat{\beta} = 0.791$  (p = 1.76e-3). Similar results could be found for absolute WMH volumes (female sex, former smoking:  $\hat{\beta} = 0.407$ , p = 0.051; female sex, current smoking:  $\hat{\beta} = 0.851$ , p = 8.19e-4). The interaction of female sex with a treated and controlled hypertension resulted in  $\hat{\beta} = 0.634$  (p = 0.071) for rel. WMH and  $\hat{\beta} = 0.649$  (p = 0.069) for abs. WMH.

**Table 4** shows the association of cardiovascular risk factors with MRI markers stratified by sex (abs. WMH, rel. WMH, and FA, respectively). Higher age was associated with higher WMH volumes and lower FA for both, men and women. Current smoking was associated with higher WMH volumes in women (rel. WMH:  $\hat{\beta} = 0.513$ , p = 0.004, abs. WMH:  $\hat{\beta} = 0.530$ , p = 0.003). Additionally, hypertension was associated with higher relative WMH volumes in women (treated and controlled:  $\hat{\beta} = 0.538$ , p = 0.024, treated and uncontrolled:  $\hat{\beta} = 0.576$ , p = 0.007), higher absolute WMH volumes in women (treated and uncontrolled:  $\hat{\beta} = 0.568$ , p = 0.019, treated and uncontrolled:  $\hat{\beta} = 0.580$ , p = 0.007) and lower FA in women (untreated and uncontrolled:

#### TABLE 1 | Characteristics of study participants.

	Total <i>N</i> = 581 (100%)		
Baseline			
Age (years)			
Median (range)	53.1 (35.2–66.2)	52.5 (35.3–66.2)	53.5 (35.2–66.1
Hypertension, N (%)			
Untreated, controlled	282 (49%)	108 (41%)	174 (55%)
Untreated, uncontrolled	163 (28%)	92 (35%)	71 (22%)
Treated, controlled	51 (9%)	22 (8%)	29 (9%)
Treated, uncontrolled	85 (15%)	43 (16%)	42 (13%)
Diabetes, N (%)			
No	559 (96%)	254 (96%)	305 (97%)
Yes	22 (4%)	11 (4%)	11 (3%)
CES-D, N (%)		( )	()
<16	483 (83%)	232 (88%)	251 (79%)
≥16	98 (17%)	33 (12%)	65 (21%)
Education, N (%)	00 (11 /0)	00(1270)	00 (2170)
Primary or general secondary school	105 (18%)	51 (19%)	54 (17%)
Intermediate secondary school	124 (21%)	35 (13%)	89 (28%)
High school	103 (18%)	46 (17%)	57 (18%)
University graduates	249 (43%)	133 (50%)	116 (37%)
	249 (4376)	133 (30 %)	110 (3770)
Smoking status, N (%)	0.40 (42.9/)	110 (400/)	107 (400/)
Never	249 (43%)	112 (42%)	137 (43%)
Former	216 (37%)	100 (38%)	116 (37%)
	116 (20%)	53 (20%)	63 (20%)
Obesity, N (%)	150 (700)	0.4.0 (700.0)	0.40 (700/)
No, BMI $<$ 30 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	458 (79%)	210 (79%)	248 (78%)
Yes, BMI $\geq$ 30 kg/m <sup>2</sup>	123 (21%)	55 (21%)	68 (22%)
Brain volume (ml)			
Arithm. mean	1455	1550	1375
Range	1000–1906	1281–1906	1000–1758
Relative brain volume (% of ICV)			
Arithm. mean	75.80	75.10	76.39
Range	61.63-84.75	61.63-84.38	65.59-84.75
Abs. WMH (ml)			
Ν	579	264	315
Geom. mean	0.674	0.682	0.668
Range	0.011-26.406	0.029-22.442	0.011-26.406
Rel. WMH (% of WM volume)			
Geom. mean	0.131	0.124	0.138
Range	0.003-4.701	0.006-4.013	0.003-4.701
FA			
Ν	578	262	316
Arithm. mean	0.359	0.358	0.360
Range	0.275-0.417	0.275-0.417	0.292-0.409
Word list (Z-score)			
Mean (SD)	-0.22 (0.92)	-0.48 (0.9)	0 (0.87)
Pegboard (Z-score)			
Mean (SD)	-0.20 (0.94)	-0.44 (0.97)	0 (0.87)
CWIT, interference time (Z-score)		× ,	
Mean (SD)	-0.09 (1)	-0.19 (0.99)	O (1)
TMT A (Z-score)	0.00 (.)	0.10 (0.00)	0 (1)
Mean (SD)	-0.01 (1.02)	-0.02 (1.04)	O (1)
TMT B (Z-score)	0.01 (1.02)	0.02 (1.0 f)	0(1)
, ,	_0.04 (1.02)	- 0.00 (1.04)	0 (1)
Mean (SD)	-0.04 (1.02)	-0.09 (1.04)	0 (1)
Word fluency test (Z-score)	0.01 (1)	0.00(1)	
Mean (SD)	0.01 (1)	0.03 (1)	O (1)

ICV, intracranial volume; WM, white matter; WMH, white matter hyperintensities; SD, standard deviation.



FIGURE 1 | Flow chart.



#### TABLE 2 | Associations (main effects) of risk factors with MRI markers.

	Rel. WMH <sup>1</sup> ( <i>N</i> = 579)	Abs. WMH <sup>1,2</sup> (N = 579)	FA <sup>3</sup> (N = 578) β̂ (ρ-value)	
	$\hat{\beta}$ (p-value)	$\hat{f eta}$ (p-value)		
Model 1				
Constant	-4.79*** (<2e-16)	-3.051*** (3.19e-15)	0.406*** (<2e-16)	
Sex (Ref: Male)				
Female	0.151 (0.171)	0.025 (0.824)	0.003 (0.061)	
Age (In years)	0.061*** (<2e-16)	0.061*** (<2e-16)	-0.001*** (<2e-16)	
Model 2 <sup>4</sup>				
Constant	-4.189*** (<2e-16)	-4.550*** (8.42e-10)	0.402*** (<2e-16)	
Sex (Ref: Male)				
Female	0.100 (0.321)	0.228 (0.063)	0.002 (0.154)	
Age (In years)	0.050*** (1.53e-13)	0.048*** (3.06e-12)	-0.001*** (8.03e-16)	
Smoking (Ref: Never)				
Former	-0.004 (0.969)	-0.024 (0.830)	-0.002 (0.224)	
Current	0.221 (0.099)	0.213 (0.118)	-0.005* (0.014)	
Diabetes (Ref: No)				
Yes	0.207 (0.431)	0.237 (0.374)	-0.004 (0.264)	
Hypertension (Ref: Untreated, controlle	ed)			
Untreated, uncontrolled	-0.127 (0.293)	-0.134 (0.273)	-0.003 (0.057)	
Treated, controlled	0.371* (0.049)	0.401* (0.037)	-0.006* (0.030)	
Treated, uncontrolled	0.419** (7.71e-3)	0.434** (6.56e-3)	-0.008*** (3.86e-4)	
Obesity (Ref: No)				
Yes	0.204 (0.105)	0.195 (0.128)	0.0002 (0.900)	

\*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001.

<sup>1</sup> Results from generalized linear models with Gamma distribution and log-link function.

<sup>2</sup>Additionally adjusted for intracranial volume in Model 2.

<sup>3</sup>Results from ordinary least squares (OLS) regression analysis.

<sup>4</sup>Additionally adjusted for education.

### TABLE 3 | Moderation effects of sex on the association of potential risk factors with WMH and FA.

	Rel. WMH <sup>1</sup> ( <i>N</i> = 579)	Abs. WMH <sup>1,2</sup> ( <i>N</i> = 579)	FA <sup>3</sup> (N = 578) β̂ (ρ-value)	
	$\hat{\beta}$ (p-value)	$\hat{\beta}$ (p-value)		
Sex × smoking				
Women; former	0.426* (0.039)	0.407 (0.051)	-0.001 (0.729)	
Women; current	0.791** (1.76e-3)	0.851*** (8.19e-4)	0.003 (0.367)	
Sex $\times$ diabetes				
Women; yes	0.434 (0.391)	0.392 (0.447)	-0.008 (0.251)	
Sex $\times$ hypertension				
Women; untreated, uncontrolled	0.061 (0.793)	0.052 (0.823)	-0.004 (0.266)	
Women; treated, controlled	0.634 (0.071)	0.649 (0.069)	-0.006 (0.225)	
Women; treated, uncontrolled	0.438 (0.125)	0.399 (0.169)	-0.006 (0.144)	
Sex $\times$ obesity				
Women; yes	0.106 (0.660)	0.102 (0.676)	-0.004 (0.211)	

p < 0.05, p < 0.01, p < 0.01

A separate model was built for each interaction. All results were adjusted for the main effects age, sex, smoking, diabetes, hypertension, obesity, and education. <sup>1</sup>Results from generalized linear models with Gamma distribution and log-link function.

<sup>2</sup>Additionally adjusted for intracranial volume.

<sup>3</sup>Results from ordinary least squares (OLS) regression analysis.

#### TABLE 4 | Associations of risk factors with MRI markers. Results from sex-stratified analysis.

	Rel. WMH <sup>1</sup>		Abs. WMH <sup>1,2</sup>		FA <sup>3</sup>	
	Men (N = 264)	Women (N = 315)	Men (N = 264)	Women (N = 315)	Men (N = 262)	Women (N = 316)
	$\hat{\beta}$ (p-value)	β̂ (p-value)	$\hat{eta}$ (p-value)	β̂ (p-value)	$\hat{\beta}$ (p-value)	β̂ (p-value)
Constant	-3.658*** (1.77e-12)	-4.622*** (<2e-16)	-4.335*** (8.0e-06)	-4.730*** (3.15e-07)	0.400*** (<2e-16)	0.405*** (<2e-16)
Age (in years)	0.050*** (4.90e-08)	0.053*** (4.71e-09)	0.048*** (1.2e-07)	0.051*** (2.52e-08)	-0.001*** (7.7e-09)	-0.001*** (2.4e-08)
Smoking (Ref: Never)						
Former	-0.216 (0.163)	0.156 (0.266)	-0.227 (0.143)	0.135 (0.343)	-0.002 (0.543)	-0.002 (0.312)
Current	-0.306 (0.104)	0.513** (0.004)	-0.350 (0.062)	0.530** (0.003)	-0.006 (0.058)	-0.003 (0.211)
Diabetes (Ref: No)						
Yes	-0.041 (0.909)	0.273 (0.437)	-0.004 (0.992)	0.286 (0.420)	-0.001 (0.904)	-0.007 (0.147)
Hypertension (Ref: untreated	d, controlled)					
Untreated, uncontrolled	-0.146 (0.359)	-0.048 (0.770)	-0.150 (0.344)	-0.054 (0.744)	-0.001 (0.583)	-0.005* (0.035)
Treated, controlled	0.145 (0.591)	0.538* (0.024)	0.179 (0.501)	0.568* (0.019)	-0.003 (0.463)	-0.009* (0.015)
Treated, uncontrolled	0.162 (0.445)	0.576** (0.007)	0.191 (0.363)	0.580** (0.007)	-0.004 (0.206)	-0.011*** (4.03e-4)
Obesity (Ref: No)						
Yes	0.151 (0.394)	0.182 (0.258)	0.143 (0.416)	0.173 (0.289)	0.002 (0.516)	-0.001 (0.766)

p < 0.05, p < 0.01, p < 0.01

<sup>1</sup>Results from generalized linear models with Gamma distribution and log-link function, additionally adjusted for education.

<sup>2</sup>Additionally adjusted for intracranial volume.

<sup>3</sup>Results from ordinary least squares (OLS) regression analysis, additionally adjusted for education.

TABLE 5 | Association of WMH and FA, respectively, with cognitive test results (Z-scores).

	Word list	Pegboard CV	CWIT, interference time	TMT A	TMT B $\hat{\beta}$ (ρ-value)	Word fluency $\hat{\beta}$ (p-value)
	$\hat{\beta}$ (p-value)	β̂ (p-value)	β̂ (p-value)	$\hat{\beta}$ (p-value)		
Rel. WMH in % (adj	usted for age and e	ducation)				
Men (N = 264)	-0.140 (0.305)	-0.001 (0.995)	0.051 (0.740)	0.025 (0.878)	-0.038 (0.806)	-0.071 (0.670)
Women (N = 315)	0.093 (0.321)	0.098 (0.302)	0.030 (0.781)	-0.009 (0.935)	-0.073 (0.505)	0.174 (0.115)
FA (adjusted for age	e and education)					
Men (N = 262)	0.684 (0.815)	10.661*** (5.08e-4)	2.569 (0.438)	12.068*** (4.92e-4)	7.890** (0.018)	0.328 (0.928)
Women (N = 316)	2.456 (0.366)	7.064** (0.012)	5.085 (0.107)	1.224 (0.711)	4.924 (0.122)	0.937 (0.771)
FA (adjusted for age	e, education, smokir	ng, diabetes, hypertensi	ion, CES-D, obesity)			
Men (N = 262)	0.360 (0.905)	9.926** (0.0013)	3.440 (0.310)	11.493** (0.0012)	6.527 (0.053)	0.052 (0.989)
Women (N = 316)	1.458 (0.603)	6.104* (0.035)	4.311 (0.182)	0.145 (0.966)	3.099 (0.344)	0.670 (0.841)

Results were calculated via linear regression models.

 $p^* < 0.05, p^* < 0.01, p^* < 0.001.$ 

 $\hat{\beta} = -0.005$ , p = 0.035, treated and controlled:  $\hat{\beta} = -0.009$ , p = 0.015, treated and uncontrolled:  $\hat{\beta} = -0.011$ , p = 4.03e-4).

## Association of Magnetic Resonance Imaging Markers With Cognitive Functions

The associations of markers of white matter pathology with cognitive test results are shown in **Table 5**. Adjusted for age and education, no significant association of any of the cognitive test results (Z-scores) were found with WMH, but higher FA values were positively associated with the Pegboard Test in men ( $\hat{\beta} = 10.661$ , p = 5.08e-4) and women ( $\hat{\beta} = 7.064$ , p = 0.012) and with the TMT A and B in men (TMT A:  $\hat{\beta} = 12.068$ , p = 4.92e-4, TMT B:  $\hat{\beta} = 7.890$ , p = 0.018). These results remain significant

when adjusting for further potential risk factors, with exception of the TMT B in men (p = 0.053 after multiple adjustments).

## DISCUSSION

The present study reveals interesting sex differences in the association of cardiovascular risk factors and white matter pathology: Women show a lower prevalence of cardiovascular risk factors but a slightly higher burden of white matter damage than men. The impact of hypertension and smoking on white matter was also stronger in women. This leads to the assumption of a higher susceptibility for microvascular damage in women. Regarding potential consequences of white matter damage, we observed no association of WMH with any of the cognitive tests. There was, however, an association of FA with motor functions in

both sexes and with executive functions in men only, indicating a higher cognitive reserve in women.

# Sex-Differences in White Matter Pathology

Relative WMH volumes were lower in men (geometric mean: 0.124% of WM volume) than in women (geometric mean: 0.138% of WM volume). Though just not statistically significant on the individual level we observed a pattern of more severe white matter damage in women compared to men comprising slightly higher WMH volumes and lower FA values. These findings are largely in line with previous studies in older cohorts reporting a higher WMH-load in women (Leeuw et al., 2002; van den Heuvel et al., 2004; Wen and Sachdev, 2004; Sachdev et al., 2009; Fatemi et al., 2018; *Alqarni et al., 2021*).

## Sex-Differences in the Association of Risk Factors With White Matter Pathology

Interestingly, we found no significant main effect of sex on WMH or FA, respectively. Significant main effects emerged for age on all white matter lesion phenotypes, current smoking on FA, and treated but uncontrolled hypertension as well as treated and controlled hypertension for WMH and FA. The interaction as well as the stratified analyses showed that current smoking was associated with higher WMH volumes only in women, whereas there was a non-significant trend toward an opposite effect for men. We also observed a more negative impact of hypertension on MRI markers in women. These findings are in line with current evidence that shows hypertension and smoking to be predictors of white matter damage (Dickie et al., 2016). However, the few studies examining sex-difference in the associations of cardiovascular risk factors with white matter pathology show conflicting results regarding sex-preferences as well as potential risk factors. Hypertension has mainly been shown to have a greater impact on WMH in men (Sachdev et al., 2009; Assareh et al., 2014; Filomena et al., 2015; Alqarni et al., 2021). Smoking has been associated with higher WMH in women (Sachdev et al., 2009). Other studies did not find any association with hypertension or smoking in neither men nor women, but, for example sex-specific effects of body mass index on deep white matter lesions (Algarni et al., 2021). Reasons for these inconsistencies might be differing age-ranges, small sample sizes, varying definitions of risk factors and white matter damage, as well as high a co-linearity of risk factors.

From our results, we conclude, that hypertension and smoking seem to be main risk factors of early brain aging particularly in women. Looking at the effect sizes, treated and/or uncontrolled hypertension as well as current smoking in women have a comparable impact on WMH and FA as up to 10 years of age. This high susceptibility for microvascular brain damage in midlife women may be associated with perimenopausal hormonal changes (Leeuw et al., 2001). Reductions in estrogen levels, which play an important role in brain maintenance via promoting cerebral blood flow, protecting against oxidative stress, and stimulating synaptogenesis, may render the brain especially vulnerable to ischemic damage (Leeuw et al., 2001; Toffoletto et al., 2014; Zárate et al., 2017; Russell et al., 2019). In line with these pathophysiological hypotheses, it is well established that female-specific risk factors such as menopause contribute to cognitive impairment and dementia in women (Gannon et al., 2019). Interactions of varying levels of sex hormones with vascular risk factors in brain aging, however, have not been studied in population cohorts so far.

## Sex-Differences in the Association of White Matter Damage With Cognitive Functions

We found no significant association of any of the cognitive test results with WMH. Higher FA values, however, were associated with better motor functions (Pegboard Test) in both men and women as well as with better working memory, and psychomotor speed, respectively (TMT A and B) in men only.

Some of the above discussed studies, that showed associations of arterial hypertension with white matter damage, also reported declines in executive functions associated with the extent of white matter pathology (Sachdev et al., 2009; Debette et al., 2011; Veldsman et al., 2020). However, only one of these studies evaluated sex-differences in this association. In line with our findings, Sachdev et al. found WMH to be associated with reduced processing speed in men only (Sachdev et al., 2009). One potential explanation why men are cognitively more affected by the same extent of white matter damage, might be sex-differences in cognitive reserve or brain reserve, respectively (O'Dwyer et al., 2012; Stern et al., 2020; Subramaniapillai et al., 2021). Especially in premenopausal women, protective effects of estrogen are supposed to play a role in the maintenance of prefrontal cortex function and consecutively in the preservation of executive functions (Keenan et al., 2001; Shanmugan and Epperson, 2014).

The association of Pegboard Test with white matter damage in both sexes is an interesting finding and supports a recent report of fine motor skills to show a strong association with age-related decline and markers of brain aging (Yao et al., 2021). Further studies are warranted to evaluate whether fine motor skills or motor speed can serve as a particularly sensitive test of cognitive and brain aging.

## **Strengths and Limitations**

Our study is looking at sex-differences in white matter damage from various angles. Based on the hypothesis that white matter pathology does not simply act as a mediator in the association between vascular risk factors and cognitive decline, we differentiated between sex-differences in the impact of risk factors on white matter pathology on the one side and the impact of white matter pathology on cognition on the other side. Also of note is the age spectrum of 35– 65 years, as most cohort studies on aging are settled in later life. It must be noted that we did not adjust for multiple testing. Our results are of explorative nature and thus need to be validated in an independent sample before drawing any conclusions (Bender and Lange, 2001). We might also have missed some effects due to lack of power. For example, the sexdifferences in the prevalence of white matter pathology were not significant on their own, but the pattern clearly showed more pathology in women compared to men.

### Summary

The present study extends available evidence on sex-differences in the causes, patterns, and consequences of white matter damage. While we found men to have a slightly worse cardiovascular risk profile, women had a larger volume of WMH. Women's white matter also showed a higher susceptibility to some risk factors, particularly smoking and arterial hypertension. Nevertheless, associations between microstructural white matter integrity and psychomotor speed were only observed in men, suggesting a higher cognitive reserve in women. Future studies with follow-up, multimodal MRI as well as genetic and hormonal data are warranted to evaluate vulnerable age periods and pathophysiological mechanisms that underlie the observed sex-differences and that can support the proposed mechanisms of brain as well as cognitive reserve. Based on these investigations, studies are needed, that evaluate whether a sexspecific modification of the observed risk factors can slow down white matter damage and cognitive aging.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the University

## REFERENCES

- Alqarni, A., Jiang, J., Crawford, J. D., Koch, F., Brodaty, H., Sachdev, P., et al. (2021). Sex differences in risk factors for white matter hyperintensities in non-demented older individuals. *Neurobiol. Aging* 98, 197–204. doi: 10.1016/ j.neurobiolaging.2020.11.001
- Assareh, A. A., Mather, K. A., Crawford, J. D., Wen, W., Anstey, K. J., Easteal, S., et al. (2014). Renin-angiotensin system genetic polymorphisms and brain white matter lesions in older Australians. *Am. J. Hypertens.* 27, 1191–1198. doi: 10.1093/ajh/hpu035
- Baykara, E., Gesierich, B., Adam, R., Tuladhar, A. M., Biesbroek, J. M., Koek, H. L., et al. (2016). A novel imaging marker for small vessel disease based on skeletonization of white matter tracts and diffusion histograms. *Ann. Neurol.* 80, 581–592. doi: 10.1002/ana.24758
- Bender, R., and Lange, S. (2001). Adjusting for multiple testing–when and how? *J. Clin. Epidemiol.* 54, 343–349. doi: 10.1016/s0895-4356(00)00314-0
- Chen, Y., Wang, X., Guan, L., and Wang, Y. (2021). Role of white matter hyperintensities and related risk factors in vascular cognitive impairment: a review. *Biomolecules* 11, 1102. doi: 10.3390/biom11081102
- Debette, S., and Markus, H. S. (2010). The clinical importance of white matter hyperintensities on brain magnetic resonance imaging: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ* 341:c3666. doi: 10.1136/bmj.c3666
- Debette, S., Seshadri, S., Beiser, A., Au, R., Himali, J. J., Palumbo, C., et al. (2011). Midlife vascular risk factor exposure accelerates structural brain aging and cognitive decline. *Neurology* 77, 461–468. doi: 10.1212/WNL. 0b013e318227b227

of Münster and Westphalian Chamber of Physicians in Münster, North Rhine-Westphalia, Germany. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

NB, NW, and HM drafted the manuscript. NB conducted and programmed all statistical analysis. NW applied the MRI data workflow. MD-N applied the MRI data workflow and revised the manuscript for intellectual content. HM came up with the research idea and supervised all analyses. KB (principal investigator of the BiDirect Study) helped substantially in writing and editing of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by the German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF grants 01ER1205, 01ER0816, and 01ER1506). The funding source was not involved in the writing of the manuscript or in the decision to submit it for publication.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank everybody involved in the BiDirect study, particularly the study nurses and data managers. Most importantly, we thank the BiDirect participants who made this research possible.

- Dickie, D. A., Ritchie, S. J., Cox, S. R., Sakka, E., Royle, N. A., Aribisala, B. S., et al. (2016). Vascular risk factors and progression of white matter hyperintensities in the Lothian Birth Cohort 1936. *Neurobiol. Aging* 42, 116–123. doi: 10.1016/j. neurobiolaging.2016.03.011
- Fatemi, F., Kantarci, K., Graff-Radford, J., Preboske, G. M., Weigand, S. D., Przybelski, S. A., et al. (2018). Sex differences in cerebrovascular pathologies on FLAIR in cognitively unimpaired elderly. *Neurology* 90, e466–e473. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000004913
- Filomena, J., Riba-Llena, I., Vinyoles, E., Tovar, J. L., Mundet, X., Castañé, X., et al. (2015). Short-Term blood pressure variability relates to the presence of subclinical brain small vessel disease in primary hypertension. *Hypertens. Dallas Tex* 66, 634–640. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.115.05440
- Förster, A., Gass, A., Kern, R., Wolf, M. E., Ottomeyer, C., Zohsel, K., et al. (2009). Gender differences in acute ischemic stroke: etiology stroke patterns and response to thrombolysis. *Stroke* 40, 2428–2432. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA. 109.548750
- Gannon, O. J., Robison, L. S., Custozzo, A. J., and Zuloaga, K. L. (2019). Sex differences in risk factors for vascular contributions to cognitive impairment & dementia. *Neurochem. Int.* 127, 38–55. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2018.11. 014
- Gouw, A. A., Seewann, A., Flier, W. M., van der Flier, W. M., Rozemuller, A. M., Scheltens, P., et al. (2011). Heterogeneity of small vessel disease: a systematic review of MRI and histopathology correlations. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry* 82, 126–135. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2009.204685
- Griffanti, L., Zamboni, G., Khan, A., Li, L., Bonifacio, G., Sundaresan, V., et al. (2016). BIANCA (Brain Intensity AbNormality Classification Algorithm):

a new tool for automated segmentation of white matter hyperintensities. *NeuroImage* 141, 191–205. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2016.07.018

- Inano, S., Takao, H., Hayashi, N., Abe, O., and Ohtomo, K. (2011). Effects of age and gender on white matter integrity. *AJNR Am. J. Neuroradiol.* 32, 2103–2109. doi: 10.3174/ajnr.A2785
- Jenkinson, M., Beckmann, C. F., Behrens, T. E. J., Woolrich, M. W., and Smith, S. M. (2012). FSL. *NeuroImage* 62, 782–790. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.09. 015
- Kanaan, R. A., Chaddock, C., Allin, M., Picchioni, M. M., Daly, E., Shergill, S. S., et al. (2014). Gender influence on white matter microstructure: a tractbased spatial statistics analysis. *PLoS One* 9:e91109. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0091109
- Keenan, P. A., Ezzat, W. H., Ginsburg, K., and Moore, G. J. (2001). Prefrontal cortex as the site of estrogen's effect on cognition. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 26, 577–590. doi: 10.1016/s0306-4530(01)00013-0
- Kissler, J., Assadollahi, R., and Herbert, C. (2006). Emotional and semantic networks in visual word processing: insights from ERP studies. *Prog. Brain Res.* 156, 147–183. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6123(06)56008-X
- Kloppenborg, R. P., Nederkoorn, P. J., Geerlings, M. I., and van den Berg, E. (2014). Presence and progression of white matter hyperintensities and cognition: a meta-analysis. *Neurology* 82, 2127–2138. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000000505
- Le Bihan, D., and Johansen-Berg, H. (2012). Diffusion MRI at 25: exploring brain tissue structure and function. *NeuroImage* 61, 324–341. doi: 10.1016/j. neuroimage.2011.11.006
- Leeuw, F.-E., de Groot, J. C., Achten, E., Oudkerk, M., Ramos, L. M. P., Heijboer, R., et al. (2001). Prevalence of cerebral white matter lesions in elderly people: a population based magnetic resonance imaging study Rotterdam Scan Study. *J. Neurol. Neurosurg, Psychiatry* 70, 9–14. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.70.1.9
- Leeuw, F.-E., de Groot, J. C., Oudkerk, M., Witteman, J. C. M., Hofman, A., Gijn, J., et al. (2002). Hypertension and cerebral white matter lesions in a prospective cohort study. *Brain* 125, 765–772. doi: 10.1093/brain/125.4.765
- Levine, D. A., Gross, A. L., Briceño, E. M., Tilton, N., Giordani, B. J., Sussman, J. B., et al. (2021). Sex differences in cognitive decline among US adults. *JAMA Netw. Open* 4, e210169. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.0169
- Li, R., Cui, J., and Shen, Y. (2014). Brain sex matters: estrogen in cognition and Alzheimer's disease. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* 389, 13–21. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2013. 12.018
- McCarrey, A. C., An, Y., Kitner-Triolo, M. H., Ferrucci, L., and Resnick, S. M. (2016). Sex differences in cognitive trajectories in clinically normal older adults. *Psychol. Aging* 31, 166–175. doi: 10.1037/pag0000070
- Morris, J. C., Heyman, A., Mohs, R. C., Hughes, J. P., van Belle, G., Fillenbaum, G., et al. (1989). The consortium to establish a registry for Alzheimer's Disease (CERAD). Part I. clinical and neuropsychological assessment of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology* 39, 1159–1165. doi: 10.1212/wnl.39.9.1159
- Nichols, E. S., Wild, C. J., Owen, A. M., and Soddu, A. (2021). Cognition across the Lifespan: Investigating Age Sex, and Other Sociodemographic Influences. *Behav. Sci.* 11:51. doi: 10.3390/bs11040051
- O'Dwyer, L., Lamberton, F., Bokde, A. L. W., Ewers, M., Faluyi, Y. O., Tanner, C., et al. (2012). Sexual dimorphism in healthy aging and mild cognitive impairment: a DTI study. *PLoS One* 7:e37021. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0037021
- Radloff, L. S. (1977). The CES-D Scale: a self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Appl. Psychol. Meas.* 1, 385–401. doi: 10.1177/ 014662167700100306
- R Core Team (2021). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Vienna. R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Reas, E. T., Laughlin, G. A., Bergstrom, J., Kritz-Silverstein, D., Barrett-Connor, E., and McEvoy, L. K. (2017). Effects of sex and education on cognitive change over a 27-year period in older adults: the rancho bernardo study. *Am. J. Geriatr. Psychiatry* 25, 889–899. doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2017.03.008
- Reitan, R. M. (1992). Trail making test: manual for administration and scoring. *Reitan Neuropsychol. Laboratory*. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2004.06.022
- RStudio Team (2021). *RStudio: Integrated Development Environment for R.* Boston, MA: RStudio, PBC.
- Russell, J. K., Jones, C. K., and Newhouse, P. A. (2019). The role of estrogen in brain and cognitive aging. *Neurother. J. Am. Soc. Exp. Neurother.* 16, 649–665. doi: 10.1007/s13311-019-00766-9

- Sachdev, P. S., Parslow, R., Wen, W., Anstey, K. J., and Easteal, S. (2009). Sex differences in the causes and consequences of white matter hyperintensities. *Neurobiol. Aging* 30, 946–956. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2007.08. 023
- Salat, D. H., Tuch, D. S., Greve, D. N., van der Kouwe, A. J. W., Hevelone, N. D., Zaleta, A. K., et al. (2005). Age-related alterations in white matter microstructure measured by diffusion tensor imaging. *Neurobiol. Aging* 26, 1215–1227. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2004.09.017
- Shanmugan, S., and Epperson, C. N. (2014). Estrogen and the prefrontal cortex: towards a new understanding of estrogen's effects on executive functions in the menopause transition. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 35, 847–865. doi: 10.1002/hbm.22218
- Smith, S. M., Jenkinson, M., Johansen-Berg, H., Rueckert, D., Nichols, T. E., Mackay, C. E., et al. (2006). Tract-based spatial statistics: voxelwise analysis of multi-subject diffusion data. *NeuroImage* 31, 1487–1505. doi: 10.1016/j. neuroimage.2006.02.024
- Stern, Y., Arenaza-Urquijo, E. M., Bartrés-Faz, D., Belleville, S., Cantilon, M., Chetelat, G., et al. (2020). Whitepaper: Defining and investigating cognitive reserve, brain reserve, and brain maintenance. *Alzheimers Dement. J.* 16, 1305– 1311. doi: 10.1016/j.jalz.2018.07.219
- Stroop, J. R. (1935). Studies of interference in serial verbal reactions. J. Exp. Psychol. 18:643. doi: 10.1037/h0054651
- Subramaniapillai, S., Almey, A., Natasha Rajah, M., and Einstein, G. (2021). Sex and gender differences in cognitive and brain reserve: implications for Alzheimer's disease in women. *Front. Neuroendocrinol.* 60:100879. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne. 2020.100879
- Takao, H., Hayashi, N., and Ohtomo, K. (2014). Sex dimorphism in the white matter: fractional anisotropy and brain size. J. Magn. Reson. Imaging JMRI 39, 917–923. doi: 10.1002/jmri.24225
- Teismann, H., Wersching, H., Nagel, M., Arolt, V., Heindel, W., Baune, B. T., et al. (2014). Establishing the bidirectional relationship between depression and subclinical arteriosclerosis–rationale, design, and characteristics of the BiDirect Study. *BMC Psychiatry* 14:174. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-14-174
- Teuber, A., Sundermann, B., Kugel, H., Schwindt, W., Heindel, W., Minnerup, J., et al. (2017). MR imaging of the brain in large cohort studies: feasibility report of the population- and patient-based BiDirect study. *Eur. Radiol.* 27, 231–238. doi: 10.1007/s00330-016-4303-9
- Tiffin, J., and Asher, E. J. (1948). The Purdue pegboard; norms and studies of reliability and validity. J. Appl. Psychol. 32, 234–247. doi: 10.1037/h0061266
- Toffoletto, S., Lanzenberger, R., Gingnell, M., Sundström-Poromaa, I., and Comasco, E. (2014). Emotional and cognitive functional imaging of estrogen and progesterone effects in the female human brain: a systematic review. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 50, 28–52. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2014. 07.025
- Tombaugh, T. N., Kozak, J., and Rees, L. (1999). Normative data stratified by age and education for two measures of verbal fluency: FAS and animal naming. Arch. Clin. Neuropsychol. 14, 167–177. doi: 10.1016/s0887-6177(97)00 095-4
- van den Heuvel, D. M. J., Admiraal-Behloul, F., Ten Dam, V. H., Olofsen, H., Bollen, E. L. E. M., Murray, H. M., et al. (2004). Different progression rates for deep white matter hyperintensities in elderly men and women. *Neurology* 63, 1699–1701. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000143058.40388.44
- Veldsman, M., Tai, X.-Y., Nichols, T., Smith, S., Peixoto, J., Manohar, S., et al. (2020). Cerebrovascular risk factors impact frontoparietal network integrity and executive function in healthy ageing. *Nat. Commun.* 11:4340. doi: 10.1038/ s41467-020-18201-5
- Wardlaw, J. M., Smith, E. E., Biessels, G. J., Cordonnier, C., Fazekas, F., Frayne, R., et al. (2013). Neuroimaging standards for research into small vessel disease and its contribution to ageing and neurodegeneration. *Lancet Neurol.* 12, 822–838. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(13)70124-8
- Wassenaar, T. M., Yaffe, K., van der Werf, Y. D., and Sexton, C. E. (2019). Associations between modifiable risk factors and white matter of the aging brain: insights from diffusion tensor imaging studies. *Neurobiol. Aging* 80, 56–70. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2019.04.006
- Wen, W., and Sachdev, P. (2004). The topography of white matter hyperintensities on brain MRI in healthy 60- to 64-year-old individuals. *NeuroImage* 22, 144– 154. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2003.12.027
- Williams, O. A., An, Y., Beason-Held, L., Huo, Y., Ferrucci, L., Landman, B. A., et al. (2019). Vascular burden and APOE  $\epsilon$ 4 are associated with white matter

microstructural decline in cognitively normal older adults. *NeuroImage* 188, 572-583. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2018.12.009

- Wulms, N., Redmann, L., Herpertz, C., Bonberg, N., Berger, K., Sundermann, B., et al. (2022). The Effect of Training Sample Size on the Prediction of White Matter Hyperintensity Volume in a Healthy Population Using BIANCA. Front. Aging Neurosci. 13:905. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2021.720636
- Yao, Z.-F., Yang, M.-H., and Hsieh, S. (2021). Brain structural-behavioral correlates underlying grooved pegboard test performance across lifespan. J. Mot. Behav. 53, 373–384. doi: 10.1080/00222895.2020.1787320
- Zárate, S., Stevnsner, T., and Gredilla, R. (2017). Role of estrogen and other sex hormones in brain aging. Neuroprotection and DNA Repair. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 9:430. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2017.00430
- Zavaliangos-Petropulu, A., Nir, T. M., Thomopoulos, S. I., Reid, R. I., Bernstein, M. A., Borowski, B., et al. (2019). Diffusion MRI indices and their relation to cognitive impairment in brain aging: the updated multi-protocol approach in ADNI3. *Front. Neuroinform.* 13:2. doi: 10.3389/fninf.2019.00 002

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Bonberg, Wulms, Dehghan-Nayyeri, Berger and Minnerup. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





**@** 

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne | Switzerland

Visit us: www.frontiersin.org

**Contact us:** frontiersin.org/about/contact

**Frontiers** 

**FOLLOW US** @frontiersin



IMPACT METRICS Advanced article metrics track visibility across digital media EXTENSIVE PROMOTION Marketing and promotion of impactful research

Our network increases your